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1. ABOUT THE REPORT [G4-3]

Celsia S.A. E.S.P. presents its second 
Integrated Report to its stakeholders, 
which contains the main information 
about the business's economic, envi-
ronmental and social performance 
and management, allowing clear 
and transparent accountability and 
strengthening communications and 
its connection to its stakeholders and 
to society in general. 

Structure

The report comprehensively and 
coherently presents the organiza-
tion's strategy, its management, 
main results and future challenges. 
Similarly, it adopts the commitment 
to sustainability, corporate gover-
nance practices and risk manage-
ment, which are the fundamental 
axis of the management model and 
give the reader accurate informa-
tion to understand the organiza-
tion's past, present and future. The 
way in which the information is pre-
sented additionally shows the value 
generation for each stakeholder and 
goes beyond financial performance, 
to reflect comprehensive environ-
mental and social management. 

The report also includes the fi-
nancial statements, for this, the 
indicators were consolidated for 
corporate performance in the devel-
opment of new projects, in the phas-
es of the generation cycle and sales of 
energy. The distribution operations 
are executed by EPSA and CETSA, 
companies in which it directly or 
indirectly has a share of more than 
50% of the subscribed or paid capital. 
[G4-17]

Scope and Methodology 

[G4-15] [G4-32]

 
This report covers the period be-
tween January 1 and December 31, 
2013 and it was prepared following 
the guidelines of version G4.0 of the 
Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) 
guide, in its essential option, ie., it is 
comprised of the essential elements 
of a sustainability record, present-
ing the results of economic, envi-
ronmental, social and governance 
performance. The requirements of 
the Global Compact were also taken 
into account for the submission of 
the “Communication on Progress - 
CoP”, in which the member compa-
nies commit to reporting the main 
progress in the development of the 
compact's ten principles. [G4-28]

The report was reviewed and 
validated by internal auditing and 
approved by the Steering Com-
mittee, so that its content com-
plies with the quality standards 
for information. [G4-48]

Publication [G4-31]

This document is available in PDF 
format on the official website of 
Celsia S.A. E.S.P. www.celsia.com

If you would like additional 
information, you can contact 
Communications Management by 
emailing comunicaciones@celsia.com

1. “Organization” is understood as Celsia 
S.A. E.S.P., and the companies in which 
it holds a share of more than 50% of its 
subscribed and paid capital (Zona Franca 
Celsia S.A. E.S.P., Empresa de Energía del 
Pacífico S.A. E.S.P. EPSA and Compañía de 
Electricidad de Tuluá S.A. E.S.P. CETSA).

O1
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At Celsia we are driven by the ener-
gy that generates the desire to make 
Colombia a better country, work to 
keep the lights of progress alight, 
the daily renewal of our commit-
ment to sustainability, the empow-
erment of our capacity, joining our 
efforts to achieve the established 
goals and having a clear strategic 
approach to achieve all-round out-
standing results.

The strategy with which we aim 
to focus the company in the elec-
tricity sector is that which allows us 
to now have a one hundred percent 
portfolio in energy, to be an orga-
nization with three business units 
(generation, electricity distribution 
and sale of energy resources) and to 
be present in seven of the country's 
departments.

In 2013, we established three 
main lines of action on which we fo-
cus our efforts and that will also be 
our focus in 2014. They are business 
growth, optimization of current op-
erations and strengthening of orga-
nizational capacity.

Before we analyzed the first in-
vestment options and now we work 
on consolidating these acquisitions 
and on the configuration of assets 
that represent a balance of business-
es and the possibility of adequate 
risk management. The complemen-
tarity of business and technology 
makes it possible for the organiza-
tion to now be a reliable player and 
occupy a competitive position in the 
Colombian electricity sector, always 
maintaining the high corporate gov-
ernance standards that are part of 
our corporate essence. 

The optimization of current op-
erations allows us to be competitive 
in the present to strongly leverage 
our growth. This is based on the 
search for national and interna-
tional expansion projects, whether 
they are of operating assets or for 
their construction. We will be par-
ticularly rigorous in the assessment 
of each one of them to be coherent 
with the strategy to grow responsi-
bly and profitably. 
Furthermore, to support growth 
and current operations, we assured 
ourselves of developing our organi-
zational capacity, mainly through 
the strengthening of our manage-

2. LETTER FROM THE CEO [G4-1] 

ment models which are: socio-envi-
ronmental, human resources, regu-
latory and risk management.

These priorities are aligned 
with the company's sustainability 
model, which seeks valuable long-
term results for all our stakeholders 
ethically and transparently, with a 
balance between economic return, 
development, social inclusion and 
respect for the environment.

It is also important to highlight 
that innovation is a fundamental 
axis for the organization, as we un-
derstand it to be a basic source of 
development, which allows us to 
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face the current challenges of the 
sector and prepare ourselves to 
take advantage of present and fu-
ture challenges.

Therefore, the positive results 
that we present in this report re-
spond to a comprehensive strat-
egy, which is both commercial and 
operational, to the support of all 
the areas of the organization, the 
professional work of all the em-
ployees, the favorable conditions of 
water levels and our business areas, 
which arise throughout the year, 
and to the adequate fulfillment of 
all our commitments.

At Celsia, we are driven by the 
energy that makes Colombia a 
better country.

At Celsia, we have the strong con-
viction that the trust of our share-
holders, clients, suppliers and the 
community are the main engine that 
drives us to obtain outstanding re-
sults, to grow every day, to generate 
employment and wellbeing, to seek 
continuous improvement, to be reli-
able support for the national electric-
ity system, to keep our commitment 
to the country strong and above all, to 
together keep being energy in action!

Juan Guillermo Londoño P.
CEO
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3. IMPORTANT FIGURES

$2,381,116

$2,023,672

Variación

Variación

18%

Variación

9%

2%

18%

2%

7%

62%

51%

-41%

$1,849,505

$1,805,495

$864,563

$731,174

$713,776

$669,343

36.31%

36.13%

38.59%

37.10%

$373,645

$230,760

$152,891

$259,010

Consolidated Operating Revenue
Millions of Colombian Pesos

Consolidated EBITDA
Millions of Colombian Pesos

EBITDA Margin
(%)

Net Profit
Millions of Colombian Pesos

2013

2010

2011

2012

2013

2010

2011

2012
2013

2010

2011

2012

2013

2010

2011

2012

2010 2011 2012 2013

5,770

3,825
5,340 5,680

Variación

7%

1%

1%

$7,326,545

$6,840,008

$6,796,027

$6,743,871

Consolidated Assets
Millions of Colombian Pesos

2013

2010

2011

2012

Variación

3%

-5%

2%

$4,038,220

$3,934,597

$4,145,485

$4,058,943

Pasivos e interés minoritario
Millions of Colombian Pesos

Celsia Share Value
2010 - 2013

2013

2010

2011

2012

Variation

13%

10%

-1%

$3,288,325

$2,905,411

$2,650,542

$2,684,928

Consolidated Equity
Millions of Colombian Pesos

2013

2010

2011

2012
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6,170
GWh 10% of the energy generated 

in the country in 2013

Installed capacity: 1,777MW

1,000 MW hydroelectric power 
plants

610 MW combined cycle 
thermoelectric plants

167 MW simple cycle 
thermoelectric plants

7 substations, 274 km of net-
work of ≥220 kV

2% of the national transmission

72 substations, 19,567 km of 
network of ≥220 KV

5.01% of the domestic demand

544,383
Regulated and
unregulated clients

of the national 
market4.3% 

8.91%
of energy losses in distribution: 
one of the lowest in the country.

34.33%

9.40%

56.27%
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4. OUR BUSINESS MODEL [G4-2], [G4-3], [G4-4], [G4-8]

Gas

Water

Water Resources

Gas

Employees

Hydroelectric Power Generation

Thermoelectric Power Generation

Transmission and Distribution

Community

Education

Emissions

Biodiversity

Sales

Changes in energy regulation in Colombia that adversely affect the 
operation of the assets, their profitability, or the subsequent continuity of 
the business.

Social and environmental effects from the operation and construction 
of power plants.

The inability to restore operations related to the provision of public 
services or delays in responding to demand.

Delays and overruns in project construction.

Affectation of the water levels in the rivers that provide the water 
flows for energy generation, derived from natural phenomena 
related to climate change.

Effects on the physical integrity of employees or the company's 
facilities during the development of operations or during project 
construction.

Breach of the Firm Energy Obligations.

Risks

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

1
1

1

1

1

2

2

3

3

3

3

3

4

4

4

4

4

5

5

6

6

6

6

6

7

7

These are seven of the company's eleven 
main risks; the others can be found in the 
"Risk Management" Chapter.
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Gas

Water

Water Resources

Gas

Employees

Hydroelectric Power Generation

Thermoelectric Power Generation

Transmission and Distribution

Community

Education

Emissions

Biodiversity

Sales

Changes in energy regulation in Colombia that adversely affect the 
operation of the assets, their profitability, or the subsequent continuity of 
the business.

Social and environmental effects from the operation and construction 
of power plants.

The inability to restore operations related to the provision of public 
services or delays in responding to demand.

Delays and overruns in project construction.

Affectation of the water levels in the rivers that provide the water 
flows for energy generation, derived from natural phenomena 
related to climate change.

Effects on the physical integrity of employees or the company's 
facilities during the development of operations or during project 
construction.

Breach of the Firm Energy Obligations.

Risks

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

1
1

1

1

1

2

2

3

3

3

3

3

4

4

4

4

4

5

5

6

6

6

6

6

7

7

Hydroelectric Power Generation
Hydroelectric power is generated by taking advantage of the potential energy 
of water taken from the channel of the river. The water is channeled to the 
machine room (where the generation turbine is found) through the chan-
neling pipes, in which electricity is produced through water turbines. The 
generated energy goes to a substation, where its voltage is increased to later 
take it to the transmission lines.
The organization has two different power generation plants:
•	 Run-of-the-river: This plant uses part of a river's flow to generate electricity. 

It operates continuously, because it does not have the capacity to store wa-
ter, as it does not have a reservoir.

•	 Reservoir: This generates energy through stored water. 

Thermoelectric Power Generation
Thermoelectric energy is generated through heat, which can be obtained 
from fossil fuels such as derivatives of petroleum natural gas and coal. Basic 
thermoelectric power plants are organized with a boiler that burns the fuel to 
generate heat, and later they transfer it to a steam generator where the water 
evaporates. The vapor obtained at a high pressure and temperature expands 
in a turbine that moves, driving a generator that produces electricity. 
In natural gas plants, the gases produced from burning are used to move 
a turbine. Gas and compressed air are burned in the combustion chamber, 
which on expanding move the turbine that drives the generator to produce 
electricity. This energy generated at low voltage is transported to a sub-
station where it is converted to high voltage and later transported by the 
transmission lines.

Transmission
It consists of taking energy from the power generation plants to the points 
where it is going to be used in the municipalities' rural and urban areas. This 
energy is transmitted at high voltage, which is why it cannot directly go to 
homes or companies and requires a transformation process to a lower volt-
age, where energy distribution is started.

Distribution
The distribution networks transport low voltage power to take it to houses 
or companies, which receive power adapted for the use of items including 
electrical appliances and industrial machinery.

Sales
It consists of the purchase and sale of electricity on the wholesale markets 
(energy market), regulated market (small consumers) and unregulated mar-
ket (large consumers).
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Río Piedras
Jericó - Antioquia

Type: Run-of-the-river
Capacity (MW): 19,9

Hidromontañitas
Donmatías - Antioquia

Type: Run-of-the-river
Capacity (MW): 19,9

San Andrés (Project)
San Andrés de Cuerquia - Antioquia

Type: Run-of-the-river
Capacity (MW): 19,9

Porvenir II (Project)
San Luis - Antioquia

Type: Reservoir
Capacity (MW): 352

Hidroprado
Tolima
Type: Reservoir
Capacity (MW): 51

Salvajina
Cauca
Type: Reservoir
Capacity (MW): 281

Cucuana
Roncesvalles - Tolima

Type: Run-of-the-river
Capacity (MW): 55

Valle del
Cauca

Valle del Cauca

Zona Franca Celsia
Barranquilla - Atlántico
Flores I and IV
Type: Gas thermoelectric
Capacity (MW): 610

Meriléctrica
Barrancabermeja - Santander
Type: Gas thermoelectric
Capacity (MW): 167

Celsia's Presence EPSA's Presence Projects

Bajo Tuluá (proyecto)
Tuluá - Valle del Cauca

Type: Run-of-the-river
Capacity (MW): 19,9

Alto Anchicayá
Type: Reservoir

Capacity (MW): 355

Bajo Anchicayá
Type: Reservoir

Capacity (MW): 74

Calima
Type: Reservoir

Capacity (MW): 132

Cali River I and II
Type: Run-of-the-river

Capacity (MW): 1,8

Nima I and II
Type: Run-of-the-river

Capacity (MW): 6,7

Rumor
Type: Run-of-the-river

Capacity (MW): 2,5

Riofrío II and II
Type: Run-of-the-river
Capacity (MW): 11,7

Alto Tuluá
Type: Run-of-the-river
Capacity (MW): 19,9

Amamime
Type: Run-of-the-river
Capacity (MW): 19,9

Installed Generation 
Capacity (MW)

Thermal
Hydroelectric

44%
56%

Total 1,777

[G4-5], [G4-6], [G4-9]
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50.18%

12.65%

3.16%

34.01%

Grupo Argos

Other

Foreigners

Severance Fund 
and Pension Fund 

Administrators 

SHAREHOLDERS BY GROUP [G4-7]
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Dear shareholders:
We are very happy to present the 
2013 consolidated statement of com-
prehensive income. This reporting 
period was a time in which we estab-
lished a strategy that allowed us to 
reap the rewards management be-
tween 2008 and 2012, always clear 
on our purpose to be an important, 
reliable and competitive player in 
the Colombian electricity sector. 

We thank our employees for their 
commitment in 2013. Company as-
sets were available and ideal to meet 
system needs, which allowed us to 

actively participate in generating and 
distributing electricity in the country, 
and thus contributing to Colombians' 
development and wellbeing.

Outstanding results achieved in 
2013 give rise to new challenges and 
opportunities, and encourage us to 
focus our team's efforts on building 
and nurturing foundations that will 
guarantee the future sustainability 
of these results.

Below we present an evaluation 
of the most notable events in 2013, 
challenges we faced and what we en-
vision for upcoming years.

5. The CEO and Board of
Directors Management Report

Hidromontañitas Power Plant, Donmatías
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Our Strategy

Growth of businesses, optimization 
of current operations and strength-
ening organizational capacity are 
the three strategies that we estab-
lished for the company, and we work 
and focus all our energy on them.

Regarding the growth our busi-
nesses, we will continue our expan-
sion projects and at the same time, 
we will keep analyzing possible ac-
quisitions in Colombia and abroad. 
The above will be based on another 
one of the company's management 
priorities, innovation, which we be-
lieve is a valuable source of growth 
that will allow us to make the most 
of our opportunities and prepare 
ourselves to successfully face mar-
ket and business challenges.

In turn, optimization of current 
operations will improve current 
profitability to leverage the future 
growth of our organization. In this 
sense, we have focused on efficient 
asset management to maintain op-
erational excellence. Likewise, we 
will strengthen our socio-environ-
mental, human, regulatory and risk 
management to empower our orga-
nizational capacity and be consis-
tent with our sustainability model.

Main Axis: Our Sustainability Model

With it clear to us the balance that 
must exist between economic re-
turn, development and social inclu-
sion and respect for the environ-
ment, in 2013, we strengthened our 
sustainability model, updating rel-
evant topics that guide our manage-
ment. In this regard, we currently 
develop twelve fundamental themes 
and their respective economic, en-
vironmental and social action plans. 

We make progress in consoli-
dating a culture of sustainability in 
everything we do. To achieve this, 
for the first time, we sent our prog-
ress report to the United Nations 
Global Compact, which we ad-
hered to in 2012 and we chose the 
Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) 

G4.0 as a guide for our account-
ability, which emphasizes sustain-
able development.

For the first time, we were in-
vited to participate in the Dow Jones 
Sustainability Index (DJSI) annual 
study, which evaluates global best 
practices in sustainability. The rat-
ing highlighted strengths in the ar-
eas of competition policy, customer 
management, electricity generation 
and stakeholder relations. In re-
sponse to the organization’s chal-
lenges and the opportunities re-
garding this global index, we made 
action plans in the three dimensions 
to make progress in projects and 
commitments that strengthen our 
current commitment.
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6,170
GWh

Results Based on Excellence

In 2013, the organization's asset and 
business portfolio was outstanding. 
We achieved maximum potential by 
balancing hydroelectric and ther-
moelectric energy production in re-
sponse to market conditions. In this 
period, we made significant prog-
ress in the volume of energy deliv-
ered. Said progress can be credited 
to electric energy market dynamics, 
particularly in the areas where we 
operate, and to timely conditions 
of energy dispatch asset availability 
and efficiency. 

On the Atlantic Coast, the es-
tablishment of free-trade zones, 
industrial parks and other kinds of 
companies have raised the level of 
economic and industrial develop-
ment. These factors have caused a 
significant increase in this region's 
electricity demand. On the other 
hand, the energy demand in Valle 
del Cauca, a department where we 
participate in the distribution busi-
ness through EPSA and CETSA, 
varied above the national average. 
Another important factor was the 
increase of exports to Venezuela. 
To ensure feasibility to meet this 
peak energy export demand, backup 

power was generated at our Meriléc-
trica Thermal Power Plant in Bar-
rancabermeja.

In general, in 2013, national wa-
ter levels were below the historical 
average, continuing the low water 
level trend experienced at the end of 
2012. Said conditions had an impact 
on market prices, resulting in an av-
erage of COP 177.8/kWH in Decem-
ber 2013.

In comparison to 2012, the orga-
nization continued with an installed 
capacity of 1,777 MW, in a balanced 
generation portfolio. Out of this ca-
pacity, 56% (1,000 MW) came from 
hydroelectric plants, primarily those 
run by EPSA, and 44% (777 MW) 
came from Celsia's thermoelectric 
plants, out of which, 610 MW were 
generated by combined cycle natu-
ral gas plants that can be powered 
by liquid fuel, if necessary, and 167 

In 2013, we also started a process 
to raise employees awareness about 
sustainable development. So among 
other things, we held our first Sus-
tainability Week, which was a week 
of recreational activities and games 
to build sustainability awareness. 
We also established a communi-
cations strategy that allows us to 
finance the concepts and roles of 
each employee, empowering Celsia 

to be a company fully committed to 
this topic, and we strengthened the 
Sustainability Management team to 
reliably face future challenges. 

We do all of the above with a 
firm commitment to progress daily 
in building a solid, long-lasting or-
ganization that with adequate man-
agement of its risks and opportuni-
ties achieves all-round outstanding 
results. 

energy produced  
by the organization
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MW were generated by simple cycle 
natural gas plants. 

In 2013 our organization pro-
duced 6,170 GWh, increasing energy 
production by 1,131 GWh over the 
previous year, and it went from rep-
resenting 8% of energy production 
in Colombia in 2012 to 10% in 2013. 
This greater production mainly 
comes from Zona Franca Celsia, as 
a result of the mentioned shortage 
in water levels that required greater 
participation of thermoelectric pow-
er generation to cover the country's 
needs. This power generation ex-
ceeded historical levels for both Cel-
sia and Zona Franca Celsia. EPSA 
generated 3,190 GWh, which was 
comparable to 2012 figures. It was 
possible to maintain this generation, 
because the regions where EPSA's 
assets are located had average rain-
fall above the national average. 

Energy sales contracts also 
achieved their highest levels in 
2013, dispatching 3,733 GWh in 
long-term contracts, representing a 
17% increase over last year. Out of 
the volume of energy dispatched, 
28% was dispatched by Celsia and 
the remaining 72% from EPSA and 
CETSA. 

In 2013, the organization also 
committed to dispatch 4,089 GWh 
of energy in bilateral contracts, 
which will be executed between 
2014 and 2017. 

To support this commercial ac-
tivity, we continue to strengthen 
risk assessment methods and tools, 
in line with commercial policies 
that support our process within 
the Comprehensive Management 
System (CMS) framework. In 2013, 
our CMS Quality Management Sys-
tem was renewed under Colombian 

Zona Franca Celsia Power Plant, Barranquilla
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Technical Standard NTC-ISO 2013, 
which it has held since 2010.

Celsia remained active this year 
in natural gas sales on the second-
ary market, reflected by new cus-
tomers acquired and managed, 
with sales of 8,961 GBTU/year. It 
optimized purchases from differ-
ent sources at competitive prices, 
which made it possible to achieve 
attractive margins. Similarly, op-
erational exchanges were made, 
increasing gas availability on the 
Atlantic Coast.

We continued to participate in 
the secondary natural gas market, 
adapting to its new regulatory re-
quirements. Likewise, we have cur-
rently lined up all the fuel contracts 
necessary to back the Reliability 
Premium of the Zona Franca Cel-
sia and Meriléctrica thermoelectric 
plants in the assigned terms, until 
November 2016.

For the term of the Reliabil-
ity Premium, from December 2012 
to November 2013, Firm Energy 
Obligations (OEF, for the Spanish 
original) for generation resources 
amounted to 22,069 MWh/day, cor-
responding to 11% of the obligations 
assigned to Colombia's National 
Electrical Grid resources. 

So with adequate maintenance, 
as well as operating and commercial 
management, we managed to fulfill 
97% of the OEF assigned for thermo-
electric resources and 100% of those 
assigned for hydroelectric resources. 
These results are outstanding.

Finally, as an integral part of its 
culture to identify and manage risks, 
power plant operations are making 
progress in comprehensive mainte-
nance management, thus increasing 
uptime in larger plants: 86% for the 
hydroelectric plants and 97% for the 
thermoelectric plants. 

Central Meriléctrica, Barrancabermeja
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We remain committed to socio-en-
vironmental management in our op-
erations' areas of influence. We are 
pleased to announce that as proof of 
this, in 2013, we invested more than 
27,000 million Colombian pesos, 
benefiting 197,132 people.

Said management is linked to 
our sustainability model, with em-
phasis on water protection, research 
and conservation of biodiversity, ac-
cess to energy and promotion of ed-
ucation. With the above, we make a 
substantial contribution to improv-
ing the living conditions of the peo-
ple in the areas where we operate 
or where we are carrying out stud-
ies or projects. This is in line with 
our corporate values of respect and 
transparency in our relations with 
communities, leaders, local authori-
ties and grass-roots organizations, 
always as part of the good neighbor 
policy.

We also calculated our carbon 
footprint, which we used as a refer-
ence to establish the climate change 
policy and strategies that will be ad-
opted by the company in 2014. As 

Building the Utility of the Future

For Celsia and EPSA, innovation is 
part of its competitive strategy in 
light of the rapid changes the elec-
tricity business is experiencing in 
the world. 

In 2013, we continued to assess 
the potential of renewable energy 
resources, aiming to enter the un-
conventional energy market and 
we designed new business models. 
Together with EPSA and CETSA, 
we continue to plan an intelligent 

network that incorporates electric-
ity transmission and clean energy 
distribution integrated with the cur-
rent business in the framework of 
operational excellence, through in-
novative processes and technology.

EPSA’s innovation management 
system, Innova, continues to pro-
duce results with successful ideas 
selected in 2013. We are especially 
proud of the patent received for the 
Sliding Pendulum, winner of the 

Firm Commitment to Socio-environmental 
Management

this is a topic of unique importance, 
we would like to highlight that the 
Hidromontañitas Power Plant is 
registered with the Verified Car-
bon Standard program, one of the 
market's most important voluntary 
emissions programs. In turn, the 
Meriléctrica Power Plant was re-
certified in ISO 14000:2004 with an 
excellent rating. 

In EPSA, we also highlight the 
development of environmental im-
provement programs and projects, 
as well as progress in the fulfillment 
of prevention, mitigation and/or off-
set measures and the Environmen-
tal Management Plans for the power 
plants and energy distribution and 
power generation projects. 

197,132
people in the areas of influence benefited from 

socio-environmental management
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Ámbar Asocodis 2013 award; an in-
vention that provides safety to the 
population and environment in the 
event that transmission towers fall. 

Likewise, COP 4,789 million 
were invested in projects such as in-
telligent networks, electricity trans-
mission, efficiency associated with 
renewable energy (60,000 watts of 
solar panels installed in Yumbo) 
and river micro-turbines. It is note-
worthy that for EPSA's develop-
ments in innovation, Colciencias 
granted it tax credit bonds for COP 
5,101 million.

Finally, we are committed to 
world sustainability with impor-
tant achievements in this respect. 
Through the Energy Resource Op-

timization Program (PORE, for the 
Spanish original), directed at clients 
of the regulated and unregulated 
market and the communal areas of 
residential units, we were able to re-
duce the energy consumption of the 
participating clients by 9.5%, reduc-
ing emissions into the atmosphere 
by 283,000 kg of C02 a year, equiva-
lent to planting 43,600 trees.

In recent years, the organization has 
been through a process of focusing 
on the energy business and acceler-
ated expansion through the acquisi-
tion of companies such as Termo-
flores (now Zona Franca Celsia), 
Meriléctrica, Generar (now Piedras 
River Power Plant), Hidromonta-
ñitas and EPSA, forming a team of 
1,078 employees. We also currently 
have operations in different depart-
ments throughout the country such 
as Antioquia, Atlántico, Santander, 
Valle del Cauca, Cauca, Chocó and 
Tolima.

Given our transformation in 
2013, we defined and launched a hu-
man resources model that aims to 
support our leaders in attracting, 
maintaining and developing human 
talent as a differentiating factor in 
the sector. This was done in an ef-
fort to consolidate the required or-
ganizational culture in a framework 
of sustainability awareness. This 

Our Energy: The Human Element

model covers four areas of work: de-
velopment, culture, leadership and 
quality of life.

To make this model tangible, we 
started to redefine the human re-
sources and administrative policies, 
which establish a framework for ac-
tion so that organization-employee 
relations are built, developed and 
maintained in a work environment 
ideal for high performance and 
commitment, so that it contributes 
to the development of people and 
their families and generates value in 
the company. 

We also redefined the model of 
corporate, functional and technical 
skills for the whole organization, 
and that model gives us guidance 
for selection processes, training, 
development and performance. We 
also implemented the comprehen-
sive compensation system, which 
includes the description and assess-
ment of roles, the establishment of 



O5

21www.celsia.com

Outstanding Financial Results

In 2013, the company generated 
revenue of COP 2.38 trillion, which 
represents an increase of 18% from 
2012. Approximately 68% of the 
revenue came from the generation 
business and 32% from energy dis-
tribution and retail. Consolidated 
operating profit was reported in the 
amount of COP 716,117 million, with 
a 30% margin. Consolidated EBIT-
DA was COP 864,563 million, up 18% 
from 2012, with a 36% margin. 

These results were possible thanks 
to timeliness in asset availability and 
efficiency. This combined with the 
good weather conditions and a port-

a variable compensation system and 
the standardization of the benefits 
program for our employees. 

Another one of the programs that 
we started in the year was the identi-
fication of critical and key positions 
and the structuring of a career plan 
and replacement program for these. 
We also worked to identify employ-
ees that show potential, with which 
we will establish a personal develop-
ment and retention program. 

In 2013, for the first time, we 
surveyed the work climate and we 
obtained positive results, allowing 
us to implement a work plan to de-
velop organizational skills, such as 
teamwork and leadership.

All human resources processes 
had a clear and specific approach to 
establish the desired culture for le-
veraging our strategy.

folio that complemented these condi-
tions, favored our operations during 
the year.

The non-operating revenue includ-
ed COP 114,717 million for the recovery 
of provisions for the reconciliation of 
the legal process with the National Di-
rectorate of Taxes and Customs (DIAN, 
for the Spanish original) (See “Legal 
Matters and Corporate Governance”). 

COP 864,563
million consolidated EBITDA 

Hidromontañitas Power Plant Employee, Donmatías
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Consolidated net profit totaled 
COP 373,645 million, compared to  
COP 230,760 million in 2012.. 

Celsia's statement of income re-
corded operating income of COP 
388,726 million, 6% more than 2012. 
Operating profit was COP 57,134 
million, down 43% from 2012. The 
EBITDA was COP 83,925 million, 
28% down from the previous year for 
an EBITDA margin of 22%, which is 
logical when considering the increase 
in thermoelectric power generation.

As a result of using the equity 
method for Zona Franca Celsia and 
Colener, the latter holding shares in 
EPSA, revenue of COP 247,996 mil-
lion was recorded to the statement 
of income for this concept. 

Consolidated assets reached 
COP 7.33 trillion, a 7% increase from 
December 2012, with the notable 
increase of COP 278,300 million 
in long-term assets. Of these, COP 
92,033 are reflected in the financial 
leasing account due to progress in 
the Cucuana Hydroelectric Power 
Plant construction and COP 186,267 
million of other property, plant and 
equipment investments.

Additionally, an increase of COP 
235,569 million was recorded to the 
valuations account, as a result of a 
property plant and equipment ap-
praisal carried out at the end of the 
year. In turn, total liabilities of COP 
2.42 trillion were recorded, down 2% 
from the close of the previous year. 
Accordingly, the estimated liabilities 
and provisions account decreased 
COP 163,956 million, including the 
compan'ys reconciliation process 
underway with the DIAN. 

The borrowings shows a de-
crease of COP 786,259 million, cor-
responding to bank loans that were 

In turn, total non-consolidated 
assets were reported in the amount 
of COP 4.1 trillion, representing a 
5% increase from December 2012, 
showing impressive increase on in-
vestments in EPSA and Zona Franca 
Celsia of COP 227,253 million due to 
property appraisals of these compa-
nies, and net results from them. To-
tal company liabilities are reported 
at COP 863,048 million, 18% down 
from the previous year, mainly due 
to the adjustment to provisions, as-
sociated with the DIAN process.

COP 373,645
million consolidated net profit

replaced by issuing COP 800,000 
million in ordinary bonds in Decem-
ber. Likewise, equity was reported in 
the amount of COP 3.29 trillion.

Consolidated financial debt as at 
December 2013 was COP 1.8 trillion, 
while cash and short-term invest-
ments were COP 897,759 million, 
resulting in a net financial debt of 
COP 874,052 million, 8% less than in 
December 2012.
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We Optimized Our Capital Structure

A Dynamic Share

In December 2013, Celsia carried 
out its first issuance of ordinary 
bonds on the national securities ex-
change. At COP 800 billion, it was 
the largest issuance by a real sec-
tor private company in the history  
of the Colombian bond market. 

We highlight that the company 
received demands for the value of 
COP 1.34 trillion, equivalent to 2.25 
times the initially offered amount 
(COP 600 billion). The issuance was 
used one hundred percent for the re-
placement of financial liabilities.

This achievement fills us with 
pride and satisfaction. With it we 

In 2013, the local variable income 
market was strongly influenced by 
the macroeconomic events that 
occurred in other economies, par-
ticularly in light of the expectation 
about the reduction of the bond 
purchase program of the U.S. Fed-
eral Reserve’s monetary flexibi-
lization policy. On the other hand, 
Celsia mobilized investor flows in 
light of the expectation of the most 
representative index of the Colom-
bian Securities Exchange, Colcap,  
and in light of the expression of 
interest to assess participation in 
Isagen’s sales process.

Volumes were significant and 
the annual value grew 6.4%, to fin-
ish the year at COP 5,680, which 
allowed us to generate an overall 
annual return including dividends 
of 8.14% for our shareholders. 

On the other hand, we con-
tinued to be very active in the 
participation of investor events  

can improve the company’s financial 
flexibility by doubling the average 
life of the debt profile, from 5.5 years 
to 11.2 years, which is in line with the 
long-term nature of our assets. We 
also managed to diversify the sources 
and optimize the funding costs.

In the development of this pro-
cess, the Technical Committee of 
BRC Investor Services S.A. SCV as-
signed the initial AA+ rating in long-
term debt to Celsia’s ordinary bonds.

in Colombia and abroad to 
strengthen relations with the insti-
tutional public and to have timely 
and transparent communication 
for the adequate analysis of the ba-
sis of our business.

Zona Franca Celsia Power Plant, Barranquilla
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In our strategy, we aim to create val-
ue for our shareholders. To achieve 
this, we will adjust our growth with 
the development of a platform of or-
ganizational capacity, which will al-
low us to obtain outstanding results 
in a corporate context committed to 
sustainability.

With the growth of our areas 
of business as our goal, in the me-
dium term, we aim to complement 
the portfolio of said areas of busi-
ness and technology with two ad-
ditional elements: the international 
component and the incorporation of 
unconventional renewable energy. 
Estas dos dimensiones aportarán a 
la diversificación geográfica y al aco-
plamiento de la organización a las 
realidades de la evolución del sector 
eléctrico.

With the aim to secure said 
growth and to help respond to the 
country's electricity demand, in 
the development of the expansion 
plan, we continue to progress in 
our project portfolio. The construc-
tion of these projects will allow us 
to increase our current generation 
capacity by 447 megawatts and the 
average annual energy generation 
by approximately 30%.

Looking to the Future

Porvenir II hydroelectric plant
In development of the projects that 
comprise our expansion plan, in 
2012, Celsia signed a sale and pur-
chase agreement to acquire the 
shares of the company, Produc-
ción de Energía S.A.S. E.S.P. This 
company that owns the Porvenir II 
Hydroelectric Plant (352 MW) was 
the successful tenderer for the Firm 
Energy Obligations of the Grupo 
de Proyectos con Periodo de Pla-
neación Superior (GPPS, “Group of 
Projects with Longer Planning Pe-
riods”) auction held by the Energy 
and Gas Regulatory Commission 
(CREG), in January 2012.

In 2013, we continued with the 
licensing, construction design and 
planning activities started in 2012, 
which are necessary for the devel-
opment of this project. We will build 
this project once the correspond-
ing license has been granted by the 
National Environmental Licensing 
Agency (ANLA). It is important to 
highlight that the granting of said 



O5

25www.celsia.com

license has the condition of comple-
tion of the aforementioned sale and 
purchase agreement. 

Within the project's licensing 
process, as a result of the evaluation 
of the Environmental Impact Study 
report submitted to the ANLA in 
2012, in January 2013, this author-
ity issued Resolution 0062. Through 
this resolution, it presented a se-
ries of requirements that it consid-
ers necessary to grant the license, 
which have been responded to, in 
order to be submitted at the end of 
February 2014.

Later, on June 5, 2013, through 
Resolution 164, the Ministry of 
Mines and Energy declared the Por-
venir II Hydroelectric Power Plant 
to be of public utility and social in-
terest.

This same year we completed 
the detailed designs for its construc-
tion. In its development, we had the 
technical assistance of a group of 
international experts who provided 
the support required to obtain de-
signs with state-of-the-art engineer-
ing in the different disciplines.

In 2013, the process was also 
continued to raise awareness 
among the communities, authori-
ties and municipal administra-
tions in the area of influence,  
as well as with the regional and na-
tional entities related to Porvenir II.

San Andrés Hydroelectric Plant
With the San Andrés Plant (19.9 
MW) owned by Celsia, we continued 
the required coordination with Cor-
antioquia, tending to formalize the 
adjustments made to the definitive 
designs for its construction in its en-
vironmental license. 

In 2013, we also continued activi-
ties to raise awareness of the project 
among the communities, authorities 
and municipal administrations in 
the area of influence, as well as with 
the regional entities and stakehold-
ers. In 2014, we plan to carry out 
the selection process for contractors 
and the requests for proposals for 
the development thereof.

Bajo Tuluá and Cucuana Projects 
(EPSA)
Bajo Tuluá (19.9 MW), the machine 
room affected by the attack of Au-
gust 2012 was recovered, with 52% 
implementation in the reconstruc-
tion works. This power plant will 
start operations in the second se-
mester of 2014. Cucuana (55 MW) 
achieved 71% of the execution of its 
construction and forecasts its start-
up for the end of 2014.

Regulatory Affairs

Regarding regulations, the regula-
tions of the natural gas wholesale 
market were issued, the Guajira field 
price which is still regulated was re-
leased and exports were allowed to 
promote the gas supply. 

We made great progress in this 
aspect, which in the future will pro-
vide greater liquidity and incen-
tives for the growth of this market. 
However, some adjustments will be 
required to allow greater access to 
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flexible contracts for the thermo-
electric generators. 

Additionally, economic stimuli 
were established for the develop-
ment of a facility for importing nat-
ural gas. 

An aspect to highlight in this re-
port is the collective effort made be-
tween the government, the electric-
ity sector and the industry to carry 
out a study that will identify oppor-
tunities in the efficiency of the elec-
tricity rate structure. To achieve this, 
the current status of the electricity 
market was reviewed with the aim 
to harmonize two basic principles of 
public utilities (economic efficiency 
and financial competence) to ensure 

Celsia addressed its legal proceedings 
and affairs. It did not receive any no-
tification of lawsuits or sanctions that 
could affect its financial position.

We highlight that in the last 
quarter of 2013, the Administrative 
Court of Antioquia approved the 
reconciliation agreement signed 
between Celsia and the DIAN, in re-
sponse to the process of nullification 
and restoration of rights proceed-
ings where Inversiones e Industria 
S.A. (a company that was absorbed 
in 2008) required the formal settle-
ment of the revised official income 
tax assessment for 2005.

Consequently, the Court declared 
these legal proceedings as closed and 
ordered their archiving. Pursuant to 
the above, the company recorded the 
recovery of the provisions of COP 
114,717 million and as a result of the 
reconciliation, it made a payment of 
COP 49,239 million for the income 
tax associated with said process. 

the companies' feasibility. One of the 
important conclusions was that the 
performance of the electricity mar-
ket adequately reflects the funda-
mental aspects of the business. 

Specifically, the study made 
thirty recommendations that can 
benefit the competitiveness of the 
industrial sector, which are being 
analyzed by the government for 
their implementation in the elec-
tricity institutions, giving priority 
to topics including needs for expan-
sion in transmission and sales of 
self-generation surpluses. 

Legal Matters and Corporate Governance

Financial information reporting 
and control systems were evaluated 
and it was concluded that they func-
tion adequately.

On the other hand, the company 
respected the applicable legisla-
tion about intellectual property and 
complied with regulations concern-
ing copyright. The company uses 
software purchased from authorized 
providers and possesses the corre-
sponding licenses.

Operations with administrators 
and shareholders have complied with 
the relevant standards and been in 
line with market conditions. Notes 27 
and 30 of the individual and consoli-
dated financial statements, respec-
tively, describe these transactions.

Aspects related to Article 446 of 
the Commerce Code are included in 
the financial statements, the statutory  
auditor’s report and this document.

Regarding corporate governance, 
we would like to share the events of 
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2013, which marked important land-
marks in the history of our company.

In April, we completed the Có-
digo País Survey. Its results were 
made known in the last quarter  
of 2013 and the positive way in which 
corporate governance measures 
were adopted by Celsia is notable. 

On the other hand, in August, 
the Colombian Securities Exchange 
awarded the company with the IR 
Recognition, which identifies issuers 
that have voluntarily adopted best 
practices in the disclosure of infor-
mation and investor relations. 

Similarly, in October 2013, a 
reform of the Corporate Gover-
nance Code was approved, in which 
best practices on the subject were 

updated and included. Addition-
ally, a Corporate Code of Conduct 
was adopted, which constantly 
guides the ethical and transpar-
ent behavior of all of Celsia’s em-
ployees and directors. With this, 
we strengthen our control systems  
and we promote the better operations 
of the company in the long term. 

To conclude, we highlight that 
the share titles issued by Celsia were 
dematerialized and consequently, 
from January 2, 2014, all of the shares 
circulate in dematerialized form. 
With the adoption of this corporate 
governance measure, we highlight 
the mitigation of risks of loss, deteri-
oration, falsification and adulteration 
of securities representing rights.

Celsia employees, Medellín
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As informed by the company 
through the relevant information 
mechanism, after assessing a pos-
sible investment in Isagen, it was 
decided not to participate in this 
process, responding to the levels of 
return that would be produced by 
the investment and the conditions 
of the capital markets. 

Presenting these results fills us with 
satisfaction, not only because they 
reflect apt management that allows 
us to envisage a promising future, 
but also because they show the com-
mitment, experience and work of a 
group of employees, who throughout 
the year, work enthusiastically and 
honestly for the organization's devel-
opment. To all of them, as well as to 
our shareholders, clients, suppliers, 
regulators, authorities and society in 
general, we express our gratitude for 
their trust and support, which moti-
vates us to continue delivering our 
best energy to the country.

Thank you very much,

José Alberto Vélez C.
Ricardo Sierra F.
Gonzalo Alberto Pérez R.
Juan Benavides E.
Manuel Ignacio Dussan V.
María Luisa Mesa Z.
María Fernanda Mejía C.

Juan Guillermo Londoño P.
CEO

Major Events Q1, 2014

Acknowledgments

Zona Franca Celsia Power Plant, Barranquilla



Governance Model
Celsia's strategy regarding corporate 
governance consists of having high 
corporate governance standards that 
constantly guide the employees' and 
directors' ethical and transparent be-
havior and that allow the company to 
stand out in this subject, striving to 
always be at the cutting edge, adopt-
ing not only national best practices, 
but also international ones. 

The corporate governance pro-
visions are primarily contained in 
the Company Bylaws, the Corpo-
rate Governance Code and the Cor-
porate Code of Conduct and they 
are made public through the direct 
delivery of the documents, the in-

vestors' page, the internal commu-
nications mechanisms and training 
programs, as well as other items de-
signed to inform about them.

The corporate governance guide-
lines that are provided for Zona 
Franca Celsia S.A. E.S.P., Empresa de 
Energía del Pacífico S.A. E.S.P. and 
Compañía Eléctrica de Tuluá S.A. 
E.S.P. are aimed at said companies 
adopting (taking into account their 
specific circumstances) Celsia's Cor-
porate Governance Code and Corpo-
rate Code of Conduct and in general, 
adopting the measures implemented 
by Celsia that are inspired by the 
guidelines of the parent company, 
Grupo Argos S.A.

6. Our Governance
Framework

Zona Franca Celsia Power Plant, Barranquilla
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GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

BOARD OF
DIRECTORS

Board Committees

Sustain-
ability

and Corporate 
Governance 
Committee

Audit and 
Finance

Committee

Human 
Resources 
Committee

[G4-34], [G4-38]

CEO

Steering Committee

Employees

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

(1) José Alberto Vélez C.
(2) Ricardo Sierra F.
(3) Gonzalo Alberto Pérez R.
(4) Juan Benavides E.
(5) Manuel Ignacio Dussan V.
(6) María Luisa Mesa Z.
(7) María Fernanda Mejía C.
(P) Juan Guillermo Londoño P.

Photo outline

BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SUPPORT COMMITTEES

Board of Directors

1327564P
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CEO
Chief Regulation Officer
Corporate Auditor
Chief Operation Officer
Chief Project Development Officer
Chief Development Officer
Chief Financial Officer
Chief Legal Counselor
Chief HR and Administration Officer
Managing Director EPSA

STEERING COMMITTEE

(P) Juan Guillermo Londoño P.
(2) Rafael Pérez C.
(3) Juan Fernando Fernández  R.
(4) Germán García V.
(5) Alberto Gutiérrez P.
(6) Ana María Calle L.
(7) Esteban Piedrahíta M.
(8) Rafael Olivella V.
(9) Claudia Salazar P.
(10) Óscar Iván Zuluaga S.

Steering Committee

1327564P
754P 2810

9
4

6
7

P
53

The CVs of the members of the Board 
of Directors may be consulted here.

The CVs of the members of the Steering 
Committee may be consulted here.

http://www.celsia.com/en-us/About-Celsia/About-Celsia/Structure/Board-of-directors
http://www.celsia.com/en-us/About-Celsia/About-Celsia/Structure/Management-team
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Board of Directors [G4-34], [G4-38], [G4-39], [G4-41]

PERCENTAGE OF ATTENDANCE AT 
BOARD MEETINGS
José Alberto Vélez:  100%
Ricardo Sierra:   100%
Gonzalo Alberto Pérez:  100%

Board Director No. 1 Board Director No. 2 Board Director No. 3

Name José Alberto Vélez C. Ricardo Sierra F. Gonzalo Alberto Pérez R.

Company where he/she 
works Grupo Argos Grupo Argos Suramericana

Position CEO Chief Corporate 
Finance Officer CEO

Board committee(s) he/she 
belongs to

1) Sustainability and Corporate 
Governance Committee

2) Human Resources Committee

1) Sustainability and Corporate 
Governance Committee 1) Human Resources Committee

Number of other boards of 
directors he/she belongs to 5 5 4

Name of the companies 
where he/she participates 

as a member of the Board of 
Directors

Companies:
1) Grupo de Inversiones 

Suramericana 
2) Bancolombia 

3) Cementos Argos 
4) Crystal 

5) Arcos Dorados

Companies:
1) Compas 
2) Situm 

3) Forjas Bolivar 

Other entities:
1) Foundation Carla Cristina

2) Codesarrollo

Companies:
1) Bancolombia 

2) Grupo Nutresa 

Other entities:
1) Fundación Suramericana

2) Fasecolda

Member or registered with 
social groups No No No

Skills related to economic, 
environmental and social 

impact

Administrative engineer. 
His professional experience 
gives him knowledge on strategic 
and operating matters of the 
businesses he has managed 
(CEO of Cementos Argos), which 
has an impact on the company's 
economic, environmental and 
social affairs.

Business manager. 
He has broad experience in the 
financial sector (Vice-president of 
Banca de Inversión Bancolombia, 
Chief Financial Officer of Cemen-
tos Argos and Chief Corporate 
Finance Officer of Grupo Argos). 
Additionally, because of his con-
nection to Cementos Argos, he 
also has knowledge on environ-
mental and social matters.

Lawyer. 
From his experience as Deputy 
CEO of Corporate Businesses 
and Insurance of Inversura and 
as CEO of Suramericana, which 
is his current position, he has 
social, economic and strategic 
financial skills.

Juan Benavides:   90%
Manuel Ignacio Dussan:  100%
María Luisa Mesa:  100%
María Fernanda Mejía:  90%
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[G4-15]None of the board members is a shareholder of an 
important client or supplier.
None of the board members are executives.

Board Director No. 4 Board Director No. 5 Board Director No. 6 Board Director No. 7

Juan Benavides E. Manuel Ignacio Dussan V. María Luisa Mesa Z. María Fernanda Mejía C.

Centro Interdisciplinario de Estu-
dios sobre Desarrollo (CIDER) Independent consultant Humberto Mesa González 

y Asociados
Mac - Johnson Controls Colombia 

and EMA Holdings 

Director Independent consultant Partner CEO

Independent Independent Independent Independent

1) Audit and 
Finance Committee

2) Human Resources Committee
1) Audit and Finance Committee 1) Committee of Sustainability 

and Corporate Governance 1) Audit and Finance Committee

0 0 2 3

NA NA
Companies:

1) Casa Editorial El Tiempo 

2) CEETV 

Companies:
1) Positive I.D. 

Other entities:
1) Fundación Ernesto Mejía 

Amaya
2) Fundación Casa de Colombia

No No No Asociación de Damas Consulares 
de Cali (carries out social work)

Electrical engineer. 
Because of his experience and 
career as a specialist for the 
Inter-American Development 
Bank, researcher of Fedesar-
rollo, lecturer at the School 
of Economics of Universidad 
Nacional de Colombia and advi-
sor of the CREG (Energy and Gas 
Regulatory Commission), among 
others, he has all the skills 
related to the business, which 
have an impact on the com-
pany's economic, environmental 
and social results.

Electrical Engineer. 
He has worked as the chief officer 
of international commerce and 
gas, an advisor of the Ministry 
of Mines and Energy, a commis-
sioner of the CREG (Energy and 
Gas Regulatory Commission), 
a specialist in regulation of the 
World Bank and an advisor of the 
International Development Bank, 
which gives him great experience 
in electric power sector and envi-
ronmental and economic matters.

Lawyer. 
Her experience at the Superin-
tendency of Corporations and 
Avianca and as an advisor in legal 
matters gives her knowledge in 
financial and legal matters. 

Public accountant. 
From her experience as an audi-
tor and work as the CEO of Mac 
- Johnson Controls Colombia and 
EMA Holdings in matters of corpo-
rate social responsibility, she has 
skills in economic, environmental 
and social affairs. 
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The election of the members of the 
Board of Directors is governed by 
criteria of transparency and is car-
ried out through the voting quotient 
procedure. According to the provi-
sions of the Corporate Governance 
Code, shareholders must submit 
their proposals observing the mini-
mum notice period established in 
the Company Bylaws and they must 
take into account aspects such as 
gender diversity, professional histo-
ry, experience in business manage-
ment, knowledge and personal and 
moral qualities. People who are sev-
enty-two (72) years old and above 
cannot be elected as members of the 
Board of Directors, except when it is 
expressly authorized by the Share-
holders' Meeting. [G4-40]

The majority of directors elect-
ed for a specific period must meet 
the requirements to be considered 
as independent members and they 
must declare it as such at the time 
of accepting their inclusion in a list 
of candidates. The criteria for inde-
pendence are found in the content 
of the Corporate Governance Code 
and include other more demanding 
and voluntary parameters, in addi-
tion to those established in Law 964 
of 2005. 

For the purposes of establishing the 
remuneration of the members of the 
Board, the Shareholders' Meeting 
considers the number and function of 
the members, as well as the structure, 
obligations, responsibilities, time 
dedicated to their activity and ex-
perience, so that said remuneration 
adequately corresponds to the con-
tribution that the company expects.
[G4-51], [G4-52], [G4-53]

The fees of the Board of Direc-
tors or Board Committee do not 
consider payment in kind. Payment 
of fees for Board sessions is made 
monthly. The fees for Committees 
are paid for attended session and 
the employees of Grupo Argos S.A. 
(parent company of Celsia) who are 
members of the Board Committees 
do not receive remuneration for at-
tendance.

When important topics 
for the organization are 
identified, regarding the 
operations of businesses 
as well as sustainability, 
they are consulted with 
the Steering Committee 
and the Board of 
Directors. Once approved, 
these are implemented 
by each one of the vice-
presidencies. [G4-35]

If you would like detailed information about 
the current Corporate Governance Code, 
you can consult it here.

http://www.celsia.com/en-us/About-Celsia/About-Celsia/Policies-and-Accessions/Policies
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Sustainability Roundtable
Comprised of leaders of the different 
areas with the aim to guide the implemen-
tation of the Sustainability Model (eco-
nomic, environmental, social and human 
sustainability) in the areas and propose 
and encourage improvement practices. 

Sustainability and Corporate 
Governance Committee 
It supports the Board of Directors 
in sustainability and corporate 
governance. It formulates proposals 
and actions taking into account best 
practices in sustainability and it 
monitors and follows up the company's 
management and plans. It also has 
functions regarding assisting the Board 
of Directors in development, training 
and assessment.

Audit and Finance Committee 
It supports the functions of the Board 
of Directors in analysis and follow-up 
of the financial statements, risks and 
internal control. It is responsible for the 
approval and supervision of the fulfilling 
the internal audit plan, attending to the 
review, prevention and corrections that 
involve the different areas and risks of 
the business, among others, including 
those related to economic, social and 
environmental issues. Additionally, it 
ensures the preparation, presentation 
and disclosure of financial information 
and assesses coordination regarding 
internal control and the risks of manag-
ers, executives and directors.

Steering Committee 
It deals with matters related to results, 
areas of business and their environ-
ment (including new regulations), 
projects, growth and expansion and 
more important corporate matters (hu-
man resources, corporate development 
and new businesses, sustainability and 
corporate governance, internal auditing, 
EPSA). In general, it works on carrying 
out constant follow-up of the implemen-
tation of the company's strategy.

The Sustainability and Foundations Manage-
ment is found in the Vice-Presidency of 
Corporate Affairs, through which, with the 
support of the chief officer of the area, each 
one of the sustainability topics is presented 
to the Board of Directors.

Human Resources Committee 
It supports the functions carried out by 
the Board of Directors regarding the com-
pany's human resources, including the 
CEO and all of the management team. 

Celsia has two Board Committees and two Management Committees, which 
support the Board of Directors:

STEERING  
COMMITTEES

BOARD  
COMMITTEES

[G4-47], [G4-46]

[G4-36]

[G4-34], [G4-38]
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It is planned to propose a reform to 
the Company Bylaws to incorporate 
measures that complement the 
provisions on corporate governance 
at the Shareholders' Meeting to be 
held at the end of March 2014.

For the second quarter of 2014, 
we have planned special training on 
corporate governance matters for 
the members of the Board.

In the medium and long-term, 
disclosure campaigns will be 
implemented that reinforce the 

knowledge and behavior of the 
employees, directors and other 
stakeholders, in accordance with 
the corporate governance and 
conduct guidelines provided by the 
company.

The organization will continue 
to have the support of advisors in 
corporate governance matters, who 
support the strengthening of the or-
ganization's good practices to keep 
generating value and substantially 
contributing to sustainability.

WHERE ARE WE GOING?

With notice of no less than three 
business days, the members of the 
Board of Directors have access to 
information relevant for making 
decisions according to the topics 
included in the meeting's agenda. 
After presenting them to the Board, 
there is time to resolve concerns and 
debate and deliberate on the case.

[G4-50]

Matters related to the Shareholders' Meeting

Approval of quarterly financial statements and those from the end of the ac-
counting period

Growth and development matters: acquisition of projects and companies, 
corporate reorganization processes (mergers, demergers and transforma-
tions)

Presentation of the progress of the company's human resources model

Strategy and planning

Corporate governance matters

Follow-up of risk management

Business matters: operational and regulatory

Sustainability matters

Matters related to innovation

Nomination of the CEO and the legal representatives

Matters that because of their significance and because they are not within 
the ordinary course of the company's businesses must be taken to the Board 
of Directors

Approval of the budget

Critical matters
taken

to the Board
of Directors



CELSIA 2021 MEGA (in Span-
ish: Large and Ambitious 
Strategic Goal) Celsia will triple 
the EBITDA of 2011 through 
new businesses and operational 
excellence and by breaking into 
new markets in Latin Ameri-
can and Caribbean countries, 
preferably interconnected with 
Colombia and in which invest-
ment options will be assessed.

To achieve this, the company 
must adjust its growth strategy 
with the development of an orga-
nizational capacity platform and 
obtain outstanding results within 
a corporate context committed to 
sustainable development.

7. How Do We Create Value?

Hidromontañitas Power Plant, Donmatías
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Celsia follows up the implementa-
tion of its strategy based on the Bal-
anced Scorecard (BSC) methodolo-
gy. The organization has a corporate 
BSC which translates strategy into 
maps with objectives comprised of 
strategic and tactical indicators that 
are reflected in five perspectives: Fi-
nancial, Client/Market, Operation, 
Organizational Capacity and Hu-
man Resources. This tool consoli-

BALANCED SCORECARD

dates the information of the differ-
ent companies in which Celsia has a 
majority shareholding and allows a 
detailed analysis to be made of each 
one of them and of the different 
businesses in which it participates. 

Monthly follow-up is carried out 
on the BSC in the meetings of the 
Steering Committee, which supports 
the evaluation of gaps in perfor-
mance regarding the strategic objec-

OUR WINNING FORMULA

Celsia is an organization dedicated 
to businesses in the electricity sec-
tor which are national and with in-
ternational projections. It differen-
tiates itself from the other players 
with its versatility, dynamism and 
profitability.
• Creating sustainable value for all 

its stakeholders and being attrac-
tive to investors.

• Generating competitive and in-
novative offers to satisfy clients' 
needs and to strengthen the 
emotional connection with our 
products, services, brand and our 
people.

• Seeking operational excellence in 
processes that create a competi-
tive advantage for the businesses 
and in the management of their 
expansion projects, in line with in-
ternational best practices and the 
realities of each market.

• Managing risks derived from the 
nature of the business and of the 
sector.

• Being a simple company with the 
capacity to learn, which manages 
the necessary knowledge for the 
construction of a solid organiza-
tion that supports its growth.

• Attracting, developing and pro-
jecting our human resources, 
striving to be a company that bal-
ances the development of corpo-
rate objectives with the objectives 
of each individual, aiming help 
improve the quality of life of our 
employees. 

• Building a company that through 
its responsible action contributes 
to the country's development and 
the development of the markets 
where it operates.

• Acting according to ethical and 
corporate governance guidelines 
in order to be a recognized com-
pany with an excellent reputation.

• Complying with current environ-
mental legislation and progres-
sively reducing the negative im-
pact on the environment.

• Making timely and assertive deci-
sions and ensuring their complete 
execution in a context of autono-
my with strategic coherence.

tives. Additionally, all the employees 
have access to this tool with the aim 
to disclose the strategic objectives 
throughout the organization.

It is important to note that the 
BSC includes specific sustainability 
indicators. EPSA also has an individ-
ual BSC that is fully aligned with the 
corporate BSC.

Sustainability is an integral 
part of Celsia's strategy. 

Our Sustainability Model is 
comprised of six work focuses:

Energy for the future 

Good neighbor

Water

Eco-efficiency

Corporate governance

Human capital

If you would like detailed information about 
the Sustainability Model, you can consult it here.

http://www.celsia.com/sustainability/Our-understanding-of-sustainability
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Our power generation is based on 
the complementarity of our port-
folio, by having thermoelectric and 
hydroelectric power sources. Ad-
ditionally, it seeks the sensible use 
of electricity, decreasing the use 

of energy in the energy generation 
process and continuously improv-
ing the generation processes, so that 
these savings translate into greater 
generation of kilowatts with lower 
fuel consumption.

8. Our Business

Zona Franca Celsia Power Plant, Barranquilla
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1,777
MW

Celsia works on different programs 
to continually improve the genera-
tion processes, to obtain savings that 
translate into greater generation of 
kilowatts with low use of resources:
• Assess and follow-up the operation 

and efficiency of the turbines and 
primary equipment to make deci-
sions on carrying out maintenance.

• Maintain the latest state-of-the-
art main power generation equip-
ment, combustion turbines, steam 
turbines, boilers, pumps, com-
pressors, etc., and constant inno-
vation of all our processes.

• Minimize the operating, environ-
mental and social risks, through 
the application of continuous im-
provement tools.

GENERATION

The coordination 
carried out has had 
a positive financial 
impact given that 
in 2013, the use of 
energy in the energy 
generation process 
was reduced by 
6.8%, equivalent to 
approximately COP 700 
million.

Total Power Generation Capacity

Total Installed Capacity (MW)
[EU1]

2010 2011 2012 2013

Celsia EPSA Celsia EPSA Celsia EPSA Celsia EPSA

Total Installed Capacity 796.9 919.7 796.9 939.6 817.0 960.0 817.0 960.0
Hydroelectric (reservoir) NA 897.0 NA 897.0 NA 897.0 NA 897.0
Hydroelectric (run-of-the-river) 19.9 22.7 19.9 42.6 40.0 63.0 40.0 63.0
Thermal (simple cycle) 167.0 NA 167.0 NA 167.0 NA 167.0 NA
Thermal (combined cycle) 610.0 NA 610.0 NA 610.0 NA 610.0 NA

Electricity generation is subject to the regulatory provisions issued by Colombian authorities on the 
subject (CREG - Energy and Gas Regulatory Commission and the Ministry of Mines and Energy).

The organization has a total generation capacity of 1,777 MW broken down 
into 817 MW of Celsia and 960 MW of EPSA. The information is provided 
below:

PERFORMANCE

• Replace traditional lighting with 
LED lighting.

• Install variable speed drives in pro-
cess engines that will make savings 
when the units have a low load.

• Change conduct in personnel for 
the control of public lighting.

• Change some operating processes 
(for example, work with just one 
circulation water pump in Flores 
IV), which will substantially save 
the power required in our produc-
tion process.

Zona Franca Celsia Power Plant, Barranquilla
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In 2013, Celsia reported total power generation of 6,170 GWh, broken 
down into 2,980 from Celsia and 3,190 GWh from EPSA.
This information is provided below:

Total power generated (GWh) 
[EU2]

2010 2011 2012 2013

Celsia EPSA Celsia EPSA Celsia EPSA Celsia EPSA
Total Power Generated 1,862 3,557 1,673 4,277 1,868 3,171 2,980 3,190

Hydroelectric (reservoir) NA 3,433 NA 4,043 NA 2,978 NA 2,984
Hydroelectric (run-of-the-river) 148 124 175 234 206 193 304 206
Thermal (simple cycle) 719 NA 74 NA 118 NA 202 NA
Thermal (combined cycle) 995 NA 1,424 NA 1,544 NA 2,474 NA

Electricity generation is subject to the regulatory provisions issued by Colombian authorities on the sub-
ject (CREG - Energy and Gas Regulatory Commission and the Ministry of Mines and Energy).

2010
2011

2012
2013

Total installed capacity: 
Celsia I EPSA

Total power generated: 
Celsia I EPSA

919.7

798.9

939.6

796.9

960.0

817.0

960.0

817.0

1,862

3,557

4,277

3,171 3,190

2,980

1,673
1,868

Total installed capacity (MW) and total power generated (GWh) 

Types of fuel used in our Thermal Power Plants [EU1]

Name of the power plant Capacity in MW Fuel 1 Fuel 2
Flores I 160 Natural Gas Fuel Oil #2
Flores IV 450 Natural Gas Fuel Oil #2
Meriléctrica: 167 Natural Gas NA
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In addition to the information above, the organization's main generation 
indicators are presented below: [EU30]

Efficiency of the Hydroelectric Power 
Plants - MW/m³/s 

Efficiency of Simple Cycle Plants that 
Use Gas - BTU/kWh

Efficiency of Combined Cycle Plants 
that Use Gas - BTU/kWh

4.98

11,350

7,676

11,488

7,68311,289

7,682

4.98

2.33

2.47

2.15 2.28

3.62 3.62

2010
2010

2010
2011

2011
2011

2012
2012

2012
2013

2013
2013

Celsia I EPSA Celsia I EPSA NA Celsia I EPSA NA

11,197

7,423

In 2012, the Hidromontañitas Plant of Celsia started commer-
cial operations, which caused a variation in efficiency. 

Salvajina Power Plant, Suárez / Morales
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Note: The installed capacity information is presented to the cut-off date of December 31 
each year. The Flores II and Flores III generation resources operated commercially until No-
vember 30, 2010. From December 1, 2010, the Flores IV project was registered as installed 
capacity, starting commercial operations on August 12, 2011. The above is because the 
Flores IV resource had Firm Energy Obligations that started on December 1, 2010. There-
fore, the availability information of the power plants for 2010 includes the period between 
January and November of that year and does not include information on Flores IV, as this 
was not still in operation.

Availability of Celsia Thermoelectric Power Plants (%) [EU30].

2010
2010

2010
2010

2010
2011

2011
2011

2011
2011

2012
2012

2012
2012

2012
2013

2013
2013

2013
2013

Flores I Flores II Flores III Flores IV Meriléctrica

93

67

92 92 96

90

93 93 97 99

100100100

Availability of Hydroelectric Power Plants (%) [EU30].

2010
2010

2010
2011

2011
2011

2012
2012

2012
2013

2013
2013

Río Piedras - Celsia Hidromontañitas - Celsia EPSA 

95

70

90

98

NA NA

9896

93

86

9394

NA NA NA NA NA NA NA
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WHERE ARE WE GOING?
As part of the organization's plans, 
by 2021, it plans to have additional 
installed capacity of 447 MW 
(in Celsia, 352 MW in reservoir 
hydroelectricity and 19.9 MW in run-
of-the-river hydroelectricity, and 74.9 

Project Description

Name of the generation 
expansion project Capacity Status of the 

project
Expected year of 

start-up Comments

Bajo Tuluá 19.9 MW Construction or 
assembly 2014

Cucuana 55 MW Construction or 
assembly 2014

Resource with assigned Firm Energy 
Obligation, in effect from December 
1, 2014

Porvenir II 352 MW Planned invest-
ment 2018

Resource with assigned Firm Energy 
Obligation, in effect from December 
1, 2018

San Andrés 19.9 MW Planned invest-
ment 2015

According to the average growth situation of the demand, published by the Mining and Energy Planning Unit (UPME in its Spanish 
acronym), in November 2013, Colombia's energy demand will be 81,531.5 GHh/year, with a maximum power demand in Decem-
ber of 12.9887 MW.

In the short and medium term, the 
organization leans toward optimum 
use of the existing generation assets, 
taking advantage of the different 
hydro-climatic systems and their 
alternations to compensate with 
thermoelectric generation. With this 
mix, it manages to maximize income 
and reduce demand supply risks, 

ensuring greater reliability in the 
supply service. In terms of existing 
power plants, Celsia has a technology 
update plan that ensures maximum 
availability and minimization of risks 
of failure.

In the long term, the organization 
has plans to increase the capacity 
of thermal and hydroelectric power 

MW in run-of-the-river hydroelectricity 
in EPSA), which are currently under 
construction and it is planned for them 
to start operations in 2014 [EU10].

Below are the organization's 
expansion projects:

Additionally, through the generation 
business, own production is comple-
mented with energy purchases that 
allow us to increase sales, which are 
presented below. 

Energy purchases in GWh 2010 2011 2012 2013
EPSA 518 284 333 488
Celsia 195 667 570 707

generation with small hydroelectric 
plants and large-scale hydroelectric 
projects, such as Porvenir II.

Additionally, the organization 
continues to invest in the research, 
development and start-up of new 
clean generation technology at the 
service of the energy demand.
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In 2013, in the transmission and distribution busi-
nesses attended through EPSA and CETSA, the 
optimum performance and availability of the as-
sets was ensured, achieving the following indexes: 

TRANSMISSION AND DISTRIBUTION

Transmission and Distribution 2010 2011 2012 2013
Number of transmission substations 7 7 7 7
Total length of the transmission network (≥220 kV) in km 274 274 274 274

Number of distribution substations 66 67 69 72

Amount of distribution substations (115 kV) 19 20 21 22
Amount of distribution substations (34.5/13.2 kV) 47 47 48 50

Total length of the transmission network in km 19,000 19,286 19,387 19,567

Length of aerial distribution network (<220 kV) in km 18,948 19,231 19,328 19,507
Length of the underground distribution network (<220 kV) in km 52 55 59 60

Total amount of distribution transformers installed in the network 26,357 26,709 27,115 27,452

Amount of distribution transformers installed in the network (organization's) 15,375 15,561 16,106 16,656
Amount of distribution transformers installed in the network (third parties) 10,982 11,148 11,009 10,796

We exceeded the targets 
established by the company 
and the CREG (Energy 
and Gas Regulatory 
Commission) in 2013. 

[EU4]

Percentage of Asset Availability

Transmission and Distribution Infrastructure

99.55

99.87

99.76

99.85

Target
99.73

2010
2010

2010
2011

2011
2011

2012
2012

2012
2013

2013
2013

Availability of Assets of the 
National Transmission System (%)

Availability of Distribution Trans-
formers (115kV) (%)

Availability of Distribution Net-
works (115kV) (%)

99.81 99.78

97.62 98.82

99.88 99.73

99.92 99.74

Target
99.83

Target
99.73
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PERFORMANCE

We carried out replacement and 
maintenance programs on the infra-
structure, which allowed us to fulfill 
the quality indicators: System Aver-
age Interruption Duration Index 
(SAIDI) at 14.95 hours, which made 
11.22% progress and the System Av-
erage Interruption Frequency Index 
(SAIFI) at 17.95 times, which im-
proved by 15.37% from the previous 
year.

Service Quality Indicators, SAIDI and SAIFI

2010
2010

2011
2011

2012
2012

2013
2013

Consolidated SAIDI Consolidated SAIFI

16.84
18.78

22.61

14.95

Target
16.17

25.66

21.22

22.29

17.95

Target
20.25

[EU28], [EU29]

Palmaseca Substation, Palmira
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We also carried out network archi-
tecture projects in the 34.5 and 13.2 
kV circuits, with investment of COP 
7,427 million, which improved the 
reliability of the electrical distribu-
tion system of Valle del Cauca.

Similarly, we implemented plans 
for the reduction of energy losses 
in the medium and low voltage net-
work and as a result, we obtained a 
4.58 GWh reduction from the pre-
vious year, which allowed us to end 
2013 with an indicator of 8.91%.

In 2013, we highlight the fol-
lowing achievements as part of the 
expansion of the transmission and 
distribution system, improving  the 
reliability, flexibility and quality of 
the electricity service in the Valle 
del Cauca.
• Construction and start-up of the 

Alférez II Substation of 336 MVA 
(220/115 kV) to reinforce the 115 
kV network, which ensures the 
electricity supply to Cali and that 
will also serve as a new connec-
tion of the National Transmission 
System (STN).

• Installation of two new 168 MVA 
autotransformers in the San Mar-
cos (230/115 kV) Substation, lo-
cated in Yumbo, improving the 
chargeability balance of the con-
nection to the STN.

• Also  start-up a second 58 MVA 
transformer in the Tuluá substa-
tion (115 kV) with a total capacity 

of 116 MVA, which supports the 
demand in central area of  Valle 
del Cauca.

• Modernization of the substations 
Buga (115 kV) and El Recreo (34.5 
kV), located in Palmira, and La 
Variante (34.5 kV) in Tuluá, with 
the assembly of metal clad cells, 
which make the substations more 
compact, safe and easy to maintain, 
to improve the reliability of the as-
sets and the electricity service.

• Implementation of automatic re-
connection in the Regional Trans-
mission System associated with 
the 115 kV lines Juanchito–Cande-
laria, Juanchito–Juanchito 1 and 
Guachal–Palmaseca. Similarly, we 
automated the connection to the 
industrial network, La Paila (34.5 
kV), through which we supply en-
ergy to  biggest industrial clients 
of the center and north of Valle 
del Cauca, improving the quality 
of the service.

• Investment of COP 9,382 million 
in the electrification of 467 urban 
projects and initiatives to expand 
coverage in the rural area.

• Start of work for the connection 
of the Alférez II substation to the 
STN and the installation of the 
second transformer of Cartago 
of 168 MVA, thus strengthening 
the connections of Valle del Cau-
ca and improving reliability and 
competitiveness of the region.
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2010
2010

2011
2011

2012
2012

2013
2013

Losses in Transmission (%) Losses in Distribution (%)

0.84

0.83

0.79

0.87

Target
0.91

9.48

9.73

9.37

8.91

Target
9.32

Percentage of Losses in Transmission and Distribution
[EU12]

We are processing the environmental licens-
es for the construction of a second transmis-
sion line to supply Buenaventura, as well 
as the Bahía substation. These projects will 
allow us to respond to the growth in the har-
bors’ and municipality’s demand. Addition-
ally, a new electrical connection to harbor 
“Sociedad Puerto Industrial de Aguadulce” 
will be developed, which will have a 10 MVA 
demand, from the future Bahía Substation.

For the next ten years, we plan to 
increase the connection capacity of the Na-
tional Transmission System (STN), through 
the substations, Juanchito (in operation) of 
90 MVA, Estambul (project) of 336 MVA and 
El Carmelo (project) 115 kV of 30 MVA.

We will continue to implement the net-
work architecture plan at the levels 34.5 and 
13.2 kV, which will allow greater flexibility of 
the network and improve the quality of the 
service.

We plan to modernize the technology 
platform of our management systems for the 
operation of the transmission and distribu-
tion networks, and the supervision of the 
operation of the generation plants, ensuring 

WHERE ARE WE GOING?

their integration with the Enterprise resource  
Planning (SAP) and geographical Information 
System (ArcGIS). To achieve this, we will con-
sider the principles of integration, interoper-
ability and governance, which incorporate 
simple, agile and flexible management 
processes into the company, to face the 
businesses’ new challenges and to increase 
operational efficiency.

We will optimize the productivity of the 
assets to adequately manage their life cycle, 
maximize their availability and profitability, 
optimize their useful life and generate new 
businesses.

To find out about our distribution expansion 
plan to 2021 in detail, you can consult it here.

http://www.celsia.com/en-us/Business/Energy-Distribution/Distribution-expansion-plan-to-the-year-2021
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PERFORMANCE

Sales in Contracts I Market Sales
Regulated Market I Unregulated Market

Electricity Sales (GWh) [G4-8]

3,196

1,820

1,072
748

1,643

1,056
587

8,305
3,880

3,733

4,5727,076

Wholesale Market 
Sales 2013

Wholesale Market Sales 
2012

Retail Sales 
2012

Retail Sales 
2013

Framed within an integrated man-
agement system, sales of electricity 
and natural gas in the organization 
are carried out within a process 
management approach, following 
specific sales policies, with previ-
ously assessed risks for trading and 
during the delivery of electricity and 
natural gas.

As power generation agents, Cel-
sia and EPSA receive income from 
the Reliability Premium, they sell 
their power generation to the Energy 
Market managed by XM and they 

SALES

also sell electricity in long-term con-
tracts, mainly to national sellers/dis-
tributors with financial strength and 
history that ensure controllable risks. 

On the other hand, the natural 
gas requirement for the generation 
of the thermoelectric power plants 
has allowed a broad knowledge of 
the gas sector to be acquired. The 
result of this has been natural gas 
sales, thus acquiring an important 
position in the activities carried out 
by Celsia, because this way, the fuel 
obligations are optimized, generat-

ing margins for the organization. 
[G4-9]

The growth of the unregulated 
market occurred mainly as a result 
of the recovery of clients in Valle del 
Cauca and the market conquering 
plan in other departments. 

To ensure the electricity that 
our clients require, we carried out 
national purchase bid processes, 
which allows us to ensure the elec-
tricity for the regulated market until 
2016 and for the unregulated market 
until 2020.

Wholesale electricity sales consist of financial cover 
of the energy purchase price for the client, which 
establishes the income flow for the seller. 
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Sales from commercialization 
can be consulted in the 
financial statements.

Collection Index 2010 2011 2012 2013 Target
2013

Electric power collection index 100.4% 99.7% 99.1% 99.7% 100%
Regulated market EPSA 100.9% 99.4% 98.5% 100.0% 100%
Unregulated market EPSA 99.3% 100.2% 100.2% 99.2% 100%

[EU3], [G4-8]

WHERE ARE WE GOING?
As a portfolio of generation projects 
that incorporates new and exist-
ing plants, the challenge for Celsia 
and EPSA is to participate in the 
Wholesale Energy Market through 
the regulation mechanisms that are 
implemented, always within a com-
mercial risk management policy, 
which is regularly monitored as the 
company invests in the develop-
ment of new tools for their assess-
ment and management.

Celsia will continue to oper-
ate as a natural gas wholesaler to 

Number of Clients
2010 2011 2012 2013 Target 2013

Celsia EPSA Celsia EPSA Celsia EPSA Celsia EPSA Celsia EPSA

Residential clients 465,284 480,037 495,214 512,501

541,849
Industrial clients 2,678 2,615 3,174 2,985
Commercial clients 25,622 25,815 25,648 26,184
Official clients 2,083 2,092 2,136 2,164
Unregulated clients 394 403 431 549 431

Regulated and unregulated 
clients subtotal 496,061 510,962 526,603 544,383 542,280

Wholesale market clients 5 11 4 11 6 12 4 13 13
Natural gas clients 9 – 10 – 13 4 11 3 –
Total clients 14 496,072 14 510,973 19 526,619 15 544,399 542,293

ensure the fuel to respond to its 
generation obligations, Reliability 
Premium and commercial commit-
ments with its clients.
We also participate in the group 
of thermoelectric generators that 
carries out the project for the 
construction of a regasification 
plant for imported natural gas. This 
firstly represents a reliable option 
for operating thermal resources and 
secondly, it provides the country 
with new sources of this fuel. 

The company will continue to 

maximize its income from sales on 
the retail market.

As a pilot project, it will provide 
a comprehensive energy solution 
to the residential unit through a 
solar photovoltaic system, charging 
points for electric vehicles and intel-
ligent energy assessment.



Celsia's relations with its stake-
holders and the sector's trends 
in sustainability are dynamic and 
constantly evolving. This is how 
in 2013, the organization reviewed 
and updated the materiality anal-

ysis prepared in 2012 and it re-
structured it based on version G4 
of the Global Reporting Initiative 
(GRI). This process was comple-
mented with the collaboration of 
an external firm.

9. Our Performance

Zona Franca Celsia Power Plant, Barranquilla
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To establish the content of the Comprehensive Report, the materiality 
analysis was updated by following the process described below: [G4-18].

9.1. MATERIALITY ANALYSIS

STEP 1

STEP 2

STEP 3

Identification and Validation 
Update of relevant topics.
The identification and validation of relevant topics was carried out taking 
into account internal information such as the corporate and competitive 
strategy, Celsia's risk chart and the materiality exercise carried out by the 
organization in 2012. External referencing was also carried out, taking 
into account the sector's good practices and international surveys such as 
the Dow Jones Sustainability Index (DJSI).

Prioritization
Prioritization of relevant topics.
The following elements were considered 
for the prioritization of relevant matters:
• The organization's Comprehensive 

Management Table and Strategy
• Relation of material aspects to the 

organization's risk chart
• Update of the referencing carried out 

in 2012 of other companies

• Update of the relevant topics for 
2013

• Alignment of the relevant topics iden-
tified obtained through the media for 
stakeholder relations 

• Review of the press analysis carried 
out in 2012 on the relevant topics 
identified in 2013

• Principles of the Global Compact
• Review of the topics of the Dow Jones 

Sustainability Index (DJSI).

Validation
Approval of the list of material aspects 
with Celsia's Steering Committee
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The following graph shows the re-
sults of the materiality analysis. The 
X axis shows the importance of eco-
nomic, social and environmental im-
pact and the Y axis shows the influ-
ence of the topics in the evaluation 
and decisions of the stakeholders: 
[G4-19].
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1. Corporate Governance, Ethics and 
Transparency

2. Risk Management
3. Economic Performance
4. Availability of Energy Resources
5. Human Resources
6. Client Management
7. Innovation
8. Supplier Management 
9. Socio-environmental Management 
10. Climate Change and Management 

of Emissions 
11. Eco-efficiency 
12. Regulation

Description of Material Aspects

Labor practices to promote the em-
ployees' professional development in a 
dignified environment, which takes into 
account the employees' rights. Initia-
tives that allow us to maintain their 
motivation, develop skills and attract 
suitable personnel (see page 84).

Development of activities to meet 
the clients' needs and expectations 
(see page 99).

Management of the availability of en-
ergy resources (water, gas and liquid 
fuel) to respond to the energy demand 
effectively and in a timely manner 
(see page 76).

Creation of economic value for the 
company and its shareholders 
(see page 73).

3. Economic Performance

4. Availability of Energy 
Resources 6. Client Management5. Human Resources

Identification, evaluation and mitigation 
of the risks identified in the company's 
activities (see page 68).

Establishment of good practices on cor-
porate governance, ethics and transpar-
ency (see page 60).

2. Risk Management
1. Corporate Governance, 
Ethics and Transparency

10
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The company's actions to adapt to the 
effects of climate change, to directly or 
indirectly mitigate effects and to reduce 
their impact on air quality (see page 129).

Actions outlined in the management of 
energy efficiency, effluents and waste 
(see page 134).

10. Climate Change and
Management of Emissions 11. Eco-efficiency

The coverage of the material aspects inside the organization and the limit of 
said aspects outside the organization are described below:

Management of the impact that develops 
in the supply chain in economic, environ-
mental and social matters (see page 107).

Management and communication of 
the socio-environmental impact of the 
company's operations (see page 113).

Development of activities for improve-
ment and development of processes, 
products and services that enable 
growth, efficiency and a better market 
position (see page 103).

Follow-up, monitoring and management 
of risks and regulatory opportunities 
(see page 141).

8. Supplier
Management

9. Socio-environmental 
Management7. Innovation

12. Regulation

Importance of Economic, Social and Environmental Impact 

 Where can the failure to manage an aspect 
occur that can affect my organization?

 External Internal

Aspect Suppliers Clients Celsia/EPSA

1. Corporate Governance, Ethics and 
Transparency X X X

2. Risk Management X  X

3. Economic Performance   X

4. Availability of Energy Resources X  X

5. Human Resources X  X

6. Client Management   X

7. Innovation   X

8. Supplier Management X  X

9. Socio-environmental Management X  X

10. Climate Change and Management of 
Emissions X  X

11 Eco-efficiency X X X
12. Regulation   X

[G4-20] and [G4-21]
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As part of the materiality analysis methodology, the risks associated with the 
company's twelve material aspects are listed below:

Aspect Risk Number
(See Table in the "Risk Management" Chapter) 

1. Corporate Governance, Ethics and Transparency 10
2. Risk Management 9
3. Economic Performance 1 – 3 – 4 – 5 – 8 
4. Availability of Energy Resources 5 – 11 
5. Human Resources 6 – 7 
6. Client Management 3 – 6 
7. Innovation 1 – 3 – 8 
8. Supplier Management 3 – 4 – 6 – 7
9. Socio-environmental Management 1 – 6 – 12 
10. Climate Change and Management of Emissions 2 – 5 – 12 
11. Eco-efficiency 2 – 3 – 5 – 8
12. Regulation 1 – 2 – 3 – 11 

Influence on the Evaluation and 
Decisions of Stakeholders
Through its corporate strategy and 
Sustainability Model, Celsia promotes 
ethical and transparent relations with 
all its stakeholders. To achieve this, 
not only has it established permanent 
communication channels, but it also 
strives for two-way relations, which 
allow it to build mutual trust, respect 
and collaboration.

The generation of shared value 
and the construction of long-term 
relations of mutual benefit is the 
basis of the process of identifying 
and selecting the stakeholders the 
company works with. In collabo-
ration with its teams, the Steering 
Committee reviews the business's 
own actions, risk exposure and the 
generation of opportunities, the ac-
tions of third parties that have an 
impact on the organization and the 
internal and external expectations, 
to establish its stakeholders. With 
this information we annually up-
date the philosophy of action and 
the generation of value for each 
group. [G4-25]

In this way, we have established 
different channels of communica-
tion and exchange with the stake-
holders to exchange feedback with 
them and build relations of trust. 
The people responsible for the areas 
are those who respond to people's ex-
pectations, but the constant assistance 
of Sustainability Management has 
been established as a mechanism to 
promote the principles with which the 
relations must be developed. In this 
sense, the different scenarios of inter-
action, frequency and communication 
tools are valued, thus achieving a mul-
ticultural group of people located in 
different regions of the country with 
different expectations and languages.

Likewise, with the objective of 
strengthening these communication 
channels, in 2014, we will carry out 
a new dialog and opinion exchange 
session. In this way, we will examine 
in depth not only the interests and 
expectations of the people we relate 
to, but we will also communicate the 
Comprehensive Report and the or-
ganization's plans to create value in 
each one of its areas of action. 
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Carry out all of the company's 
activities complying with current 
environmental legislation, ad-

equately managing environmental 
impact and seeking efficient use 

of resources.

Be an important, reliable and 
proactive voice with the government 
entities and in the promotion of the 

appropriate development of the 
business and the region.

Establish mutually beneficial 
relations with suppliers, contribut-

ing to their development and aiming 
for their activities to be carried out 
through sustainable development 

practices.

Provide services that satisfy the 
clients' needs, complying with the 
value promises, promoting energy 

efficiency and creating an emotional 
connection with them.

Create economic value for the 
shareholders and investors, grow 

with profitability, generate trust and 
adequately manage risk.

Actively participate, contributing 
knowledge, with the aim to promote 

the appropriate conditions for
the successful development
of the businesses and their

environment.

Promote the personal and 
professional development of 

employees and contribute to the 
improvement of their family 

environment.

Recognize and respect 
the institutions and the 

ethnic, cultural, social, political 
and economic characteristics 

of the communities,
encouraging autonomous
community management 
and long-lasting relations
of mutual growth and the 

development of public-private 
networks as part of the 
Sustainability Model.

Shareholders and investors Communities

Employees and families Associations and professional groups

Clients Government entities

Suppliers Environmental authorities

HOW DO WE CREATE VALUE FOR OUR STAKEHOLDERS?

The organization has established the media for stakeholder relations 
as shown below [G4-24]:

INTEREST 
GROUP



OUR PERFORMANCE

58 Celsia \ Integrated Report \ 2013

In this way, the company has established the media and frequency of stakeholder rela-
tions and the relevant topics for them, as indicated below: 

Stakeholder Relations Media/Frequency Relevant Topics for Stakeholders

Shareholders and 
investors

(See chapters 4 to 8)

1. Investor website with permanent access.
2. Constantly available investor helpline.
3. Investor relations area on business days
4. Email for investors. 
5. Quarterly results report (relevant information, published 

in the Financial Superintendence and notes to the finan-
cial statements published on the investor website).

6. Quarterly results statement.
7. In-person meetings with analysis of brokerage firms, pen-

sion funds, investment funds and foreign funds.
8. Annual General Shareholders' Meeting and special meet-

ings as required.
9. Events coordinated by the Investor Relations Area (visits 

to power plants, meetings with analysts, participation in 
investor events, etc.).

10. Transparency Hotline.

• Creation of sustainable value 
• Share liquidity
• Growing and sustainable dividend
• Solid corporate governance
• Ensure the reliability and availability of electricity
• Growth and expansion

Employees and 
families

(See chapter 9, section 
9.6)

1. Primary monthly groups.
2. Monthly meetings convened by the Presidency/Manage-

ment.
3. Organizational climate and psychosocial risk surveys and 

annual commitment.
4. Wellbeing activities with the employees and their families:

a. Children's party: once a year.
b. Christmas children's party: once a year.
c. In Zona Franca and Meriléctrica, an outdoor day with 

the family, once a year.
d. Health Week, once a year and covers the family.
e. The health insurance policy covers the family unit.
f. Letter from the CEO for the employee's family on his/

her entry into the company.
g. Presence at the birth of a child or the death of a person 

in the employee's family.
h. Welcome gift delivered to the family home, every time 

an employee joins the company.
5. Constant media (Intranet, Internet, digital bulletin boards, 

Orange Friday meetings, Energy in Action newsletter).
6. Training and development programs according to the 

organization's and employees' needs.
7. Permanent Transparency Hotline.

• Contribute to the maintenance of an optimum work 
climate for the development of the corporate and 
competition strategy

• Raise the awareness of the employees and their 
families about the risks of the business and those 
inherent to their work

• Commitment to the physical safety of our employees 
when carrying out their work

• Human resources and administrative policies
• Generate a culture of self care
• Disclosure of the strategy and clarity in the position's 

responsibilities
• Employee development and wellbeing
• Ensure highly effective communication that responds 

to the organization's needs
• Generate an organizational culture based on sustain-

ability
• Conserve the environment and natural resources 
• Commitment to climate change
• Develop a stakeholder relations plan
• Have corporate governance, transparency and ethics 

policies
• Encourage innovation

Clients

(See chapters 8 and 9, 
section 9.7)

1. Constant telephone hotline to answer clients' questions.
2. Specific meetings when they are required through cus-

tomer satisfaction surveys or any other means.
3. Digital media: natural gas customer telephone contact 

and constant email contact.
4. Verification of the dispatch of the energy contract to 

clients, daily. 
5. Website with permanent access.

• Reliability in the provision of the service.
• Have multiple channels for relations available to fa-

cilitate the response and satisfactory solution for the 
clients' needs, with large-scale media, a personalized 
service and online services

• Requests, complaints and claims

[G4-16], [G4-26], [G4-27]:
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Stakeholder Relations Media/Frequency Relevant Topics for Stakeholders

Suppliers

(See chapters 8 and 9, 
section 9.9)

1. Permanent email
2. Meetings and delivery of information to suppliers when 

required.
3. Transparency Hotline.
4. Website with permanent access.

• Punctual payments
• Transparency in the purchase process
• Clear and efficient channels of communication with 

the company
• Long-term relations
• Mutually beneficial economic agreements
• Supplier training and development 

Communities

(See chapter 9, section 
9.10)

1. Website with permanent access.
2. Institutional media (printed, audiovisual, electronic and 

unconventional media) addressed to the community: 
the printed media La Térmica is published every three 
months in the Meriléctrica Plant for the community of the 
area of influence.

3. Meeting with representatives of the Community Action 
Boards every two months.

4. Meetings with people from the education sector of the 
municipalities of influence, through the foundation. 

• Sustainability Model
• Transparency
• Actions to manage climate change
• Compliance with environmental and social regula-

tions
• Voluntary investments
• Prior consultations with the communities
• Socio-economic characterization
• Response to requests, complaints and claims

Associations and 
professional groups

(see chapter 9).

1. Company's participation in regular meetings and in the 
annual conferences organized by the associations and 
professional groups it belongs to in the electricity and 
corporate sector.

2. Participation in relevant committees of the electricity 
sector.

3. Electronic communication and sending sector information 
when required.

• Active participation and involvement in the issues of 
the sector and the country

• Support of the initiatives led by the associations and 
professional groups subject to these initiatives mak-
ing the company's sustainability possible

• Continuously manage partnerships
• Strengthen the communities' skills and capacity
• Conserve the environment and natural resources
• Actions to manage climate change
• Follow-up of legislative, administrative and regulatory 

procedures or projects that have an impact on the 
company, the sector or the users 

Government entities

(See chapters 4 to 9)

1. Annual comprehensive report
2. Annually audited financial statements
3. Email responding to modification of applicable regula-

tions.
4. Meetings requested by the company for follow-up, advice, 

clarification and other related topics that exist with the 
entity. 

5. Meetings convened by government entities.
6. Constant communication about topics related to the 

company and the sector.

• Verification and compliance with the decisions made 
by entities that have an impact on the sector or the 
users

• Compliance of the legal surroundings regarding 
inspection, supervision and control of these entities

• Support of the initiatives led by the associations 
and professional groups subject to these initiatives 
enabling sustainability

Environmental 
authorities

(see chapter 9, sec-
tions 9.5, 9.10, 9.11 
and 9.12)

1. Informative meetings for negotiation with environmental 
authorities and opportunities for raising awareness and 
events in line with the projects' dynamics.

2. Areas for raising awareness and negotiation with the 
communities

3. Submission of environmental compliance reports, in ac-
cordance with requirements.

• Legal compliance
• Voluntary actions to reduce the negative environmen-

tal impact
• Conserve the environment and natural resources
• Actions to manage climate change
• Environmental licenses
• Environmental Management Plans
• Environmental impact assessment
• Study and development of new alternatives for the 

generation of environmentally-friendly energy
• Biodiversity and protection of paramos 
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Aiming to ensure the adequate man-
agement of the company's affairs 
and maintain integrity, the corpo-
rate governance framework in Cel-
sia is aligned with the best practices 
contained in:
• Código País Survey
• Survey to enter the Dow Jones 

Sustainability Index (DJSI) 
• Independent evaluation and 

implementation of tests related to 
the Corporate Governance Code 
and Corporate Code of Conduct.

Celsia aims for the behavior of 
its employees and directors to al-
ways be within the ethics and trans-
parency criteria, having integrity at 
all times as an inspiring principle.

For the organization, manage-
ment of risks and transparency trans-

9.2. CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
ETHICS AND TRANSPARENCY

Assessments were carried out on the employees and directors 
about their knowledge of the codes.
In December 2013, a multiple-choice survey was carried out 
on the topics covered in the Corporate Governance Code and 
Corporate Code of Conduct. 

More than 90% of those surveyed correctly answered the 
questions and this is a guarantee not only of written provi-
sions, but also that they are duly understood and applied.

lates into an item for value generation, 
because as identification controls are 
established and action plans are 
implemented, situations can be pre-
vented or the losses associated with 
each specific case can be mitigated, 
promoting the company's reliability 
for the investor public.

Zona Franca Celsia Power Plant Employees, Barranquilla
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Assessment of the Board of 
Directors
During the period for which it is 
elected, the Board of Directors is as-
sessed on one occasion by an external, 
independent expert. In the years that 
this assessment is not carried out, the 
Board of Directors carries out a self-as-
sessment of its management. [G4-44].

In 2013, the Board carried out a 
self-assessment, for which it had the 
assistance of an external, indepen-
dent consultant as a corporate gov-
ernance measure.

The methodology used was a ques-
tionnaire divided in three sections:
1. Measurement of the progress of 

the commitments acquired in the 
external and independent evalu-
ation carried out in 2012 accord-
ing to the identified areas for im-
provement. 

2. Identification of new areas for im-
provement through critical com-
ponents of the performance of the 
Board of Directors (structure/gov-

Training and Development of the 
Board of Directors
As part of all the training processes 
for the Board of Directors, in 2013, 
sessions were carried out focused on 
sustainability topics. The first was 
carried out with an external consul-
tant, where concepts on this subject 
were expanded and the sector's best 
practices were presented as a refer-
ence [G4-43].

The second activity was led by the 
Sustainability and Corporate Gover-
nance Committee and specific op-
portunities for the company regard-
ing sustainability were analyzed.

PERFORMANCE

If you would like to see the executive summary of 
the self-assessment results, you can consult it here.

Also, the new members of the Board 
of Directors received training on 
matters of interest for the develop-
ment of their function as directors, 
which included strategic, legal and 
corporate governance topics and top-
ics of the business strictly speaking.

Regarding financial matters, train-
ing was carried out on the IFRS with 
the support of external consultants.

Finally, annual training sessions 
were scheduled for all the members 
of the Board of Directors, which in-
clude the business's topics, as well as 
economic, social and environmental 
aspects.

ernance, coordination, interaction 
and focus on strategy).

3. Open questions in which the di-
rectors made recommendations 
regarding the better operation of 
the Board of Directors.
It also included questions regard-

ing the risk approach and evident mat-
ters and issues of strategic importance.

From the results of this self-as-
sessment, it can be highlighted that 
Celsia's Board of Directors estab-
lished that for 2014, it is imperative 
to become a strategic body that con-
tributes to long-term sustainability. 
This is why it proposes giving great-
er importance to the comprehensive 
analysis of the company's future.

Integrity means doing 
things correctly. 
This means acting 
responsibly, honestly, 
correctly, seriously, 
transparently and 
according to the law and 
the policies established 
by the company's 
management at all 
times.

http://www.celsia.com/accionistas-inversionistas/Documents/English%20PDF/Celsia_Executive_Summary_2013_Self_Evaluation_of_the_Board_Prospecta.pdf
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If you would like detailed information about the current 
Corporate Governance Code, you can consult it here.

If you would like detailed information about the current 
Corporate Code of Conduct, you can consult it here.

Ethics and Corruption
The Corporate Code of Conduct ap-
proved by Celsia's Board of Directors 
in October 2013 [G4-56] constitutes 
a behavior guide that complements 
the sensible criteria and criteria of 
common sense to help adopt be-
havior that promotes sustainability, 
value generation and the mainte-
nance of the organization's positive 
image.

This Code applies to all of Cel-
sia's employees and directors and 
it is extended to suppliers and con-
tractors through the Purchase and 
Hiring Handbook. Similarly, it must 
be adopted by related companies 
(any company of which Celsia is 
the direct or indirect owner of more 
than half of the outstanding shares 
or partnership interests).

The new versions of the Corpo-
rate Governance Code and the new 
Corporate Code of Conduct were giv-
en to the Board of Directors and to all 
of the employees of Celsia and Zona 
Franca Celsia, and training sessions 
were held as well as a conversation in 

which the content of the documents 
was explained in detail. The delivery 
was duly documented and disclosed 
in the internal media.

Now both documents are pub-
lished on the company's website and 
on the corporate intranet. It also has 
a communication plan to constantly 
communicate this knowledge to all 
of the organization's stakeholders.

Celsia Employees, Medellín

http://inversionistas.celsia.com/Media/Default/Page/Corporate%20Governance%20Code.pdf
http://inversionistas.celsia.com/Media/Default/Page/Corporate%20Code%20of%20Conduct.pdf
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Celsia - Number of Incidents
2010 2011 2012 2013

Total number and nature 
of the incidents

Corruption 0 0 0 0

Breach of the contractors' obligations 0 2 1 1

Labor relations 0 0 1 0
Undue use of name 0 1 0 0

EPSA - Number of Incidents
2012 2013

Total number and nature 
of the incidents

Corruption 0 0
Labor relations 2 5
Breach of policies and procedures 0 2
Supplier relations 0 1
Safety and use of goods 1 0

[G4-38] The Corporate Code of Con-
duct, which establishes the bodies 
responsible for complying with the 
provisions contained in it, considers 
the creation of a Corporate Conduct 
Committee, which reports to the 
Sustainability and Corporate Gover-
nance Committee. This Committe 
incorporates the Chief HR and Ad-
ministration Officer, the Chief Legal 
Counselor and the Corporate Audi-
tor. Similarly, it indicates the designa-
tion of a Corporate Conduct Officer 
and investigation officers and states 
that in the case of concerns regard-
ing its scope or application, verbal or 
written questions can be made to the 
Corporate Conduct Officer.

The values, principles and reg-
ulations of ethical behavior have 
mainly been developed through the 
following mechanisms that are in 
operation:

• Adoption of a Corporate Code of 
Conduct

• Adoption of an anti-fraud policy 
• Adoption of a Purchase and Hiring 

Handbook
• Segregation of duties within the pur-

chase process
• Internal audit plan: execution of 

tests related to prevention and de-
tection of fraud and bribery

• Implementing and raising aware-
ness of the use of a Transparency 
Hotline

• Completion of an annual declaration 
by the employees and directors re-
garding potential conflicts of interest

• Disclosure of relevant information, 
disclosure of information on the in-
vestor website and teleconferences 
with investors, etc.

• Establishment of the auditor's func-
tional dependence, by the Audit and 
Finance Committee

[SO5]

[SO5]

It has been implemented in EPSA since 2012.

In response to the reported incidents, through the Human Resources department, the company as-
sesses the organizational impact and gives the respective warnings to the employees implicated.

Anti-corruption and Conflicts 
of Interest [G4-41]
The Corporate Code of Conduct 
states that Celsia's employees and 
directors must avoid promoting any 
kind of corruption and therefore, no 
employee shall accept or offer any 
kind of favor or privilege in favor 
of the company or a third party, or 
carry out an activity that can be un-
derstood as leading to the payment 
or receipt of bribery.
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[SO4]

Total number and percentage of employees who have been given the anti-corruption 
policies and procedures and training, broken down by employee category - Celsia

2010 2011 2012 2013

Amount % Amount % Amount % Amount %
CEO and chief officers 3 100% 8 100% 9 100% 9 100%

Managers and directors 33 100% 29 100% 31 100% 27 100%

Supervisors, professionals, en-
gineers, specialists, lawyers and 
analysts 

68 100% 72 100% 77 100% 72 100%

Technical staff, assistants and 
operating staff 108 100% 106 100% 103 100% 104 100%

Total number and percentage of employees who have been given the anti-corruption 
policies and procedures and training, broken down by employee category - EPSA

2012 2013

Amount % Amount %
Managing director and managers 19 100% 19 100%

Managers and employees who 
directly supervise staff 61 100% 59 100%

Professionals, engineers, special-
ists, lawyers and analysts 228 100% 262 100%

Technical staff, assistants and 
operating staff 426 100% 447 100%

[SO4]

[SO4]

It has been implemented since 2012.

100%

7

20132012

Number and percentage of members 
of the highest governance body who 
have been provided with information 
and training on the anti-corruption 
policies and procedures.

Amount
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Operations assessed
regarding risks of corruption 
and main risks identified - 
EPSA

2010 2011 2012 2013

Amount % Amount % Amount % Amount %

Total number and percentage of 
operations assessed regarding 
risks related to corruption.

11 59.09% 11 63.64% 11 68.18% 11 72.73%

Operations assessed
regarding corruption risks 
and the main risks identified 
- Celsia

2010 2011 2012 2013

Amount % Amount % Amount % Amount %

Total number and percentage of 
operations assessed regarding 
risks related to corruption.

7 28.57% 7 42.86% 7 42.86% 7 50%

[SO3]

[SO3]

[G4-41]

The significant risks related to corruption are mainly related to the employees' actions or decision-making outside the corporate 
governance, ethics and transparency guidelines, which go against the company's interests and in the favor of third parties. 

With the aim to prevent the existence of conflicts of inter-
est, Celsia's employees and Directors must comply with that 
established in Chapter V of the Corporate Code of Conduct, 
in which the following matters are highlighted:

The company identified 7 operations in which one of the corruption risks can materialize, out of which, a number of operations are assessed that 
correspond to the indicated percentages. Out of the assessed risks, evidence has not been obtained of their materialization.
According to the analysis of the changes in risk factors, each year, different options of exposure to the risk of corruption are assessed.

The company identified 11 operations in which one of the corruption risks can materialize, out of which, a number of operations are assessed that 
correspond to the indicated percentages. Out of the assessed risks, evidence has not been obtained of their materialization.
According to the analysis of the changes in risk factors, each year, different options of exposure to the risk of corruption are assessed.

Abstain from taking advantage of the 
position to obtain personal or fam-
ily benefits and making any decision 
based on feelings of friendship or 
enmity, to prevent affecting the capacity 
to act in Celsia's benefit based on the 
above. 

Abstain from acting, without prior autho-
rization, when you are doubtful whether 
or not you are dealing with a conflict of 
interest.

Abstain from directly or indirectly carry-
ing out those activities that Celsia pri-
marily carries out for your own benefit.
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The Code of Conduct indicates that 
when Celsia's employees and direc-
tors are faced with a conflict of inter-
est or a situation that could possible 
cause one, they must disclose this 
adequately and in a timely manner, 
fully describing the situation in de-
tail, documenting the event and sup-
plying all the information that is rele-
vant to make the respective decision.

For the purposes of disclosing 
conflicts of interest, Celsia's em-
ployees and directors consider the 
following procedure:
• The Annual Declaration of Poten-

tial Sources of Conflicts of Inter-
est is completed on a yearly basis.

• In the event that the situation is 
presented in the period between 
two annual declarations, the 
Corporate Conduct Officer is in-
formed, who will make a decision 
based on the parameters estab-
lished in the Corporate Conduct 
Committee.

The conflicts of interest will be 
resolved, strictly applying the fol-
lowing principles:
• When they come into conflict with 

Celsia's interests and those of its 
employees and managers or of a 
third party connected to it, Celsia's 
interest will always be given priority.

• When they come into conflict 
with the shareholders' interests 
and those of their managers or of 
a third party connected to them, 
the shareholders' interests will al-
ways be given priority.

Incident Reporting
The company has a Transparency 
Hotline (telephone number and 
email) which constitutes a reporting 
tool available to all of the stakehold-
ers and which confidentially and 
anonymously (if requested) allows 
reports to be made of wrongful acts 
(according to the definition found 
in the Corporate Code of Conduct). 
[G4-57], [G4-58]. The Hotline Ad-
ministrator, an independent third 
party, reports to the Internal Au-
diting Area and this, in turn, to the 
Sustainability and Corporate Gover-
nance Committee. 

The Transparency Hotline num-
ber, email and the contact informa-
tion of the Internal Auditing contact 
are published on the company's 
website, which is available to all the 
stakeholders.

In terms of disciplinary action 
taken because of breaches of the 
code, the application of procedures 
established in the Fundamental 
Work Code and in the Internal Work 
Regulations is planned and this can 
even lead to the termination of the 
work contract.

Failures in ethics or 
transparency can 
be reported to the 
company's Internal 
Auditing area or to the 
Statutory Auditor.

100% of the 
members of the 
Board of Directors 
and employees have 
been trained on anti-
corruption policies 
and procedures.

Celsia Employee, Medellín
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Human Rights
The company understands that re-
spect of human rights is an item that 
generates value and that is reflected 
in the stakeholders' trust in the com-
pany, which also allows for long-
term relations to be built with them, 
helping to attract human resources 
and investors and strengthening its 
good reputation. 

Considering the above, since 
2012, Celsia has adhered to the 
Global Compact, supporting ten 
principles related to human rights, 
labor rights, the environment and 
the fight against corruption.

The company also declares re-
spect for human rights in the Cor-

porate Code of Conduct. Also, in the 
Internal Work Code, Chapter 13, Ar-
ticle 62, respect for employees' per-
sonal dignity, beliefs and feelings is 
promoted.

In the Hiring Handbook, it states 
that Celsia's suppliers must respect 
human rights to provide goods and 
services to the company.

Considering that the business re-
quires the use of natural resources, 
the process that requires greater 
diligence in terms of human rights is 
the operation of the facilities. Plans 
are responsibly and actively estab-
lished and implemented to mitigate 
the risks associated with the impact 
that operations can generate.

WHERE ARE WE GOING?

In the short term, Celsia will continue to promote 
a culture of ethics aimed at preventing cases of 
fraud and corruption. 

In the medium term, it will aim to have the 
validation of the ethics management system from 
an independent third party, including anti-fraud 
and anti-corruption. 

In the long term, it will review the internal and 
external best practices and carry out the regula-
tion and implementation of continuous improve-
ment of the process to manage ethical and 
transparent behavior in the organization, follow-
ing a strong tradition in this aspect and aiming to 
strengthen it every day.

Plan, raise awareness and train all the em-
ployees on human rights, especially regarding 
risks related to the possible violation of these 
rights, because of the operation of the assets.

Considering the importance of water in the life of 
human beings and in the company's businesses, 
we plan to focus efforts and design plans for the 
protection of this resource, which ensure its respon-
sible and efficient use, as well as its quality and 
conservation. As a result of the above, the company 
will soon adhere to the CEO Water Mandate and 
strengthen the application of its principles.

50% of all the 
operations in Celsia 
were assessed 
regarding risks related 
to corruption. In the 
case of EPSA, 72.73% 
was assessed.

In 2013, the average 
total attendance in 
the Board of Directors 
was 97.14%.

EPSA Employee, Yumbo
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Comprehensive risk management 
for the organization is the standard-
ized and systematic implementation 
of a set of actions that promote the 
optimum management of risks that 
can affect the strategy, the processes, 
the projects or the new investments, 
so that it can reasonably ensure the 
achievement of the business's ob-
jectives. The comprehensive risk 
management cycle is comprised of 
activities of identification, measure-
ment, monitoring, communication 

9.3. RISK MANAGEMENT

and disclosure of risks, as well as 
the control actions established to 
mitigate them. [G4-14].

Risk Governance
In the risk policy adopted by the or-
ganization, it is established that each 
area or process and its leader are 
responsible for the comprehensive 
management of its risks. However, 
through the support of the Risk and 
Insurance areas, the management 
process is methodologically assisted.

Commercial and Operations 
Vice Presidency

Internal Auditing

Finance Vice Presi-
dency

Risk and Insurance Manage-
ment

Vice Presidency of Develop-
ment of Generation Projects

Vice Presidency of New Businesses 
and Corporate Development

Regulatory Affairs 
Vice Presidency

Corporate Affairs Vice 
Presidency

Human Resources and
Administration Vice Presidency

General Management 
EPSA

Presidency

Auditing Committees of 
the Respective Boards of 
Directors
They supervise the 
effectiveness of the risk 
management system, as well 
as the actions adopted to 
prevent their materialization. 

Steering Committee
It supports the integrity of the 
risk management system and 
follows up the actions adopted 
to control and minimize 
the possible impact of their 
materialization. 

Internal Auditing
It carries out control, gives 
feedback on the process and 
identifies new risks.

[G4-46]

Establish the policy and guidelines and exercise control

Methodological support and follow-up

Responsible for risk management

Control

BOARD OF 
DIRECTORS

AUDIT
COMMITTEE
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The organization has established a 
methodology for risk management 
aligned with the ISO 31000 stan-
dard, which starts with the analysis 
of the context, of the process to be 
assessed and ends with the treat-
ment of the risks identified in the 
process map. It also has two perma-

Risk Chart [G4-2].

Risk 
Number Name of the Risk Description Mitigation

1

Changes in electricity 
regulation in Colombia, 
which adversely affect the 
operation of the facilities, 
their profitability or the 
subsequent continuity of 
the business

The State, as a guarantor of the provision of 
public utilities can intervene without warning in 
the regulation and in this way, affect the opera-
tion and investment expectations, variables which 
determine the profitability of the business.

Specifically, for the purposes of payment of the 
distribution activity, CREG (Energy and Gas Regula-
tory Commission) defines the payment applicable, 
which is revised every five years in accordance with 
the provisions established by law. The next review 
of the payment fee is planned for 2014.

The methodology for the payment of the transmis-
sion activity is known as regulated revenue, which 
establishes the maximum yearly revenues paid 
to each transmitting party in accordance with 
the assets they effectively hold in the National 
Transmission System. 

Continuous follow-up is carried out on the 
variables that can generate adverse regula-
tory changes for the company, with the aim to 
prevent and mitigate their effects.

The optimization of construction costs related 
to expansion of the network is constantly 
sought, minimizing the impact of the rates that 
the assets pay. 

The Risk 
Management System 
is applicable to all 
companies in which 
Celsia has a direct 
or indirect holding 
of more than half 
of the outstanding 
shares or partnership 
interests.

nent cross-cutting processes, which 
ensure effective communication of 
the model to the stakeholders and 
promote continuous improvement: 

• Communication and consultation 
• Monitoring and review

Treatment of risks

Risk assessment

Risk analysis

Follow-up and monitoring

Communication and culture
Identification of risks

Definition of the context
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Risk 
Number Name of the Risk Description Mitigation

2

Social and environmental 
effects from the operation 
and construction of power 
plants

Historically, the construction and operation of 
power plants were carried out by the State with 
full control of the legislation to act autonomously.  
With the 1991 Constitution and the later regula-
tions regarding protection of the environment, 
the construction and operations of power plants 
must fulfill greater and stricter requirements 
that occasionally exceed the forecast investment 
expectations, affecting the profitability and opera-
tion of the power plants.

Through certain regulatory provisions, it may be 
necessary to negotiate impact and compensation 
measures with the communities settled in the 
projects' areas of influence. 

The construction of a hydroelectric power plant 
implies the search for effective alternatives to 
maintain and offset species, with the aim to not 
significantly change the environment altered by 
the power plant.

The construction of hydroelectric power plants 
can cause an impact on nature that causes 
greenhouse gases.

During the operation of thermoelectric plants, 
sporadic loud emissions can occur. 

Establishing and implementing environmental 
management plans and licenses according to 
the requirements of the corresponding entity 
and the negotiation process in the projects' 
areas of influence. For EPSA, it is a priority to 
constantly maintain strict compliance with the 
established social and environmental plan.

It constantly manages the environment around 
the projects to identify the specific actions of 
conservation or offset of the possible impact 
that can be generated on the environment as 
a result of the projects' activities.

Additionally, communication with the com-
munities in the areas of influence is strength-
ened, achieving an understanding of the 
needs where the company can contribute, 
without replacing the work of the State. 

The use of forest with the corresponding 
permits and its later impact on the environ-
ment is mitigated with the planting of trees in 
the areas around the affected area, with prior 
agreement with the corresponding environ-
mental authority.

Effective solutions are constantly sought 
to control the sources of loud noise in the 
thermoelectric plants, exploring advanced 
noise-control technology.

3

The inability to restore 
operations related to the 
provision of public servic-
es or delays in responding 
to demand

Reliability in the electricity supply is a determining 
factor to ensure the continuous productivity of 
the economy's different sectors, as well as ensur-
ing the population's quality of life. Therefore, an 
event that obstructs the provision of the service 
can imply a general effect on the country.

The incorporation of new technology with little 
development of reliability brings risks of affecting 
the service.

Evaluation of predictive, preventative and 
emergency maintenance plans and plans for 
the continuity of operations, related not only 
to the current operation activities, but also 
to the impact that could be generated by the 
technology changes or the incorporation of 
new products.

4

Delays and overruns in 
project construction

In its development, the construction of infra-
structure works, particularly electric power plants 
in Colombia, has shown significant variations 
regarding budgets, which is largely due to their 
technical complexity, the social and environmen-
tal surroundings in which they are developed and 
the scale of costs implied.

The selection of suppliers for expansion projects 
is the start of activities that ensure success in the 
development of the projects, with the understand-
ing that experience, technical knowledge and 
financial stability are determining factors to carry 
out the project on time and within the forecast 
costs.

With rigorous follow-up of the project construc-
tion program and budget, it ensures that the 
contracted third parties comply with the excel-
lent technical and administrative conditions 
for the development of the projects.

It has a hiring process that aims to select the 
supplier that best fulfills the required condi-
tions. 
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Risk 
Number Name of the Risk Description Mitigation

4

Delays and overruns in 
project construction

The acquisition of goods for the expansion 
projects requires the development of equipment 
in different areas of the project, which implies 
exposure to the manufacturer's risks and later to 
the risks of its transportation.

For the suppliers who manufacture the equip-
ment on their facilities, constant visits are 
made to the manufacturing site. Additionally, 
for the purposes of transportation, insurance 
policies are taken out which cover the pos-
sibilities that could occur during its transporta-
tion.

5

Effects on the water levels 
in the rivers that provide 
the water flows for energy 
generation, resulting from 
natural phenomena re-
lated to climate change

Current natural phenomena related to climate 
change can affect the rivers' water level, a situa-
tion which affects the flows required to operate 
the power plants.

Strengthening of the maintenance plans of the 
basins that feed the rivers that provide water 
to the power plants.

6

Effects on the physical 
integrity of third parties 
or their goods during 
the development of the 
company's operations or 
during project construc-
tion

The company's facilities are located in public ar-
eas where the situation can affect their operation 
and imply the harm of the facilities themselves, of 
third parties or of people in general.

Additionally, power generation, transmission 
and distribution implies the electrical risk, which 
increases with exposure to the facilities that are 
found in easily accessible areas. 

There is a predictive and preventative main-
tenance program that ensures the continuity 
and reliability of the assets. Additionally, there 
is protection to prevent accidents of third 
parties.

7

Effects on the physical 
integrity of employees or 
the company's facilities 
during the development 
of operations or during 
project construction

Maintenance of transmission and distribution 
facilities is carried out by people who are exposed 
to the electrical risk and to the risks that can 
imply the impairment of the facilities, with the 
consequent effects on the physical integrity of the 
employees and their goods. 

Due to the nature of the high-risk work in areas 
far from urban centers, the operation and 
especially the construction of power generation 
facilities and affect the integrity of people and 
their goods. 

Compliance with the regulatory provisions of 
industrial safety and occupational health is 
required, mainly regarding work at heights, in 
confined areas and operating heavy machin-
ery.

8

Accelerated loss of worth 
or obsolescence of oper-
ating facilities 

Due to their location and operating conditions, 
electricity facilities are exposed to the deteriora-
tion caused by natural events or their operation 
under extreme conditions of speed and tempera-
ture, which may affect their useful life.

The company constantly invests in preventa-
tive maintenance programs, in updating equip-
ment and in electrical and physical protection 
that ensures the durability of the facilities and 
continuity of operations.

9

Not identifying and deal-
ing with matters that 
could affect the achieve-
ment of the organizational 
objectives

In the development of its corporate purpose, the 
company carries out different strategic and sup-
port activities that ensure the achievement of the 
organizational objectives. However, said activities 
involve different and multiple factors that con-
stantly change, which when they are not analyzed 
in time, could result in the materialization of a 
risk or the lack of alignment of the planned use of 
the resources with the strategy.

To ensure risk management, there is a risk 
area that applies a generally accepted meth-
odology, which ensures the identification and 
treatment of the risks that could affect the 
achievement of the organizational objectives.

10

Decision-making outside 
the governance, ethics 
and transparency guide-
lines

The company's activities involve the interests of 
different groups, which could be affected by the 
decisions that are adopted outside the framework 
of corporate governance, ethics and transpar-
ency.

There is a corporate governance structure that 
ensures that the decisions are made ethically 
and transparently.
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Risk 
Number Name of the Risk Description Mitigation

11

Breach of the Firm Energy 
Obligations

Energy planning related to the reliability of the 
Colombian electricity system was built and en-
acted through private investment, without a clear 
horizon of fuel availability to generate electricity 
in periods of water scarcity and to continue with 
the expansion process. Due to the above, not 
having fuel available may affect compliance with 
the Energy Obligations when the agent is required 
by the system.

Strengthening of the infrastructure required 
to operate with different fuels, ensuring the 
availability of assets through an excellent 
maintenance system.

PERFORMANCE

In 2013, the organization updated 
its strategic risk map, taking into 
account the changes and realities 
of the business in recent years. Ad-
ditionally, it built the corporate Risk 
Policy, which defines the framework 
for action in comprehensive risk 
management.

WHERE ARE WE GOING?
As short and medium-term plans, the 
organization will implement a risk 
management methodology at the dif-
ferent levels and processes so that it is 
possible to identify control measures 
and measures for the mitigation of 
them. Additionally, it will create a risk 
handbook with the guidelines for the 
recognition, analysis, assessment, 
treatment and communication of risks, 
among others. 

In the long term, the organization 
will aim to implement a business conti-
nuity and crisis management plan. 

Hidromontañitas Power Plant Employee, Antioquia
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Our economic performance is 
aligned with the sustainability strat-
egy, ensuring the company's profit-
able and sustained growth, for the 
achievement of the MEGA (in Span-
ish: Large and Ambitious Strategic 
Goal). In this sense, our financial 
processes ensure that the short, 
medium and long-term plans and 
projects are generating value, thus 
promoting the achievement of our 
objectives.

Consistent with the outlined 
growth strategy, the company re-
flects its financial strength through 
the favorable development of its 
economic performance indicators, 
which is also confirmed with the 
AA+ rating for the Issuance and 
Placement Program of Bonds and 
Commercial Papers, which was is-
sued by BRC Investor Services S.A., 
a securities rating firm.

As at December 2013, we had 
available portfolio resources of COP 
897,759 million, showing the favor-
able position of liquidity and free 
cash flow of COP 488,321 million, 
which allowed the sufficient cover-
age of the COP 145,445 million of 

9.4. ECONOMIC PERFORMANCE [G4-9]

current debt maturities and interest.
Consolidated financial debt in-

creased to COP 1.8 trillion, equiva-
lent to a leverage meter of 2.07, 
which reflects the low financial debt.

In other aspects related to the fi-
nancial processes, it is worth highlight-
ing that, because of its size, the invest-
ment portfolio is strictly controlled 
and the guidelines and policies estab-
lished by Management and the Audit 
and Finance Committee are applied.

In conclusion, the company's 
economic performance has been 
characterized by its cash genera-
tion, reasonable profit margins and 
adequate debt, which gives Celsia 
the capacity to develop its future 
business plans without affecting its 
financial structure.

Our EBITDA was 18% 
higher than in 2012.

COP
2.38 trillion

In 2013, we obtained 
consolidated operating revenue of

COP 357,444 million more than in 2012
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PERFORMANCE

In 2013, the company generated 
revenue of COP 2.38 trillion, which 
represents an increase of 18% from 
2012. Approximately 68% of the 
revenue came from the generation 
business and 32% from energy dis-
tribution and retail. 

Consolidated operating profit 
was reported in the amount of COP 
716,117 million, with a 30% margin. 
Consolidated EBITDA was COP 
864,563 million, up 18% from 2012, 
with a 36% margin. 

These results were possible 
thanks to timeliness in asset avail-
ability and efficiency. This combined 
with the good weather conditions 
and a portfolio that complemented 
these conditions, favored our opera-
tions during the year.

The non-operating revenue in-
cludes COP 114,717 million for the 
recovery of provisions from the rec-
onciliation of the legal process with 
the National Directorate of Taxes 
and Customs (DIAN), in which COP 
49,239 were paid as greater value of 
the tax associated with said process.

Consolidated net profit totaled 
COP 373,645 million, compared to 
COP 230,760 million in 2012. 

Celsia's statement of income re-
corded operating income of COP 
388,726 million, 6% more than 2012. 
Operating profit was COP 57,134 
million, down 43% from 2012. The 
EBITDA was COP 83,925 million, 
28% down from the previous year 
for an EBITDA margin of 22%, 
which is logical when considering 
the increase in thermoelectric pow-
er generation.

As a result of using the equity 
method for Zona Franca Celsia and 
Colener, the latter holding shares in 

EPSA, revenue of COP 247,996 mil-
lion was recorded to the statement 
of income for this concept. 

Balance Sheet
The consolidated assets came to 
COP 7.33 trillion, representing a 7% 
increase from December 2012. An 
increase in the non-current assets 
of COP 92,033 also stands out in the 
account of goods acquired in finan-
cial leasing, corresponding to the 
progress in the Cucuana Hydroelec-
tric Plant. Additionally, COP 186,267 
correspond to the other investments 
in property, plant and equipment 
and a COP 235,569 increase in the 
appreciation account, as a result of 
the appraisal of property, plant and 
equipment carried out at the end 
of the year. In turn, total liabilities 
amounted to COP 2.42 trillion, 2% 
down from the end of the previous 
year. Out of these, the estimated li-
abilities account decreased by COP 
163,956 million, which includes the 
recovery of provisions from the rec-
onciliation of the process that the 
company has underway with the 
National Directorate of Taxes and 
Customs and in which COP 49,239 
million were paid as greater value 
of income tax and the balance as 
the recovery of the provision, as 
mentioned above. The borrowings 
account shows a decrease of COP 
786,259 million, corresponding 
to bank loans that were replaced 

COP 864,563
Million Consolidated 

EBITDA
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by issuing COP 800,000 million in 
ordinary bonds in December. 

Consolidated financial debt as at 
December 2013 was COP 1.8 trillion, 
while cash and short-term invest-
ments were COP 897,759 million, 
resulting in a net financial debt of 
COP 874,052 million, 8% less than in 
December 2012.

In turn, the total individual assets 
were COP 4.1 trillion, a 5% increase 
from December 2012 and in which 
the net increase of investments in 
EPSA and Zona Franca Celsia stands 
out, a result of said companies' good 
results and the appraisals of property, 
plant and equipment carried out at 
the end of the year. Total company li-
abilities are reported at COP 863,047 
million, 18% down from the previous 
year, mainly due to the adjustment to 
provisions, associated with the afore-
mentioned DIAN process.

Finally, equity amounted to COP 
3.29 trillion, with a 13.2% increase 
from COP 2.91 trillion at the end of 
December 2012, due to the greater ap-
preciation value as a result of the tech-
nical appraisals carried out in 2013 on 
property plant and equipment.

Below we present the relation 
between the company's revenue and 
the payments or economic value dis-
tributed among its stakeholders:

Economic Value Generated (EVG) Millions of Colombian Pesos

Operating revenue COP 2,381,116

Economic Value Distributed (EVD) Total

Payments made to suppliers of goods services and 
materials COP 706,052

Salaries and social benefits for employees  COP 91,871
Payments to capital suppliers COP 364,518
Government payments (taxes, contributions and fees). COP 273,660
Social and environmental investments COP 27,747

WHERE ARE WE GOING?
In the medium term, it is hoped 
that company maintains its 
cash generation, compensating 
with the start-up of projects 
under construction, the 
increase in the energy demand 
and the reduction of losses, 
the potential variation its 
operating margins may have, 
due to changes in the payment 
of the distribution fee, because 
of the start of the new rate 
period.

It is also important to mention 
that in 2013, the project 
was started to implement 
the International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS), 
thus complying with the 
regulations for companies 
in Colombia, regarding the 
transition and change in 
accounting regulations.
In 2014, which is a year of 
transition and preparation, we 
will carry out the accounting 

records following current 
regulations and parallel to this, 
we will follow international 
standards. 
From 2015, adopting that 
established in the resolutions, 
we will report the financial 
information for all purposes 
following international 
regulations.

[EC1]

The operating expenses are in the financial statements.
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9.5. AVAILABILITY OF ENERGY
RESOURCES

Once water 
used for power 
generation passes 
through the turbine, 
it is returned to the 
rivers in the same 
quantity and with 
better quality.

The water quality 
data for the sources 
that supply the power 
plants was taken in 
2013 according to 
the requirements of 
the Environmental 
Management Plans.

PERFORMANCE

In thermoelectric generation, the 
reduction of water availability implies 
greater investment to obtain quality 
water for the processes and greater 
production of sludge to dispose of. 

The organization has an installed generation ca-
pacity combination of 56% hydroelectric and 44% 
thermoelectric, which allows it to maximize rev-
enue in balanced water level situations and cover 
risks in extreme cases of drought with thermo-
electric power generation.

For hydroelectric reservoir generation, adequate 
optimization allows a reserve to be maintained 
that ensures response to demand, while in the 
run-of-the-river power plants, water levels directly 
affect production.

Fuel Supply
In terms of fuel (natural gas and liq-
uid fuel) and its management, the 
company follows two guidelines:
• The first is to ensure the fuel sup-

ply for the operation of the plants, 
whether by contracting firm quan-
tities of supply and transportation 
of natural gas according to the re-
quirements of the Reliability Pre-
mium regulatory framework or 
having the supply logistics for the 
operation of liquid fuel.

• The second is to ensure the avail-
ability of fuel for the expected 
power generation, maximizing 
the margins from power genera-
tion. 

Within the natural gas supply 
chain, production, processing and 
transportation are a critical part of 
our operations. We obtain the sup-
ply (product of production and pro-
cessing) with the main gas produc-

ers in Colombia. We have different 
contract categories (firm and inter-
ruptible, among others) with them, 
which vary according to the power 
generation requirements. We con-
tract transportation with the main 
natural gas transporters in the coun-
try; also through different contract 
categories and according to the re-
quired amounts. [G4-12]

Additionally, Celsia obtains ad-
ditional amounts in the secondary 
market derived from the surpluses 
of third parties, which allows the 
fuel requirements for power genera-
tion to be complemented.

The Zona Franca Celsia Plant 
receives liquid fuel directly from 
the wholesale distributor, which is 
responsible for placing the product 
in the plant, ensuring availability 
according to the power generation 
requirements and the conditions 
agreed in the contract. 
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Risks Related to Water and Pres-
ervation of the Water Resource
In light of climatic phenomena 
(such as El Niño-Southern Oscilla-
tion-ENSO), the company carries 
out planning for generation in the 
reservoirs, through which, it en-
sures energy for the system and the 
impact of said phenomena on the 
communities is minimized, since 
reservoir hydroelectric plants fa-
cilitate water regulation, alleviat-
ing droughts in the dry season (El 
Niño phenomenon) and alleviating 
surges in the rainy season (La Niña 
phenomenon). Likewise, through 
the preparation of the power plants' 
environmental management plants, 

the organization aims to prevent or 
mitigate the possible conflicts that 
could be generated with the other 
users of the basins, for which the 
management measures are agreed 
with the communities. 

The risks originating from cli-
matic phenomena are also moni-
tored through the sales manage-
ment process, assessing their impact 
on operating margins, which will 
allow opportunities to be identified 
for energy trading, whether for pur-
chase or sale, or the need to contract 
additional fuel for greater thermo-
electric generation and in this way, 
reduce the portfolio's exposure 
caused by unfavorable water levels. 

Zona Franca Celsia Power Plant, Barranquilla
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Consumption and Efficiency in 
Water Use
The collection of water in the organi-
zation is mainly used for hydroelec-
tric power generation. To achieve 
this, Celsia has environmental licens-
es and authorizations to use the wa-
ter flow of the different basins where 
it operates. In some power plants, 
there is an ecological flow assigned 
by the environmental body. Control is 
carried out on this flow through me-
ters to ensure its correct delivery. The 
organization does not harness water 
in areas with water stress according 
to The Global Water Tool, developed 
by the World Business Council for 
Sustainable Development (WBCSD). 

EPSA has two hydroelectric pow-
er plants (Alto and Bajo Anchicayá) 
located in the Farallones National 
Natural Park, which the company 
supports by carrying out conserva-
tion and control activities.

In turn, for thermoelectric gen-
eration in the Zona Franca Plant, 
in Barranquilla, water is harnessed 
mainly for the cooling processes, 
steam production and auxiliary ser-

In all cases, the water 
is reincorporated 
into the river with the 
same flow and bet-
ter quality, as for the 
process, it is subject 
to treatment for the 
removal of solids.

In 2013, as an initiative for 
efficient use and saving of 
water, EPSA installed 47 
bathroom units with zero 
water consumption in some 
headquarters.

There are direct and 
indirect measurement 
systems in the power 
plants to control the use 
of the water flows.

vices, taking water from the Magda-
lena River, which is recirculated in 
the process. Its surplus is returned 
with better quality, as to be used, 
it is subject to a physical/chemical 
treatment process ensuring its suit-
able quality.

In terms of efficient use and sav-
ings of water, the organization devel-
ops prevention actions, controlling 
losses in the hydroelectric generation 
systems, through the preventative 
maintenance of the water pipes and 
transport system to the turbines and 
with the change of spherical valves to 
prevent leaks. 

In some processes, water used in 
power generation is recirculated to 
cool the machines. For thermoelec-
tric generation, approximately 5% of 
the cooling water is recirculated.
In this sense, in each one of the 
plants, Celsia's employees identify 
and constantly propose actions for 
efficient water use and saving. This 
process and those related to the use 
of the liquid are studied by theem-
ployees to seek saving opportunities. 

Salvajina Power Plant, Suárez / Morales
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Additionally, we carried out the 
comprehensive water resource man-
agement program, which consisted 
of the installation of 47 bathroom 
units with zero water consumption 
in some headquarters.

Water is one of the essential as-
pects of the business, which is why 
the company has established the 
"water" focus through the Sustain-
ability Model. Its objective is the 
treatment and care of water basins 
and the vegetation cover surround-
ing the operations, from provision 
and use to disposal and drainage, 
focusing on the preservation of this 
important resource.

With this same purpose, EPSA 
carried out the following protection 
and conservation actions on the ba-
sins where there is greater impact 
because of anthropic pressure:
• We increased forest cover by 

planting 176 hectares of native 
species in 2013, in the basins of 
the Cauchal (tributary of the 
Anchicayá River) streams and in 
the Tuluá River.

• We installed septic systems in 66 
homes of the basins of the Tuluá 
and Cucuana rivers. 

• We implemented control mea-
sures in sectors subject to erosion. 

• We carried out conservation ac-
tions in the Farallones National 
Natural Park of Cali through sus-
tainable production systems with 
the communities located in the 
park's buffer area, with which we 
implemented ecological restora-
tion measures, environmental ed-
ucation and strengthening of local 
knowledge and traditional envi-
ronmentally-friendly agricultural 
practices. This was developed in 
agreement with the National Unit 
of National Parks and the support 
of Fundación EPSA. 

Below we show the total water har-
nessed in m3 for the last four years.

In 2013, the organization 
developed studies and 
designs for a system to 
record hydro-climatic and 
environmental variables 
in the power plants. This, 
together with the prediction 
models, will allow decisions 
to be made to preserve the 
resource and it will be in 
operation in 2014.

176
hectares with native species in the 

basins of the Cauchal ra-
vines and in the Tuluá River.
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Water Catchment - Celsia 2010 2011 2012 2013

Explanation of the Variation and 
Explanation of the Standards 

and Measures Used to Calculate 
Recycled and Reused Water

Total catchment in m³ 97,367,976 115,001,579 166,318,988 256,972,420

Total catchment for cooling 1,407,366 2,095,352 2,330,812 3,130,027

Freshwater taken from surface sources, 
including water from wetlands, rivers 
and lakes

1,407,366 2,095,352 2,330,812 3,130,027

The cooling water of the small hydroelec-
tric plants is recirculated, therefore, it is 
not included in this assessment. In 2012, 
it was included.

Total catchment for electricity
generation 95,952,871 112,897,584 163,980,959 253,833,428  

Freshwater taken from surface sources, 
including water from wetlands, rivers 
and lakes

95,952,871 112,897,584 163,980,959 253,833,428
Since August 2012, electricity genera-
tion has increased due to the entry into 
operation of the Hidromontañitas plant.

Total catchment for use in other
production processes 2,349 3,371 3,711 2,947  

Supply of municipal water or other 
water supply companies 2,349 3,371 3,711 2,947 Anti-fire system and others.

Total catchment for offices 5,390 5,272 3,506 6,018  

Freshwater taken from surface sources, 
including water from wetlands, rivers 
and lakes

4,976 4,677 2,851 5,498 CELSIA: the small hydroelectric plants do 
not record water.

Supply of municipal water or other 
water supply companies 414 595 655 520  

Recycled and reused water 1,911,711 1,986,364 2,033,681 3,969,675

Recirculated cooling water in small 
hydroelectric plants was included in this 
item and it was calculated based on the 
capacity of the pump and its time of use.

Percentage of water recycled and 
reused 2.0% 1.7% 1.2% 1.5%  

Evaporated water 1,983,256 2,470,455 2,671,504 3,248,876  

[EN8] [EN10]

9,494,150,000

97,367,976 115,001,579 166,318,988 256,972,420

12,075,109,252

8,938,074,287

9,149,660,085

Celsia I EPSA 

Total Water Catchment - m³

2010
2011

2012
2013
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Water Catchment - EPSA 2010 2011 2012 2013

Explanation of the Varia-
tion and Explanation of the 
Standards and Measures 

Used to Calculate Recycled 
and Reused Water

Total catchment in m³ 9,494,150,000 12,075,109,252 8,938,074,287 9,149,660,085
Total catchment for electricity 
generation

9,494,000,000 12,075,000,000 8,938,000,000 9,149,634,754

Freshwater taken from surface 
sources, including water from 
wetlands, rivers and lakes

9,494,000,000 12,075,000,000 8,938,000,000 9,149,634,754

Total catchment for offices 150,000 109,252 74,287 25,331

Freshwater taken from surface 
sources, including water from 
wetlands, rivers and lakes

150,000 109,252 74,287 NR

In 2010-2012, the report did not 
discriminate water taken by water 
source (underground, surface or 
water supply).

Underground water 0 0 0 7,769

Supply of municipal water or 
other water supply companies 0 0 0 17,562

EPSA: Installation of 47 ecologi-
cal bathroom units in the Yumbo, 
Buga, Sarzal, Recreo and Palmira 
buildings as a measure to reduce 
water consumption.

Percentage of water recycled 
and reused 0% 0% 0% 0%  

Water Sources Significantly Affected by the 
Water Catchment

Size of the Basin 
(km²)

Volume of Water 
Taken (m³) Organization

Alto Anchicayá 385.0 1,521,530,000

EPSA*

Bajo Anchicayá 720.0 1,658,350,000
Calima 267.0 334,240,000
Prado 1,698.0 1,725,830,000
Salvajina 3,652.0 3,107,630,000
Alto Tuluá 493.5 90,714,829
Amaime 564.0 81,514,505
Cali River I 112.0 50,491,871
Cali River II 114.0 44,687,092
Nima I 85.0 51,885,131
Nima II 95.0 55,323,205
Riofrío I 160.0 128,644,319
Riofrío II 313.0 167,599,873
Rumor 780.0 131,193,929
Río Piedras 85.0 93,672,709

Celsia
Río Grande 150.0 159,088,191

*The sizes of the basins were measured in plans using computer tools and the captured volumes are 
the data reported as water passed through the turbine per power plant.

[EN9]
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Out of the water sources affected by the catchment, the following 
two are classified as nationally protected areas:

Regarding water quality in the production plants, the most responsible production 
plants in terms of water quality are listed below:

Water Sources Significantly Affected by 
the Water Catchment Biodiversity Value Value or Importance of the Water Source for Lo-

cal Communities and Indigenous People
Alto Anchicayá Farallones National 

Natural Park Sailing, fishing and residential useBajo Anchicayá

Organization Name of Power Plant Location Catchment Discharge

EPSA

Riofrío II Riofrío - Colombia BOD: 9.7mgO²/l 
TSS: 388 mg/l

BOD:10gO²/l 
TSS:384.7 mg/l

Prado Prado - Colombia BOD: 18mgO²/l
TSS: 10 mg/l

BOD:14mgO²/l 
TSS:28 mg/l

Amaime Cerrito - Colombia BOD: 8.3mgO²/l
TSS: 40.4 mg/l

BOD:7.2mgO²/l 
TSS:150.3mg/l

Calima El Darién - Colombia BOD: 7.1mgO²/l 
TSS: 20.8 mg/l

BOD:5.1mgO²/l 
TSS:<10.9 mg/l

Celsia

Zona Franca Celsia Barranquilla - Colombia TSS Temperature

Río Piedras Jericó - Colombia TSS TSS

Hidromontañitas Donmatías - Colombia TSS TSS

9,101,980,959 
Total catchment in 2012 (Celsia + EPSA) 
for power generation (m³)

3,376,820 
Hydroelectricity generated in 2012 
(Celsia + EPSA) (MW)

9,403,468,182 
Total catchment in 2013 (Celsia + EPSA) 
for power generation (m³)

3,494,630 
Hydroelectricity generated in 2013 
(Celsia + EPSA) (MW)

3.31%

3.49%

Variation

Variation

BOD: Biochemical Oxygen Demand
TSS: Total Suspended Solids
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Sediment Management in the 
Reservoirs
For the organization, the operation 
protocols for sediment management 
are important whenever the opera-
tion of hydroelectric plants involves 
the management of sediment associ-
ated with the use of water. For this 
reason, knowledge of the basin and 
the information related to its physio-
chemical and geological characteris-
tics are the fundamental basis of this 
process. There are also trained per-
sonnel to carry out the above.

The hydroelectric plants have a 
sediment management plan, taking 
into account the individual charac-
teristics of each contributing basin 
and the power plant's operations. 
This uses the principle that the 
sediment produced in the basin is a 
component of the river and it must 
continue its transit in it to avoid mor-
phological changes of the catchment 
sites or the reservoirs downstream. 

WHERE ARE WE GOING?
Celsia has proposed carrying out the following 
projects in the short, medium and long term, 
aimed at the "water" focus with the preservation 
of the water resource established in the Sustain-
ability Model: 

Measure the corporate water footprint. With 
these results, the company will complement 
the identification of water risks and establish 
a strategy for water resource management. 
Focus the mandatory investments of the 
Hidromontañitas Plant on the purchase of 
property aimed at the protection and conser-
vation of paramos, a strategic ecosystem for 
the preservation of the water resource and 
biodiversity.
Make an analysis of efficient water use and 
saving.
Adhesion to the CEO Water Mandate.
Start up the meteorological and environmen-

tal monitoring network, developing forecast-
ing tools for managing the resource as a 
basic tool for decision-making.
Continue the actions of reforestation and 
isolation of the main sources that supply the 
basins.
In the short term, we will update the pro-
tocols for sediment management in all 
the power plants, according to the basin's 
model.
For natural gas, we will continue to annually 
contract the gas supply for periods of one 
and five years, which will allow us to have 
gas available in the short and medium term 
for the plants' operation and back up.
In liquid fuel, the company will have a stor-
age capacity of 240,000 barrels, sufficient 
for the continuous full load operation of two 
units of Zona Franca Celsia.

Alto Anchicayá Power Plant, Buenaventura / Dagua
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Celsia leverages its proposal of hu-
man resources value in the imple-
mentation of its corporate strategy. 
To achieve this, we assist our leaders 
in the process of attraction, reten-
tion and development of people as 
a differentiating factor in the sector. 
We also support the consolidation of 
culture in the framework of aware-
ness for sustainability.

In the organization, we redefine 
the human resources policies and the 
Skills Management Model as the fun-
damental basis of the selection, train-
ing, career plan and replacement 
processes, and development and per-
formance. We also started the com-
prehensive compensation system, 
which includes the description and 
assessment of roles, the implemen-
tation of a variable compensation 
model for the whole company and 

9.6. HUMAN RESOURCES

the standardization of the benefits 
program for our employees. On the 
other hand, we measured the work 
climate, where we had favorable re-
sults, which allowed us to structure a 
work plan that aims to have an im-
pact on the results and that includes 
the development of skills, such as 
teamwork and leadership.

In addition to this, we have the 
Health and Safety at Work Manage-
ment System, which is leveraged in 
the Management Systems Policy 
and has the objective of encourag-
ing health and safety as a life value, 
through self care, safe practices, im-
provement of the work environment 
and the quality of life of employees 
and their families. All of these ac-
tions are aimed at reducing absen-
teeism and especially at the care and 
respect of human beings.

PERFORMANCE

Human Resources
The human resources policy estab-
lishes a framework for action so that 
organization-employee relations are 
built, developed and maintained in 
a work environment ideal for high 
performance and commitment, 
which contributes to the develop-
ment of the personnel and generates 
value for the company.

The benefits we have include: assistance for health, marriage, 
gym, food, life and accident insurance, vacation bonus, emotional 
salary, flexible work days in special periods, transportation, sports 
tournaments, sponsorship for national and international studies 
and studying a second language. [LA2]

In Celsia, 98.3% of 
employees have a 
fixed-term contract.

Selection and 
hiring

Employee devel-
opment

Provision of work uni-
forms and footwear

Comprehensive 
compensation

Vacations

Travel and transfer 
expenses

Transfers

Health and Safety 
at Work

HUMAN RESOURCES 
AND ADMINISTRATIVE 

POLICIES*
Old-age 
pension

Compensation days 
and extra hours
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Total women 
EPSA Total women 

Between 50 
and 60 years

Information calculated from 
the following table on total 
employees in 2013.

25%

75%

Total women

Total men

Under 30 
years

Over 60 years

Between 30 
and 40 years

Between 40 
and 50 years

Business Employ-
ees

2010 2011 2012 2013 2013

Men Women Men Women Men Women Men Women Total
Celsia 162 50 166 49 162 58 167 65 232
EPSA 558 174 564 169 620 173 641 205 846
Total 720 224 730 218 782 231 808 270 1,078

Employees by Age Group

Age group Celsia EPSA Total
Under 30 years 29 48 77
Between 30 and 40 years 73 166 239
Between 40 and 50 years 77 326 403
Between 50 and 60 years 42 291 333
Over 60 years 11 15 26

2%

37%

31%
22%

7%

The percentage by age group was calculated with all the 
employees reported in the table (1,078 people).

846
232

65

167

205
270

808
641

Total men EPSA

Total men 
Celsia

Total Celsia

Total men

Total EPSA

Total women 
Celsia

[G4-9], [G4-10]

[G4-9], [G4-10]

[LA12]

Business Employees

Employees by Age Group

1.078
Total
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Employees in Collective Agreements in EPSA [G4-11]

Participation of Women

13.36%

2.25%

84.4%

20.00%

22.22%

47.83%

47.37%

48.15%
25.05%

24.23%

28.02%

47.37% of women directly 
report to the Managing 
Director of EPSA.

Collective Agreements or Unions
2013

Celsia EPSA Total

Number of employees covered by a collective 
agreement 0 827 827

Percentage of employees who are members of a 
union or covered by a collective agreement 0 97.75% 97.75%

Number of inquiries and negotiations carried out 
with employees related to union issues 0 1 1

714 employees

113 employees

19 employees

Collective Compact

Celsia

EPSA

Total

Collective Agreement

Employees who do not belong to 
any collective agreement

* Understanding “middle management” as management below senior 
management.

** Understanding “senior management” as the directors that are one or 
two levels from the company's CEO.

Total women 
employees

Total women in middle 
management posi-
tions*

Total women in senior man-
agement positions**
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Relation between Men and Women's Salaries Celsia EPSA Total
Relation between the basic salary for men and women, distributed by 
level of position (Level 1 - Executive). It does not include the CEO for 
Celsia or the Managing Director for EPSA

1.10 1 1.10

Relation between the basic salary for men and women, distributed by 
level of position (Level 2 - Managerial) 1.40 1.46 1.37

Relation between the basic salary for men and women, distributed by 
level of position (Level 3 - Specialist) 1.40 1.01 1.13

Relation between the basic salary for men and women, distributed by 
level of position (Level 4 - Other levels) 1.05 1.03 0.99

Human Resources Development
Training is aimed at increasing 
the employees' skill level to help 
achieve the strategic objectives in 
their work. The comprehensive de-
velopment process of the company's 
personnel starts at the time of their 
hiring, in the induction and training 
stages. 

For Celsia, it is important to have 
a style of leadership that responds 
to the organization's needs. That 
is why it developed leadership and 
teamwork programs for its leaders. 
For senior management, a general 
refresher program was carried out 
in different foreign universities. 

The 2013 comprehensive devel-
opment plan takes guiding elements 
from the strategic plan to signifi-
cantly contribute to the consolida-
tion of capacity and development 
of new skills that allow the achieve-
ment of the goals set. It also consoli-
dates a cultural change in the orga-

We develop our employees' capacity and we contribute to the con-
solidation of our organizational culture through four pillars:

PILLARS

Corporate Business

Skills develop-
ment

Leadership

nization, strengthening a leadership 
style coherent with the company's 
challenges and commitments, as-
similating and incorporating the 
new corporate values and maintain-
ing the technical capacity to manage 
the business [LA10]. 

[LA13]
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In 2013, Celsia granted 33 educational benefits, which corresponded to COP 
141 million.

COP 747million

58.33%

83.33%

Average Hours of Training by Labor Category and by Gender

Description Celsia EPSA Total
Level 1: Director 649 27 676
Level 2: Managerial 3,097 1,233 4,330
Level 3: Specialist 6,286 27,980 34,266
Level 4: Other levels 2,792 16,604 19,396
By women 4,386 12,369 16,755
By men 8,438 33,475 41,913

By employee level 1: Director 72 27 68

By employee level 2: Manage-
rial 115 65 94

By employee level 3:  
Specialist 68 83 80

By employee level 4:  
Other levels 27 34 33

in the case of EPSA.

of Celsia's employees at executive, mana-
gerial and director level come from the lo-
cal community.

[LA9]

[EC6]

161  
hours

Training on Human Rights - 2013

of training of employees 
on policies and procedures 
related to human rights 
elements relevant to their 
activities.

EPSA: Training activities were not carried out on the subject.

Percentage of employees 
trained on human rights 
elements relevant to the 
company's activities.

Celsia 14.66%

was invested by Celsia in training in 2013 which reflects the importance 
the company gives to the development of its employees
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The figures of the development plan 
reflect the company's strong activity 
in trying to maintain and improve 
its employees' skill level. At the end 
of the year, training activities had 
been carried out with 4,340 partici-
pants, representing a total of 58,668 
hours of training, indicating an aver-
age of 55.28 hours per person. [LA9].

Performance Management
The organization structured the 
Performance Management Model, 
which allows it to identify to what 
extent people contribute to the 
achievement of the results and how 
they behave according to what is 
expected by the company. In 2013, 
it carried out the 360° evaluation of 
127 leaders at director or managerial 
level. The results of this evaluation 
will be taken into account to struc-
ture the development plans and the 
identification of replacement and 
career plans.

Celsia has a variable compensa-
tion system that seeks improvement 
in the results through the employ-
ees' good performance in the execu-

tion of the organizational strategy 
and rewards the achievement of this 
good performance of the company 
as well as the work teams. There is 
100% staff participation in this pro-
cess. The payment is made in the 
first months of the year, once the 
results have been validated by the 
competent entities.

Similarly, the company has a 
general comprehensive compensa-
tion policy, which fully covers the 
employees and is comprised of: fixed 
salary + variable compensation + set 
of extra benefits. This policy seeks 
the improvement of the organiza-
tion's results, through people's good 
performance in the execution of the 
corporate and competitive strategy. 
It also facilitates the processes of 
retaining and motivating human re-
sources.

The variable compensation is 
comprised of corporate measures 
(60%) and team measures (40%) for 
all the employees, who participate 
according to the level of the posi-
tion, with an established number of 
salaries. 

In 2013, the organization 
invested more than COP 
1,780 million in training to 
have an impact on more 
than 1,178 participants in 
Celsia and 3,162 in EPSA.
Additionally, we have a 
preparation program for 
pension retirement, with 
the participation of 59 
people and investment of 
COP 46.5 million.

Calima Power Plant Employees, Calima - El Darién
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As an addition to the above, the 
company carries out the organiza-
tional climate survey with an exter-
nal firm, which is an expert in the 
measurement of these indicators. 
The rating obtained was 57.3, which 
positions Celsia at a medium-high 
level, indicating the satisfactory per-
ception of the realities of the work 
investigated. The variables assessed 
were:

All of the variables showed a positive 
performance and they are within the 
market standards. 

As a result of the climate survey, we 
studied the results in depth through 
the focus group methodology, out of 
which action plans were created for 
all the areas. 

Stability

Coherence

Inter-personnel treatment

Availability of 
resources

Payment

Supervisor's support

Collective values

Sense of belonging and 
teamwork

Organizational 
clarity

VARIABLES
ASSESSED

Zona Franca Celsia Power Plant Employees, Barranquilla
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The organization carries out quarterly 
follow-up of the turnover rate, which 
is 2.97% and generally speaking, a 
low percentage in the market. [LA1]

Attraction and Retention of Per-
sonnel

Staff Turnover
2011 2012 2013

Celsia EPSA Total Celsia EPSA Total Celsia EPSA Total

Staff Turnover Rate 9.77% 2.18% 3.90% 10.45% 0.76% 2.86% 8.19% 1.54% 2.97%

Voluntary staff resignation 
turnover rate 4.19% 0.82% 1.58% 5.45% 0.38% 1.48% 3.45% 0.71% 1.30%

Number of employees with 
mutual agreement 1 4 5 1 0 1 4 2 6

Number of employees 
passed away 0 2 2 0 0 0 0 0 0

Number of employees retired 
or departure due to contract 
ending

1 2 3 1 1 2 3 3 6

Number of employees trans-
ferred between companies 0 0 0 0 2 2 0 1 1

Number of voluntary resigna-
tions of employees 9 6 15 11 3 14 8 6 14

Number of employees 
dismissed 10 2 12 10 0 10 4 1 5

Staff Turnover Percentage

2011
2011

2012
2012

2013
2013

Celsia I EPSA Total

10.459.77

3.90

2.18

0.76 1.54

2.86 2.97

8.19

[LA1]
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Number of Employee 
Departures 2013 Celsia EPSA Total

Under 30 years 3 0 3
Between 30 and 40 years 6 3 9
Between 40 and 50 years 5 5 10
Between 50 and 60 years 3 3 6
Between 60 and 70 years 2 2 4
Women 8 3 11
Men 11 10 21

Number of New Con-
tracts 2013 Celsia EPSA Total

Under 30 years 8 27 35
Between 30 and 40 years 13 27 40
Between 40 and 50 years 4 10 14
Between 50 and 60 years 2 1 3
Between 60 and 70 years 2 0 2
Women 13 33 46
Men 16 32 48

Staff Turnover Rates for 
2013 Celsia EPSA Total

Under 30 years 1.29% 0.00% 0.28%
Between 30 and 40 years 2.59% 0.35% 0.83%
Between 40 and 50 years 2.16% 0.59% 0.93%
Between 50 and 60 years 1.29% 0.35% 0.56%
Between 60 and 70 years 0.86% 0.24% 0.37%
Women 3.45% 0.35% 1.02%
Men 4.74% 1.18% 1.95%

Rate of New Contracts 
for 2013 Celsia EPSA Total

Under 30 years 27.59% 41.54% 37.23%
Between 30 and 40 years 44.83% 41.54% 42.55%
Between 40 and 50 years 13.79% 15.38% 14.89%
Between 50 and 60 years 6.90% 1.54% 3.19%
Between 60 and 70 years 6.90% 0.00% 2.13%
Women 44.83% 50.77% 48.94%
Men 55.17% 49.23% 51.06%

Rate of New Contracts by Business for 2013[LA1]

58.62%

41.38%

9.38%

7.81%

12.50%

Support areas

Distribution

Generation

Commercial Business areas

Support areas

70.31%

EPSA Celsia

[LA1]

[LA1]

[LA1]

[LA1]

Total: 100% Total: 100%



O9

93www.celsia.com

2013 Celsia EPSA Total
Employees dismissed in the year 4 1 5
New contracts during the year 29 65 94
Departures in the period* 19 13 32
Total departures due to contract ending or retirement 3 3 6

Reincorporation after Maternity or Paternity Leave
Celsia EPSA

Total
Men Women Men Women

Number of employees who had the right to maternity or pater-
nity leave 5 0 16 5 26

Number of employees who took maternity or paternity leave 5 0 16 5 26

Number of employees who returned to work after completing 
their maternity or paternity leave 5 0 16 5 26

Number of employees who returned to work after completing 
their maternity or paternity leave, who continued their work for 
twelve months after returning*

3 1 11 0 15

(Number of employees who returned to work after completing 
their maternity or paternity leave, who continued their work for 
twelve months after returning to work / Number of employees 
who returned to work after completing their maternity or pater-
nity leave).

* Including voluntary resignation, dismissals, death and retirement.

* These dates correspond to employees who returned to work after their maternity/paternity license in 
2012 and completed the year in 2013.

(Number of employees who returned to work after 
completing their maternity or paternity leave / Number 
of employees who took maternity or paternity leave).

100% 88.24%
Work Reincorporation Index Retention Index

[LA1]

[LA3]

[LA3] [LA3]
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174
people

Occupational Health and Safety
Celsia has a chart for identifying 
hazards and risk assessment and 
control. The company carries out 
occupational inspections, investiga-
tion of work accidents and incidents, 
hygiene surveys and analyses by the 
Work Risk Manager. It also analyzes 
vulnerability to establish the threats 
that could materialize in technology 
emergencies and carries out emer-
gency drills. Additionally, it has an 
external assurance system also car-
ried out by the Work Risk Manager.

For all people, it carries out in-
duction and re-induction in occu-
pational health and safety topics. 
These include the general indus-
trial safety standards, prevention of 

occupational risks and emergency 
plans. It also trains personnel on the 
prevention of work illnesses and ill-
nesses of common cause, accidents, 
work at heights, hearing protec-
tion, bone and muscle injuries and 
healthy lifestyles. 

Celsia also has a quality-of-life 
program, with which it aims to cre-
ate, maintain and improve work 
conditions that promote the com-
prehensive development of all its 
employees. This includes:

were trained between 
January and December 2013

Recreational activities 
for employees and their 
families

Implementation of 
improvement plans 
through the results of the 
psychosocial risk survey

Flexible work days on special 
days and emotional salary

Medical assistance

Sports tournaments

Fitness training
Health Week

Some of the indicators 
that are measured on a 
monthly basis are:
Rate of absenteeism due 
to common illness  
Frequency and severity of 
work accidents

QUALITY OF
LIFE PROGRAM
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These programs are monitored on a monthly basis through the calculation 
of indicators and comparing them to the targets set. This calculation is made 
based on formulas defined by the work risk managers.

Indicators for Employees [LA6]

Number of Work Accidents and Cases of Work Illnesses

Days of Absence Due to Work Accidents and Work Illnesses 

2011
2010

2011

2011
2011

2010

2010
2010

2012
2012

2012
2012

2013
2013

2013
2013

39

2

25

7

23

7

22

5

0

0

426

275

203

62

65

8

355

264

0

0

0

0 0

33
1 2

1

Men: Celsia I EPSA 

Men: Celsia I EPSA 

Women: Celsia I EPSA 

Women: Celsia I EPSA 

This information only corresponds to work 
accidents. Cases of work illnesses have not 
arisen in the periods analyzed.

This information corresponds to normal 
business days. The days lost are counted 
from the day after the accident. A target was 
not established for the periods analyzed.

38 31 33
3
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Number of Cases of Sick Leave Due to Common Illness

Days of Absence Due to Common Illness

393

157

21

63

392

170

30

67

408

209

31
58

394

212

34

107

2011

2011

2011

2011

2010

2010

2010

2010

2012

2012

2012

2012

2013

2013

2013

2013

Men: Celsia I EPSA 

Men: Celsia I EPSA 

Women: Celsia I EPSA 

Women: Celsia I EPSA 

910

69

382

3,178

1,082

169

471

3,989

1,179

150

505

2,593

1,038

2,671

748

197

This information corresponds to normal 
business days. The days lost are counted 
from three days after the event. A target was 
not established for the periods analyzed.

Zona Franca Celsia Power Plant Employees, Barranquilla
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Total Hours Worked

2011
2011

2010
2010

2012
2012

2013
2013

Men: Celsia I EPSA Women: Celsia I EPSA 

470,779

1,486,310

128,325

435,465

499,122

1,548,612

125,082

439,174

477,195

1,654,382

140,826

451,750

467,169

1,733,253

167,623

488,446

Indicators for EPSA contractors [LA6]

Total Days Worked

EPSA Contractors
2010 2011 2012 2013

Men Women Men Women Men Women Men Women
Number of work accidents and 
cases of work illnesses 118 0 176 0 220 2 207 3

Days of absence due to work ac-
cidents and work illnesses 531 0 7,606 0 3,046 10 8,744 10

Number of cases of sick leave due 
to common illness 276 51 462 55 764 90 754 67

Days of absence due to common 
illness 1,811 250 2,055 218 4,614 875 4,115 277

Total hours worked 1,818,013 2,403,534 2,951,098 3,708,389

Total days worked 227,252 300,442 368,887 463,549

2011
2011

2010
2010

2012
2012

2013
2013

Men: Celsia I EPSA Women: Celsia I EPSA 

58,847

175,895

51,534
62,390

183,268

51,973
59,649

195,785

53,462
58,396

205,119

57,804

16,041 15,635 17,603 20,953
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• Have leaders who ensure the 
implementation of the corporate 
and competitive strategy through 
the comprehensive development 
of the work teams.

• Contribute to the business's conti-
nuity through career-replacement 
management, performance and 
development of our employees' 
skills.

• Consolidate an organizational cul-
ture through a good work climate, 

aimed at responsible and sus-
tainable development, through 
harmonious work relations in a 
safe work environment.

• Restructure the variable compen-
sation model in: number of sala-
ries, percentages and long-term 
system.

• Restructure the occupational 
health and safety program ac-
cording to recently issued regula-
tions.

• In 2014, we plan to continue 
strengthening the safety culture 
through specific training on pro-
motion and prevention, according 
to the identified risks and haz-
ards, and the Pareto principle of 
the accident and mortality rate.

To continue with the implementation of the Human Resources 
Model, in 2014, we plan to:

WHERE ARE WE GOING?

Unit
2010 2011 2012 2013

Celsia EPSA Celsia EPSA Celsia EPSA Celsia EPSA

Frequency Index (DJSI) Number of accidents  
x 1,000,000 hours 3.34 20.81 11.21 14.09 11.33 12.34 11.03 10.35

Severity Index (DJSI) Number of days lost  
x 1,000,000 hours 13.35 241.44 104.13 153.94 100.32 112.05 415.88 161.14

Fatalities [LA6] 
2010 2011 2012 2013

Celsia EPSA Celsia EPSA Celsia EPSA Celsia EPSA
Number of employee fatalities 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Number of contractor fatalities 0 1 0 2 0 0 0 2

2013 Target: Zero 
fatalities in employees 
and contractors.

Complaints about Labor Practices in EPSA 2010 2011 2012 2013
Number of complaints about labor practices received during the 
reporting period 5 4 3 4

Number of complaints about labor practices resolved during the 
reporting period (which were received in the same period) 3 3 1 2

Number of complaints about labor practices resolved during the 
reporting period that were received prior to the reporting period 4 6 3 8

Total number of complaints about labor practices responded to 
and resolved during the reporting period 3 3 1 9

Complaints about Labor Practices in EPSA Celsia EPSA
Provision for retirement pension COP 1,602 COP 4,242
Expenses and contributions to pensioners COP 0 COP 9,537

 [LA16] 

 [EC3] 

Figures in millions of COP
For the years referred to, no complaints were made about labor practices in Celsia
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We carry out customer management in the orga-
nization according to the businesses that are car-
ried out in each one of the companies as follows:

9.7. CUSTOMER
MANAGEMENT

As part of the Integrated Manage-
ment System implemented in the 
company, we provide our customers 
with tools to make requests, com-
plaints or claims, which receive due 
treatment within the contractual 
framework that contains the obliga-
tions between Celsia and its clients. 

Regarding service guarantees for 
wholesale clients, it is important to 
specify that, as they are commodities, 
the sales transactions of energy and 
natural gas sales ultimately provide 
financial coverage for the prices 
for the parties involved. The sales 
agreements that outline the trading 
and its compliance are supported by 
guarantees agreed at the time of ne-
gotiation. 

The retail strategy and its client 
management are aimed at satisfying 
needs and offering value services to 
three market segments: 
• Unregulated
• Regulated in competition 
• Regulated

The unregulated market and regu-
lated market in competition are in-
dividually attended to by account 
executives who provide technical, 
regulatory and commercial advice to 
their clients through a multi-service 
portfolio and supporting the corpo-
rate 24-Hour Call Center to resolve 
situations regarding the electricity 
service.

The regulated or mass market, 
in which there are residential cli-
ents and MSMEs, has commercial 
offices, a 24-Hour Call Center and 
Online Services to respond to their 
requirements. It also has residential 
advisors to promote efficient and 
safe use of electricity.

Celsia 
and Zona 

Franca 
Celsia

EPSA and 
CETSA

They manage wholesale electricity 
and natural gas clients.

They focus on wholesale and retail 
electricity sales

Customer satisfaction is 
an objective of the sales 
management process and 
its level is regularly assessed 
proposing actions that 
strive for the highest level of 
customer satisfaction and 
effective response to their 
needs.

EPSA Employee, Yumbo
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The ISCAL residential retail 
client satisfaction survey 
(Customer Satisfaction 
with Perceived Quality 
Index) was 78.7%, which 
is 10.6% higher than the 
2012 result. The factors 
with the best performance 
were “customer service" 
and “electricity bill”.

PERFORMANCE

The wholesale strategy has allowed 
the organization to consolidate a 
base of clients with a good history in 
the electricity and gas sector. With 
these clients it manages constant 

This client base has facilitated one-
to-one relations, which allows the 
direct identification of the needs 
and opportunities for improvement 
for the commercial process. As well 
as being informed about the con-
tacts and media to make their com-
ments, clients are also notified of the 
receipt, registration and treatment 
of complaints and claims submit-
ted. All of these activities are framed 
within the procedures of the Inte-
grated Management System.

Other important information 
about customer management:
• 28 sales offices renovated for a 

warmer and closer service.
• Out of the 534,015 contacts made, 

6.2% were claims (15% in the cli-
ent's favor) and 191 resources were 
sent to the Residential Public Ser-
vices Superintendency (43 in the 
client's favor).

• An average of two days to respond 
to claims and 10 to 20 minutes 
waiting time for customer service 
in the offices.

• 38% growth of total transactions 
through Online Services, out of 
which, the 47% growth in online 
payments stands out.

• 405 additional payment points, 
for a total of 986 points.

• New format of the electricity bill 
in letter-sized paper, with colors in 
different fields and new design for 
blocks of information for greater 
clarity.

• Website to consult all the dimen-
sions of the service, which includes 
verification of use, payment and 
bills, online assistance, submission 
of requests, complaints and claims 
and applications for new services, 
which facilitates the clients' inter-
action with the company, through 
the connection:

WHOLESALE
STRATEGY

Satisfaction at the time of trading

During the operating process

Regular billing 

Celsia's treatment of complaints and claims

relations for operating and commer-
cial purposes and an annual follow-
up to assess their level of satisfac-
tion, which addresses topics such as: 

78.7%

94%

of retail clients are satisfied with 
the service provided by EPSA

of wholesale clients are satisfied 
with the service provided by Celsia

Online services:
http://kioskos.epsa.com.co/ 
kioskos/?emp=EPSAESP&cp=0

http://kioskos.epsa.com.co/kioskos/?emp=EPSAESP&cp=0
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Until 2010, EPSA-CETSA carried 
out a customer satisfaction survey 
every two years, with its own meth-
odology, which is why there are no 
results for this survey for 2011. Since 
2012, the survey is carried out annu-
ally under the methodology applied 
by the Regional Energy Integration 
Commission (CIER in its Spanish 
acronym). The results presented 
refer to the investigation applied to 
urban residential clients of EPSA-
CETSA.

On the other hand, the cus-
tomer satisfaction survey in EPSA 
and CETSA is mainly established 
through the Customer Satisfaction 
with Perceived Quality Index (IS-
CAL), calculated for the residential 
and corporate markets. The attri-
butes that are measured are:
• Electricity supply
• Customer service
• Information and communication
• Electricity bill 
• Company image

The residential ISCAL is the result 
of the CIER urban residential cus-
tomer satisfaction survey, coordi-
nated by the Regional Energy Inte-
gration Commission (CIER) in 56 
electricity distribution companies of 
15 countries of Latin America. The 
areas with the best performance in 
2013 were: electricity supply with an 
84.9% rating; customer service with 
84.9% and electricity bill with 84.0%. 
These results place it among the 
best ratings in Colombia and Latin 
America.

Results of Customer Satisfac-
tion Surveys (%)

Results of Residential Cus-
tomer Satisfaction Surveys 
(%)

Percentage of Customers 
Surveyed

EPSA
2010

2010
2010

2012
2012

2012
2011

2011
2011

2013
2013

2013

9498

8987

Target
85

68

56

100

96

78(1)

68.1

78.7

Target
70

Scope (% of clients 
surveyed): 0.12% (2)

(1) The survey carried out in 2010 was developed by 
the company with its own methodology.

(2) The ISCAL level of trust is 96% and 625 clients 
were surveyed.

Celsia Celsia

 [PR5] 

NA
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WHERE ARE WE GOING?
Wholesale customer satisfaction is 
comprised of a management indica-
tor for the sales process, which is 
why its regular follow-up is essential 
to obtain opinions and expectations 
regarding the service provided. 

In 2014, EPSA will focus man-
agement of retail clients on the 
development of products and 
services, such as: EPSA assistance, 
prepaid electricity, solar energy 
for residential units and intelligent 
assessment for corporate clients. It 
will also strive to improve the ISCAL 
customer satisfaction indicator, 
maintaining excellent quality of 
the electricity supply, increasing 
information and communications 
actions for clients of all markets 

in topics such as user rights and 
duties, efficient use of the en-
ergy resource, electricity risks and 
dangers and the programs that the 
company develops with social and 
environmental commitment.

We will carry out the Service 
Culture project, starting with the 
retail electricity distribution and 
sales areas, which have direct and 
constant contact with the clients, to 
strengthen the value promise in all 
the markets.

Risks are not foreseen to the 
health and integrity of the 
clients from the products and 
services provided.

[PR1]

EPSA Sales Office, Buga
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Our investigation, development and 
innovation (I+D+i) model is designed 
in compliance with the Colombian 
Technical Standard NTC 5800 and 
it has a channel designed for the 
management and evaluation of ideas 
in the organization (Innova) and 
strengthening the innovation culture 
among all the employees. Through 
the I+D+i, we seek the development 
of new products and services for our 
clients, focused on energy efficiency 
and clean energy and technology (re-
duction of the carbon footprint) and 
the implementation of best practices 
in the distribution, generation and 
transmission businesses.

Objectivity and transparency are 
the premises for the management of 
innovation and in its development, 
we apply criteria including the fol-
lowing:
• The ideas presented must be co-

herent, responsible and commit-
ted to the stakeholders.

• Innovation is governed by copy-
right, rights of use and by intel-

9.8. INNOVATION

COP
4,789
million invested in I+D+i in 2013

lectual and industrial property 
rights on the ideas generated and 
implemented, in accordance with 
current regulations.

• The owners of the ideas have con-
stant assistance, they participate 
in the development and imple-
mentation of them and they recog-
nize them for their management.

• All of the ideas are reviewed by an 
assessment committee and they 
are entered into an ideas bank.

The organization 
obtained its first 
innovation patent for 
the Sliding Pendulum, 
which provides safety 
to the population and 
environment in the 
event that electricity 
transmission towers 
fall.

Solar Panels at EPSA Headquarters, Yumbo
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EPSA-CETSA Guidelines

Innovation Channels

Innovation Focuses

Evaluation
Committee

Elective
Committee

Cluster

Generate an innovative culture

Idea
Engine

Intellectual
Property

Project
Development

University
State
Company

Technology Supervision 
and Intelligence

Innovation
Policy Stimuli

Create
Conditions

Clients Employees Suppliers

Management Evaluation Implementation

PCI
Project
Bank

Innovation Model
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Innovation Focuses in EPSA 
We have two committees

Evaluation Committee
Project Manager, Quality and Innovation
Project and Innovation Supervisor
Technology Innovation Group
Marketing Innovation Group

Steering Committee
Managing Director
Business Managers
Human Resources Manager

PERFORMANCE

• Electric mobility: A study was 
carried out on the impact of the 
connection of electricity mobil-
ity technology on our distribution 
networks. and rapid charging sta-
tions and electric vehicles were 
acquired for experimental trials, 
with which the environmental 
benefits of this mobility alterna-
tive have also been communicated 
in Valle del Cauca, Atlántico, An-
tioquia and Cundinamarca.

• Hybrid river micro-turbine: Dis-
tributed generation pilot of 5 kW 
with additional photovoltaic 1 kW, 
using turbine water from the Sal-
vajina power plant.

We obtained the 
Ámbar Investigation 
and Development 
Award, I+D, as best 
innovative company in 
the electricity sector.

EPSABusiness
Management Operation

Customer 
Service

Intelligent 
Networks and 

Energy

• Assessment and pilots of intelli-
gent assessment technology and 
demand management and con-
sumer interaction platforms.

• In the residential project of Ciudad 
Santa Bárbara in Palmira, an analysis 
was made of the technical and eco-
nomic feasibility for the implemen-
tation of different solar-powered 
technology in communal areas.

• Photovoltaic energy project in 
the headquarters of the Yumbo 
building, with 61.64 kWp capacity, 
which provides around 5% of the 
building's energy.

In 2013, we carried out the following 
projects:
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WHERE ARE WE GOING?
Development of New Products and Services in 2014
Development of a new value offer with new lines of business
of target markets which include in the portfolio: energy efficiency,
demand management, renewable energy, electric transportation, 
comfortable solutions and improvement of quality of life.

Energy Efficiency
and Demand Management
We plan to implement with clients 
of target markets measurement 
technology and tools for demand 
management which allow us to 
interact with clients and optimize
energy use.

Electric Transportation 
Structure new business modelsfor 
supply, connection and services for 
electric mobility.

Renewable Energy 
• Start up the Bajo Tuluá and Cu-

cuana small hydroelectric plants.
• Implement a distributed energy 

generation solution in a non-inter-
connected area

• Provide electricity to the com-
munal areas of the Frayle and 
Maranta Units of Ciudad Santa 
Bárbara, where the first towers will 
be delivered in June

• Participate in energy coverage 
projects of new services with 
renewable solutions. 

We also made progress in other topics:
• We reviewed state-of-the-art tech-

nology related to the photovoltaic 
systems and 25 of the organiza-
tion's people were trained on this 
subject, as well as the Steering 
Committee. 

• We co-led the creation of the ener-
gy cluster of Southwest Colombia 
and we actively support the enter-
prise network of Valle de Cauca.

• Through the participation in the 
energy cluster and the Colombia 
Inteligente initiative, we were 
able to find out about the experi-
ences and plans of alternative and 
self-generation energy. 

• We led the Smart Grids Latam 
group of the Regional Energy 
Integration Commission (CIER) 

and we actively participated in 
the roundtables of the Produc-
tive Transformation Program and 
in the innovation groups of the 
National Industrial Association 
(ANDI), Valle section [G4-16]. 

• We supported Universidad del 
Valle in the construction of a 
laboratory to characterize and 
eliminate PCBs and a high-voltage 
laboratory that in the future, will 
generate more employment in the 
region and reduce the costs of this 
process for Colombian compa-
nies, helping to protect the envi-
ronment.

• We support the Fórmula SENA 
ECO program which promotes 
training on automotive mechanics 
based on alternative technology.

Improve Quality of Life
• Structure new business models for 

supply, connection and services 
in non-interconnected areas and 
special clients.

• Provide comfortable solutions for 
target market segments.

With the Smart Grid and 
electric mobility project we 
obtained a deductible tax 
benefit certificate for COP 
5,101 million granted by 
Colciencias.

• Celsia has been carrying out studies 
to establish the feasibility of a mi-
nor hybrid (wind/solar) generation 
plant in the Atlántico Department.
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In the Integrated Management 
System, we establish the policies 
and guidelines for the adequate 
management of the supply chain, 
including processes of supplier se-
lection, proposal assessment for 
purchasing goods and services, 
service or product quality assess-
ment and identification of areas of 
opportunity. In purchasing, as well 
as critical suppliers, risk analysis is 
part of the management process of 
the supply chain and it basically fo-
cuses on ensuring that: 

9.9. SUPPLIER MANAGEMENT

• The inherent risks in each pur-
chase are adequately and efficient-
ly covered in the process.

• Critical suppliers for the organi-
zation are constantly assessed and 
given feedback to ensure the qual-
ity of the product or service deliv-
ered and the relevance of its contri-
butions to the achievement of the 
company's strategic objectives.

Likewise, it is important to highlight 
that we make the company's Code 
of Conduct extensive to our suppli-
ers through the Purchase and Hiring 
Handbook.

Purchase Process

Description
of the supply

chain

Payment
of suppliers

06

Evaluation
of the suppliers'

performance

07
Identification
of the purchase
plan need

01

Awarding
and hiring
process

04

Receipt
of goods
and services

05
03
Bid
request

Pre-selection
of suppliers

02
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PERFORMANCE

The organization has established a 
Corporate Governance Code, a Cor-
porate Code of Conduct, a Purchase 
and Hiring Handbook, and some 
quality, corporate responsibility, en-
vironmental and safety guidelines 
that are put to the consideration of 
the suppliers at the time they are 
invited to quote. This is done so that 
they can incorporate them into their 
economic offer for the selection of 
the offer that provides the best added 
value for the company. All of the of-
fers' conditions, as well as the guide-
lines for the purchase process are 
mandatory for the providers, which 
is why they are part of the supplier 
and service quality assessment. 

Additionally, at the time of identi-
fying possible suppliers that can sat-
isfy the needs that arise, we aim for 
them to become strategic partners 
which share the corporate respon-
sibility and sustainability commit-
ments that identify the organization.

Supplier selection processes are car-
ried out before starting a sustain-
ability request and they are based on 
legal, tax, commercial, financial and 
reputation aspects and on recogni-
tion in the market.

For those suppliers classified 
as service providers or suppliers of 
critical material, once the purchase 
is completed or at least once a year, a 
performance assessment is carried out 
based on quality, service, compliance, 
social, environmental, work and qual-
ity criteria. Suppliers that do not meet 
the minimum ratings established in 
the guidelines of the Integrated Man-
agement System are presented to an 
interdisciplinary committee, which 
approves plans of action to correct 
the areas of opportunity.

In the organization, 
we are aware that 
suppliers are our 
strategic partners, 
which is why we 
have established a 
philosophy of action 
that promotes their 
development.

In 2013, we carried out activities aimed at improving 
processes with the suppliers, out of which, we highlight:

Conversations 
and follow-up of 
the environmental 
standards and 
industrial safety and 
occupational health 
of the contractors 
who carry out work 
in Celsia and Zona 
Franca power plants.

Update of the 
Technical Regulations 
for Electrical 
Installations (RETIE), 
live online training, 
benefiting 304 
employees from 
EPSA contracting 
companies.

ISO 14001 
standard 
seminar, with the 
participation of 10 
EPSA suppliers.

Courses on 
International Financial 
Reporting Standards 
taught by Deloitte, 
with the attendance 
of 26 EPSA suppliers. 

Family meeting for 
EPSA contractors, 
in agreement 
with the Family 
Compensation 
Fund; 2,860 
contractors 
benefited.
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Organization's Suppliers Units Celsia EPSA Total
Total number of suppliers Number 2,036 1,608 3,644

Number of suppliers that are connected to 
the organization Number 1,012 1,438 2,450

Value of payments made to the suppliers 
(millions of Colombian pesos) Value COP 530,874 COP 175,179 COP 706,052

Number by Type of Company's Suppliers Celsia EPSA Total
Services 781 906 1,687

Goods 207 532 739

Gas 24 0 24

Total 1,012 1,438 2,450

[G4-12]

Type of Company's Suppliers  

Provider type 1:
Strategic

Provider type 2:
Sporadic purchases of more 
than COP 100 million

Provider type 3: 
Insignificant, less than COP 
100 million

Celsia I EPSA I Total Celsia I EPSA I Total Celsia I EPSA I Total

186

54

155 128
182

772

1,927

1,155

341

[G4-9]
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Suppliers (millions of Colombian pesos)
2011

Celsia EPSA
Total purchases  COP 459,592  COP 282,744 
Gas purchases  COP 269,064  NA 
Antioquia Department purchases COP 78,311  NA 
Atlántico Department purchases COP 71,220  NA 
Santander Department purchases COP 2,784  NA 
Valle del Cauca Department purchases  NA COP 124,333 
Cauca Department purchases  NA COP 2,254 
Tolima Department purchases  NA COP 7,554 
Purchases in other regions of the country and abroad COP 307,276 COP 148,603 
Purchases made from local suppliers  COP 152,316 COP 134,141
Percentage of purchases made from local suppliers 33.1% 47.4%

Total number of suppliers (contracted)  1,171 1,541 
Number of local suppliers (contracted)  1,086 1,142 
Percentage of local suppliers 92.74% 74.11%

[EN32], [EN33], [LA14], [LA15], [HR10], [HR11], [SO9], [SO10]

Supplier Assessment with Environmental, Labor, Human 
Rights and Society Criteria - Celsia Environmental Labor Human Rights Society

Number of new assessed suppliers 10 10 10 10
Number of existing assessed suppliers 67 67 67 67

Number of suppliers that were identified with a possible negative 
impact (out of those assessed) 2 2 2 2

Percentage of new suppliers assessed regarding environmental, 
labor, human rights and society criteria

100% 100% 100% 100%

Supplier Assessment with Environmental, Labor, Human 
Rights and Society Criteria - EPSA

Environmen-
tal Labor Human 

Rights Society

Number of new assessed suppliers 6 15 15 15
Number of existing assessed suppliers 57 140 140 140

Number of suppliers that were identified with a possible negative 
impact (out of those assessed) 0 1 4 4

Percentage of new suppliers assessed regarding environmental, 
labor, human rights and society criteria

100% 100% 100% 100%

[EC9]
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Suppliers (millions of Colombian pesos)
2012 2013

Celsia EPSA Celsia EPSA
Total purchases COP 447,465 COP 223,542 COP 696,007 COP 261,079
Gas purchases COP 307,626 NA COP 559,183 NA
Antioquia Department purchases COP 87,782 NA COP 87,003 NA
Atlántico Department purchases COP 52,540 NA COP 210,585 NA
Santander Department purchases COP 947 NA COP 1,611 NA
Valle del Cauca Department purchases NA COP 114,090 NA COP 124,020
Cauca Department purchases NA COP 1,759 NA COP 1,932
Tolima Department purchases NA COP 3,368 NA COP 5,024
Purchases in other regions of the country and abroad COP 306,197 COP 104,325 COP 396,808 COP 130,102
Purchases made from local suppliers COP 141,268 COP 119,217 COP 299,200 COP 130,977
Percentage of purchases made from local suppliers 31.6% 53.3% 43.0% 50.2%

Total number of suppliers (contracted) 1,133 1,544 1,024 1,438
Number of local suppliers (contracted) 1,071 1,108 938 1,248
Percentage of purchases made from local suppliers 94.5% 71.8% 92.7% 86.8%

[EN33, [LA15], [HR11], [SO10]

[EN33, [LA15]

Out of the total existing and new assessed suppliers, improvement plans 
were agreed or the contract was terminated with some of them:

Celsia Environmental Labor Human Rights Society
Percentage of suppliers that were identified with a possible negative 
impact, with those that plans for improvement were agreed 0% 0% 0% 0%

Percentage of suppliers that were identified with a possible negative 
impact, with those that the contract was terminated. 2.99% 2.99% 2.99% 2.99%

EPSA Environmental Labor Human Rights Society
Percentage of suppliers that were identified with a possible negative 
impact, with those that plans for improvement were agreed 25% 0.01% 0% 0%

Percentage of suppliers that were identified with a possible negative 
impact, with those that the contract was terminated 0% 0.71% 2.86% 2.86%

Risks in Suppliers

Economic Environmental Social

Celsia EPSA Total Eco-
nomic Risks

Celsia EPSA
Total Envi-
ronmental 

Risks
Celsia EPSA Total Social 

Risks

Total number of suppliers iden-
tified with risks 2 15 17 2 63 65 6 4 10

Total percentage of contracts 
with suppliers that have clauses 
related to social, environmental 
and governance risks.

100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

Regarding risk identification in suppliers: 
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Supplier audit in 2013 Celsia EPSA Total

Number of suppliers audited 2 27 29
Number of high-risk suppliers audited 2 27 29

The number of suppliers to auditin 2014 
is 34:

Topic
2011 2012

Unit Celsia EPSA Total Celsia EPSA Total
Total first-level 
suppliers (con-
tracted)

Number 1,171 1,541 2,712 1,133 1,544 2,677

Total first-level 
suppliers identi-
fied as critical

Number 36 217 253 47 205 252

Percentage of 
critical suppliers Percentage 3.07% 14.08% 9.33% 4.15% 13.28% 9.41%

Value of purchas-
es made from 
critical suppliers

Millions
of Colom-

bian pesos
COP 32,385 COP 178,116 COP 210,501 COP 52,056 COP 174,210 COP 226,266

Percentage of 
purchases made 
from critical sup-
pliers

Percentage 7.05% 63.00% 28.36% 11.63% 77.93% 33.72%

Topic
2013

Unit Celsia EPSA Total
Total first-level 
suppliers (con-
tracted)

Number 1,012 1,438 2,450

Total first-level 
suppliers identi-
fied as critical

Number 67 155 222

Percentage of 
critical suppliers Percentage 6.62% 10.78% 9.02%

Value of purchas-
es made from 
critical suppliers

Millions
of Colom-
bian pesos

COP 145,384 COP 185,022 COP 330,406

Percentage of 
purchases made 
from critical sup-
pliers

Percentage 20.89% 70.87% 34.52%

For the short term, the organiza-
tion plans to hold a training session 
for the suppliers in the process of 
acquiring and communicating the 
Purchase and Hiring Handbook, the 
Corporate Code of Conduct and the 
Corporate Governance Code. 

In the medium term, the actions 
will focus on developing skills of the 
strategic suppliers, communicating 
programs for the recognition of best 
practices in social and environmen-
tal topics and in quality and the 
strengthening of strategic partner-
ships with key and critical suppliers.

WHERE ARE WE GOING?

Celsia 10
EPSA 24
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Socio-environmental Management 
[G4-14]
In the organization, we understand 
the responsibility we have regarding 
the impact that our decisions and ac-
tions can have on the environment. 
That is why we have an environ-
mental management system as part 
of the Sustainability Model and the 
Environmental Management Plans 
of the power plants and projects, 
with the aim to identify, assess and 

9.10. SOCIO-ENVIRONMENTAL 
MANAGEMENT

Lines of
action of he

Sustainability 
Model related to
environmental
management

Water

Good
neighbor

Eco-efficiency Water
Its objective is to treat 
and look after water ba-
sins and vegetation cover 
around the operations, 
from provision and use 
to disposal or drainage. 
This includes actions 
for conserving the water 
resource and biodiversity 
and reforestation. 

manage the impact and ensure ful-
fillment of the legal requirements, as 
well as other actions implemented 
voluntarily, promoting in the areas 
of influence harmonious relations 
with the stakeholders through ful-
fillment of commitments, inter-in-
stitutional work, joint management 
and community self-management, 
the conditions necessary for sus-
tainable development in the regions 
where we operate.

Eco-efficiency
Its objective is to gener-
ate action to progressively 
reduce the negative im-
pact of the environment 
as part of the climate 
change policies and 
sensible use of resources, 
responsible use of energy, 
management of emis-
sions and waste disposal.

Good Neighbor
Its objective is relations 
with the communities of 
the areas of influence 
during the planning, 
construction and opera-
tion of the generation 
and distribution assets, 
with the aim to improve 
the quality of life of their 
residents, contribute to 
social development and 
generate an environment 
of trust and support. The 
matters it focuses on 
are: access to electricity, 
restoring living condi-
tions of the affected 
population, community 
development and pro-
moting education.

Salvajina Fish Farming Project, Suárez / Morales
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We used the ISO 14001:2004 stan-
dard as a reference to develop the 
environmental management sys-
tems. The certification is valid for 
EPSA, the Meriléctrica Power Plant 
and Celsia's headquarters. All of the 
organization has an established en-
vironmental policy, which aims to 
incorporate environmental manage-
ment into operations and projects, so 
that they sustainably generate value.

The organization manages the 
environmental effects in the whole 
cycle of the projects, from feasibil-
ity analysis to operations, ensuring 
operational efficiency with minimal 
impact. This management is car-
ried out through the environmental 
impact studies that establish the ac-
tions in each plan to prevent, offset, 
correct and/or mitigate the identi-
fied environmental impact. These 
actions are reported to the compe-
tent authority for their follow-up. 

It also has emergency plans in 
which threats are identified that 
may be generated by environmental 
contingencies and the response, re-
port and follow-up mechanism. 

The organization also has pro-
visions that list the controls on 
environmental and social issues 
that must be fulfilled in each hir-
ing process, which are delivered in 
the purchase process. In EPSA, we 
highlight the compliance with the 
obligations of project environmen-
tal licenses (Alférez II Substation 
and Alférez I Line) and power plant 
environmental management plans, 

Celsia Policy:  
"We are an energy company that acts responsibly regarding the environ-
ment, which complies with current environmental legislation and is
committed to protecting the environment and natural resources in
the area of influence of our power plants. We do this through the
efficient use of resources, control of environmental effects and improve-
ment of the environmental design of our operations; managing negative 
environmental effects, reducing them when technically and economically 
feasible, and fostering positive effects." 

as well as the progress in prior con-
sultations for projects: 
• Cucuana-Mirolindo Line
• Bahía Substation and Line.
• Environmental management 

plans of the Bajo Anchicayá and 
Salvajina power plants.

As an addition to the socio-
environmental management, the 
organization has made progress in 
the PCB (polychlorinated biphenyl) 
management plan and in the agree-
ments with entities to join efforts 
for conservation and community 
development. They promote good 
practices throughout the processes' 
value chain.

To strategically align environ-
mental and social management 
in the organization, we made an 
analysis that identified the current 
situation and established a plan for 
improvement with which the new 
challenges will be faced, with the 
following central themes:
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SOCIO-ENVIRON-
MENTAL MANAGE-

MENT IMPROVEMENT 
PLAN 2014-2016

Strengthening of human resources for 
socio-environmental management

Environmental
and Social Policies

Voluntary social 
investment

Environmental 
and social 
regulation

Communications 
strategy

Environmental
Management System

Eco-efficiency

Information, 
monitoring 
and follow-up 
systems

Sustainability cultureAdaption to climate 
change

Social
characterization

Environmen-
tal risks

PERFORMANCE

The following achievements related 
to the Environmental Management 
System were made in 2013:
• Installation of silencers and noise 

reduction screens in the Zona 
Franca Celsia Plant's equipment, 
as a strategy to mitigate noise 
emissions.

• Measurement of the baseline of 
the corporate carbon footprint.

• Structuring of the work plan for 
the coordination of the Sustain-
ability Model with the organiza-
tion's environmental and social 
obligations.

• Energy efficiency plan in the 
auxiliary services of the Zona 
Franca Celsia Power Plant with 
improvements in auxiliary equip-
ment, change of blades, thermal 
isolation and optimization in the 
operation of recirculation pumps.

• Study of flora and fauna in the 

epiphyte populations in the San 
Andrés Project, located in San An-
drés de Cuerquia, Antioquia.

• Study of fauna and flora in Zona 
Franca Celsia.

• Conservation and efficient use of 
water and energy.

• Forest management plan of the 
transmission lines.

• Comprehensive waste manage-
ment

• Biodiversity studies and actions 
for its conservation

• Construction of infrastructure for 
the production of cleaner energy.

• Monitoring of hydro-biological 
resources in water sources that 
supply the power plants.

• Restoration of deteriorated areas.
• Sediment management.
• Noise control and control of other 

situations that affect the physical, 
biotic and socio-cultural conditions 
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in the area of influence of the busi-
nesses' operations.

• Sustainable mobility.
• The new organizational design 

was implemented and launched, 
which is characterized by a new 
way of prioritizing and organizing 
the functions and strategic objec-
tives, which allowed the strength-
ening of the professional team of 
Celsia's Environmental and Social 
Management, allowing uniform 
action, based on corporate sus-
tainability criteria. It also allowed 
for environmental management 
to be directly carried out by the 
organization's personnel, without 
intermediaries.

• EPSA included socio-environ-
mental management in the strate-
gic approach, in which new objec-
tives were established:

• The monitoring network of cli-
matic and environmental vari-
ables in Celsia power plants was 
designed.

• The design of the geographical 

OBJECTIVE 
1

OBJEC-
TIVE 
2

Comply with environmental legislation and pro-
gressively reduce the impact on the environment, 
identifying and applying regulations and respect-
ing the obligations of the authorities.

Build a sustainable development orientated com-
pany through programs that promote conservation, 
sustainable management of natural resources and 
biodiversity and community relations, with the aim 
to improve quality of life, contribute to develop-
ment and build trust.

information system was started, 
which will be aligned with the 
monitoring network of climatic 
and environmental variables, with 
the legal requirements and with 
our social and environmental 
management programs.

• ISO 14001-2004 recertification of 
the Environmental Management 
System of the Meriléctrica Power 
Plant and headquarters, without a 
non-compliance report.

The environmental costs, expenses 
and investments made by Celsia and 
EPSA over the last four years are 
listed below

OBJECTIVE 
2

Hidromontañitas Power Plant, Donmatías
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Environmental Costs, Expenses and Investments 
- Celsia (Millions of Colombian Pesos) 2012 2013

Investments and management of waste and sub-products COP 766 COP 127
Investments and control of atmospheric emissions COP 56 COP 14
Investments and noise control NA COP 935
Investments and drainage control NA COP 93
Management of Environmental Management System COP 999 COP 1,221
Environmental education and training COP 16 COP 15
Environmental certifications NA COP 33
Other: permits, processes with the environmental authority COP 155 COP 125

Total environmental costs, expenses and investments COP 1,992 COP 2,563

Environmental Costs, Expenses and Invest-
ments EPSA (Millions of Colombian Pesos) 2010 2011 2012 2013

Investments and management of waste and sub-products

Consolidated
information 
is presented

Consolidated
information
is presented

COP 366 COP 132
Investments and control of atmospheric emissions

They were included 
under "External Envi-
ronmental Services"

COP 161
Investments and noise control

Investments and drainage control
They were included 

under "External Envi-
ronmental Services"

Management of Environmental Management System COP 4,851 COP 3,383
Environmental responsibility insurance NA COP 4
Environmental education and training NA COP 50
External environmental services COP 6,723 COP 2,358
Environmental certifications NA COP 37
Investigation and development NA COP 1,200

Additional costs to install
cleaner technology NA COP 1,435

Other: permits, processes with the environmental 
authority COP 42 COP 301

Total environmental costs, expenses
and investments COP 4,227 COP 13,226 COP 11,982 COP 9,061

[EN31]

COP 9,061 million
EPSA 

COP 2,563 million 
Celsia Environmental costs, expenses 

and investments in 2013
Environmental costs, expenses 
and investments in 2013
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Biodiversity
The main impact on biodiversity in 
the power generation business is in 
the construction phase of the power 
plants, due to:
• The change in the use of soil be-

cause of the alteration or disap-
pearance of vegetation cover.

• Decrease of the area of natural 
habitats

• Changes in the wealth and abun-
dance of species.

• Alteration of the trophic network
Energy distribution has an im-

pact related to ecosystems, espe-
cially on vegetation, given that they 
require pruning of the vegetation, 
which affects the landscape, gener-
ates vegetation waste and decreases 
plant populations.

An environmental impact assess-
ment (EIA) is carried out to iden-
tify the environmental effects. The 
studies include inventories of the 
flora and fauna susceptible to be-
ing affected by the project and the 
environmental impact generated. 
These are managed through the 
Environmental Management Plan 
(EMP), which has programs for re-
forestation, restoration and control 
of the quality of air, water, soil and 
the social environment, which are 
designed to prevent, mitigate and 
monitor changes to the natural con-
ditions of resources in the projects' 
area of influence.

The majority of the organiza-
tion's power plants are located in ar-
eas with high atrophic intervention 
and although they have a wealth of 
fauna and flora characteristic of the 
rural areas of Colombian territory, 
they are not part of protected areas. 
Only the Alto and Bajo Anchicayá 
power plants are in the area of the 
Farallones National Natural Park, 
which EPSA supports in conserva-
tion activities.

In 2013, Celsia carried out the 
inventory of flora and fauna in the 
vicinity of its Barranquilla Plant as 
part of the environmental studies 
for the installation of a fuel supply 
system. Furthermore, in the area of 
the San Andrés Project, studies we 
carried out on fauna, vegetation and 
epiphytes in oak wood in agreement 
with the Botanical Garden of Medel-
lin, as part of the environmental li-
censing process. [G4-16]

Epidendrum Tigriphyllum, San Andrés de Cuerquia
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From the analysis of the San An-
drés Project, a total of 163 species 
were recorded, out of which, 99 are 
vascular plants and 64 are non-vas-
cular plants, which shows the high 
degree of diversity of epiphytes in 
the place. Furthermore, the state 
of threat of all the plant species re-
corded on the International Union 
for Conservation of Nature Red List 
of Threatened Species (IUCN 2013) 
was reviewed. 

Zona Franca Celsia Fauna Inventory.

Amphibian Species

and 30 individuals 
recorded

and 111 individuals 
recorded

and 219 individuals 
recorded

and 128 individuals 
recorded

Reptile Species Bird Species Mammal Species

5 7918 16

PROJECT AREA:
14.2 hectares

Management
plan for rescue

Presence of
oak, tree fern,

orchids
and mosses

163 species of 
plants identified

64 species
of mosses

and lichens

Marmosa Robinsoni, Barranquilla
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At EPSA, the actions include contin-
uous monitoring of flora and fauna 
and hydro-biological resources; fish 
restocking, ecological restoration 
and other strategic conservation 
areas; training and measures such 
as the installation of higher posts, 
ecological cable and change of the 
sections of networks in strategic 
ecosystems for adequate forest man-
agement. The work coordinated in 

the inter-institutional roundtable 
stands out, where guidelines were 
agreed with different institutions 
for wildlife conservation in the area 
of the Calima Hydroelectric Plant 
and progress was made in the eco-
logical restoration process with wax 
palm in Cucuana, which will con-
tinue in 2014, with the research with 
Universidad del Tolima for forest 
restoration.

16 31323 57

of 6 families, out of which, 
15 are frog and

toad species (Anura)
and just one

is a salamander species

of 8 families
of the Squamata

order

representing
22 orders and

56 families

belonging to
9 orders and
24 families

Priority Areas for Con-
servation
• Declaration of pro-

tected areas
• Management of wild 

flora and fauna
• Connectivity of frag-

mented forest

Ecological Restoration
• Isolation and refores-

tation
• Implementation of 

production systems 
that reduce pressure 
on the forest

• Recovery of forest 
protection borders

Environmental Educa-
tion and Sustainable 
Development
• Actions through the 

municipal environmen-
tal education program 
for the management of 
sustainable conserva-
tion of the reservoir 
and its related flora 
and fauna

• Strengthen ecologi-
cal and sustainable 
tourism

Lines of Action
Flora and Fauna Conservation Lines

Compilation of the flora and fauna studies carried out in the habitat and fauna research program associated 
with the Calima Hydroelectric Plant in 2005 to 2013.

Amphibian Species Reptile Species Bird Species Mammal Species

Flora and Fauna Inventory in Calima.
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Social Management
For Celsia and EPSA social invest-
ment in the communities of the areas 
of influence is connected to the orga-
nization's Sustainability Model, with-
in the good neighbor approach. On 
the one hand, this approach comes 
from the Environmental Manage-
ment Plans which are mandatory and 
on the other hand, it comes from the 
company's voluntary commitment 
through EPSA's Socio-environmen-
tal Management, as well as the Celsia 
and EPSA foundations. 

Similarly, in the framework of 
the good neighbor approach, with 
the objective to help improve the 
communities' living conditions, the 
Celsia and EPSA foundations invest 
in projects aimed at strengthen-
ing and developing capacity in the 
education sector and in grass-roots 
organizations. For this purpose, the 
foundations implement their ac-
tions through the lines of education, 
community development and insti-
tutional donations.

The objective of the education 
line is to help improve the education 
sector is basic primary and second-
ary education. The second line, base 

FUNDAMENTAL 
VALUES FOR

SOCIAL
MANAGEMENT

Respect

Improvement
of quality of life

Inclusion

Access to electricity

Participation

Community 
development

Recognition of ethnic
and cultural diversity

Promotion of education

development, aims to strengthen 
the communities' self-management 
capacity so that they are agents of 
their own development. 

Within the organization's poli-
cies of hiring providers, as well as 
new employees, priority is given to 
local hiring of personnel who com-
ply with the necessary requirements 
for the work, according to the job 
specifications.

The organization is present 
in seven departments of the 
country.

The company invests in all the areas 
of influence.

Lines of Work and Actions for 
the Communities' Development 
In 2013, the organization directed 
its social management action at 
the good neighbor focus lines.

PERFORMANCE

LINES OF WORK
IN SOCIAL

MANAGEMENT



OUR PERFORMANCE

122 Celsia \ Integrated Report \ 2013

Improvement of Quality of Life
Informal education was encour-
aged with training of community 
leaders on topics such as project 
formulation, leadership and enter-
prise, generating better capacity in 
local organizations. Infrastructure 
projects and social equipment pro-
cesses were also carried out, with 
which the regions' environments 
were improved. Examples of this 
are the road improvements, health 
centers, educational institutions and 
community centers. Finally, health 
promotion and prevention brigades 
were implemented which benefited 
10,678 people. [EC-7], [EC-8]

Access to Electricity 
• We worked with the national and/

or local government for the elec-
trification of communities located 
in rural areas. 

• We invested our own resources in 
the extension of networks; works 
that in 2013 benefited approxi-
mately 2,900 families.

Community Development
Through the social-environmental 
management of Celsia and EPSA, 
different programs were developed 
with rural communities on pro-
duction topics of food security and 
protection of the water basins and 
production plots of land, which ben-
efited 550 families. Additionally, the 
formation and operation of four en-
vironmental oversight committees 
was approved and the construction 
of participatory ethnic development 
plans was supported. In turn, Fun-
dación EPSA implemented fourteen 
projects under the Base Develop-
ment methodology, which promoted 
the strengthening of community or-
ganization on the topics: life skills, 
production and sale of the organi-
zation's products, conflict resolu-
tion, leadership, management and 
accounting. 

Promotion of Education
The organization and foundations 
invested in the improvement of the 
education infrastructure to achieve 
a better learning environment for 
children. 76,572 students benefited 
from the provision of school kits 
and cultural, sports and recreational 
programs. The foundations also sup-
ported nine projects with emphasis 
on improving the teachers' teaching 
capacity, strengthening school man-
agement and the curriculum. All of 
these programs also respond to the 

Community Relations, Jericó
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weaknesses and needs of the orga-
nization's areas of influence identi-
fied in the Analysis of the Education 
Sector carried out in 2013 with an 
external firm.

Fundación Celsia prioritizes its 
actions on education, which aims to 
help improve this sector in primary 
education and high school through 
strengthening projects and partici-
pating in the debate of local and na-
tional public policy. Furthermore, 
through institutional donations, 
organizations preferably from the 
education sector were supported. 
In turn, Fundación EPSA works 
on two strategic lines: education, 
which aims to generate impact on 
improving the quality of education 
in the organization's areas of influ-
ence, and community development, 
which is directed at strengthening 
the capacity of community organi-
zations so that they are active agents 
in their own development.

In 2013, Fundación Celsia car-
ried out an analysis of the education 
sector in the operating plants' areas 
of influence and invested COP 3,777 
million in the implementation of 12 
projects to strengthen the quality of 
education in these areas, with which 
it benefited 4,904 families and more 
than 12,350 students and teachers. 
Additionally, through institutional 
donations, the foundation support-
ed 44 entities and benefited 10,712 
more people with a total of 23,062 
beneficiaries. 

On the other hand, in 2013, Fun-
dación EPSA invested COP 2,357 
million in education and commu-
nity development and carried out 25 
projects in the power plants' areas 

of influence to benefit 38,493 people 
and 512 families who participated 
in the different community proj-
ects. Furthermore, it carried out an 
analysis of the education sector in 
its power plants areas of influence, 
facilitating assertiveness and rele-
vance in the implementation of said 
projects. 

Both foundations structured the 
“Corazones con Energía (Hearts 
with Energy)" corporate volunteer-
ing with the active participation 
of Celsia and EPSA employees and 
their families. This benefited 9,120 
people, with an investment of COP 
184, as well as the donation in kind 
of Christmas boxes for children of 
the neighboring communities of the 
operation centers, by the employees 
of both companies.

COP 11,542 
million

COP 4,584 
million

was invested by EPSA in social 
programs in 2013

was invested by Celsia in social 
programs in 2013

Student of CER La Viña, Jericó
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Community relations are carried 
out through the leaders of com-
munity organizations and agents 
of the education sector to collec-
tively build the projects that will 
be developed. As lessons, the nego-
tiation processes with these stake-
holders requires great effort in the 
identification of the individual fea-
tures of each social group, as well 
as the most feasible alternatives to 
respond to their requests. Special 
importance must be given to the 
negotiation areas.

This networking is based on the 
corporate principles that adopt re-
spect for multiculturalism and eth-
nic pluralism, social inclusion and 
equality, sustainability and support 
of community processes.

The socio-environmental man-
agement teams met with all the 
communities in their areas of influ-
ence together with the social advi-
sors of each power plant or station. 
These meetings were carried out ac-
cording to the annual work plans or 
upon the community's request.

Investment in communities (Millions of 
Colombian Pesos) 2012 2013

Celsia COP 3,168 COP 4,584
EPSA COP 5,726 COP 11,542
Total COP 8,894 COP 16,126

Investment in Communities in Number of 
Beneficiaries 2012 2013

Celsia 37,691 63,594
EPSA 68,355 133,538
Total 106,046 197,132

Investments by Voluntary and 
Mandatory Components (Mil-
lions of Colombian Pesos)

2011 2012 2013

Celsia EPSA Celsia EPSA Celsia EPSA

Improvement of quality of life N/AV N/AV COP 0

COP 4,412

COP 0 COP 3,052

Access to electricity N/AV N/AV COP 0 COP 0 COP 1,466

Community development N/AV N/AV COP 0 COP 0 COP 1,340

Promotion of education COP 2,893 N/AV COP 2,482 COP 3,778 COP 2,424

Social investment EMP 
(Environmental Management Plans) N/AV N/AV COP 686 COP 1,314 COP 806 COP 3,259

Total COP 2,893 N/AV COP 3,168 COP 5,726 COP 4,584 COP 11,542

N/AV: Not available

Community Relations

[EC-7]

[EC8] The lessons learned through 
community relations are:
• Open and transparent communi-

cation generates bonds of mutual 
trust.

• Collective planning of actions is 
essential for the management's 
success.

• Respect for the dynamics of each 
community and valuing ancestral 
knowledge and the knowledge of 
new generations strengthens com-
munity relations.

In 2013, the
organization invested 

COP 16,125 million
in the communities, 
benefiting 197,132 

people.



O9

125www.celsia.com

Number of Beneficiaries from Voluntary and 
Mandatory Components

2012 2013

Celsia EPSA Celsia EPSA
Improvement of quality of life 0

No informa-
tion

0 68,553
Access to electricity 0 0 3,468
Community development 0 0 3,098
Promotion of education 20,103 23,062 53,510

Total social investment EMP
(Environmental Management Plans) 17,588 40,532 4,909

Total 37,691 63,594 133,538

Investments by Environmental Management 
Plans -EMP (Millions of Colombian Pesos)

2012 2013
Celsia EPSA Celsia EPSA

Prior consultation processes N/AV N/AV N/AV COP 1,953
Community development N/AV N/AV N/AV COP 10
Improvement of quality of life N/AV N/AV N/AV COP 1,296
Total COP 686 COP 1,314 COP 806 COP 3,259

Number of Beneficiaries from Environmental 
Management Plans (Mandatory)

2012 2013

Celsia EPSA Celsia EPSA
Prior consultation processes

NI NI NI
0

Community development 1,075
Improvement of quality of life 3,834
Total 18,583 N/AV 40,532 4,909

NI: Not itemized

N/AV: Not available

Number of Beneficiaries of 
the Foundations

2012 2013

Celsia EPSA Celsia EPSA

Community development 0 2,698 0 2,048
Promotion of education 19,108 12,239 23,062 36,445
Total 19,108 14,937 23,062 38,493

Social Investment in 
Foundations (Millions 
of Colombian Pesos)

2011 2012 2013

Celsia EPSA Celsia EPSA Celsia EPSA

Community development N/AV COP 1,981 N/AV COP 953 COP 0 COP 1,190

Promotion of education N/AV COP 816 N/AV COP 797 COP 3,778 COP 1,167

Total COP 2,893 COP 2,797 COP 2,482 COP 1,750 COP 3,778 COP 2,357
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Celsia
(Millions of Colom-
bian Pesos)

2013

Cash

Volunteering 
value: hours of 

volunteering 
quantified to 

value cost/hour

Value in products 
or services (valued 

to the cost)

Other indirect 
expenses such as: 

transportation, logis-
tics, indirect costs, 

payroll, etc.

Total

Charity donations COP 2,416 COP 0 COP 242 COP 0 COP 2,658

Investments in 
the community COP 998 COP 0 COP 0 COP 122 COP 1,120

Community 
Investments COP 0 COP 0 COP 0 COP 0 0

Total COP 3,414 COP 0 COP 242 COP 122 COP 3,778

EPSA
(Millions of Co-
lombian Pesos)

2013

Cash

Volunteering 
value: hours of 

volunteering 
quantified to 

value cost/hour

Value in products 
or services (valued 

to the cost)

Other indirect 
expenses such as: 

transportation, logis-
tics, indirect costs, 

payroll, etc.

Total

Charity donations COP 459 COP 0 COP 0 COP 74 COP 533

Investments in 
the community COP 1,353 COP 0 COP 84 COP 387 COP 1,824

Community 
Investments COP 0 COP 0 COP 0 COP 0 COP 0

Total COP 1,812 COP 0 COP 84 COP 461 COP 2,357

Social Investment of the Foundations (Mil-
lions of Colombian Pesos)

2011 2012 2013

Celsia EPSA Celsia EPSA Celsia EPSA

Charitable donations (they are not recurring; they sup-
port causes according to needs) N/AV COP 1,465 COP 2,362 COP 501 COP 2,658 COP 533

Investments in the community (development plans 
with the community) N/AV COP 1,332 COP 0 COP 1,249 COP 1,120 COP 1,824

Commercial initiatives (initiatives that promote the 
brand in association with communities, foundations, 
charity, etc.)

N/AV COP 0 COP 120 COP 0 COP 0 COP 0

Total COP 2,893 COP 2,797 COP 2,482 COP 1,750 COP 3,778 COP 2,357

Number of Beneficiaries of the 
Foundations

2012 2013

Celsia EPSA Celsia EPSA

Charity donations 19,108 9,253 10,712 8,650
Investments in the community 0 5,684 12,350 29,843
Community Investments 0 0 0 0
Total 19,108 14,937 23,062 38,493

N/AV: Not available
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In the short term, Celsia will review 
and adjust the Environmental 
Management Plans (EMPs), which 
include environmental as well as 
social actions. Similarly, it plans 
the implementation of voluntary 
actions within the good neighbor 
focus, aimed at improving educa-
tion and community development 
in areas of influence. All of the 
above, paying special attention to 
the identification of the communi-
ties' needs.

Celsia's short-term goals are 
also to establish the geographical 
information system with socio-
environmental information of its 
plants and projects, incorporating 
the tool for decision-making into 
the business; to establish climate 

change and biodiversity policies in 
the organization; to make progress 
in the carbon footprint measure-
ment project; to make efficient use 
of energy and energy savings and to 
prepare the power stations' flora and 
fauna inventories. 

For EPSA, it is important to keep 
consolidating its social investment 
volunteer programs in the short 
term, continuing the negotiation 
exercise with the communities.

In 2014, the organization budget-
ed 14,000 million Colombian pesos 
for socio-environmental manage-
ment, aimed at complying with the 
Sustainability Policy. 

In the medium term, Celsia hopes 
to extend the certification in Colom-
bian Technical Standard NTC ISO 

WHERE ARE WE GOING?

Delivery of School Kits, Barranquilla
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14000 to all its plants. Currently, 
its Meriléctrica thermoelectric 
plant has said certificate. EPSA 
hopes to extend the certification in 
Colombian Technical Standard NTC 
ISO 14000 to its transport and 
sales processes. Currently, it has 
its generation process certified in 
all its power plants. 

In the medium term, the orga-
nization as a whole also plans to 
extend the ISO 14001-2004 certi-
fication in environmental manage-
ment systems to the generation 
plants that do not currently have 
it and to the energy transport and 
sales process to cover all of the 
business's value chain. 

Finally, in the short and me-
dium term, the Celsia and EPSA 
foundations aim to strengthen 
their presence in all of the orga-
nization's areas of influence to 
contribute to the improvement of 
the communities' quality of life, di-
recting efforts at the construction 
of own intervention methodologies, 
taking into account the specific 
features of their target population.

Environmental Complaints 

2010 2011 2012 2013

Celsia
Zona 

Franca 
Celsia

Celsia
Zona 

Franca 
Celsia

Celsia
Zona 

Franca 
Celsia

Celsia
Zona 

Franca 
Celsia

Number of environmental complaints received dur-
ing the reporting period 0 1 1 1 1 1 1 1

Number of environmental complaints resolved dur-
ing the reporting period (which were received in the 
same period)

0 0 1 1 1 0 1 1

Number of environmental complaints resolved dur-
ing the reporting period that were received prior to 
the reporting period

0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0

Total number of environmental complaints respond-
ed to and resolved during the reporting period 0 1 1 2 1 1 1 1

[EN-34]

Meriléctrica Power Plant, Barrancabermeja

For the indicated years, EPSA did not receive this kind of complaint
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As voluntary action in 2013, the or-
ganization made its inventory of 
Greenhouse Gases (GHGs) with 
2012 as the year of reference. This 
serves as information for the estab-
lishment and implementation of the 
climate change strategy and policy, 
as well as the emission reduction 
targets that will be adjusted in 2014. 
Additionally, we achieved that some 
power stations were certified under 
the Clean Development Scheme 
(CDM) in EPSA and under the Veri-

9.11. CLIMATE CHANGE AND
MANAGEMENT OF EMISSIONS [EN-15], [EN16]

fied Carbon Standard (VCS) scheme 
in Celsia, showing the organization's 
commitment to international agree-
ments such as the Kyoto Protocol 
and the voluntary schemes of the 
carbon market. 

The organization has participated in roundtables to structure the 
strategy for adaption to climate change of the National Planning 
Department (DNP in its Spanish acronym) and the Ministry of 
the Environment and Sustainable Development (MADS its Span-
ish acronym), and it has actively participated in the activities of 
the Colombian Low Carbon Development Strategy (CLCDS). 

PERFORMANCE

The organization has identified some 
of the most important risks associ-
ated with climate change that must be 
studied in upcoming years because of 
the effect they could come to have on 
the business:
• Decrease of the generation capacity 

or total loss of it
• Reduction of the capacity of the hy-

droelectric plants
• Denial of permits for the construc-

tion of new plants 
• Political and social instability

The actions developed by EPSA 
were focused on mitigation, the con-
trol of air quality and noise in the con-
struction projects and efficiency in 
the use of land and air transportation, 
as well as the efficiency and photovol-
taic energy project in the headquar-
ters of the Yumbo building, with an 
investment of COP 1,420 million. This 
project supports the sensible and effi-
cient use of energy, use of renewable 
sources of energy and modernization 
and updating of technology.

Regarding management of emis-
sions, the organization's thermo-
electric plants have latest-genera-
tion combustion turbines with the 
best world-class technology, with 
incorporated emission control sys-
tems such as water injection, steam 
injection and Dry Low N0x burners 
to ensure the control of atmospheric 
emissions and compliance with en-
vironmental regulations and World 
Bank requirements. It also carries 
out follow-up through monitors of 
air quality, where the emissions are 
always below the established limits. 

The organization's 
processes do not emit 
gases such as dioxins 
and furans and by 
generating with gas 
and/or liquids, par-
ticulate matter is not 
emitted.

Hydroelectric genera-
tion does not involve 
combustion and 
therefore, no emis-
sions are generated.

In the Energy Resource Optimization 
Program (PORE in its Spanish acro-
nym), we work with six unregulated 
clients, which have a total monthly 
consumption of 2.5 GWh and man-
aged to reduce it by 9.5% correspond-
ing to 0.24 GWh/month. In one year, 
this energy saving coordination de-
creases the emission of 283,000 kg 
of CO2 into the atmosphere, which is 
equivalent to reforesting 109 hectares, 
with a total of 400 trees per hectare. 

[EN7], [EN16]
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Emissions of Substances that 
Deplete the Ozone Layer

2010 2011 2012 2013

Celsia EPSA Celsia EPSA Celsia EPSA Celsia EPSA

ODS emissions in metric tons of CFC-11 0.015 N/AV 0.087 N/AV 0.119 N/AV 0.018 0.0022

N/AV: Not available

For this calculation, it is multiplied by factor 0.055, taken from the “UNITED NATIONS ENVIRONMENT PROGRAM, OZONE SECRE-
TARIAT”: Annex C: Controlled Substances”,  
Link: http://ozone.unep.org/new_site/sp/Treaties/treaties_decisions-hb.php?art_id=61 
The R11 and R22 hydroclorofluorocarbons losses from air conditioning are reported.

CELSIA EMISSION
REDUCTION TARGETS

for 2014 from the 
2012 emissions

Scope 1

Scope 2

Offset 5.2% of emis-
sions

Offset 100% of emis-
sions

Base year of the assessment: 2012

[EN15], [EN16]

[EN20]

1 Calculation of CO2 emissions using fuel consumption and Colombian Fuel Emission Factors (FECOC in its Spanish acronym), 
UPME, and the calculation of CH4 and N2O using emission factors of the IPCC 2006 Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas 
Inventories.

 Data of SF6 leaks in substations multiplied by the Global-Warming Potential of SF6.
 Data of gas emissions for extinguishers multiplied by the Global-Warming Potential. 
2 See: Appendix 8.A IPCC 5th Assessment Report p.1101, nitrogen oxide (265) and fossil methane (30) 
3 Energy consumption of installations multiplied by the emission factor for 1 kWh in Colombia, calculated using data of XM 

Expertos and the FECOC emission factors of the UPME.

Direct and Indirect GHG Emissions
2012

Celsia EPSA

Direct emissions TonCO2eq (1) 827,835 3,911

 [EN7] Direct emissions of GHG TonCO2eq (2) 827,835 3,911

Indirect emissions TonCO2eq (3) (without considering the trade of emission 
rights, i.e., the purchase, sale or transfer of rights and offsets) 3,948 29,736

[EN16] Indirect emissions of GHG TonCO2eq 3,948 29,736
Direct and indirect emissions of GHG TonCO2eq 831,783 33,647

In 2014, these emissions will be calculated for 2013
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NA: Not applicable 

The 2012 figures have been re-expressed after the previous report, according 
to a change in the methodology used in the initial assessment of greenhouse 
gas emissions. [G4-22]

Emissions of Other Atmospher-
ic Pollutants 2011 2012 2013

Description of the Procedure Used 
to Estimate emissions and the 
Source of the Factors Used

Total emissions of SOx in kilograms 211,389 37,316 51,250

The flow was taken from the monitoring re-
port in reference conditions. It was multiplied 
by the concentration and hours of operation 
in the year and the respective conversion was 
made to kg.

Total emissions of NOx in kilograms 967,291 933,234 953,210

Total emissions of PM in kilograms 5,722 27,498 58,635

Total POP emissions (consider dioxin 
and furans) in kilograms NA NA NA

Total SF6 emissions in kilograms 5 5 37.87

Total direct mercury emissions in 
kilograms 0 0 0

Total emissions of ash and plaster 
dust in kilograms NA NA NA

Total other emissions in kilograms 
(or multiples of kilograms)

1,184,407 998,053 1,063,133

The organization is implement-
ing risk assessment and the evalua-
tion of opportunities derived from 
climate change. For this, as part of 
the strategy, it is implementing the 
system of measuring hydro-climatic 
and environmental variables, with 
the aim to build its own historical se-
ries that allows it to model phenom-

ena and use these results to support 
decision making in new projects, ex-
pansion of installed capacity and the 
energy market, etc. 

The system was designed in 2013 
for the Celsia plants and its imple-
mentation and operation will start 
in 2014, while EPSA will start to de-
sign the network in 2014.

[EN21]
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Objective 
Implement a power charging system for medium-power electric vehicles and experi-
mentally estimate the impact of said charging on our electricity network. Also, study 
the mobility variables of the electric vehicle and develop a business model support-
ed with a marketing plan and structure a pilot electric bus for mass transportation.

Objective 
Start one of the country's biggest solar 
power generation pilot projects and the 
first to be nationally implemented, with-
in international assessment standards, 
and follow up photovoltaic solar sys-
tems, experimenting with three kinds 
of solar capture technology. To achieve 
this, 294 modules were installed that 
have a capacity of 61.64 kWp (kilowatt 
peak) to provide 5% of the building's 
electricity.

The efficient use and automation of 
high energy consumption equipment, 
such as air conditioning, will ensure 
compliance with the performance indi-
cators of the photovoltaic solar system.

Result 
As a result of this initiative, we have four 
electric vehicles and four motorbikes that 
we have validated in Medellín, Barranquil-
la and Valle del Cauca, and three electric 
vehicle charging stations in the buildings 
in El Recreo, Pance and Yumbo.
Net reduction of emissions in kg CO2eq 
≥2,680. The net reduction of emis-
sions is compared to an internal 
combustion car.

Result 
The building's operation throughout 
the year requires power consumption 
of 2,267,003 kWh/year, compared 
to the consumption pattern of 
2,284,258 kWh/year, producing 
global savings of 0.8%, which is 
equivalent to a net reduction in the 
cost of energy of COP 4.0 million.

For the environment, the savings we 
have made represent having prevent-
ed the release of twelve tons of CO2 
into the atmosphere, equivalent to 
the planting of thirteen trees holding 
carbon for twenty years.

Net reduction of emissions in tons 
CO2eq = 1 (scope 2)

Notes 
The average consumption ratio of each 
electric car that Celsia and EPSA have 
is 16 kWh per 120 km. The use of the 
two vehicles and the amount of gaso-
line that they would have used if they 
were Chevrolet Spark were taken as the 
basis for the reduction calculation.

Base year for calculation 
2013

Base year for 
calculation 
2013

ELECTRIC
TRANSPORTATION 

PROJECT

ENERGY EFFICIENCY 
AND RENEWABLE ENERGY 
IN THE YUMBO BUILDING

[EN-19]

The investment in the 
photovoltaic project is

This laboratory also has a data acquisi-
tion system that allows monitoring via the 
system's internet, and a hydro-climatic 
station with the aim to investigate the 
modules' performance in cases of high 
levels of pollution, as well as the radia-
tion trends in the implementation site.

The project is based on three pillars: 
• Sensible and efficient use of energy
• Use of renewable sources of energy
• Modernization and update of technology.

This project allows us:
• To evolve in the production of clean 

energy through the implementation 
of a pilot project with the sun as the 
main source of energy

• To make ourselves visible as a com-
pany that is nationally at the cutting 
edge of new technology applications 
and that promotes social and envi-
ronmental responsibility as part of its 
strategic definition 

COP 1,420 
million
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Celsia continuously assesses the 
behavior of climatic variables as 
part of its market strategy to estab-
lish possible trends for the short, 
medium and long term, based on 
national and international hydrome-
teorological information.

For the organization, it is essen-
tial to have specific information on 
the basins where it has its plants. 
That is why, from 2013, it is imple-
menting the system of recording 
water, climatic and environmental 

This project, together with other ele-
ments such as the tool of the World 
Business Council for Sustainable 
Development (WBCSD) to establish 
levels of water stress and measure-
ment of the water footprint that will 
be made in 2014, together with 
the national work of the Colombia 
Institute of Hydrology, Meteorology 
and Environmental Studies (IDEAM) 
(National Water Study), will allow 
supervision to be maintained of the 
risks associated with shortages in 
the plants and communities and 
how to manage them.

Celsia will focus on establishing 
carbon footprint offset measures to 
establish in the medium and long 
term and to establish additional 

WHERE ARE WE GOING?
variables in each one of its power 
plants. This information, together 
with the regional information is 
incorporated in the Water Research 
and Forecasting latest-generation 
mesoscale model, which will allow 
the organization to forecast the 
influx volume of its plants, with pre-
diction windows of up to three days 
for operation and greater periods 
for prediction.

The following graph illustrates the 
data capture and processing system:

actions regarding the use of fossil 
fuels and greenhouse gas emis-
sions, which will influence climate 
change. Similarly, it will dedicate 
itself to the incorporation of the 
socio-environmental component in 
business processes to increase the 
operational efficiency and sustain-
ability of these processes.

The actions that EPSA will imple-
ment in upcoming years will be fo-
cused on mitigation, managing SF6 
to reduce losses, increasing energy 
efficiency in the headquarters of 
the Yumbo building through solar 
panels, automation of air condition-
ing and efficiency in the use of land 
and air transportation. Actions will 
also be developed aimed at com-

pensation and adaption through 
forest conservation and monitor-
ing climatic variation. Similarly, 
the studies of the electric mobility 
project will be continued.

1 2 3 4

Capture
(Client

production sites)
(Personnel 

responsible for the 
process)

(Added value)
Process Visualize

Feedback in 
real time
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Through the sustainability model 
and its focus on eco-efficiency, the 
organization marks its commitment 
to responsibly use energy, adequate-
ly manage its emissions and com-
prehensively manage solid waste.

Responsible Use of Energy
This year, energy consumption re-
duction projects were implemented 
in the Zona Franca Plant and in 
EPSA. Regarding the energy ef-
ficiency of products and services, 
EPSA develops a series of efforts 
directed at residential consumers on 
energy savings.

9.12. ECO-EFFICIENCY

PERFORMANCE

The total consumption of energy from non-re-
newable sources such as natural gas for energy 
generation and diesel fuel for engines and gaso-
line in the organization in 2013 was 13,015,070 GJ, 
mainly for emergency and auxiliary plants. 

10,306,488

7,964,858

8,874,643

12,877,878

35,363 38,576 49,040 137,192

2010
2011

2012
2013

Energy Consumption inside the Organization (GJ) 

Celsia I EPSA 

Zona Franca Celsia Power Plant, Barranquilla
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Energy Consumption inside the 
Organization in GJ - Celsia 2010 2011 2012 2013

Total energy consumption 10,306,488 7,964,858 8,874,643 12,877,878

Primary energy acquired from non-
renewable sources 16,444,641 13,270,696 14,755,129 22,429,402

Consumption of diesel fuel for engines 27,885 28,591 702,697 1,002,140
Gasoline consumption 41 41 41 41
Natural gas consumption 16,416,716 13,242,064 14,052,391 21,427,221

Electricity generated 0 6 5 11
Electricity purchased 30,106 88,962 101,667 79,933
Total energy sold 6,241,219 6,024,007 6,725,771 10,726,557

Energy Consumption inside the 
Organization in GJ - EPSA 2010 2011 2012 2013 Description of the Procedure Used to 

Estimate Consumption

Total energy consumption 35,363 38,576 49,040 137,192
Direct primary energy acquired from 
non-renewable sources 371 1,496 14,948 27,059

Consumption of diesel fuel for engines 42 679 7,859.16 14,527.73 Power stations, distribution and headquarters

Diesel consumption (if it is differenti-
ated from diesel fuel for engines) 0 0 24.48 0

Gasoline consumption 34 512 5,366.89 11,823.70 Power stations, distribution and headquarters
Consumption of industrial oil 0 0 1,399.97 0

Consumption of GLP 295 305 297.4 707.55 Hydroelectric plants
Alto Anchicayá and Calima

Electricity generated 0 0 0 62,118
Electricity purchased 34,992 37,080 34,092 48,015
Total energy sold 13,070,014 15,689,265 11,661,052 11,723,971

Energy Intensity Celsia 2010 2011 2012 2013

Total energy consumption 
in GJ 10,306,488 7,964,858 8,874,643 12,877,878

Energy generated (sold) in 
kWh 1,861,697,304 1,673,335,307 1,868,269,700 2,979,599,228

Energy intensity GJ/kWh of 
energy sold 5.54E-03 4.76E-03 4.75E-03 4.32E-03

Energy Intensity EPSA 2010 2011 2012 2013

Total energy consumption 
in GJ 35,363 38,576 49,040 137,192

Energy generated (sold) in 
kWh 3,557,240,572 4,277,568,574 3,170,260,604 3,190,438,617

Energy intensity GJ/kWh of 
energy sold 9.9E-06 9.0E-06 1.5E-05 4.3E-05

This indicator reflects 
the company's efforts 
to be more efficient 
in energy generation, 
in which it has 
significantly improved 
in the last three years.

[EN5]

[EN3]

The procedure used for 
estimating consumption 

is carried out through 
counters and software 
(information systems).
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The greatest change was between 
the indicator of 2010 and 2011, due 
to the start up of the combined cycle 
Flores IV plant. Similarly, improve-
ment has been made up to 2013, be-
cause of the stabilization of the cycle 
and the dispatch of greater charges 
and the energy saving programs 
started in January 2013.

Due to the installation of solar 
panels in the Yumbo headquarters 
in the second semester of 2013, 
EPSA obtained a reduction in the 
consumption of direct primary en-
ergy consumption acquired from 
renewable sources of 18 GJ (the base 
year of the measurement is 2013). 
Celsia also made a reduction in the 
consumption of direct primary en-
ergy from non-renewable sources of 
21,748.28 GJ in Zona Franca Celsia 
in auxiliary equipment, recircula-
tion water pump operation and 
water plant variable speed drives. 
Similarly, energy savings were made 
by controlling unnecessary lighting, 
which was achieved through the en-
ergy saving culture. We achieved the 
reduction target which was 2% in 
the consumption of auxiliary equip-
ment. [EN6]

In 2013, the total energy con-
sumption of auxiliary equipment for 

Zona Franca Celsia was 88,806,880 
kWh, therefore, the 2% reduction 
target was 1,776,138 kWh. However, 
the reduction was 6,041,189 kW, i.e., 
the target was exceeded by 240%.

The calculation of these reduc-
tions was made based on direct mea-
sures of the equipment before and 
after applying the program. For ex-
ample, if a 250 volt bulb is changed 
for a 75 volt energy-saving bulb, the 
saving obtained is the difference 
multiplied by the time for which 
said bulb remains lit.

In other cases, such as the recir-
culation pump of the cooling system 
of Flores IV, it was proven that a 
single pump is capable of recirculat-
ing the necessary amount of water. 
Therefore, one of the pumps that 
operated in parallel was taken out 
of service, reducing consumption 
by approximately 1,800 kWh, shown 
by the reduction in the consump-
tion of energy used in the genera-
tion process measured in a counter. 
The total savings of this action are 
the result of multiplying the hourly 
reduction by the time of implemen-
tation. In 2014, actions were execut-
ed to increase the reliability of the 
pump that remained in service.

kWh Reduced vs. 2013 
Target

Reductio
n

Target

6,041,189

1,776,138

5.54E-03

4.76E-03

4.75E-03

4.32E-03

2010
2011

2012
2013

Celsia 

Energy Intensity in GJ/kWh – Celsia

CT4 starts 
operations

Optimization of savings pro-
cesses and programs
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The organization developed other 
activities to reduce energy consump-
tion. The main activities in Celsia 
were: 
• Change of lighting in some power 

stations
• Operation with recirculation pump 

in Flores IV
• Change of the variable speed drives 

in the inverse osmosis pumps in 
water plant

• Campaign to change culture toward 
energy saving.

In 2013, in EPSA, projects were de-
veloped focused on the reduction of 
consumption as an example of re-
sponsible management. The compa-
ny carried out the following activities:
• Automation of the central air-con-

ditioning system in its headquarters
• Installation of a photovoltaic system
• Implementation of an energy ef-

ficiency system for the optimiza-
tion of energy use in the building

• Renewal of lighting technology
• Installation of sensors for lighting 

according to the use of commu-
nal areas, such as meeting rooms, 
bathrooms, café area, etc.

• Change of air-conditioning equip-
ment for more efficient technolo-
gy, with which it was achieved that 
the building's operation in ended 
2013 with an energy consump-
tion of 2,267,003 kWh/year, com-
pared to the consumption trend 
of 2,284,258 kWh/year, generating 
global savings of 0.8%.

Energy Efficiency
of Products and Services
Regarding the energy efficiency pro-
grams we carry out with our clients, 
we have been developing [EN7]: 
• Delivery of 2,500 energy-saving 

light bulbs to clients
• Remodeling of 149 families' inter-

nal networks
• Training of 6,071 users on effi-

cient energy use
• Installation of 270 macro-mea-

surements for low voltage
• Normalization of the measure-

ment of 1,318 notified clients
• Change of 20 MI/MS meters.
• Normalization of the network near 

the San Pedro Claver and Diablos 
Rojos parks and the main park of 
the San Pedro Municipality.

The energy efficiency
programs in the building
of the Yumbo headquarters 
generated global savings
of 0.8% in energy
consumption in 2013.

Zona Franca Celsia Power Plant Employee, Barranquilla
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Drainage and Waste
The organization continues to work 
on comprehensive waste manage-
ment focused on waste reduction and 
strengthening actions to improve the 
separation of harmful and non-harm-
ful waste, with temporary storage and 
final disposal with agents adapted to 
the legal guidelines. The work car-
ried out with ANDESCO (National 
Association of Public Utility Compa-

nies) and the IDEAM is stands out in 
the approval of regulations or stan-
dards for the adequate management 
of polychlorinated biphenyl (PCB), 
as well as the progress in the imple-
mentation of actions for compliance 
with the new regulations that aim to 
eliminate PCB in the country.

The organization implements 
good maintenance practices, decreas-
ing the levels of risk of significant 

MAGDALENA 
RIVER

PIPE NN

API system

Primary

BOD
21.96 mgBOD/l

BOD
<2.49 mg/l

This drainage corresponds to the 
discharge of Zona Franca Celsia. The 
flow values are taken from the charac-
terization carried out in the plant, in a 
sample of five consecutive days and by 
an accredited laboratory

This drainage corresponds to the discharge of Meriléctrica. The 
volumes of discharged water are measured each time maintenance is 
carried out on the API treatment system.

TSS
260.75 mgTSS/l

TSS
5 mg/l

Fats and oils
< 20 mgF&O/l

Fats and oils
<6.3 mg/l

Source of discharge

Type of treatment implemented

Volume discharged (m3)

Indicate the drainage amount 
according to the parameters used 
by the organization

977,616

47

977,663
Total drainage (m³)

[EN-22]

[EN-26]

The drainage generated by 
Celsia does not affect the 
water quality of the receiv-
ing sources.

PERFORMANCE

Celsia generated industrial drainage 
of the cooling and steam systems in 
the Zona Franca Celsia Plant and 
the products of the maintenance 
processes which have the respective 
treatment systems.

These systems have valid environ-
mental permits and are regularly 
monitored, which is why they do not 
affect the water quality of the receiv-
ing sources.

spills occurring. Likewise, it has the 
necessary security measures to con-
tain them (containment dams, spill 
response kit) and emergency plans 
supported by the environmental au-
thorities. Additionally, the preventa-
tive approach of the organization's 
socio-environmental management 
has prevented significant spills from 
occurring.
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Waste Generation Celsia

Waste Generation Celsia 2010 2011 2012 2013

Total waste
generated (ton) 4.21 396.42 275.27 296.07

Total harmful
waste (ton) 1.89 37.31 25.52 37.74

Recycling 0.00 1.75 9.19 2.12

Recovery (including energy 
value) 1.31 19.75 7.14 20.71

Incineration 0.58 0.95 0.87 0.55

Secure landfill 0.00 14.86 8.13 8.31

On-site storage 0.00 0.00 0.18 3.05

Total non-harmful waste 
(ton) 2.32 359.11 249.75 251.33

Recycling 0.58 127.81 95.60 68.93

Sanitary landfill 1.74 231.30 154.14 181.01

On-site storage 0.00 0.00 0.00 1.40

Regarding waste generation, in 2013, 
Celsia implemented actions with le-
gally authorized agents to ensure 
waste separation at the source, as 
well as its storage, transportation and 
final disposal.

The generation of waste in the or-
ganization is comprised of ordinary, 
recyclable, special and dangerous 
waste. Each item of waste is classi-
fied, stored, treated and/or disposed 
of according to Colombian regula-
tion. Ordinary waste is disposed of 
in duly licensed sanitary landfills 
and recyclable waste is sold to local 
agents that have the relevant regis-
tration. In the case of harmful and 
special waste, the transportation, 
treatment and disposal carried out 
have the respective environmental 
permits, taking into account that the 
harmful characteristics or the physi-
cal features of the special waste may 

be different due to the generation 
technology it comes from.

It is important to highlight the 
organization's work in PCB manage-
ment. In 2013, pieces of equipment 
suspected of containing PCBs were 
identified and inventoried. These 
pieces of equipment are included in 
an action plan to manage them ac-
cording to the standards to achieve 
their full elimination. This year, in 
accordance with the Basel Conven-
tion, EPSA exported 27,387 tons of 
PCBs (Polychlorinated Biphenyls) 
for their final disposal. Also, with the 
proposal to strengthen the country's 
technical capacity, the company 
supported the development of clean 
energy for the elimination of PCBs 
in Colombia through an agreement 
with Universidad del Valle, which 
has the patents to carry out this 
project on a pilot scale. [EN-25]

[EN-23]

The final disposal method of 
solid waste was determined 
by the information supplied 
by each supplier and it was 
validated by the organization
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Waste Generation 
EPSA 2010 2011 2012 2013

Total waste generated 
(ton) 326.25 501.94 2,338.16 3,128.90

Total harmful waste 
(ton) 81.11 167.84 207.57 103.18

Reuse 0.00 0.00 15.57 0.00

Recycling 0.00 0.00 36.79 15.70

Incineration 40.58 20.25 47.29 60.00

Other 40.53 147.59 107.92 27.30

Total non-harmful 
waste (ton) 245.15 334.10 2,130.59 3,026.00

Reuse 70.21 60.92 1,388.19 502.00

Recycling 3.89 5.54 33.21 1,162.00

Composting 0.00 0.00 0.00 593.30

Sanitary landfill 171.04 267.64 681.03 49.06

Other 0.00 0.00 28.16 719.40

In 2014, the organization will 
develop the following eco-
efficiency actions:
• Analysis of opportunities 

for energy saving in each 
power plant, through which, 
economically feasible 
reduction targets can be 
defined.

• System for reviewing 
processes and 
measurements to control 
drainage

• Update the waste 
management programs

• Encourage the photovoltaic 
cells project in the 
organization

• Strengthening of the data 

WHERE ARE WE GOING?

1.89

34.74

25.52

66.21

140.92

207.57

233.09

81.10

37.31

82.99

167.84

205.15

Generation of Harmful Waste
in the Organization

2010
2011

2012
2013

Celsia I EPSA I Organization Total

follow-up and reporting 
model of water and electricity 
consumption and waste 
management

• Reduction of residential 
water consumption 

• Identification of projects 
to reduce materials and 
supplies

• Promotion of paper recycling
• Post-use programs of batter-

ies and lights
• Development of sustainable 

purchase criteria and 
application of the 
guidelines of the Ministry 
of the Environment and 
Sustainable Development on 
the topic.

Variation 
39.5%



O9

141www.celsia.com

The evolution of the electricity sec-
tor allows us to have a strong policy 
and regulation based on economic 
efficiency and corporate feasibility. 
Given the importance of the regu-
lation, the organization constantly 
participates in areas for discussion 
with the regulator through studies 
carried out directly or through the 
professional associations of the sec-
tor it participates in. 

In 2013, the exhaustive work 
stands out in regulatory develop-
ment, which was especially dynamic 
in the natural gas sector.

9.13. REGULATION

PERFORMANCE

The organization carries out rigorous 
follow-up of the issuance of regula-
tions, decrees and laws that apply to it, 
especially those related to the environ-
mental market, with the aim to man-
age possible affects and/or specific sit-
uations of the businesses in advance. 

Additionally, it carries out verifi-
cation plans on compliance with the 
regulation, which indicate that the 
processes reviewed in 2013 comply 
with the regulatory requirements.

In power generation activity, 
there was strict compliance with the 
wholesale market regulations. In 
the transport and sales businesses, 
compliance is also maintained in 
reporting the information required 
by the regulatory and control bod-
ies on invoicing and costs, as well as 
the results in quality of the service 

provided. This information is a basis 
for updating the regulated prices in 
the rates process. 

Regarding the political or mar-
ket interventions, an important as-
pect was the appeal of the different 
production sectors of the country 
regarding the costs of the electric-
ity service. Through the Productive 
Transformation Program (PTP) and 
professional associations, a study was 
carried out to identify opportunities 
for efficiency in the rates structure, 
where the company participated as a 
member of the technical team.

As a result of the study con-
tracted with the ECSIM firm, it was 
found that although the rates in Co-
lombia are not the lowest, it is in the 
average of the referenced countries.
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The study presents a series of rec-
ommendations that are analyzed 
by the government, which will give 
priority to those recommendations 
associated with expansion in trans-
mission and the self-generation in-
centive. In this topic, the strength 
of institutions and technical inde-
pendence of the sector stand out, in 
which the guidelines of economic 
efficiency and corporate feasibil-
ity provided by Law 142 of 1994 are 
maintained. 

Another important aspect was 
the government's intention to estab-
lish intervention regulations on the 
market during periods of water scar-
city. Through serious discussion, it 
has been achieved that the regulator 
reconsiders the system with inter-
vention only in extreme cases.

A topic that caused debate was 
the implementation of the fixed rate 
in sales, which although it is consid-
ered to be a solution to the market's 
current asymmetry, this charge was 
not generally accepted.

Regarding the monitoring and 
follow-up carried out by the organi-
zation on possible regulatory chang-
es, the rate period that started in 
2008 will end in 2008. In 2014, the 
remuneration methodologies of the 
transmission and distribution activi-
ties will be updated, as well as the 
remuneration of the sales service. 

Industrial Tariffs 2012
Selected Countries Study 2013

Austria

Slovakia

Japan

Czech Republic

Chile

Ireland

Spain
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Switzerland
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12.1
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11.7

11.6

11.5
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8.9
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In 2014, the methodologies for the 
remuneration of transmission and 
distribution activities will be updat-
ed, as well as the remuneration of the 
sales service. To start the process, the 
CREG (Energy and Gas Regulatory 
Commission) published the proposal 
of methodological bases. The organi-
zation expressed the importance of 
the coherence that the remuneration 
system must maintain with the as-
sumed obligations and risks.

We are working on some stud-
ies with the National Association of 
Distributors (ASOCODIS) and the 
National Association of Public Utili-
ty Companies (ANDESCO), with the 

aim to be proactive in the develop-
ment of methodologies and support 
the analysis of the regulatory pro-
posals. Finally, the aim is to provide 
a good quality service with adequate 
remuneration for the shareholders, 
according to the assumed risks.

Over the last four years, 
including 2013, Celsia has 
not received fines or punish-
ments for legal or regulatory 
breaches.

Fines and Punishments for Legal Breaches EPSA 2010 2011 2012 2013
Total number of significant fines N/AV 1 0 0
Total number of non-monetary punishments N/AV 6 6 0
Total number of non-monetary punishments and fines 0 7 6 0

N/AV: Not available

WHERE ARE WE GOING?
We will continue to follow up and participate in 
initiatives of the government bodies in regulation, 
identifying the risks and opportunities in 
advance.

In 2014, the development of regulation for 
the remuneration of regulated activities, the 
development of the organized contract markets 
and the Statute for Risk Situations will be 
key. For this reason, we will continue to work 
together with the professional associations in 
the discussion of regulatory proposals, so that 
financial sustainability is not affected and the 

economic investment indicators are maintained. 
This results in the system and its services, given 
that it represents reliability in the supply.

The organization has the development of new 
energy products as a target, through the law on 
renewable unconventional energy soon to be 
passed and the challenge will be to contribute to 
its regulation avoiding distortions of the market 
and opening up opportunities for growth and 
development.

[EN29], [SO8]

[G4-16]
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Central Zona Franca Celsia, Barranquilla

Consolidated Financial 
Statements
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Statutory Auditor's Report

To the shareholders of            
Celsia S.A. E.S.P.:

I have audited the consolidated balance sheets of Celsia S.A. E.S.P. and its subsidiaries as at December 31, 2013 and 2012 and the cor-
responding consolidated statements of comprehensive income, changes in equity, changes in the financial position and cash flows 
for the years ending on the aforementioned dates, as well as the summary of main accounting policies and other explanatory notes. 

Management is responsible for preparing and properly submitting these financial statements according to the generally accepted 
accounting principles in Colombia. This responsibility includes designing, implementing and maintaining an adequate internal 
control system for preparing and submitting financial statements free of material errors due to fraud or carelessness; selecting and 
applying the appropriate accounting policies; and making reasonable accounting estimates in the circumstances.

My responsibility is to provide an opinion about these financial statements based on my audits. I obtained the necessary informa-
tion to perform my duties and complete my work pursuant to the accounting standards generally accepted in Colombia. Said stan-
dards require the audit to be planned and executed to reasonably ensure that the financial statements are free of material errors. A 
financial statement audit includes examining a sampling of the evidence that supports the figures and disclosures of the financial 
statements. The auditing procedures selected depend on the auditor's professional judgment and include a risk assessment for ma-
terial errors in the financial statements. As part of the risk assessment, the auditor considers the Company's internal controls for 
reasonably preparing and submitting financial statements so that he or she may design auditing procedures that are appropriate in 
the circumstances. An audit also includes evaluating the accounting principles used and the significant accounting estimates made 
by Management, as well as evaluating the general presentation of the financial statements. I believe that my audits are sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion.

In my opinion, the aforementioned financial statements taken from the accounting books reasonably present the consolidated 
financial position of Celsia S.A. E.S.P. and its subsidiaries as at December 31, 2013 and 2012 in all major aspects: operating income, 
changes in equity, changes in financial position, and cash flows for the years ending on these dates in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles in Colombia, applied on a uniform basis.

OLGA LILIANA CABRALES PINTO
Statutory Auditor
Professional License No. 92873-T
Assigned by Deloitte & Touche Ltda.

Wednesday, February 19, 2014

Certification of the Legal Representative and Accountant of Celsia S.A. E.S.P.

February 19, 2014
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To the shareholders of 
Celsia S. A. E. S. P.

We, the undersigned Legal Representative and Accountant of Celsia S.A. E.S.P., certify that the following was verified in the com-
pany's consolidated financial statements as at December 31, 2013 and 2012 before being made available to you and to third parties:

1. All assets and liabilities included in the company's consolidated financial statements as at December 31, 2013 and 2012 are pres-
ent. All transactions included in these statements were made during the years that ended on the aforementioned dates.

2.  Assets represent likely future economic benefits (rights), and liabilities represent likely future economic losses (obligations) 
acquired or assumed by the Company as at December 31, 2013 and 2012.

3. All of the company's economic activities that took place in the years that ended on December 31, 2013 and 2012 have been 
recorded in these consolidated financial statements.

4.  Revenue and expenditures incurred correspond to the reality of the company and have been classified based on current legal 
provisions.

5.  All elements have been included with their proper values according to the generally accepted accounting principles in Colom-
bia, and instructions and practices established by the Superintendence of Residential Public Services.

6.  All economic activities that affect the company have been properly classified, described and disclosed in the consolidated finan-
cial statements.

7.  The consolidated financial statements and the management report do not contain flaws, inaccuracies or errors that obscure the 
true nature of the Company's assets, liabilities or operations.

8.  The consolidated financial statements as at December 31, 2013 and 2012 were prepared using figures faithfully taken from the 
companies' books included in the consolidated process.

Juan Guillermo Londoño Posada Jorge Arturo Tarquino Pérez
Representante legal Accountant
  Professional License No. 30956-T
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes 2013 2012
Assets

Current assets
Cash 5         200,684 299,785
Temporary investments 6         697,075 444,442
Accounts receivable, net 7         305,748 273,375
Inventories, net 8 10,603 8,398
Expenses paid in advance             6,068     29,536

Total current assets     1,220,178 1,055,536

Non-current assets
Accounts receivable, net 7 12,390 3,502
Inventories, net 8            46,605 47,298
Long-term investments, net 9         101,060 102,606
Property, plant and equipment, net 10      3,342,856 3,268,328
Deferred charges, net 11            31,177 63,757
Assets acquired under finance lease 12         163,309 71,276
Intangibles, net 13         268,127 285,521
Other assets                  810 825
Appreciation and depreciation, net 14      2,140,033 1,941,359

Total non-current assets      6,106,367 5,784,472

Total assets      7,326,545 6,840,008

Liabilities and Shareholder's Equity
Current liabilities

Borrowings 15            33,845 130,877
Bonds 16            11,607 9,891
Providers and accounts payable 17         205,777 193,550
Taxes, Levies, and Fees 18            93,269 51,931
Labor and Comprehensive Social Security Obligations            13,656 11,100
Estimated liabilities and provisions 19            35,329 36,198
Other current liabilities 21            13,711 9,184

Total current liabilities          407,194 442,731

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 15         340,707 975,577
Bonds 16      1,400,000 600,000
Taxes, Levies, and Fees 18                     -   13,847
Estimated liabilities and provisions 19         151,258 314,217
Retirement pensions 20            80,864 80,149
Other non-current liabilities 21            36,040      40,075

Total non-current liabilities      2,008,869 2,023,865

Total liabilities      2,416,063 2,466,596

Minority interest      1,622,157 1,468,001

Shareholder's equity (see attached statement) 22      3,288,325 2,905,411

Total liabilities and shareholder's equity      7,326,545 6,840,008

Suspense accounts 23     8,556,067 8,413,436

The accompanying notes 1 to 33 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Juan Guillermo Londoño Posada Jorge Arturo Tarquino Pérez Olga Liliana Cabrales Pinto 
Legal Representative Accountant Statutory Auditor 
(See attached certification) License No. 30956-T License No. 92873-T 
 (See attached certification) Assigned by Deloitte & Touche Ltda. 
  (See attached report)

Celsia S. A. E. S. P.
Consolidated Balance Sheet
As at December 31, 2013 and 2012
(Values expressed in millions of Colombian pesos)
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Notes 2013 2012
Revenue

Revenue from providing public services 24 2,381,116 2,023,672

Cost of sales 

Cost of sales from providing public services 25 (1,540,165) (1,311,372)

Gross profit 840,951 712,300

Administrative operating expenses 26 (124,834) (119,812)

Operating profit 716,117 592,488

Non-operating income and expenses

Non-operating revenue 27 199,282 122,546

Financial expenses 28 (144,750) (154,375)

Exchange rate difference, net (12,970) 25,589

Non-operating expenses 29 (48,218) (73,090)

Profit before the income tax provision, income tax for equality (CREE) and share of 
minority interest 709,461 513,158

Provision for income tax and related provisions 18 (148,569) (142,193)

Income tax for equality (CREE) provision 18 (46,028) -

Share of minority interest (141,219) (140,205)

Net profit of the year 373,645 230,760

Net profit per share (COP) 519.25   320.68

The accompanying notes 1 to 33 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Juan Guillermo Londoño Posada Jorge Arturo Tarquino Pérez Olga Liliana Cabrales Pinto 
Legal Representative Accountant Statutory Auditor 
(See attached certification) License No. 30956-T License No. 92873-T 
 (See attached certification) Assigned by Deloitte & Touche Ltda. 
  (See attached report)

Celsia S. A. E. S. P.
Consolidated Statement of Income
At as December 31, 2013 and 2012 
(Values expressed in millions of Colombian pesos)
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes 2013 2012
Subscribed and paid-in capital

Balance at the start and end of the year 22 180 180

Issue premium

Balance at the start and end of the year    298,146     298,146

Appropriated retained earnings

Balance at the start of the year 1,929,817 1,843,925
Appropriations from the statement of income approved by the General Shareholders' 

Meeting to carry to an occasional reserve set aside to maintain equity 230,760 152,891
Dividends decreed in cash in the amount of COP 100 per year per share on 

719,584,500 shares, payable in four equal installments of COP 25 per share in 
April, July and October 2013, and January 2014 (71,959) -

Dividends decreed in cash at COP 90 per year per share on 719,584,500 shares, 
payable in four equal installments at COP 22.5 per share in April, July and October 
2012, and January 2013 - (64,762)

Net effect of consolidation on appropriated retained earnings -       (2,237)

Balance at the end of the year 22   2,088,618  1,929,817

Unappropriated retained earnings

Balance at the start of the year 230,760 152,891
Appropriations approved by the General Shareholders' Meeting to carry to retained 

earnings (230,760) (152,891)
Net profit of the year     373,645 230,760

Balance at the end of the year 373,645 230,760

Equity revaluation reserve

Balance at the start and end of the year 36,838 36,838

Revaluation Reserve

Balance at the start of the year 409,670 318,562

Changes during the year 81,228 91,108

Balance at the end of the year 490,898 409,670

Total shareholder's equity   3,288,325 2,905,411

The accompanying notes 1 to 33 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Juan Guillermo Londoño Posada Jorge Arturo Tarquino Pérez Olga Liliana Cabrales Pinto 
Legal Representative Accountant Statutory Auditor 
(See attached certification) License No. 30956-T License No. 92873-T 
 (See attached certification) Assigned by Deloitte & Touche Ltda. 
  (See attached report)

Celsia S. A. E. S. P.
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Shareholders' Equity
At as December 31, 2013 and 2012 
(Values expressed in millions of Colombian pesos)
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Celsia S. A. E. S. P.
Consolidated Statement of Change in Financial Position
At as December 31, 2013 and 2012 
(Values expressed in millions of Colombian pesos)

2013 2012

Financial resources (used for) provided by:

Net profit of the year 373,645 230,760

Plus (minus) operating fees (credits) that did not affect working capital:

Share of minority interest in relation to the statement of income for the reporting period 141,219 140,205

Property, plant and equipment depreciation 110,886 100,468

Amortization of goodwill and other intangibles 20,210 37,505

Unrealized exchange rate differences on non-current liabilities 13,773 (27,788)

Amortization of deferred charges 13,028 482

Amortization of deferred tax, net 10,347 10,209

Property, plant and equipment provision 4,322 880

Net loss (gain) from the sale and retirement of property, plant and equipment 3,950 (825)
Effect of property, plant and equipment depreciation on consolidated statements of comprehensive 

income that generated a provision that is maintained in the company's financial statements 
based on the technical appraisals in Zona Franca Celsia S.A. E.S.P. 2,074 15,875

Amortization of actuarial calculation 719 3,469

provision for long-term receivables         574             -

Net loss from sale and retirement of long-term investments 7 573

Recovery of provision related to the legal proceedings with the Tax Administration (Note 18)
(114,717) -

Recovery of provision for property, plant and equipment (904)     (198)

Amortization of deferred monetary correction, net (333) (332)

Net effect of the retirement of long-term assets and liabilities associated with the energy supply 
contract signed with Termovalle S.C.A. E.S.P. (Note 13) - 13,604

Recovery of estimated long-term provisions and liabilities - (221)

Total financial resources provided by the year's operation 578,800 524,666

Financial resources provided by other sources:

Funds raised by issuing bonds 800,000 -

Increase in long-term borrowings 88,856 34,251

Reclassification of deferred charges to property, plant and equipment 7,173 4,528

Revenue from the sale of long-term investments 6,046 237

Reclassification of estimated liabilities and provisions from short-term to long-term 997 16,704

Inventory reduction 693 -

Revenue from the sale of property, plant and equipment 658 2,030

Reduction in other non-current assets          15              -

Reclassification of short-term accounts payable to estimated long-term liabilities - 133,557

Reclassification of intangibles from studies and projects to property, plant and equipment -     8,700

Reclassification of retirement pensions from short-term to long-term - 686
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2013 2012
Total financial resources provided by other sources  904,438 200,693

The financial resources were used in:

Payment of long-term borrowings (709,579)               -

Property, plant and equipment acquired (186,267) (154,659)

Increase of minority interest (106,583) (121,949)

Acquisition of goods through finance lease   (92,033)   (41,956)

Decreed dividends (71,959) (64,762)
Payment of income taxes derived from the reconciliation with the DIAN.

(49,239) -
Carryover of long-term borrowings to short-term (27,920) (102,257)

Carryover of long-term tax obligations to short-term (13,847) (13,847)

Increase in long-term accounts receivable (9,462) (1,628)

Reclassification of property, plant and equipment to deferred charges (7,173) (13,228)

Increase in deferred charges and intangibles (4,486) (16,015)

Capitalization of non-controlled companies (4,448) -

Acquisition of long-term investments and dividends received on shares (59) (1,604)

Retirement pension reduction (4) -

Acquisition of inventories - (8,810)
Effect of consolidation generated by the incorporation of appreciation on assets traded between 

related companies - (633)
Increase in other non-current assets - (57)

Total financial resources used (1,283,059) (541,405)

Total increase in working capital    200,179   183,954

Changes in the working capital structure

Cash (99,101) 66,442

Temporary investments 252,633 (7,241)

Accounts receivable, net 32,373 (69,467)

Inventories, net            2,205 (12,490)

Expenses paid in advance (23,468) 17,018

Borrowings 97,032 (32,164)

Bonds (1,716) 747

Providers, accounts payable and taxes, levies and fees (53,565) 168,053

Labor and Comprehensive Social Security Obligations (2,556) (1,924)

Estimated liabilities and provisions 869 53,871

Retirement pensions                     -   686

Other liabilities (4,527)     423

Total increase in working capital 200,179 183,954

The accompanying notes 1 to 33 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Juan Guillermo Londoño Posada Jorge Arturo Tarquino Pérez Olga Liliana Cabrales Pinto 
Legal Representative Accountant Statutory Auditor 
(See attached certification) License No. 30956-T License No. 92873-T 
 (See attached certification) Assigned by Deloitte & Touche Ltda. 
  (See attached report)
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Celsia S. A. E. S. P.
Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
At as December 31, 2013 and 2012 
(Values expressed in millions of Colombian pesos)

2013 2012
Cash flow from operating activities

Net profit of the year 373,645 230,760

Plus (minus) fees (credits) that did not affect cash movement:

Share of minority interest in relation to the statement of income for the reporting period 141,219 140,205

Property, plant and equipment depreciation 110,886 100,468

Amortization of goodwill and other intangibles 20,210 37,505

Unrealized exchange rate difference 16,277 (28,876)

Amortization of deferred charges 13,028 482

Amortization of deferred tax, net 10,347 10,209

Property, plant and equipment provision 4,322 880

Net loss (gain) from the sale and retirement of property, plant and equipment 3,950 (825)

Accounts receivable provision 3,262 4,799

Accounts receivable write-off 2,213 1,915
Effect of property, plant and equipment depreciation on consolidated statements of comprehensive 

income that generated a provision that is maintained in the company's financial statements based 
on the technical appraisals in Zona Franca Celsia S.A. E.S.P. 2,074 15,875

Amortization of actuarial calculation 719 3,469

Inventory write-off 114 -

Net loss from sale and retirement of long-term investments 7 573

Inventory provision 5 23

Recovery of provision related to the legal proceedings with the Tax Administration (Note 19) (114,717) -

Recovery of provision for property, plant and equipment (904) (198)

Amortization of deferred monetary correction, net (333) (332)

Provision of estimated liabilities and contingencies - 15,046
Net effect of the retirement of assets and liabilities associated with the energy supply contract signed 

with Termovalle S.C.A. E.S.P. - 3,056

Recovery of estimated long-term provisions and liabilities - (43,693)

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Accounts payable (46,736) 61,125

Inventories (1,631) 3,657

Expenses paid in advance 23,468 (17,018)

Accounts payable and taxes, levies and fees 39,718 (48,343)

Labor and comprehensive social security obligations and retirement pensions 2,552 1,924

Estimated liabilities and provisions 128 (8,741)

Other liabilities        4,527        (423)

Total cash flow provided by operating activities 608,350 483,522
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2013 2012
Cash flow from investment activities:

Revenue from the sale or retirement of long-term investments 6,046          237

Revenue from the sale of property, plant and equipment 658 2,030

Reduction (increase) in other assets 15 (57)

Property, plant and equipment acquired (186,267) (154,659)

Acquisition of goods through finance lease (92,033) (41,956)

Payment of income taxes derived from the reconciliation with the DIAN (Note 19). (49,239) -

Increase in deferred charges and intangibles    (4,486) (16,015)

Capitalization of non-controlled companies (4,448) -

Acquisition of long-term investments and dividends received on shares            (59)      (1,604)

Total cash flow used for investment activities (329,813) (212,024)

Cash flow from financing activities:

Funds raised by issuing bonds 800,000 -

Increase of borrowings and interest 186,723 76,096

Payment of borrowings and bonds (933,186) (101,049)

Decreed dividends    (71,959)     (64,762)

Total cash flow used in borrowing (18,422) (89,715)

Operations that did not involve cash transactions:

Effect of consolidation generated by the incorporation of appreciation on assets traded between 
related companies - (633)

Variation in minority interest (106,583) (121,949)

Total operations that did not involve cash movements (106,583) (122,582)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 153,532 59,201

Cash and cash equivalents at the start of the year 744,227 685,026

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 897,759 744,227

Structure of cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

Cash 200,684 299,785

Temporary investments 697,075 444,442

Total cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 897,759 744,227

The accompanying notes 1 to 33 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Juan Guillermo Londoño Posada Jorge Arturo Tarquino Pérez Olga Liliana Cabrales Pinto 
Legal Representative Accountant Statutory Auditor 
(See attached certification) License No. 30956-T License No. 92873-T 
 (See attached certification) Assigned by Deloitte & Touche Ltda. 
  (See attached report)
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Celsia S.A. E.S.P.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
As at December 31, 2013 and 2012
(Values expressed in millions of COP and in USD, except the 
nominal value of shares which is expressed in COP)

NOTE 1  Entity and Corporate Purpose

Controlling Company:
Celsia S. A. E. S. P. (going forward the company)
Celsia S.A. E.S.P. was incorporated by Public Deed No. 2912 / 
October 4, 2001 of the 20th Notary of Medellín, Department of 
Antioquia, registered in the Medellín Chamber of Commerce 
on the 8 of the same month, in Book 9, Folio 1360, Number 
9519, and created on account of the split of Compañía Colom-
biana de Tabaco S.A. Said split was approved in the Extraordi-
nary Shareholders' Meeting of said company held on July 31, 
2001. The company's main place of business is Medellín and 
its life is indefinite.

Based on Public Deed No. 1126 / April 17, 2012 issued by the 
20th Notary of Medellín, registered in the Medellín Chamber 
of Commerce in Book 9 under Number 7123, Compañía Colom-
biana de Inversiones S.A. E.S.P. changed its business name to 
Celsia S.A. E.S.P. 

In 2006, the company began the process of reformulating 
its investment strategy, which in 2007 led to the identification 
of a new business focus: the electricity sector. To achieve this 
goal, the company acquired the following companies dedicated 
to the electric energy generation sector in Colombia: in De-
cember 2007, through a purchase and sale agreement 100% of 
the companies Zona Franca Celsia S.A.E. S.P. (formerly Clin-
versiones ZF S.A. E.S.P.) and SPV TF LTD. was acquired. The 
latter was liquidated in 2009. In 2008, through a swap carried 
our by the companies Antioqueña de Inversiones S. A. e Inver-
siones e Industria S. A. (companies absorbed by the company 
by the merger by absorption in November 2008), acquired the 
companies Meriléctrica S. A. & Cía. S.C.A. E.S.P., Meriléctrica 
S.A. (absorbed through a merger in 2009) and TLC Interna-
tional LDC (liquidated in 2009). In 2008, it purchased Hidro-
montañitas S.A. E.S.P. and by through a takeover bid (TOB), it 
purchased 98.82% of Generar S.A. E.S.P. Both were absorbed by 
the company in the merger of December 28, 2009.

On December 14, 2009, the company purchased 164,063,583 
shares, equivalent to 47.32% of Empresa de Energía del Pacífi-
co S.A. E.S.P. through its controlled company Colener S.A.S. by 
means of a TOB.

On April 30, 2010, again through its controlled company 
Colener S.A.S., the company purchased 9,326,267 shares, equiv-
alent to an additional 2.69% of Empresa de Energía del Pacífico 
S.A. E.S.P. acquiring the majority shareholder with 50.01%.

By means of Public Deed No. 4629 / December 28, 2009 
issued by the 20th Notary of Medellín, the company formalized 
the merger by absorption with Meriléctrica S.A. & Cia. S.C.A. 
S.P., Meriléctrica S. A., Generar S. A. E. S. P., Compañía Co-
lombiana de Energía S. A. S. and Hidromontañitas S. A. E. S. P. 
(absorbed companies), merger approved in the extraordinary 
meeting of the Company's General Shareholders' Meeting on 
September 22, 2009.

In order to directly carry out the activities related to the 
power generation business, the company, with the approval 
of the General Shareholders' Meeting and by means of Public 
Deed No. 4630 / December 28, 2009 issued by the 20th Nota-
ry of Medellín, changed its corporate purpose and became a 
Public Services Company by adopting the legal and regulatory 
obligations applicable to the electricity sector in Colombia.

The company's main purpose is to provide public services 
of the generation and sale of electricity, pursuant to Law 142 
(general system for the provision of public services in Colom-
bia) and Law 143 (system for the activities of power generation, 
interconnection, transmission, distribution and sale) / 1994 
and the provisions that amend and/or add to them, as well as 
the provision of ancillary, complementary and related services 
to the same activities of public services, according to the legal 
and regulatory framework. It may also carry out activities that 
are connected, complementary and related to the generation, 
distribution and sale of electricity, natural gas and any other 
fuel; it can perform, promote, operate and build power gener-
ation projects and plants, take part in companies engaged in 
the transmission, distribution, generation or sale of electricity, 
natural gas or other fuel.

Generation consists of the production of energy using ther-
mal plants and hydroelectric plants connected to the National 
Electrical Grid (SIN for its acronym in Spanish).

National transmission is the transport of energy on the Na-
tional Transmission System (STN for its acronym in Spanish). 
This system consists of the set of lines and the corresponding 
connection equipment operating at voltages greater than or 
equal to 220 KV.

Distribution consists of transporting electricity through 
the Local Distribution System (SDL in Spanish) or the Region-
al Transmission System (STR in Spanish) by means of a set of 
lines and substations and the associated equipment operating 
at voltage less than 220 KV. 
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nicipality of Jericó (Antioquia); Hidromontañitas, a 19.9 MW 
hydroelectric run-of-river plant located in the municipality of 
Donmatías (Antioquia), which began operating in 2012, and 
other energy generation plants in which the company holds 
more than 50% of their capital stock.

Controlled Companies:
Zona Franca Celsia S. A. E. S. P.
Zona Franca Celsia S.A. E.S.P. was incorporated by Public Deed 
No. 15943 / December 27, 2002, by virtue of the merger be-
tween Flores II S.A., Flores III S.A. and Cía. S. C. A. E. S. P., 
Flores II S. A.& Cía. S. C. A. E. S. P., Flores III S. A. y Flores 
Holding Ltda. The life of the company is indefinite. Its main 
place of business is the city of Barranquilla.

Through Public Deed No. 1143 / April 17, 2012, granted 
by the 20th Notary of Medellín and recorded in the Medellín 
Chamber of Commerce on April 20, 2012, Colinversiones ZF S. 
A. E. S. P. changed its company name to Zona Franca Celsia S. 
A. E. S. P. Its corporate purpose consists of the generation and 
sale of electric energy, pursuant to the terms in laws 142, 143, of 
1994 and 1004 of 2005.

Following a process that began in 2008, the National Direc-
torate of Taxes and Customs, DIAN, authorized Zona Franca 
Celsia S.A. E.S.P., whose plant is located in Barranquilla (Atlán-
tico) to operate as a Special Permanent Free Trade Zone.

On January 25, 2011, the National Directorate of Taxes and 
Customs (DIAN) granted Zona Franca Celsia S.A. E.S.P. capac-
ity as the sole industrial user of goods and services of the Ter-
moflores Special Permanent Free Trade Zone, which entitled it 
to the tax benefits offered by the Government for the next 15 
years, including liquidating income tax at a rate of 15% rather 
than 33% and exemption from customs duties and VAT on the 
equipment brought in and sold to the Free Trade Zone.

Two gas-run thermal generation plants are operating 
through Zona Franca Celsia S.A. E.S.P., Special Permanent Free 
Trade Zone, in which the company owns nearly 100% of the 
shares. Flores I, a 160 MW combined cycle plant, and Flores 
IV, a 450 MW combined cycle plant, which began commercial 
operations on August 12, 2011 following completion of the con-
struction and assembly of the closing cycle of existing plants 
Flores II, 112 MW, and Flores III, 169 MW.
Colener S. A. S.
Colener S.A.S. was incorporated on October 7, 2009 by a private 
document registered in Book 9 under Number 14267. The life 
of the company is indefinite. The company's main corporate 
purpose is the execution of any commercial activity allowed, 
including administrating, protecting and increasing its equity 
by strengthening and promoting the industrial and commer-
cial activity, in particular through investment in companies or 
other legal entities.

Celsia holds 50.01% of Empresa de Energía del Pacífico S.A. 
E.S.P. through Colener S.A.S., which it wholly owns. In turn, the for-
mer holds 87.20% of Compañía de Electricidad de Tuluá S.A. E.S.P.

Sale consists of the purchase of electricity on the Whole-
sale Energy Market (WEM) and the sale thereof to other mar-
ket agents or regulated and non-regulated end users.

Transactions between generators and resellers are carried 
out by means of bilateral contracts or the Energy Market.

Law 142 of 1994 defines general criteria and policies es-
tablished to guide residential public services in the country, as 
well as procedures and mechanisms for regulation, control and 
oversight.

Law 143 of 1994 ensures viability of the company focus 
and regulates electricity generation, transmission, distribution 
and sales. It creates a market environment with competition, 
strengthens the sector and creates guidelines for Government 
intervention.

Decree 1524 of 1994 delegates the presidential responsibility 
of creating general policy for administering and controlling 
the efficiency of residential public services to the regulatory 
commissions.

In Colombia, the regulatory commissions are responsible 
for promoting competition among public service providers to 
ensure competitors provide economic operations, they do not 
abuse a dominant position and that they produce high quality 
services.

The Energy and Gas Regulatory Commission (CREG, for 
the Spanish original), the technical organization appointed by 
the Ministry of Mines and Energy (MME) regulates energy 
rates, Wholesale Energy Market (MEM, for the Spanish origi-
nal) operations and all things related with the provision of elec-
tric energy and gas services.

The regulated markets uses the regulated price freedom 
system. Prices are non-negotiable and are calculated with fee 
formulas established in resolutions issued by CREG. Industrial, 
commercial and residential users may participate in this mar-
ket. The purchase of energy for the regulated market must be 
done via public calls to ensure free competition among agents.

Users with a potential demand equal or greater than 0.1 
MW or a minimal monthly consumption of 55 MWh partici-
pate in the non-regulated market (CREG Resolution 131/1998). 
This market is supplied by re-sellers and generators, which 
freely negotiate prices, terms and amounts of electricity.

Additionally, the Company can, as part of its corporate pur-
pose, engage in managing, protecting and increasing its equity 
by strengthening and promoting industrial and commercial ac-
tivity, especially through investment in companies, regardless 
of their corporate purpose, either participating as a founding 
partner in its incorporation, or making subsequent capital con-
tributions. It may also provide advice on economic, administra-
tive and financial subjects to every kind of company.

In order to carry out power generation activities, the com-
pany has the following generation plants: Meriléctrica, a 167 
MW simple cycle gas-run thermal power plant located in the 
municipality of Barrancabermeja (Santander); Río Piedras, a 
19.9 MW hydroelectric run-of-river plant located in the mu-
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bution and sales activities, it serves 2 municipalities in Valle del 
Cauca, where it has 56,150 customers; in addition, it has 531 km 
of distribution networks and six distribution substations.

NOTE 2 Bases of the presentation 
of the consolidated financial statements

The consolidated financial statements are presented in accor-
dance with the laws and accounting principles generally ac-
cepted in Colombia and instructions and practices established 
by the Financial Superintendence and Superintendence of Res-
idential Public Services of Colombia.

Accounting Period
Pursuant to the statutory and legal provisions in Colombia, 
Celsia S.A. E.S.P. and its controlled companies close accounts as 
at December 31 each year.

Comparative Financial Statements
Celsia S.A. E.S.P. presents the comparative financial statements 
closing as at December 31, 2013 with those of 2012. In 2009, the 
company became a Public Service Company (E.S.P. in Spanish) 
and since then, it has observed the provisions contained in the 
General Accounting Plan for Public Service Companies.

Principles for the Consolidation  
of Financial Statements
Consolidation is based on the global integration method, which 
incorporates all the assets, liabilities, equity and profits and 
losses of the controlled companies in the company's financial 
statements, after deducting the company's investment in the 
equity of the controlled companies, as well as the reciprocal 
balances and transactions as of the cutoff date of the consoli-
dated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements appropriately dis-
close the magnitude of the resources under exclusive control in 
order to establish an approximate factor of the economic level 
of the company's responsibility.

The following are the controlled companies: Zona Franca 
Celsia S.A. E.S.P., purchased in 2007; Colener S.A.S., incorpo-
rated in October 2009; Empresa de Energía del Pacífico S.A. 
E.S.P. and Compañía de Electricidad de Tuluá S.A. E.S.P., in 
which control was acquired in April 2010.

The figures below were taken from the financial statements 
of the company and its controlled companies as at December 
31, 2013 and 2012, certified and with the relevant opinions pur-
suant to the legal regulations in force:

 

Empresa de Energía del Pacífico S. A. E. S. P.
Empresa de Energía del Pacífico S.A. E.S.P. was incorporated by 
Public Deed No. 0914 / December 12, 1994 issued by the Sole 
Notary of the Candelaria Circle. The life of the company is in-
definite. The company's registered business address is in the 
municipality of Yumbo, Valle del Cauca.

Its corporate purpose is the provision of residential public 
services related to energy.

To carry out its corporate purpose, EPSA executes politics, 
plans, programs and projects related to the generation, trans-
mission, distribution and sale of energy, its administration, 
management and use pursuant to regulations and guidelines 
issued by the Ministry of Mines and Energy. The company's ac-
tions of the company are also in line with that of laws 142 (Gen-
eral system of public utilities in Colombia) and 143 (Electrical 
energy generation, interconnection, transmission, distribution 
and sale system) of 1994 and others that modify or add to them, 
such as the provision of ancillary, complementary and related 
services of the same public utility activities pursuant to the le-
gal regulatory framework.   

In order to carry out its power generation, Empresa de 
Energía del Pacífico S.A. E.S.P. operates eleven hydroelectric 
plants that supply 945.3 MW of power (Alto Anchicayá, Bajo 
Anchicayá, Salvajina, Calima, Hidroprado, Amaime, Nima I and 
II, Río Cali I and II and Alto Tuluá). In addition, the hydroelec-
tric plants of Bajo Tuluá (19.9 MW) and Cucuana (55 MW) are 
under construction in Valle del Cauca and Tolima, respectively.

On August 23, 2012, Empresa de Energía del Pacífico S.A. 
E.S.P. terminated the power purchase agreement (PPA) signed 
with Termovalle S.C.A. E.S.P., for 140 MW and in force until 
August 2020. 

With regard to the distribution and sales activities, 37 mu-
nicipalities in Valle del Cauca and one in the Chocó are served, 
where they have 488,233 customers, including residential, offi-
cial, commercial and industrial users. They also have 274 km of 
220 kV transmission lines, 19,036 km of distribution networks, 
66 distribution substations and seven transmission substations.

Compañía de Electricidad de Tuluá S. A. E. S. P.
Compañía de Electricidad de Tuluá S.A. E.S.P. was incorporated 
by Public Deed No. 376 / September 21, 1920 issued by the 1st 
Notary of Tuluá.  The company's registered business address 
is in the municipality of Tuluá (Valle del Cauca) and its life is 
indefinite.

The main corporate purpose thereof is to execute the poli-
cies, plans, programs and projects for the generation, distribu-
tion and sale of energy, the administration, management and 
use thereof, in accordance with the regulations and guidelines 
issued by the Ministry of Mines and Energy; the company's ac-
tions are in compliance with Laws 142 and 143 / 1994.

In order to carry out the activities of power generation, 
Compañía de Electricidad de Tuluá S.A. E.S.P. operates three 
minor plants that supply 14.20 MW. With regard to the distri-
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Share Percentage Assets Liabilities Equity Results

2013
Share Per-
centage Assets Liabilities Sharehold-

ers' equity Results

Celsia S. A. E. S. P. 4,151,373 863,048 3,288,325 373,645
Colener S. A. S. 100.00% 1,843,633 182 1,843,451 120,524
Empresa de Energía del Pacífico S. A. E. S. P. 50.01% 4,474,484 1,260,480 3,214,004 279,518

Compañía de Electricidad de Tuluá S. A. E. S. P. 88.17% 147,814 16,637 131,177 12,608

Zona Franca Celsia S. A. E. S. P. 99.99% 1,262,584 365,633 896,951 127,472

2012
Share Per-
centage Assets Liabilities Equity Results

Celsia S. A. E. S. P. 3,956,248 1,050,837 2,905,411 230,760
Colener S. A. S. 100.00% 1,718,989 393 1,718,596 121,071
Empresa de Energía del Pacífico S. A. E. S. P. 50.01% 4,042,395 1,132,398 2,909,997 277,384
Compañía de Electricidad de Tuluá S. A. E. S. P. 87.87% 127,262 17,250 110,012 12,748
Zona Franca Celsia S. A. E. S. P. 99.99% 1,176,761 380,208 796,553 72,370

Adjustments for Inflation
Up to December 31, 2006, non-monetary assets and liabilities and 
equity were updated monetarily using general consumer price in-
dexes (or adjustment percentages for the tax year), on a monthly 
basis, except for the profit and loss accounts and the asset reval-
uation reserve. The respective adjustments were entered in the 
monetary correction account of the income statement. 

The balances of non-monetary assets and liabilities and the 
equity of the public service companies absorbed in the merger 
in 2009 include adjustments for inflation up to December 
31, 2005 because Resolution No. SSPD - 20051300033635 / 
December 28, 2005 of the Superintendence of Residential 
Public Services removed the application of adjustments for 
inflation as at January 1, 2006 for accounting purposes.

Conversion of Foreign Currency 
Transactions made in foreign currency are recorded according 
to the applicable exchange rate in effect on the respective dates.  
At the close of each accounting period, the balances receivable 
or payable and current investments in foreign currency are ad-
justed at the representative exchange rate certified by the Co-
lombian Financial Superintendence. With regard to balances 
payable, only the exchange differences that are not attributable 
to costs of assets are entered in the income statement. 

Similarly, transactions with forwards carried out to cover 
assets or liabilities in foreign currency are appraised and dis-
closed in the statement of income.

The exchange difference resulting from debts in foreign 
currency due to the purchase of inventory or fixed assets are 
charged to said items if they are in the process of import and/
or construction, or to the income statement if the respective 
import has already been liquidated and the commissioning of 
the assets has concluded.

Relative Importance or Materiality
Economic activities are recognized and reported based on their 
relative importance. An economic activity is considered ma-
terial when knowledge or ignorance thereof, by virtue of the 
value or nature of the activity within the surrounding circum-
stances, significantly influences the economic decisions of the 
users of the information.

Relative importance for the preparation of the consolidat-
ed financial statements and for reporting purposes has been 
determined based on 5% of the total assets and the period's 
profits/losses.

Classification of Assets and Liabilities
Assets and liabilities are classified according to their purpose or 
their degree of completion, availability and liquidation in terms 
of time and value. Current assets are the sums that will be col-
lected or available within a period of no more than one year.  
Current Liabilities are the sums that will be enforceable or can 
be liquidated also within a period of no more than one year. All 
other balances are reported in non-current assets or liabilities.
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Classification of Revenue, Costs and Expenses
In preparing the comparative income statement for 2013 and 
2012, the company reported the operating revenue, costs and 
expenses corresponding to the activities related to the delivery 
of public services.

Cash Flow Statement
The consolidated cash flow statement was prepared using the 
indirect method. Cash and equivalents is the cash in hand and 
banks, savings deposits, funds and all high-liquidity negotiable 
investments.

NOTE 3 Principal Accounting Policies 
and Practices

The company's consolidated financial statements were pre-
pared in accordance with generally accepted accounting prin-
ciples in Colombia, which are prescribed by legal standards, in 
particular Regulatory Decree 2649 / 1993 and the provisions of 
the Financial and Residential Public Service Superintendences 
of Colombia. Below are the main policies and practices adopted 
by the companies in accordance with the above:

Temporary investments
Investments represented in securities or documents for easy 
disposal, held with the serious intent of exercising the eco-
nomic right incorporated therein in the short term. These in-
vestments are entered at cost and later updated based on the 
agreed interest rate. The respective returns are entered as a 
higher or lower value of the investment, when capitalized, as 
credits or debits in the profit and loss statement.  

Long-term Investments
These are investments Celsia has a serious intent of holding 
until their maturity or at least three years if the term thereof is 
greater or they do not mature. 

Investments in shares or capital shares (equity securities) 
in entities that are not controlled by the company are recorded 
at cost plus the value of the dividends received on the shares, 
adjusted to market value on a monthly basis. The resulting ad-
justment, whether it is positive or negative, is entered in the 
appreciation account by debiting or crediting the revaluation 
reserve in shareholder equity, as applicable. 

The market value of securities traded on the stock exchange 
is obtained from the price bulletin for investment valuation, pub-
lished by the Colombian Securities Exchange. The market value 
of securities that are not traded on the stock exchange is deter-
mined based on the intrinsic value thereof, calculated based on 
the latest financial statements disclosed by the issuer of the title. 

Investments in non-controlled companies under dissolu-
tion for subsequent liquidation or with recurrent losses, are 
adjusted to market value on a monthly basis, in which case the 

lower value is entered in the income statement, based on the 
principle of prudence.

Investments guaranteeing repurchase agreement (Repos) 
rights are entered separately in investments under the denom-
ination of investment repo rights, and valued by applying the 
procedure described in the paragraph above.

Accounts Receivable and Provision  
for Doubtful Accounts
Accounts receivable are the resources that grant the power to 
require a third party to fulfill the obligation contained therein, 
either in cash, goods or services, as agreed between the parties.

This includes the securities loaned to third parties and em-
ployees that are not negotiable on the market or are not intend-
ed for sale and are not valued at fair value and the balances of 
customers resulting from the sale of services.

Accounts receivable are entered using the cost method, 
which, when applicable, is adjusted according to the unit of 
measurement or functional currency agreed for payment. At 
the closing of the period, the recovery thereof is evaluated and 
any loss in value is recognized.

Provisions are recognized for doubtful accounts in the 
amount of the difference between the value expected to be re-
covered of the accounts receivable and the book value at which 
they have been entered. 

For the portfolio of regulated-market clients, the following 
percentages of the nonperforming loans are recognized as a 
provision, which are associated with the expiration dates.

 

Days of nonperforming loans
Coverage by 
socio-eco-

nomic level

Percentage 
of loans provi-

sioned
More than 180 and up to 360 
days 1, 2 and 3 40%

More than 360 days All 100%

For accounts receivable other than the regulated market, 100% 
of the balance past due for over 360 days is provisioned.

Subsidies and contributions
Includes the values granted by the State and those contributed 
by commercial and industrial users from socio-economic levels 
5 and 6 to fund subsidies for users from socio-economic levels 
1, 2 and 3. Level 4 users are charged the reference cost; that is 
to say, it does not cover the contribution and it does not receive 
any subsidies.

Contributions paid by users of the public utility of electric-
ity are to be billed and collected by the entities providing res-
idential public services for use in accordance with the special 
regulations in force. Subsidies and contributions are recorded 
separately and broken down in accounts receivable.
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Rate Years
Constructions and buildings 5% 20

Civil works associated with hydro-
electric generation plants and 
transmission lines

1% - 2% 50– 100

Substations and electromechani-
cal equipment of the hydroelectric 
generation plants

2% 50

Thermal power plants and genera-
tion ducts

4% 25

Electronic equipment and machin-
ery associated with the generation 
plants

4% 25

Networks, lines and cables 4% 25

Office equipment 10% 10

Furniture, appliances and dining 
room, medical and scientific equip-
ment  

10% 10

Transportation equipment 20% 5
Computer and communication 
equipment

20% 5

We do not estimate any residual values to be recorded for assets 
because they are not considered significant; therefore, they are 
depreciated in full. Maintenance and repair expenses are re-
corded to the statement of income. The costs of major mainte-
nance are debited to the income statement when it is actually 
carried out.

Asset Valuation Methods
Subject to technical standards, accepted valuation criteria in-
clude historic value or cost, current or replacement cost, net re-
alizable value or market value and present or discounted value.
a  Historic value or cost: The value that represents the origi-

nal amount obtained in cash or the equivalent thereof upon 
execution of an economic activity.

b  Current or replacement cost: The value that represents the 
amount in cash that would be consumed to replace an asset 
or required to settle an obligation at present.

c  Net realizable or market value: The value that represents 
the amount in cash that the asset is expected to be con-
verted or the liability settled during the ordinary course of 
business.

d  Present or discounted value: The value that represents the 
present value of the net cash inflows or outflows that an 
asset or liability would generate.

Property, plant and equipment are valued by the net realizable 
value or market value method and the replacement cost, less 
the corresponding depreciation.

As a result of the accounting recognition of subsidies and 
contributions, there is a deficit between the subsidies granted 
and the contributions received from users of socio-economic 
levels 5 and 6 and non-residential users, as well as the contri-
butions made by the Nation through the Ministry of Mines and 
Energy, which results in the recognition of an account receiv-
able from the Ministry.

Inventories 
Inventories are entered in the books at cost, which is deter-
mined based on the weighted average real cost method. Every 
year, the obsolescence of the inventory is evaluated and the 
provision is entered, if necessary. This primarily corresponds to 
long-term replacement parts which are consumed over a time 
greater than one year.

Expenses paid in advance
Expenses paid in advance are mainly insurance premiums that 
are amortized during the effect of the policy.

Property, plant, equipment and depreciation
Property, plant and equipment are entered in the books at cost 
and adjusted for inflation up to December 31, 2006. As relevant, 
they include financing costs and exchange rate differences for 
liabilities in foreign currency that have been contracted for ac-
quisition, until the conditions of use are in place.

The property, plant and equipment transferred to Empre-
sa de Energía del Pacífico S.A. E.S.P. by Corporación Autóno-
ma Regional del Valle del Cauca (CVC), on January 1, 1995 in 
accordance with the restructuring of the entity, were entered 
in books based on the values established by the Government 
through resolutions from the Ministry of Finance, plus subse-
quent adjustments for inflation up to December 2005.

As for projects under construction, all concepts directly 
related to construction and assembly will be subject to capital-
ization, including social and environmental costs. In addition, 
interest costs and other costs related to the loans received and 
used to finance the construction and assembly can be capital-
ized as the higher value of the asset under construction until 
they can be put into use.

Sold and retired assets are deducted from the respective 
adjusted net cost. Differences between sale price and the ad-
justed net cost are recorded to the statement of income. The 
cost of additions or improvements that increase the efficiency 
or extend the life of the asset is capitalized in the account of 
the respective asset.

Depreciation is calculated based on the adjusted cost using 
the straight line method and based on the likely useful life of 
the assets at annual rates of:
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Commercial appraisals are conducted to carry out the net 
realizable or replacement value valuation. These must be car-
ried out at least every three calendar years. To carry out these 
appraisals, by legal regulation, an exception is made for those 
assets with an adjusted value of less than twenty (20) legal min-
imum monthly salaries.

Appraisals are carried out by firms of specialists have no 
relation to the company or its controlled companies that 
could lead to conflicts of interest. That means that there are 
no connections, relations or parallel transactions between the 
appraiser and the companies that involve an interest that ob-
structs or potentially obstructs a fair and balanced declaration 
adjusted to the reality of the subject of the appraisal.

Based on the above, if the net adjusted cost of the property, 
plant and equipment is greater than its net realizable value, a 
provision is recorded to the statement of income for the year; 
otherwise, a valuation is recorded to the revaluation reserve. 

Deferred Charges
All costs for project studies carried out in the development 
phase, and for which future benefits are expected to be ob-
tained are recorded as deferred charges.

When the construction of the project begins, charges are 
transferred to the projects under construction account.

Costs incurred during the project research phase are re-
corded as expenses.

Feasibility and project status are evaluated annually, con-
sidering its pertinence in the financial statements. 

In addition, deferred changes include the balances of the 
debit and credit accounts for deferred monetary correction, 
which is amortized against the profit and loss statement in 
the proportion assigned to the cost of the assets that gave rise 
thereto using the same depreciation or amortization system 
used for said assets.

Assets acquired under leasing
The rights from the goods received through leasing with and 
option to buy are recorded in assets acquired through leasing.

Intangibles
Intangibles represent resources that imply a right or privilege 
effective against third parties whose exercise or use can result 
in economic benefits over several future periods. Items such as 
rights, goodwill, licenses, software and easements are classified 
in this category.

The cost of these assets consist of clearly identifiable ex-
penditures incurred. To recognize the contribution thereof to 
the generation of revenue, they are amortized systematically 
during their useful life.

The amount paid over the book value for the purchase of 
companies regarding which the company has or acquires con-
trol is entered as goodwill acquired. Goodwill acquired must be 
amortized over the same period in which the investment is ex-

pected to be recovered, without in any case exceeding twenty 
(20) years.

Appreciation and Depreciation
The appreciation and depreciation of assets that are part of eq-
uity include:

a  Surplus or default market or intrinsic value of long-term 
investments in uncontrolled companies at the end of the 
period based on net adjusted value.

b  Surplus of technical appraisals of property, plant and equip-
ment on the respective net adjusted costs.

Borrowings
Obligations assumed by the company with credit establish-
ments or other financial institutions in the country and abroad.

The value initially entered is the principal amount of the 
obligation, net of the costs incurred in the transaction. Borrow-
ing costs that do not increase capital are entered as accumulat-
ed expenses payable.

Accounting overdrafts resulting from the transaction at the 
end of the accounting period are also included.

Bonds
Obligations assumed by the companies with investors.

The initially recorded value is the principal received from 
the bond placement. Expenses for interest that do not in-
crease capital are entered as accumulated expenses payable.  

Investment Repurchase Agreements
Records the funds received by the companies using its invest-
ments to guarantee repurchase agreements.   

Derivative instruments
For derivative transactions based on the exchange rate, the ef-
fects of comparison of the spot rate on the date of valuation and 
the forward rate deducted using generally accepted financial 
methodologies are recorded to the period's statement of income.

Accounts payable
Obligations assumed by the company and its controlled com-
panies from goods or assets received.  Accounts payable are 
entered using the cost method, which, when applicable, is ad-
justed according to the measurement or functional currency 
agreed for payment.

Taxes, Levies, and Fees
The value of the general and mandatory amounts payable to 
the State by the company and its controlled companies, deter-
mined based on the private liquidations generated during the 
respective fiscal period. It includes, among others, income tax 
and related taxes, equity tax and industry and commerce tax.
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Income tax and the income tax for equality (CREE) for the 
period are determined based on the clearing of the reported 
income taking into account the tax provisions in force. After 
cleaning, taxes payable are calculated based on liquid income 
estimates, taking into consideration the income tax for equality.

Based on the legal provisions, the company and its con-
trolling companies providing residential public utility services 
are not required to calculate presumptive income to determine 
taxable liquid income.

The effect of the temporary differences from a higher or 
lower tax payment in the current year, calculated at current 
rates, is entered in books, provided there is a reasonable expec-
tation that the differences will be resolved.
 The recognition of equity tax created by Emergency De-
cree No. 4825 / December 2010 is charged in full to the account 
of equity revaluation. If the equity revaluation account does 
not have the balance to enter the tax, the amount correspond-
ing to the annual payment is charged to the income statement. 
These entries are made as established in Decree 514 / 2010.

Labor and Comprehensive Social Security Obligations
Labor obligations include personnel benefits to be paid by the 
companies to employees as established under current legal 
regulations and labor conventions. These obligations consist 
mainly of severance pay, interest on severance pay, vacation 
and service bonuses.

During the period, the global estimates corresponding to 
these benefits are entered and their exact value is adjusted at 
the end of the period to determine the amount payable to each 
employee in accordance with the legal provisions.

Retirement pensions
The present value of all future monthly payments to be made 
by Energía del Pacífico S.A. E.S.P. and Compañía de Electrici-
dad de Tuluá S.A. E.S.P. to the staff who started working before 
Law 100 / 1993 was passed, the staff who the companies de-
cided to pay 100% of the monthly pension and the staff whose 
pension payments are shared with the Social Security Institute. 
The annual adjustments of the retirement pension liability di-
rectly payable by Empresa de Energía del Pacífico S.A. E.S.P. y 
Compañía de Electricidad de Tuluá S.A. E.S.P., corresponding to 
the older staff, are made based on actuarial studies pursuant to 
the legal regulations without the specific investment of funds. 
The deferred cost is charged gradually to the profit and loss state-
ment pursuant to the provisions of Decree 051 / January 13, 2003, 
which stipulates the gradual, systematic amortization of the lin-
ear actuarial calculation of retirement pensions up to 2023. The 
National Government extended the term to amortize the pension 
liability to 2029 with Decree 4565 / December 7, 2010. Pension 
payments are charged directly to the profit and loss statement.

Provision for Contingencies
Certain contingent situations may exist on the date of the con-

solidated financial statements. These may result in a future loss 
when one or more of these events occur or cease to exist. If 
the evaluation of the contingency indicates a probable quantifi-
able loss, it is entered in the consolidated financial statements. 
When the evaluation indicates that a potential for loss is not 
likely but the result thereof is uncertain or probable, but the 
amount of the loss cannot be estimated, the nature of the con-
tingency is recorded in the notes to the financial statements 
with the estimated range of the loss. Contingencies for which 
losses are estimated to be remote are not disclosed.

Suspense accounts
Commitments pending fulfillment and contingent rights or 
responsibilities, such as collateral issued or securities received 
in custody or as collateral, are entered in suspense accounts. 
This also includes the memorandum accounts used for effects 
of internal control of assets, management information or the 
control of future financial positions. Suspense accounts known 
as fiscal accounts are used to enter differences between the ac-
counting figures and the figures for tax effects. 
Accounting Estimates
In preparing the consolidated financial statements according 
to generally accepted accounting principles, certain estimates 
must be made by management that may affect the amounts of 
the assets, liabilities, income and expenses reported during the 
period, and for the entry of contingent assets and liabilities in 
suspense accounts.  The result may differ from these estimates.

Should a change later occur in the estimates or suppositions 
due to variations in the circumstances that gave rise thereto, 
the effect of the change would be included in determining the 
net profit or loss of the accounting period in which the change 
occurred and future periods, if applicable.

Net Profit Per Share
The net earning per share is calculated by dividing the year's 
profit or loss by the weighted average cost of the company's 
outstanding subscribed shares during the same period.

Recording revenue, costs and expenses
Revenue is recognized in the period's statement of income 
when there has been an increase in future economic benefits 
related to an increase in assets or a decrease in liabilities, and 
the value can be measured in a reliable manner. Upon recog-
nizing revenue, all the costs and expenses associated therewith 
are recognized.

Revenue from the power generation activity is mainly from 
energy sales through bilateral contracts to the regulated and 
unregulated market, the energy market, the Automatic Gener-
ation Control Service (AGC) and the Reliability Premium.

CREG Resolution 071 / 2006 approved the current meth-
odology for the payment of the Reliability Premium to Whole-
sale Energy Market (MEM in Spanish) generators.

The methodology for the payment of the transmission ac-
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tivity is known as a regulated revenue, which establishes the 
maximum yearly revenues paid to each transmitting party in 
accordance with the assets they actually hold in the National 
Transmission System (STN in Spanish). This revenue are col-
lected by charging for the use of the STN, which are paid by re-
sellers (demand) of the National Electrical Grid (SIN in Span-
ish). The billing and collection of the application of the fees for 
using the STN are centralized through the STN's Liquidator 
and Accounts Manager, who bills and liquidates these fees.

For the effects of payment of the distribution activity, 
CREG defines the payment applicable, which is revised every 
five years in accordance with the provisions established in the 
regulations. The methodology established for this payment has 
a quality factor associated with it. The next review of the pay-
ment fee is planned for 2014.

The reseller's revenues come from purchasing energy from 
the MEM and selling it to end users, which involves billing, 
measurement, collection, portfolio management and customer 
service activities, among others.

Revenue for the sale of energy in the regulated and 
non-regulated market are recorded based on the kilowatts used 
by customers, billed or not; the sale of ancillary services is re-
corded upon billing. The energy that is not billed at the end of 
the month is estimated based on internal and external informa-
tion provided by the energy market regulator.

Revenue from the sale of gas are recognized based on the 
nominations established in the gas resale contracts.

Costs and expenses are recognized in the period's state-
ment of income using the accrual accounting system. They are 
recognized when there has been a decrease in economic ben-
efits related to a decrease in assets or an increase in liabilities, 
and the value can be measured in a reliable manner.

Reclassification
Certain items in the financial statements for 2012 have been 
reclassified for comparison with the financial statements as at 
December 31, 2013. Activity-based costing was used to present 
cost of sales in 2012. In 2013, costs were directly related with 
the account plan established by the Superintendence of Public 
Services for both years.

Convergence of International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS)
In accordance with the provisions of Law 1314 / 2009 and Reg-
ulatory Decrees 2706 and 2784 / December 2012, the company 
is required to begin the process of convergence from the gen-
erally accepted accounting principles in Colombia to the In-
ternational Financial Reporting Standards - IFRS. In order to 
do so, the Technical Counsel for Public Accounting issued the 
Strategic Guidelines, classifying companies into three groups. 

In paragraph 48 of its Strategic Guidelines document, the 
Public Accounting Technical Committee has proposed that the 
accounting standards, financial information and data protec-

tion should be applied in different phases for the three groups 
of financial statement preparers. Group 1, Group 2 and Group 3.

Given that the company is in Group 1, it is required to begin 
transition on January 1, 2014 in compliance with the provisions 
established in Decree 2784 in the implementation schedule, 
which was prepared and approved by Management Organiza-
tions. In 2013, the Company finished organizational prepara-
tions, and it finished adapting information systems to permit 
issuing the Opening Balance (Statement of Financial Position 
and Opening Balance) on January 1, 2014. It will issue its first 
comparative financial statements under IFRS as at December 
31, 2015. Necessary systems changes were implemented, so 
that  special books will be kept to differentiate between ac-
counting in line with the IFRS standards, local standards and 
tax accounting standards, thus guaranteeing compliance with 
accounting norms in effect from 2014 forward.

It establishes that only for tax purposes will the remissions 
contained in the tax standards for accounting standards remain 
in force for the four years following the entry into effect of the 
IFRS. Consequently, during the stated time, the tax bases of 
the entries included in the tax declarations shall remain un-
modified. Likewise, the requirements of accounting processes 
for the recognition of special tax situations shall lose validity 
from the date of application of the new regulatory accounting 
framework. 

NOTA 4 Monetary Position in Foreign 
Currency, Net

Existing regulations allow the trade of foreign currency through 
banks and other financial institutions at free exchange rates. 
Nevertheless, for the companies, most transactions in foreign 
currency still require compliance with the legal provisions.  

Transactions and balances in foreign currency are convert-
ed using the representative exchange rate certified by the Fi-
nancial Superintendence of Colombia, which was used to pre-
pare the financial statements of the companies as at December 
31, 2013 and 2012. The representative exchange rate as of this 
date, expressed in Colombian pesos was COP 1,926.83 (2012 - 
COP 1,768.23) per dollar.
The following are the consolidated assets and liabilities of the 
company in foreign currency as at December 31:
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2013 2012

Dollars
Equivalent 

in millions of 
COP

Dollars
Equivalent 

in millions of 
COP

Current Assets

   Cash in foreign currency (Note 5) 8,814 17 9,733 17

   Banks in foreign currency (Note 5) 9,337,660 17,992 16,517,304 29,206

   Certificates of Term Deposit in foreign currency (Note 6) 20,182,811 38,889 - -

   Investment fund managed abroad (Note 6) 12,473,332 24,034 11,215,219 19,831

42,002,617 80,932 27,742,256 49,054

Current Liabilities

   Borrowings (Note 15) (1) (15,789,473) (30,424) (15,789,481) (27,920)

   Interest Payable (Note 15) (810,797) (1,562) (960,956) (1,699)

   Foreign Suppliers (Note 17) (7,736,351)    (14,907) (4,505,122)   (7,966)

(24,336,621) (46,893) (21,255,559) (37,585)

Non-current Liabilities

   Borrowings (Note 15) (1) (86,842,105) (167,330) (102,631,579) (181,476)

(86,842,105) (167,330) (102,631,579) (181,476)

Net monetary position, liability   (69,176,109) (133,291)   (96,144,882) (170,007)

(1)  For 2013 and 2012, it is the balance on a loan disbursed 
by the International Finance Corporation (IFC), Corporación 
Andina de Fomento (CAF) and Deutsche Investitions-Und-
Entwicklugsgesellsd MBH (DEG) to finance the construction 
of the Flores IV Project.

In 2013, COP 12,970 was entered as net expenditure for the 
exchange difference (2012 - net income COP 25,589).  

The exchange difference revenue recorded in the financial 
statements was COP 13,906 (2012 - COP 42,803) and the re-
corded expenditure was COP 26,876 (2012 - COP 17,214).

NOTE 5 Cash

As at December 31, cash consisted of:

2013 2012
Cash, includes USD 8,814 (2012 - USD 

9,733) 10,527 52

Bank checking accounts USD 9,337,660 
(2012 - USD 16,517,304) 37,458 32,240

Savings bank accounts 152,699 267,493

200,684 299,785

The average rate of return on the savings accounts was 4.07% 
EAR. (2012 - 5.62% EAR).

For 2013 and 2012, there were no restrictions on cash that 
limited its use.

NOTE 6 Temporary Investments

As at December 31, temporary investments consisted of:
 

2013 2012
Investment fund managed 

in Colombia (1) 301,456 249,744 

Trust rights (2) 151,228 49,428 

Certificates of Term Deposit (3) 111,021 40,926 

Repo Operations (4) 62,477 -

Public and Private Debt Bonds (5) 29,065 40,682

Investment fund managed abroad (6)          24,034        19,831 
Collection management trusts for energy 

sales (7) 17,794 21,894 
Investments in shares (8) - 19,630 
Fixed income securities (TES)               - 2,307

697,075 444,442
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(3)  Certificates of fixed-term deposit placed at an average inter-
est rate of 5.34% (2012 - 6.67%).

2013 2012
Abroad

  Bancolombia Puerto Rico, 
  USD 10,102,603 19,466           -

  Bancolombia Panamá,  
  USD 10,080,208 19,423 -

38,889 -

National

  Banco Caja Social 38,370 -

  Bancolombia S. A. 17,661 1,519

  CorpBanca Colombia S. A. 4,038 -

  Findeter S. A. 3,557 10,273

  Banco de Occidente S. A. 3,434 10,304

  Leasing Bancolombia S. A. 2,547 -

  Tuya S. A. 1,510 1,510

  Colpatria S. A. 1,015 1,011

  Banco de Bogotá S. A. - 12,231

  Banco de Santander S. A. - 2,032

  Bancoldex - 2,020

  BBVA S. A. - 6

  Other               - 20

72,132 40,926

111,021 40,926

(4)  Repo operations issued by the following entities:

2013
Grupo Aval Acciones y Valores S. A. 18,105
Grupo Nutresa S. A. 14,797
Banco de Bogotá S. A. 10,223
Corficolombiana S. A. 9,155
Interconexión Eléctrica S. A. E. S. P. 7,049
Bancolombia S. A. 2,657
Ecopetrol S. A. 315
Isagen S. A. E. S. P 176

62,477

(5)  Other fixed income investments are as follows:

2013 2012

Bonds issued by financial entities (a) 21,832 36,287
TIDIS 7,027 -

Other        206 4,395

   29,065 40,682

(1)  Investment funds managed in Colombia:

2013 2012
Valores Bancolombia S. A. 163,244 111,087

BTG Pactual S.A. (previously Bolsa y Renta 
S.A.) 87,437 121,843

Correval S. A. 37,227 6,609

Corredores Asociados S. A. 11,146 7,705

Ultrabursátiles S. A. 1,182 1,404

Fondo Capital Privado 1,076 889

Serfinco Corporativo 144 141

Other Entities - 66

301,456 249,744

  In December 2013, Celsia issued ordinary bonds to pay off 
debt (Notes 15 and 16). Funds remaining, after paying off 
the corresponding financial entities, were invested in fixed 
income financial instruments with AA+ credit ratings and in 
highly liquid mutual funds. COP 12,225 was invested. 

 
  The average rate of return on investment funds managed in 

Colombia was 4.71% EAR. (2012 - -7.13% EAR).

(2) Trust rights:
 

2013 2012
HSBC Fiduciaria S.A.  (a) 146,930 49,269

Others 4,298 159

151,228 49,428

 (a)  Trust rights that Zona Franca Celsia S. A. E. S. P., as 
trustor, has in the Fideicomiso Termoflores, for COP 
146,930 (2012 - COP 49,269), management, collec-
tion and payment trust that is managed by HSBC Fi-
duciaria S. A. The use of said resources is conditional 
to the fulfillment of obligations and guarantees of the 
credit contract signed between Zona Franca Celscia S. 
A. E. S. P. and Banca Multilateral.
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NOTE 7 Accounts receivable, net

As at December 31, the balance of accounts receivable consist-
ed of:

2013 2012
Clients (1) 230,304 250,247

Advances and prepayments (2) 91,923 33,425

Advance payments or balances of tax 
refunds (3) 13,330 8,090

Other accounts receivable (4) 28,749 30,234

364,306 321,996

Less provision for accounts receivable  (46,168) (45,119)

318,138 276,877

Less short-term accounts receivable (305,748) (273,375)

Long-term accounts receivable 12,390       3,502

(1) The balance of clients corresponds to:

2013 2012
Sale of power generation services and 

sale of electricity (a) 222,634 242,425
Sale of gas resale services 7,092 7,523

Sale of other goods and services 578        299

230,304 250,247

 (a)  In 2012, includes subsidies provided to customers for 
energy services of COP 11,969, which were paid by 
the Ministry of Mines and energy in 2013. Additional-
ly, it includes receivables from customers that signed 
economic restructuring agreements, pursuant to law 
550/1999 for COP 2,314 (2012 - COP 1,647) and com-
panies under the intervention of the Superintendence 
of Public Services for COP 6,087 (2012 - COP 6,190). 

(2)  Prepayments and advances delivered to the following third 
parties:

2013 2012
Bravo Petroleum Logistic Colombia (a) 32,300 -

Producción de Energía S. A. S. (b) 21,215 7,290

For the construction of the Cucuana 
hydroelectric plant (c) 10,226 12,615

Siemens S. A.  (d) 6,053 -

Alstom Brasil Ltda. (e) 5,188 -

For the acquisition of lots in Barranquilla 
(f) 2,202 -

Geominas S. A. 1,656 -

 (a)  Includes mainly bonds issued by the following entities 
with a rate of return of 5.34% EAR (2012 – 6.67% EAR):

2013 2012
Empresas Públicas de Medellín E. S. P.   8,159           -

Leasing Corficolombiana S. A. 5,436 2,043

Bancolombia S. A. 3,462 1,046

Interconexión Eléctrica S. A. E. S. P. 2,761 1,583

Banco Davivienda S. A. 2,014 -

Leasing Bancolombia S. A. - 14,192 

Banco Popular S. A. - 7,088

Ecopetrol S. A. - 5,148

Valores Bancolombia S. A. - 1,118

Tuya S. A. - 1,008

UNE S.A. E. S. P. - 1,020

Gas Natural S. A. E. S. P. - 1,012

Grupo Nutresa S. A. - 530

BBVA S.A.            -      499

 21,832 36,287

(6)  The investment fund managed abroad with COP 24,034, 
USD 12,473,332 (2012 - COP 19,831, USD 11,215,219), 
is comprised of:

2013 2012
Morgan Stanley 12,693 9,457

Centennial Absolute Return Series I 4,990 4,224

Goldman Sachs 3,435 3,464

Centennial Global Macro 1,648 1,612

Centennial Absolute Return Series II 1,268 1,074

24,034 19,831

  The average rate of return was 8.55% EAR. (2012 - -7.62% 
EAR).

(7)  Trusts with Fiduciaria BBVA and Fiduciaria Bancolombiato 
manage energy sales revenue collection.

(8)  In 2013, 2,311,799 shares of Ecopetrol S. A. and 235,000 
preferred shares of Bancolombia for COP 16,799

For 2013, none of these investments have restrictions on use.
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of said company were sold to Promigas S. A. E. S. P., 
generating the respective account receivable for COP 
6,046. 

(3)  Advance payments or tax balances receivable:

2013 2012
Advance payment of income tax and 

related taxes 4,984 -
Withholding tax and Income tax for equal-

ity (CREE) withholding 2,017 -
Advance payment of Santiago de Cali 

Industry and Commerce Tax 1,971 1,589
Medellín Industry and Commerce tax 

credit 1,583 2,998
Withholding of Income tax and income tax 

for equality (CREE) 1,550 -
Income tax and related taxes credit (Note 

18) 746 3,016
Withholding of Tuluá Industry and Com-

merce Tax 467 487
Advance payment of Industry and Com-

merce Tax other municipalities 12 -

 13,330 8,090

(4) Other accounts receivable contains the following:

2013 2012
Promigas S. A. E. S. P. (a) 6,046 -

Judicial deposits (b) 3,133 -

Collectors 2,894 2,217

Employee loans 2,266 1,916

Dividends receivable 1,978 811

Account Receivable in Default 1,545 1,545

Pension quota shares 1,418 1,310

Ministry of Finance and Public Credit 515 515

Municipality of Dagua 436 436

Joint ventures for collection 41 2,071

Cartón de Colombia S. A. - 9,579

Claims to insurance companies - 630

Claims to third parties - 586

Deposits made for services - 463

Sedic S. A. - 453

Deposits made as collateral - 116

Other accounts receivable 8,477 7,586

28,749 30,234

 (a)  Balance receivable from the assignment of share 
ownership in Sociedad Porturaria LNG Barú S.A.S. 
E.S.P.

2013 2012
Electric energy providers 1,027 2,041

Palmaseo S. A. E. S. P. 911 840

Toshiba International Corporation 828 828

B&V Ingeniería S. A. S. (c) 675 801

Sociedad Portuaria LNG Barú S. A. S.  
E. S. P. (g) - 2,409

Asea Brown Boveri Ltda. - 1,837

Edificio Centro Santillana P. H. - 786

Prepayments for services, supplies, parts 
and customs agents 9,642 3,978

91,923 33,425

 a)  In 2013, corresponds to prepayments made for the 
construction of storage tanks that will Zona Franca Cel-
sia S. A.  E. S. P. a supply of fuel to back their firm en-
erygy obligations (OEF in Spanish).

 (b)  In 2012, the company signed the share purchase 
agreement entered into with Int. A Dos S.A.S., a sub-
sidiary of Integral S.A., to acquire 100% of the shares 
in the Producción de Energía S.A.S. E.S.P., owner of the 
Porvenir II hydroelectric plant. In 2013, COP 13,925 in 
advance payments were made (2012 - COP 7,290) for 
the construction of Porvenir II.

    In 2013, amendments to the contract were signed 
in order to extend the term to complete the acquisition 
of the shares issued by the aforementioned company 
given that some of the conditions established for the 
transfer thereof have not been met. The last amend-
ment extends the term to complete the acquisition of 
shares issued through July 31, 2014.

 c)  In 2013 y 2012, corresponds to resources disbursed by 
Banco de Occidente S. A. for the leasing contract for the 
construction  of the Cucuana hydroelectric  plant being 
carried out by Empresa de Energía del Pacífico S. A. E. 
S. P.

 d) Prepayment to purchase equipment.

 e)  Prepayment for to purchase a generator for the Río Pie-
dras plant.

 f)  Prepayments for the acquisition of lands and buildings 
in Barranquilla, surrounding Zona Franca Celsia S. A. E. 
S. P. facilities, to carry out the noise emission control 
program.

 g)  In 2012, prepayment for future capitalizations of Socie-
dad Portuaria LNG Barú S. A. E. S. P. In 2013, shares 
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NOTE 8 Inventory, net

As at December 31, the balance of inventory consisted of:

2013 2012
Materials, supplies, consumables, parts 

and accessories (1) 53,535 53,894
Inventory in transit (2) 3,178 1,707
Other inventory 507      216

57,220 55,817
Less provision for inventories (3)   (12)    (121)

57,208 55,696
Less short-term portion (10,603) (8,398)
Long-Term Portion   46,605 47,298

(1)  These are generation materials, supplies and consumables 
kept at the different generation plants of the companies. 
It also includes parts for use in electric power generation 
plants. 

(2)  Primarily replacement parts in transit for Zona Franca Cel-
sia S.A. E.S.P. plants.

(3)  In 2013, a provision of COP 5 was created and inventory of 
COP 114 was written off.

There are no limits for the use of the inventories.

 (b)  Judicial deposits consigned to the Banco Agrario to 
guarantee legal proceedings underway for Empresa de 
Energía del Pacífico S. A. E. S. P.

As at December 31, the provision is formed on the balances of 
accounts receivable for COP 46,168 (2012 - COP 45,119).

Below are the provision transactions of the year:

2013 2012
Starting balance 45,119 44,239

Increase of the provision in the year (Note 
26) (1) 3,262 4,799

Decrease in the provision of accounts 
receivable (2,213)

(3,919)

Ending balance 46,168 45,119

(1)  In 2013, a provision was created for the regulated market 
for COP 1,726, public lighting for COP 791, specifically for 
the municipalities of San Pedro and Andalucía, customers 
in the Corporate Restructuring Law for COP 573 and oth-
er accounts receivable for COP 172. In 2012, the official 
uncollectible debt provision was primarily created for the 
municipality of Palmira for COP 1,850, regulated market cli-
ents for COP 1,518 and other accounts receivable for COP 
952.

In 2013, COP 2,213 was written off the official portfolio 
with the municipality of Palmira (COP 1,850) and of cus-
tomers of the regulated market (COP 363) (2012 - COP 
192). In 2012, it includes a write-off of COP 2,419 corre-
sponding mainly to balances receivable from Endecolsa for 
COP 1,675, a customer of the regulated and non-regulated 
market and clients of the regulated market for COP 192.

There are no levies or restrictions on the accounts receivable.
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NOTE 9 Long-Term Investments, Net

As at December 31, the net long-term investments consisted 
of: 

2013

Valuation 
Method

Date of 
intrinsic 
value or 
market 
value

Adjusted 
cost

Market 
value

Valuation 
(devalua-

tion) (Note 
14)

Dividends 
for the year

Grupo de Inversiones Suramericana S. A. Market December 85,496 353,423 267,927 3,496
Gestión Energética S. A. E. S. P. Intrinsic December 6,805 247  (6,558) - 
Colener S.A. Market December 3,462 675  (2,787) 8 
Gases de Occidente S. A. E. S. P. Intrinsic December 2,138 11,065 8,927 4,730 
Industria del Carbón del Valle del Cauca S. A. Intrinsic December 652 280  (372) - 
Corporacion Financiera Colombiana S. A.  Market December 650 2,518 1,868 192 
Transoccidente S. A. E. S. P. Intrinsic December 510 1,332 822 267 
Productora de Carbón de Occidente S.A. “En Liquidacion” Intrinsic December 469 469 - - 
EPM Ituango S. A. E. S. P. Intrinsic December 260 185  (75) - 
Centro de Eventos Valle del Pacífico Intrinsic December 152 167 15 - 
Gas Natural Fenosa Telecomunicaciones Colombia S. A. Intrinsic December 151 1,982 1,831 622 
Termosur S. A. E. S. P. Intrinsic December 108 35  (73) - 
Concentra Inteligencia en Energía S. A. S. Intrinsic December 84 77  (7) - 
Hidroeléctrica Ituango S. A. E. S. P. Intrinsic December 66 55  (11) 2 
Hidrosogamoso S. A. E. S. P. Intrinsic December 56 -  (56) - 
Electrificadora del Caribe S. A. E. S. P. Intrinsic December 463 469 6 - 
Emgesa S .A. E. S. P. Intrinsic December 17 16  (1) 2 
Siderúrgica del Pacífico S. A. “En liquidación” Intrinsic December 4 1 (3) -
Isagen S. A. E. S. P. Market December 3 9 6 - 
Sucroal S. A. (previously Sucromiles S. A.) Intrinsic December - 26 26 1
Other Intrinsic December 20  49 29 -
Total long-term investments in shares 101,566 373,080 271,514 9,320

Less provisions for long-term investments          (609)                -                -             - 
Net cost of long-term investments in shares 100,957 373,080 271,514 9,320
Shares in social clubs             103             61           (42)             - 

Total long-term investments      101,060    373,141    271,472 9,320
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2012

Valuation 
Method

Date of 
intrinsic 
value or 
market 
value

Adjusted 
cost

Market 
value

Valuation 
(deval-
uation) 

(Note 14)

Dividends 
for the year

Grupo de Inversiones Suramericana S. A.  Market December 85,496 391,850 306,354 3,176

Gestión Energética S. A. E. S. P. Intrinsic December 6,805 232 (6,573) -

Tablemac S. A. (1) Market December 3,462 704 (2,758) 14

Gases de Occidente S. A. E. S. P. Intrinsic December 2,138 11,145 9,007 2,670

Sociedad Portuaria LNG Barú S. A. S. E. S. P.(2) Intrinsic December 1,512 2,369 857 -

Industria del Carbón del Valle del Cauca S. A. Intrinsic December 652 273 (379) -

Corporacion Financiera Colombiana S. A. Market December 684 1,027 343 249

Transoccidente S. A. E. S. P. Intrinsic December 510 1,362 852 218

Productora de Carbón de Occidente S. A. “En liquidación” Intrinsic December 469 469 - -

Electrificadora del Caribe S. A. E. S. P. Intrinsic December 463 455 (8) -

EPM Ituango S. A. E. S. P. Intrinsic December 260 149 (111) -

Centro de Eventos Valle del Pacífico Intrinsic December 152 161 9 -

Gas Natural Fenosa Telecomunicaciones Colombia S. A. Intrinsic December 151 1,061 910 830

Termosur S. A. E. S. P. Intrinsic December 108 35 (73) -

Concentra Inteligencia en Energía S. A. S. Intrinsic December 84 74 (10) -

Hidroeléctrica Ituango S. A. E. S. P. Intrinsic December 66 55 (11) 1

Hidrosogamoso S. A. E. S. P. Intrinsic December 56 - (56) -

Emgesa S. A. E. S. P. Intrinsic December 17 17 - 2

Siderúrgica del Pacífico S. A. “En liquidación” Intrinsic December 4 1 (3) -

Isagen S. A. E. S. P. Market December 3 7 4 -

Sucroal S. A. (previously Sucromiles S. A.) Intrinsic December - 26 26 1

Other          20          49          29           -

Total long-term investments in shares 103,112 411,521 308,409 7,161

Less provisions for long-term investments      (609)             -             -         -

Net cost of long-term investments in shares 102,503 411,521 308,409 7,161

Shares in social clubs        103          61        (42)         -

Total long-term investments 102,606 411,582 308,367 7,161

(1) In 2012, 19,733,075 shares of Tablemac were sold for COP 278, resulting in a loss of COP 573.

(2) In 2013, shares of this company were sold to Promigas S. A. E. S. P. for COP 6,046, generating profit of COP 86.
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Information about Long-term Investments

Additional information is presented below about the long-term investments in shares as at December 31, 2013:

Economic Entity Economic Activity Type of Security
Amount of 
Shares and 

Contributions
% share

Industria del Carbón del Valle del Cauca S. A. Commercial Common share 1,081,748 30.90%

Productora de Carbón de Occidente S.A. “In process of settlement” Commercial Common share 817,278 13.91%

Transoccidente S. A. E. S. P. Energy Common share 18,540 10.00%

Gas Natural Fenosa Telecomunicaciones Colombia S. A. Commercial Common share 118,000 10.00%

Termosur S. A. E. S. P. Energy Common share 5 8.33%

Concentra Inteligencia en Energía S. A. S. Energy Common share 84,000 6.25%

Gases de Occidente S. A. E. S. P. Energy Common share 83,566 4.31%

Grupo de Inversiones Suramericana S. A. Investment Common share 10,311,822 2.19%

Hidrosogamoso S. A. E. S. P. Energy Common share 3 2.11%

Colener S.A. Manufacturing Common share 84,293,866 0.33%

Centro de Eventos Valle del Pacífico Commercial Common share 15,192 0.34%

Hidroeléctrica Ituango S. A. E. S. P. Energy Common share 45,324,496 0.08%

Gestión Energética S. A. Energy Common share 323,699,869 0.00%

Corporacion Financiera Colombiana S. A. Bank Common share 63,619 0.03%

Electrificadora del Caribe S. A. E. S. P. Common share 11,085,127 0.02%

EPM Ituango S. A. E. S. P. Energy Common share 177,077,504 0.02%

Siderúrgica del Pacífico S. A. “En liquidación” Commercial Common share 10,424 0.02%

Sucroal S. A. (previously Sucromiles S. A.) Commercial Common share 67 0.01%

Isagén S. A. E. S. P. Energy Common share 3,091 0.01%

Emgesa S.A. E.S.P. Energy Common share 433 0.00%

Additional information is presented below about the long-term investments in shares as at December 31, 2012:

Economic Entity Economic 
Activity Type of Security

Amount of 
Shares and 

Contributions
% share

Industria del Carbón del Valle del Cauca S. A. (1) Commercial Common share 1,081,748 30.90%

Sociedad Portuaria LNG Barú S. A. S. E. S .P. Energy Common share 2,500 25.00%

Productora de Carbón de Occidente S. A. “En liquidación” Commercial Common share 817,278 13.91%

Transoccidente S. A. E. S. P. Energy Common share 18,540 10.00%

Gas Natural Fenosa Telecomunicaciones Colombia S. A. Commercial Common share 118,000 10.00%

Termosur S. A. E. S. P. Energy Common share 5 8.33%

Concentra Inteligencia en Energía S. A. S. Energy Common share 84,000 6.25%

Gases de Occidente S .A. E. S. P. Energy Common share 83,566 4.31%

Grupo de Inversiones Suramericana S. A. Investment Common share 10,311,822 2.19%

Hidrosogamoso S. A. E. S. P. Energy Common share 3 2.11%

Colener S.A. Manufacturing Common share 84,293,866 0.33%

Centro de Eventos Valle del Pacífico Commercial Common share 15,192 0.34%

Hidroeléctrica Ituango S. A. E. S. P. Energy Common share 45,324,496 0.08%
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Economic Entity Economic 
Activity Type of Security

Amount of 
Shares and 

Contributions
% share

Gestión Energética S. A. Energy Common share 323,699,869 0.00%

Corporacion Financiera Colombiana S. A. Bank Common share 61,954 0.03%

Electrificadora del Caribe S. A. E. S. P. Energy Common share 11,085,127 0.02%

EPM Ituango S. A. E. S. P. Energy Common share 177,077,504 0.02%

Siderúrgica del Pacífico S. A. “En liquidación” Commercial Common share 10,424 0.02%

Sucroal S. A. (previously Sucromiles S. A.) Commercial Common share 67 0.01%

Isagén S. A. E. S. P. Energy Common share 3,091 0.01%

Emgesa S. A. E. S. P. Energy Common share 433 0.00%

The following are the companies in which there are invest-
ments of more than 10% as at December 31, 2013:

Industria de Carbón del Valle del Cauca S. A.
Industria de Carbón del Valle del Cauca S.A. was incorporat-
ed on September 11, 1981 by Public Deed No. 5193 of the 3rd 
Notary of Cali. The company's main corporate purpose is to 
explore and manage the coal deposits acquired in any capacity, 
anywhere on national territory, in accordance with the meth-
ods or systems deemed appropriate to achieve technification 
in the development thereof. The life of the company expires on 
December 10, 2078.

Sociedad Portuaria LNG Barú S. A. S. E. S. P.
Sociedad Portuaria LNG Barú S.A.S. E.S.P. was incorporated on 
May 13, 1988 by Public Deed No. 1839 of the 7th Notary of Bo-
gotá. 

The company's main corporate purpose is investment in 
construction and maintenance of ports and their management. 
It can also provide the services of loading, unloading and stor-
age in ports and other services directly related to port activity. 
Its registered business address is in Barranquilla and its life is 
indefinite.

In 2013, Colener S.A.S. sold its share of Sociedad Portuaria 
LNG Barú S.A.S. E.S.P. to Promigas S.A. E.S.P.

Productora de Carbón de Occidente S. A. 
“En liquidación”
Productora de Carbón de Occidente S.A. “In process of settle-
ment” was incorporated in Cali on August 5, 1975. Its main cor-
porate purpose is to conduct studies and manage and carry out 
all the actions necessary to improve and increase the exploita-
tion, exploration, mining, and sale of the coal existing in the 
deposits of southwestern Colombia. This investment has been 
provisioned in full.

Transoccidente S.A. E.S.P.
Transoccidente S.A. E.S.P. was incorporated in Cali, on March 
20, 1998. Its main corporate purpose is transporting combusti-
ble gas through the construction, operation and maintenance 
of transport systems and subsystems.

Gas Natural Fenosa Telecomunicaciones  
Colombia S. A.
Gas Natural Fenosa Telecomunicaciones Colombia S.A. was 
incorporated on April 19, 2001, in Cartagena, by Public Deed 
No. 1068. Its main corporate purpose is the management, 
exploitation, leasing and transfer of any type of rights to use 
the telecommunications infrastructure.  
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As at December 31, the valuation, devaluation and provisions of investments are as follows: 

2013
Appreciation Devaluation Provision

Grupo de Inversiones Suramericana S. A. 267,927 - -
Gases de Occidente S. A. E. S. P. 8,927 - -
Corficolombiana S. A. 1,868 - -
Gas Natural Fenosa Telecomunicaciones Colombia S. A. 1,831 - -
Transoccidente S. A. E. S. P. 822 - -
Sucroal S. A. (previously Sucromiles S. A.) 26 - -
Centro de Eventos Valle del Pacífico 15 - -
Isagén S. A. E. S. P. 6 - -
Electrificadora del Caribe S. A. E. S. P. 6 - -
Gestión Energética S. A. E. S. P. - (6,558) -
Colener S.A. - (2,787) -
Industria del Carbón del Valle del Cauca S. A. - (372) (140)
EPM Ituango S.A. E.S.P. - (75) -
Termosur S.A. E.S.P. - (73) -
Hidrosogamoso S. A. E. S. P. - (56) -
Shares in social clubs - (42) -
Concentra Inteligencia en Energía S. A. S. - (7) -
Others          26 (12) (469)

281,454 (9,982) (609)

 

2012
Appreciation Devaluation Provision

 306,354 - -
Gases de Occidente S. A. E. S. P. 9,007 - -
Gas Natural Fenosa Telecomunicaciones Colombia S. A. 910 - -
Sociedad Portuaria LNG Barú S. A. S. E. S. P. 857 - -
Transoccidente S.A. E.S.P. 852 - -
Corficolombiana S. A. 343 - -
Sucromiles S. A. 26 - -
Centro de Eventos Valle del Pacífico 9 - -
Isagén S. A. E. S. P. 4 - -
Gestión Energética S. A. E. S. P. - (6,573) -
Colener S.A. - (2,758) -
Industria del Carbón del Valle del Cauca S. A. - (379) (140)
EPM Ituango S.A. E.S.P. - (111) -
Termosur S.A. E.S.P. - (73) -
Hidrosogamoso S. A. E. S. P. - (56) -
Shares in social clubs - (42) -
Hidroeléctrica Ituango S. A. E. S. P. - (11) -
Concentra Inteligencia en Energía S. A. S. - (10) -
Electrificadora del Caribe S. A. E. S. P. - (8) -
Siderúrgica del Pacífico S. A. “En liquidación” - (3) -
Others 29             - (469)

318,391 (10,024) (609)
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For 2012, 67% of the shares in Empresa de Energía del Pacífico S.A. E.S.P. were pledged and posted as collateral to back the compa-
ny's borrowings from Bancolombia S.A. as follows:

Issuer Number of shares Guarantee Value

Empresa de Energía del Pacífico S. A. E. S. P. 116,462,020 977,510

Except for that mentioned in the previous paragraph for 2012, long-term investments do not have restrictions or levies that limit 
their execution or trading, as a result of backing company borrowings.

NOTE 10 Property, Plant and Equipment, net

As at December 31, net property, plant and equipment consisted of:

2013
Adjusted 

cost Depreciation  Net cost Commer-
cial value

Valuation 
(Note 14)

Land (1) 49,085 -   49,085 179,662 130,577 

Projects under construction (2) 366,456 -   366,456 366,456 -   

Machinery and equipment being installed 14,513 -   14,513 14,513 -   

Constructions and buildings (1) 337,446 66,250 271,196 360,988 89,792 

Plants, pipelines and tunnels (3) 3,020,159 955,508 2,064,651 3,601,263 1,536,612 

Networks, lines and cables (3) 800,023 283,671 516,352 626,586 110,234 

Machinery and equipment 111,979 71,096 40,883 40,932 49 

Furniture, appliances and office equipment 25,044 14,563 10,481 10,496 15 

Communication and computer equipment 74,639 63,075 11,564 11,572 8 

Transportation equipment 11,919 9,047 2,872 4,146 1,274

4,811,263 1,463,210 3,348,053 5,216,614 1,868,561

Less provision                  -                   -      (5,197)                  -                 - 

Total property, plant and equipment  4,811,263 1,463,210 3,342,856  5,216,614 1,868,561

2012
Adjusted 

cost Depreciation  Net cost Commer-
cial value

Valuation 
(Note 14)

Land (1) 38,936 - 38,936 95,831 56,895
Projects under construction (2) 388,250 - 388,250 388,250 -

Machinery and equipment being installed 11,391 - 11,391 11,391 -

Constructions and buildings (1) 327,062 59,508 267,554 312,692 45,138

Plants, pipelines and tunnels (3) 2,890,671 889,148 2,001,523 3,334,447 1,332,924

Networks, lines and cables (3) 760,697 263,019 497,678 692,872 195,194

Machinery and equipment 107,465 67,206 40,259 41,817 1,558

Furniture, appliances and office equipment 22,873 13,029 9,844 9,844 -

Communication and computer equipment 71,845 60,097 11,748 11,748 -

Transportation equipment      10,570        7,646        2,924        4,207        1,283

4,629,760 1,359,653 3,270,107 4,903,099 1,632,992

Less provision                -                -      (1,779)                 -                -

Total property, plant and equipment 4,629,760 1,359,653 3,268,328 4,903,099 1,632,992
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equipment being installed, COP 72,834 of construction un-
derway and COP 8,700 of intangibles (Note 13), to plants, 
pipelines and tunnels for COP 45,890 and to constructions 
and buildings for COP 76,076. 

(3)  Empresa de Energía del Pacífico S.A. E.S.P. invested in civ-
il works and purchased electromechanical equipment for 
energy generation plants for COP 130,457 in 2013. The in-
vestments for the plants were as follows: Alto Tuluá COP 
103.130, Alto Anchicayá COP 6.458, Salvajina COP 4.418, 
Prado COP 933 and Calima COP 15.518. For networks, lines 
and transformers, the company mainly invested in substa-
tions for COP 27,633, 34.5 kV and 13.2 kV networks for COP 
7,587 and distribution transformer for COP 1,973. 
  In 2013, Compañía de Electricidad de Tuluá S. A. E. S. 
P. mainly invested in the expansion of the Rumor plant for 
COP 1,225, 34.5 kV networks for COP 3,709, 13.2 kV net-
works for COP 579; in the modernization of equipment 
COP 1,432, in office remodeling for COP 418 and in conti-
nuity projects for COP 1,018. Furthermore, approximately 
COP 637 was invested in technology upgrades.
  Part of the increase in the plants, pipelines and tunnels, 
and networks, lines and cables accounts comes from trans-
ferring investments made in 2013 and previous years to the 
under construction account.
  Empresa de Energía del Pacífico S.A. E.S.P. invested in 
civil works and purchased electromechanical equipment 
for energy generation plants for COP 28,165 in 2012. The 
investments for the plant were as follows: Salvajina COP 
3,799, Alto Anchicayá COP 6,462, Bajo Anchicayá COP 
4,333, Calima COP 3,517, Amaime COP 331, Hidroprado 
COP 7,389, Nima I and II COP 578, Río Cali COP 1,756, 
which were charged to the property, plant and equipment 
account because they prolong the plants lives and improve 
their efficiency. Moreover, in 2012, investments were made 
in substations for COP 16,072; in distribution networks, 
mainly in control and measurement elements for COP 
7,802; in 115 kV networks for COP 1,095; in 13.2 kV networks 
for COP 25,296; in 34.5 kV networks for COP 3,129 and in 
distribution transformers for COP 2,860.
  In 2012, Compañía de Electricidad de Tuluá S. A. E. S. 
P. invested COP 1,414 in distribution networks, COP 295 in 
distribution transformers and COP 91 in 34 kV networks.
  Investments charged to the property, plant and equip-
ment account prolong the useful life of plants and improve 
their efficiency.
  

In 2013, Empresa de Energía del Pacífico S.A. E.S.P. carried out 
other investments, such as: installations of solar panels and ac-
quisition of electric cars and motorcycles for COP 3,060, loca-
tion improvements for COP 5,603, modernization of the trun-
cated system for generation plants for COP 2,489, in updates of 
distribution, sale and support area systems for approximately 

In 2013 and 2012, the following property, plant and equipment 
purchase and sale transactions were carried out:

(1)  In 2013, the company acquired buildings and lands in the 
amount of COP 13,589 to be used in Zona Franca Celsia S.A. 
E.S.P. business activities. Additionally, in 2013 COP 2,463 
was invested in the discharge tunnel to complete construc-
tion on the Hidromontañitas Power Plant. Between Febru-
ary and October 2012, the company acquired land for COP 
3,788 in Santa Rosa (Bolívar) and buildings for COP 45 in 
Barranquilla.
  Empresa de Energía del Pacífico S.A. E.S.P. purchased 
lots primarily to build the Alférez I Line. In 2012, it ac-
quired lands for the construction of the Alférez II substa-
tion for COP 2,300 and another lot for the 115 kV Jamundí 
substation for COP 731.

(2)  In 2013, Empresa de Energía del Pacífico S.A. E.S.P. con-
tinued making progress in its construction plan, where the 
main investments were in the following projects: acquisi-
tion of equipment and socio-environmental investment in 
the Cucuana Hydroelectric Plant for COP 9,196, and equip-
ment for the Bajo Tuluá Hydroelectric Plant for COP 13,797. 
Investments in networks, lines and substations are as fol-
lows: 13.2 kV network infrastructure COP 27,428, repower-
ing and relocating of 115 kV lines COP 5,796 and substation 
modernization COP 2,767.  
  In 2013, Zona Franca Celsia S. A. E. S. P. made progress 
in the construction of the infrastructure of liquid fuel stor-
age and the expansion of the electric energy substations.
  In 2012, Empresa de Energía del Pacífico S.A. E.S.P. 
made investments in the Alto Tuluá and Bajo Tuluá proj-
ects for COP 30,165, and investments in distribution sys-
tems. In the latter groups, investments were made for the 
modernization of the Tuluá and Buga substations (COP 
1,700 and 1,300, respectfully); the construction of the 115kV 
Palmaseca, Bahía substations (COP 6,000 and 1,000), the 
34.5kV Panamerica substation (COP 1,100), the modern-
ization of the 34.5kV El Recreo substation (COP 420), de-
signs for the construction of the 115kV Calima - Bahía line 
(COP 860), 34.5kV and 13.2 kV network architecture (COP 
6,900), 34.5 kV and 13.2 kV network improvements (COP 
5,900), 34.5 kV and 13.2 kV network repositioning (COP 
7,750) and works to control losses (COP 11,500. 
  In 2012, Compañía de Electricidad de Tuluá S. A. E. S. 
P. mainly invested in the following projects: modernization 
and repositioning equipment at Riofrío I for COP 455, Riof-
río II for COP 343 and El Rumor for COP 659, and network 
architecture for 1,300.
  In 2012, the company completed the construction of 
the Hidromontañitas Power Plant, investing COP 11,494 
during the year. As a result of the completion of the con-
struction, it transferred COP 40,432 of the machinery and 
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with with current legislation to be followed by independent 
specialists. Organización Noguera Camacho O.N.C. Ltda. ap-
praised the electric power generation assets, and by Lonja de 
Propiedad Raíz de Barranquilla y Avalúos de Colombia Valorar 
S.A., appraised real estate assets that have no relationship or 
operations involving the company. The replacement cost 
method was used to determine the cost of replacing said assets 
at new commercial value.  

The property, plant and equipment do not have restrictions 
or levies that limit their realization or trading.

The companies have sufficient insurance policies to pro-
tect its power generation assets, mainly covering material dam-
age caused by fire, explosion, short circuit, natural disasters, 
terrorism and other risks. For this purpose, the company and 
its controlled companies have taken various insurance policies, 
including the following, among others: 

COP 1,300 and the expansion of its IT infrastructure to imple-
ment International Financial Reporting Standards, renovation 
of the plant storage system, as well as the acquisition of new 
computers and systems to improve IT security for COP 2,500.

During the period ended on December 31, COP 110,886 
(2012 - COP 100,468) were recorded statement of income for 
depreciation of property, plant and equipment.

Empresa de Energía del Pacífico S. A. E. S. P. and Compañía 
de Electricidad de Tuluá S. A. E. S. P. appraised property, plant 
and equipment in 2013. Appraisal were carried out in line with 
with current legislation to be followed by independent special-
ists. Organización Noguera Camacho O.N.C. Ltda. for electric 
assets and Bienes y Desarrollos Ltda. for real estate assets.  
The company and Zona Franca Celsia S. A. E. S. P. appraised 
their operation assets in December 2013 and 2012 and its real 
estate assets in December 2013. The appraisal was done in line 

Insured goods Risk Covered Insured Value (*) Maturity

Assets of the Meriléctrica Power Plant associ-
ated with operations

Anticipated material damage and USD 125,882 12/24/2014

Assets associated with operations of the Rio 
Piedras Power Plant

Anticipated material damage and USD 55,646 12/24/2014

Assets associated with operations of the Hidro-
montañitas Power Plant

Anticipated material damage and USD 63,837 12/24/2014

Assets not associated with operations (invento-
ries, furniture and appliances)

Anticipated material damage and COP 92,262 7/15/2014

Assets of the Zona Franca Celsia S.A. E.S.P. 
plants associated with operations

Anticipated material damage and USD 606,300 12/24/2014

Assets associated with operations and head-
quarters of Empresa de Energía del Pacífico 
S.A. E.S.P. and Compañía de Electricidad de 
Tuluá S.A. E.S.P.

Anticipated material damage and USD 2,366,6607 12/24/2014

Construction and assembly of the Cucuta 
Hydroelectric Plant

Anticipated material damage and lost 
profit 

USD 118,784 11/1/2014

Construction and assembly of the Bajo Tulua 
Hydroelectric Plant

Anticipated material damage and lost 
profit

USD 47,943 9/29/2014

(*) Expressed in thousands of USD or millions of COP.
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of the project, in compliance with the leasing agreements 
signed in 2010.

In 2013 and 2012, the depreciation of the assets under finance 
lease were not recorded to the statement of income.

NOTE 13  Intangibles, Net

As at December 31, the net intangibles consisted of:

 

2013 2012
Acquired goodwill (1) 320,476 320,476

Licences and software (2) 61,367 58,551

Easements      1,360      1,360

Rights and others 13 13

383,216 380,400

Less accumulated amortization (115,089) (94,879)

  268,127 285,521

(1)  Goodwill paid in the acquisition of Empresa de Energía del 
Pacifico S.A. E.S.P., for COP 254,621; Zona Franca Celsia 
S.A. E.S.P., for COP 43,719; Generar S.A. E.S.P., for COP 
20,078; Hidromontañitas S.A. E.S.P., for COP 1,050; Com-
pañía de Electricidad de Tuluá S.A. E.S.P., for COP 895 and 
Meriléctrica S.A., for COP 113.

   Goodwill is amortized over 20 years, using the straight-
line method.

(2) In 2013,  licenses and software for COP 2,816 were ac-
quired

As a result of the termination of the power purchase agreement 
signed between Empresa de Energía del Pacífico S. A. E. S. P. and 
Termovalle S. C. A. E. S. P., that was in effect until August 2020, 
was recognized as an intangible because of rights generated or 
derived from the contract until July 2012. The intangible was 
determined as the present value of the payments on account 
of the Reliability Premium and operating and maintenance ex-
penses. Pursuant to the commitments derived from this agree-
ment, Empresa de Energía del Pacífico S.A. E.S.P. was making a 
monthly payment that included, in addition to the compensa-
tion for contracted capacity, a fixed charge for the operation and 
maintenance of the plant. It was amortized on a straight-line ba-
sis during the agreement's term. At the close of each accounting 
period, the contingencies of lost value of the right were recog-
nized due to indications or facts that affected the value thereof.

During the period, COP 13,028 (2012 - COP 714) was recorded 
to the statement of income for amortization.

NOTE 11 Deferred Charges, Net

As at December 31, the net deferred charges consisted of:

2013 2012
Organization and start up expenses (1) 28,306 28,306

Studies and projects (2) 13,075 33,117

Deferred monetary correction 10,653 10,937

Deferred tax     5,703 8,783

57,737 81,143

Less accumulated amortization (26,560) (17,386)

31,177 63,757

(1)  It corresponds to the preoperative and start-up costs of the 
Río Piedras and Meriléctrica power generation plants. The 
amortization is calculated over the adjusted cost, using the 
straight-line method.

(2)  In 2013, Empresa de Energía del Pacífico S. A. E. S. P. 
amortized costs from studies incurred from the Ovejas 
project and the associated deferred monetary correction 
(Note 21), generating a cost of COP 3,854. Furthermore, 
COP 7,173 of deferred charges account was reclassified 
to the under construction account, because those charges 
are expenditures for Cucuana plant studies. This plant is 
currently under construction.

   In 2012, the following were recorded mainly to the ac-
count of studies and projects: COP 498 for the Ovejas Proj-
ect, COP 1,844 for the Cucuana Project, COP 8,000 for the 
Porvenir III Project and COP 2,090 in technological innova-
tion projects.

   In 2013, deferred charges for studies and projects in-
creased COP 1,670.

During the period, COP 13,028 (2012 - COP 714) were recorded 
to the statement of income for amortization.

NOTE 12 Goods acquired under leasing

The assets acquired under finance leasing as at December 31 
included:

2013 2012
Assets acquired under finance lease (1) 163,309 71,276

(1)  Assets acquired under leasing are represented in con-
structions and equipment of the Cucuana hydroelectric 
plant corresponding to the funds provided by Banco de 
Occidente S.A. to the providers as part of the construction 
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   In 2013, long-term borrowings with Banco de Occidente 
S. A. increased COP 88,856 (2012 - COP 34,251), fulfilling 
the leasing contract signed in 2010 by Empresa de Energía 
del Pacífico S. A. E. S. P. for the construction of the Cucuana 
hydroelectrical plant.

As at December 31, 2013, the breakdown of short-term borrow-
ings was as follows:

Entity Interest Rate Bal-
ance

Foreign financial institutions

Corporación Andina de Fomento 
(CAF), USD 6,578,947 Libor + 4.7% 12,677

International Finance Corporation 
(IFC), USD 6,578,947 Libor + 6% 12,677

Deutsche Investitions-Und-Entwick-
lungsgesellschaft MBH DEG, USD 
2,631,579 Libor + 6% 5,070

30,424

Other Entities

Medellín Archdiocese 13.5% EAR 680

Interests payable, includes USD 
810,797 2,631

Bancolombia credit cards        110

2,741

  33,845

As at December 31, 2012, the breakdown of short-term borrow-
ings was as follows:

Entity Interest Rate Balance

National financial institutions

   Banco Davivienda S. A.
CDT90 + 2.85% 
quarterly

44,667

   Banco de Bogotá S. A.
CDT90 + 2.5% 
quarterly

36,667

   Bancolombia S. A. CPI + 5.8% EAR    13,604

Renting Colombia S. A. 5.15% EAR 21

94,959

Foreign financial institutions

Corporación Andina de Fomento 
(CAF), USD 6,578,948 Libor + 4.7% 11,633

International Finance Corporation 
(IFC), USD 6,578,948

Libor + 6% 11,633

NOTE 14 Appreciation and Depreciation, Net

As at December 31, the net appreciation and depreciation con-
sisted of:

2013 2012
Appreciation of long-term invest-

ments (Note 9) 281,454 318,391
Depreciation of long-term invest-

ments (Note 9) (9,982) (10,024)

271,472 308,367
Appreciation of property, plant and 

equipment (Note 10) 1,868,561 1,632,992
2,140,033 1,941,359

NOTE 15 Borrowings 

As at December 31, the borrowings consisted of:

2013 2012
National Banks (1) 173,487 889,379
Banks abroad, USD 102,631,579 

(2012 - USD 118,421,060) 197,754 209,396
Commercial Financing Companies - 21
Interest payable includes USD 

810,797 (2012 - includes USD 
960,956) 2,631 6,977

Other Entities           680           681

374,552 1,106,454

Less Short-Term Borrowings (33,845) (130,877)

Long-term borrowings 340,707   975,577

(1)  As a result of a COP 800,000 ordinary bond placement 
carried out by the company on December 11, 2013, and 
pursuant to the company's Prospectus Information, the 
company proceeded to replace one hundred percent of 
the current financial liabilities with the commercial bank.  
 
Payments for capital were made as follows: Bancolom-
bia COP 676,259 and Banco de Bogotá COP 110,000, 
for a total of COP 786,259. Payments for interest were 
made as follows: Bancolombia COP 1,359 and Banco 
de Bogotá COP 157, for a total of COP 1,516. (Note 16). 

   In addition to previously mentioned payments, in 2013 
borrowings of COP 111,667 were paid to Bano Davivienda, 
among others.
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Interest Rate Balance Year of 
Maturity

Banco de Bogotá S. A. CDT90 + 2.5% 
quarterly

36,667 2014

36,667 2015

Banco Davivienda S. A. CDT90 + 2.85% 
quarterly

44,667 2014

22,333 2015

Bancolombia S. A. CPI + 5.8% EAR 17,533 2014

25,131 2015

526,581 2016 to 2020

Corporación Andina de 
Fomento (CAF), USD 
42,763,158 Libor + 4.7% 11,633 2014

11,633 2015

11,633 2016

40,716 2017 - 2020

International Finance 
Corporation (IFC), USD 
42,763,158 Libor + 6% 11,633 2014

11,633 2015

11,633 2016

40,716 2017 - 2020

Deutsche Investitions 
-Und-Entwick-
lungsgesellschaft 
MBH (DEG), USD 
17,105,263 Libor + 6% 4,653 2014

4,653 2015

4,653 2016

16,288 2017 – 2020

Banco de Occidente S. A. CDT90 + 4.0% 
EAR

  84,521 2017

975,577

In 2013, interest from borrowings of COP 72,834 (2012– COP 
84.328) were recorded in expenses.

In 2013, COP 9,547 was capitalized in the under construc-
tion account for interest accrued from the construction of the 
Cucuana hydroelectric plant.

The following is the breakdown of the guarantees for shares 
that back borrowings with Bancolombia S.A. as at December 31:

Issuer Number of 
shares

Guarantee 
value

Empresa de Energía  
del Pacífico S. A. E. S. P. 116,462,020 977,510

Entity Interest Rate Balance

Deutsche Investitions-Und-Entwick-
lungsgesellschaft MBH DEG, USD 
2,631,585

Libor + 6% 4,654

27,920

Other Entities

Medellín Archdiocese 13.5% EAR 680

Ministry of Finance 3% 233

913

Interests payable, includes USD 
960,956

6,978

Bancolombia credit cards        107

 7,085

130,877

As at December 31, 2013, the breakdown of long-term borrow-
ings was as follows:

Interest Rate Balance Year of 
Maturity

Corporación Andina de 
Fomento (CAF), USD 
36,184,303 Libor + 4.7%    12,677 2015

12,677 2016
12,677 2017
31,690 2018 – 2020

International Finance 
Corporation (IFC), 
USD 36,184,303 Libor + 6%    12,677 2015

12,677 2016
12,677 2017
31,690 2018 – 2020

Deutsche Investi-
tions-Und-Entwick-
lungsgesellschaft 
MBH DEG, USD 
4,473,499 Libor + 6% 5,071 2015

5,071 2016
5,071 2017

12,675 2018 – 2020
Banco de Occidente 
S. A. 

CDT90 + 3.9% 
EAR

173,377 2017

340,707

As at December 31, 2012, the breakdown of long-term borrow-
ings was as follows:
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As at December 31, 2013, COP 48,492 was recorded in expenses 
for interest from ordinary bonds (2012 - COP 52,667).

NOTE 17 Accounts Payable

Accounts payable as at December 31 included:

2013 2012
Providers

Energy purchases 80,031 85,285

Supply of gas and others 44,509 60,953
Suppliers abroad, USD 7,736,351 (2012 - USD 
4,505,122) 14,907     7,966

139,447 154,204

Payables

Dividends payable 21,769 19,226

Joint Ventures (Note 1) 58 3,615

Commissions and fees 3,613 2,037

Other payables (2) 15,366   6,456

40,806 31,334

Other accounts payable

Tax withholding 7,106 5,707

Prepayments and advances received (3) 17,595 1,190

Industry and commerce tax withheld 537 424

Other accounts payable 286        691

  25,524     8,012

205,777 193,550

(1)  Corresponds to the account payable from the joint ventures 
for the operation and maintenance of public lighting in Cer-
rito and Pradera. The reduction is for payments to the Pal-
mira Municipality Joint Venture.

(2)  In 2013, includes the following items: healthcare aid plan 
COP 1,842, contributions to pension funds COP 698, con-
tributions to social security COP 404, payables for the 
purchase of real estate in Barranquilla COP 412, ICBF (Co-
lombian Family Welfare Institute), Sena and compensation 
fund contributions COP 263, Law 99 payables COP 174, 
insurance payable COP 143 and account payable to Termo-
barranquilla COP 137.

(3)  In 2013, includes prepayment of subsidies from the Ministry 
of Mines and Energy for el Ministerio de Minas y Energía for 
COP 12,309, in order to apply them for customers in 2014.

NOTE 16 Bonds

As at December 31, bonds consisted of:

2013 2012
2013 Ordinary bond issuance (1) 800,000 -
2010 Ordinary bond issuance (2) 600,000 600,000
Interest of bonds payable 11,607 9,891
Total 1,411,607 609,891
Less short-term portion (11,607) (9,891)
Long-Term Portion 1,400,000 600,000

(1) In 2013, Celsia issued its first ordinary bonds on the local 
securities exchange for COP 800.000. The placement was car-
ried out via a Dutch auction on the Bolsa de Valores de Colom-
bia S. A.
  
 The straight bonds, which are on-demand and may be trad-
ed in the secondary market through the Bolsa de Valores de 
Colombia S.A., were allotted as follows: 

  Reference Term in 
Years   Interest Rate   Value Year of 

Maturity

Series E - Sub-se-
ries E3  3

IBR + 2.17% N.M.V. 
(nominal monthly 
rate) 83,620 2016

Series D - Sub-se-
ries D6  6 CPI + 4.30% EAR 263,650 2019

Series D - Sub-se-
ries D12  12 CPI + 5.00% EAR 240,650 2025

Series D - Sub-se-
ries D20  20 CPI + 5.33% EAR 212,080 2033

  800,000  

  All the funds received from the placement of ordinary 
bonds were used to pay off debt, as part of the strategy to 
optimize the company's capital structure (Note 15). With 
the new structure, the average life of the debt changed 
from 5.5 years to 11.20 years.

(2)  Corresponds to the issuance of bonds by Empresa de En-
ergía del Pacífico S.A. E.S.P. in April 2010, which was placed 
on the Colombian Public Stock Exchange as indicated below:

Reference Interest Rate Value Maturity

7-year series CPI + 4.58% 
T.V. (quarter in 
arrears)

85,754 2017

10-year series CPI + 5.05% T.V. 214,120 2020

20-year series CPI + 6.08% T.V.   300,126 2030

     600,000
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sponsible for the general tax system may discount from their 
income tax the VAT incurred and paid for the acquisition or 
import of capital goods over each tax period when the con-
ditions established by the National Government are met.

   The National Government shall establish annually the 
number of percentage points of VAT on capital goods taxed 
at 16% that may be discounted from income tax.

   For the acquisition of fixed assets charged the sales tax 
through the leasing system, the irrevocable purchase op-
tion must have been set in the respective contract, in order 
for the lessee to have the right to the discount.

2)  Public service companies that carry out activities comple-
mentary to energy generation are excluded from the calcu-
lation of presumptive income.

3)  From the 2007 tax year, the comprehensive adjustments by 
inflation for tax purposes were removed, and tax on irregu-
lar earnings was reactivated for legal entities, calculated on 
the results that the taxpayers obtained under this concept 
during the tax year. 

4)  The tax losses incurred from 2003 to 2006 may be compen-
sated with ordinary liquid income from the eight following 
years, without annually exceeding 25% of the value of the 
loss.  According to current tax provisions, from the 2007 
tax year, companies shall be able to compensate tax losses 
adjusted for tax purposes at any time and without preju-
dice to the presumptive income of the tax year. Tax losses 
originating from revenue that does not represent income 
or irregular earnings or from costs and deductions that are 
not directly related to the generation of taxable income, 
in no case may be compensated with the liquid income of 
the taxpayer. As at December 31, 2013, the company and its 
controlled companies have COP 36,015 (2012 - COP 58,272) 
of tax losses to be amortized.

5)  The excesses of presumptive income on ordinary income, 
obtained from the 2007 tax year may be compensated with 
the ordinary liquid income established within the five (5) 
following years, adjusted for tax purposes. The companies' 
losses shall not be transferable to the partners. As at De-
cember 31, 2013, the company had no excess presumptive 
income over ordinary income.

6)  As of 2012, 175% of investments made in projects classified 
as research projects and technology development projects 
can be discounted from income tax and related taxes of the 
tax year, provided that said deduction is not greater than 
40% of the liquid income. This deduction excludes the ap-
plication of depreciation, amortization or deduction of the 
staff costs included in the investment and it does not gener-
ate taxed profit for partners or shareholders.

NOTE 18 Taxes, Levies and Fees

As at December 31, taxes, levies and fees consisted of:

2013 2012

Income Tax and Related Taxes 45,282 34,288

Income tax for equality-CREE 30,417 -

Equity tax (1) 13,932 27,740

Industry and commerce tax 975 1,395

Other municipal taxes 813 944

Sales tax 1,321        906

Contributions 529 505

93,269 65,778

Less short-term portion (93,269) (51,931)

Long-Term Portion           -   13,847

(1)  Income tax payable of the company and the con-
trolled companies Zona Franca Celsia S. A.  
E. S. P. and Compañía de Electricidad de Tuluá S. A. E. S. P.

Income tax for equality (CREE) provisions and other 
tax provisions.
The tax provisions applicable to the company and its con-
trolling companies stipulate that:

1)  Below is a summary of some amendments to the Colombi-
an tax system for 2013 and after, introduced by Law 1607 of 
December 26, 2012:

   The income tax rate on the taxable income of legal en-
tities was changed to 25% as at January 1, 2013. 

   The income tax for equality (CREE) was instituted as 
at January 1, 2013. This tax is calculated based on the gross 
income obtained minus the non-revenue income, costs, de-
ductions, exempt revenue and irregular earnings, at a rate 
of 8%. For 2013, 2014 and 2015, the applicable rate shall be 
9%. 

 As part of the clearing of the basis for the liquidation of the 
income tax for equality (CREE), the compensation of income 
for the taxable period with tax losses or excesses of presump-
tive income from previous tax years is not permitted. 
   Moreover, legal entities that declare Income Tax and 

Related Taxes of the payment of parafiscal contributions to 
the National Learning Service (SENA) and the Colombian 
Family Welfare Institute (ICBF), corresponding to workers 
who individually earn up to ten (10) legal minimum month-
ly salaries are exempt. This exception started from the mo-
ment the tax withholding system was implemented for the 
collection of the income tax for equality (CREE).

   Furthermore, Law 1607 / 2012 established that those re-
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8)  By means of Law 1376 / January 8, 2010, the Fondo de 
Apoyo Financiero para la Energización de las Zonas Rura-
les Interconectadas (Financial Support Fund to Bring Elec-
tricity to Interconnected Rural Areas - FAER) will continue 
to operate until 2018 with the funds collected by the Ad-
ministrator of the Commercial Exchange System (ASIC), 
corresponding to COP 1.34 per kilowatt hour dispatched on 
the Wholesale Energy Market. The rate will be indexed on 
an annual basis with the producer price index. 

9)  Law 1607 / 2013 reduced the tax on irregular earnings of 
33%, in effect in 2012, to 10% in effect as of 2013. 

7)  Industrial users shall have the benefit of deducting 50% of 
the surcharge corresponding to the contribution of 20% 
of the cost for providing energy services from the income 
tax payable for 2011. As of 2012, these users will be exempt 
from the payment of this surcharge, which was regulated 
by Decrees 2915 / August 12 and 4955 / December 30, 2011, 
and it covers industries whose main activity is within the 
range of 011 to 456 of DIAN Resolution No. 00432 / 2008, 
which should be reflected in the Taxpayer Identification. 
The payment of this fee is transferred to the National Gov-
ernment in subsidies and contributions.

The reconciliation of profit before the income tax provision and the taxable liquid income is described below for the period ending 

as at December 31: 

2013 2012

Profit before income tax provisions, income tax for equality (CREE) provisions and other tax provisions. 709,461 513,158

Plus tax income:

Dividends from controlled entities 240,070 378,597

Plus non-deductible expenses:

Non deductible expenses, estimated liabilities and provisions (1) 97,425 138,015

Less non-taxable revenue

Untaxed dividends from controlled entities (240,070) (378,597)

Untaxed revenue from dividends (7,442) (17,262)

Untaxed other revenue

Recovery of untaxed provisions (2) (114,717) -

Other (6,146) (49,215)

Tax expenses

Other non-deductible expenses (3) (29,941) (66,624)

Transfer of net loss in the sale of fixed assets and investments to irregular earnings        (19) 573

Liquid income 648,621 518,645

Excess of presumptive income over liquid income (4) 158 (28)

Less tax losses to be amortized (25,401) (44,890)

Less surpluses of presumptive income over ordinary income to be compensated             - (18,015)

Net taxable income   623,378  455,712
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2013
Non deductible expenses, estimated liabilities and provi-
sions 103,989

Less non-taxable revenue
Untaxed dividends from controlled entities (240,070)
Untaxed revenue from dividends (7,442)

Untaxed other revenue
Recovery of untaxed provisions (114,717)
Other (6,146)

Tax expenses
Other non-deductible expenses (24,062)

Base settlement of the Income tax for equality (CREE) 511,422
Income tax for equality (CREE) rate 9%
Income tax for equality (CREE) provision 46,028

(1)   Zona Franca Celsia S. A. E. S. P. due to being subject to a 
special tax system.

Equity tax
For 2011, Law 1430/2010 established the rate of 4.8% for liquid 
equity greater than COP 5,000. Through Emergency Decree 
4825 of December 2010, a new tax bracket required taxpayers 
to pay this tax. It established a rate of 1% for liquid equity be-
tween COP 1,000 and COP 2,000, and of 1.4% for liquid equity 
between COP 2,000 and COP 3.000. Additionally, a surcharge 
of 25% was established over this tax. The amount of the tax, 
including the surcharge for the company and its controlled 
companies amounts to COP 182,167.

According to the provisions contained in Decree 514 of 
2010, in 2011, the companies adopted recording the entire tax 
charged to the account of equity revaluation as an accounting 
practice. If the equity revaluation account does not have the 
balance to enter the tax, the amount corresponding to one pay-
ment is charged to the income statement. The amount paid for 
this tax in 2013 was COP 45,541 (2012 COP 45,541) and the bal-
ance payable amounts to COP 45,541 (2012 - COP 91,085), COP 
13,932 of which have been entered in the consolidated financial 
statements as a liability for equity tax.

NOTE 19 Estimated Liabilities and Provisions

As at December 31, estimated liabilities and provisions consist-
ed of:

2013 2012
Provision for tax obligations (1) 9,818 8,248

Provision for costs and expenses (2) 10,464 7,140

Provision for contingencies (3) 166,305 335,027

186,587 350,415

(1)  Non-deductible expenses and provisions refer mainly to the 
equity tax, provisions for costs and expenses, expense pro-
vision for contingencies, provision for receivables, portion 
of the levy on non-deductible financial transactions, and 
expenses for donations, among other things.

(2)  Recovery of provisions derived from the reconciliation of 
the legal proceeding with the DIAN (Note 18).

(3)  Other deductible expenses refer mainly to the industry and 
commerce tax paid, the individual portfolio provision, amor-
tization of the actuarial calculation and the payment of ex-
penses provisioned in previous periods. 

(4)  Adjustment to the liquid income of Colener S. A. S., as it 
contributes presumptive income.

Below is the breakdown of the calculation of the income tax 
and complementary tax provision as at December 31: 

Liquid income taxed at 25% (2012 - 33%) 475,452 375,012

Liquid income taxed at 15% 147,926 80,700

Total taxable liquid income   623,378  455,712

Provision of Income tax at 25% (2012 - 33%) 118,863 123,754

Provision of Income tax at 15% 22,190 12,105

Tax provision on irregular earnings - 9
Less tax discounts (2,831) -

Effect of the movement of deferred tax 10,347 10,237

Adjustment of provision from previous year - (3,912)

Total provision of income tax and related 
taxes 148,569 142,193

As at December 31, 2013, the company paid the Income tax for 
equality (CREE) as follows:

2013

Profit before income tax provisions, income tax for equality 
(CREE) provisions and other tax provisions. 709,461

Minus profit before the income tax and complementary 
tax provision of the companies subject to the special tax 
system (1) (149,661)

Plus tax income:
Dividends from controlled entities 240,070

Plus non-deductible expenses:
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  Considering the aforementioned and after analyzing the 
case, in 2013 the company carried out actions to recon-
cile the nullification and restoration of rights in process 
in the Administrative Court of Antioquia for the aforemen-
tioned suit, being required to pay the disputed tax, i.e. COP 
49,239, which implied the reduction of the provision for 
contingencies account by this sum.

   In November 2013, the Administrative Court of Antio-
quia approved the settlement agreement signed between 
Celsia and DIAN, pursuant to Article 147 of Law 1607 / 
2012. Consequently, the Court declared said legal proceed-
ing completed and ordered its filing. 

   Afterward, the company proceeded to record the recov-
ery of the remaining provision balance of COP 114,717 af-
ter charging the tax paid to the provision. Thus revenue had 
to be recognized against the reduction of the provision for 
contingencies (Nota 24).

   In 2013, the Empresa de Energía del Pacífico S. A. E. S. 
P. paid a lawsuit in favor of Electrohuila S.A. E.S.P., which 
explains a portion of the reduction of the provisions for con-
tingencies account. 

NOTE 20 Retirement Pensions

Retirement pensions as at December 31:

2013 2012

Actuarial estimate 
97,558 

97,980

Retirement pensions to be amortized
(16,694)

(17,831)

80,864 80,149

The retirement pensions of Empresa de Energía del Pacífico 
S.A. E.S.P. and Compañía de Electricidad de Tuluá S.A. E.S.P., 
determined as at December 31, 2013 and 2012 using a real an-
nual technical interest of 4.8% with a 2.99% (2012 - 6.45%) pro-
jection of salaries and pension pursuant to the legal provisions. 
Similarly, for 2013 and 2012 the life expectancy established in 
Resolution No. 1555 / December 7, 2010 issued by the Colombi-
an Financial Superintendence was used.

For 2013, the number of people covered by these obliga-
tions is 988, (2012 - 990) and the percent amoritized is 82.75% 
(2012 - 81.68%) for Empresa de Energía del Pacífico S.A. E.S.P. 
and 100% for Compañía de Electricidad de Tuluá S.A. E.S.P.

Payments made for retirement pensions amounted to COP 
8,193 (2012 - COP 8,104).

As a result of the update of the study for 2013 and pursu-
ant to Decree 4565 of December 7, 2010, the sum amoritized in 
2013 was COP 719 (2012 - COP 3,469).

Less short-term portion
(35,329)

(36,198)

Long-Term Portion 151,258 314,217

(1)  The provision for Industry and Commerce tax.

(2)  It includes the estimated costs and expenses for goods and 
services received and not billed by providers at the end of 
the fiscal period.

(3)  For 2013 and 2012 includes COP 133,557, correspond-
ing to the estimated contingencies for legal proceedings 
underway with Empresa de Energía del Pacífico S.A. E.S.P., 
as a result of a decision issued in 2009. This provision 
will be maintained until the legal processes of sentence 
T-274/2012 of the Constitutional Court have been enact-
ed.  In addition, and considering that said ruling overturned 
the decision handed down in 2009 because there was no 
sentence issued, pursuant to the decision to maintain the 
provision of the sentence, the provision was updated with 
the CPI. The value of the sentence was restated from 2010 
until 2012, maintaining a provision of COP 14,704. The up-
date in 2013 was COP 2,876.

   Also, because there was no sentence issued, the pro-
vision for late interest for the aforementioned process, for 
COP 43,472 was deducted from the provision balance as at 
December 31, 2012, against the respective revenue from 
provision recovery.

   Also, as at December 31, 2012, the provision account 
includes COP 163.956,  which correspond to a provision 
for tax contingencies related to a tax-related issue being 
discussed with Inversiones e Industria S.A. (a company 
that was merged in 2008) with the National Directorate 
of Taxes and Customs (DIAN). Inversiones e Industria S.A. 
was notified in June 2008 of a revised official assessment 
through which the income tax and penalty for inaccuracy 
were settled.  

   The company, making use of its right to a defense, de-
manded the official liquidation of the 2005 income tax re-
vision issued by DIAN, in which the maximum value of the 
tax was set at COP 49,239 and the sanction for inaccuracy 
at COP 78,783. The dispute arose from how the fiscal cost 
of Coltbaco S.A. shares held by the company Inversiones e 
Industria S. A. were determined, under Article 76 of the Tax 
Statute that were transfered in 2005.  

   Exercising caution, the company considered it neces-
sary to provision the tax and late interest in 2011.

   The issuance of Law 1607 / 2012 (latest Tax Reform) 
established that taxpayers in legal proceedings underway 
with DIAN, had the ability to reconcile the full amount of 
the sanction and late interests, paying the amount of the 
disputed tax. 
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Equity revaluation
Inflation adjustments for the balances of equity accounts es-
tablished prior to December 31, 2006 are charged against the 
equity accounts, except for the revaluation reserve. Pursuant 
to current regulations, this balance may not be distributed as 
a profit until the Company is liquidated or this revaluation is 
capitalized; this capitalization is a source of income that is not 
taxable nor is it classified as irregular earnings for shareholders.

Pursuant to the terms of Law 1111 / 2006, up to 2010 inclu-
sive, it was allowed to record the equity tax against the equity re-
valuation account without affecting the results of the fiscal year.  

Decree 514 / 2010 allows taxpayers to charge the enforce-
able installments of the equity tax subject of Law 1370 / 2009 
either in full or on an annual basis against the equity revalu-
ation account when the balance of the revaluation account 
has a sufficient balance to record this tax. The company and 
its controlled companies with sufficient balance in the equity 
revaluation account charged the full amount of equity tax to 
this account. The tax recorded, including the surcharge, was 
COP 55,386.

NOTE 23 Suspense Accounts

The suspense accounts as at December 31 included:

2013 2012
Contingent rights

Goods delivered

Assets held by third parties 2,218 2,218

Livestock - 15

Claims and Litigations

Civil 1,528 1,335

Other contingent rights

Guarantees provided 197,754 977,510

Other contingent rights 7,764 7,953

Control debts

Inflation adjustment of assets 88,375 88,375

Fully depreciated assets 65,047 65,047

Subsidies granted (1) 24,457 26,645

LTP inventories 4,636 2,629

Tax debts

Tax debtors of controlled companies 2,420,765 1,748,917

Tax losses 36,015 58,272

Contingent liabilities

Contractual guarantees

Long-term power sale agreements of the 
controlled companies (2) 1,275,140 1,275,140

NOTE 21 Other Liabilities

As at December 31, other liabilities included:

2013 2012
Deferred monetary adjustment credit (1) 11,922 23,224
Deferred tax credit 24,118 16,851
Collections for third parties 13,533 8,980
Revenue received in advance 178 204

49,751 49,259

Less short-term portion (13,711) (9,184)
Long-Term Portion 36,040 40,075

(1)  The decrease in 2013 is the amortization of the accumu-
lated adjustments for inflation in the deferred charges ac-
count for studies of the Ovejas project in the amount of COP 
10,685, as the costs incurred as at December 31, 2013 
have also be amortized (Note 11).

Note 22 Shareholder Equity

Capital
For 2013 and 2012, the authorized capital of the Company was 
represented by 1,200,000,000 shares, with a nominal value of 
COP 0.25 each; the capital subscribed and paid amounted to 
COP 180 and there were 719,584,500 shares in circulation in 
2013 and 2012.   

Reserves
Reserves as at December 31 consist of:

2013 2012
Legal Reserve 1,403 1,403

Equity maintenance reserve 1,889,267 1,730,466

Growth and expansion reserve 197,274 197,274

For fiscal reserve        2,911        2,911

Less the net effect of the consolidation 
in reserves (2,237) (2,237)

2,088,618 1,929,817

Legal Reserve
The Company is legally required to set aside 10% of its net 
annual profit to the statutory reserve until the balance of this 
reserve, which cannot be distributed until the Company is liq-
uidated but which can be used to absorb or reduce losses, is 
equal to at least 50% of the subscribed capital. The Company 
can allocate any excess funds for other purposes as authorized 
by the General Shareholders' Meeting. 
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(3)  These are the energy purchase commitments in long-term 
contracts of Energía del Pacífico S.A. E.S.P., expiring be-
tween 2014 and 2015.

(4)  This includes COP 197,754 (2012 - COP 333,934) of Zona 
Franca Celsia S.A. E.S.P. corresponding to contractual com-
mitments for the purchase of natural gas supply and trans-
port.

(5) Includes:

 •  Contractual commitments for the purchase of natural 
gas supply and transport for COP 7,140 (2012 - COP 
63,594).

 •  Guarantee of COP 197,754 (2012 - COP 253,298) for 
loans disbursed by the International Finance Corpora-
tion (IFC), Corporación Andina de Fomento (CAF) and 
the Deutsche Investitions-Und-Entwicklugsgesellsd 
MBH (DEG) to Zona Franca Celsia S. A. E. S. P., where 
Celsia S. A .E. S.P. guarantees the borrowings assumed 
through Project Funds and Share Retention.  The loan 
acquired by Zona Franca Celsia S.A. E.S.P. for construc-
tion of the Flores IV project. The initial value was USD 
150 million, and the loan term is 11.5 years. Payments 
of USD 48 million have been made and the balance is 
currently USD 102 million.

(6) Includes:

 •  A class action suit against Cenerar S.A. E.S.P. (a com-
pany that was absorbed in 2009), which is currently 
being deliberated by the Fifth Civil Court of the Circuit 
of Medellín. The plaintiffs are seeking indemnification 
for alleged material and non-material damages sus-
tained as a result of the construction and operation of 
the Río Piedras Power Plant. The amount of the dam-
ages sought is estimated to be COP 8,000 (2012: COP 
8,000).

 •  Regular Process underway in the Third Civil Medellín 
Circuit court, filed by Inversiones Posada Angel S.A.S. 
against Generar S.A. E.S.P. (a company absorbed by 
Celsia S.A. E.S.P.), whose object is to claim compensa-
tion for damage resulting from the capitalization of re-
valuation of Generate's equity, resulting in a lower value 
of the stock, which is estimated at COP 2,486. 

(7)  Corresponds to the value of the lease contract signed be-
tween Empresa de Energía del Pacífico S.A. E.S.P and the 
Banco de Occidente for the purchase of land and imported 
equipment for the construction of the Cucuana hydroelec-
tric plant.

2013 2012

Long-term power purchase agreements 
of the controlled companies (3) 691,126 601,374

Other contract guarantees granted by the 
controlled companies (4) 144,497 487,040

Contractual guarantees of Celsia S.A. 
E.S.P. (5) 256,619 316,892

Claims and litigations

Civil (6) 18,498 87,496

Labor 27,423 25,997

Control creditors

Inflation adjustments of equity 1,002,165 1,002,165

Lease agreements (7) 169,866 169,866

Inflation adjustments of other accounts 36,259 36,259

Collections by controlled companies 
for third parties 14,288 12,281

Equity tax payable by the controlled 
companies 4,853 9,703
Assets posted by third parties 
as collateral -

-

Tax creditors

Tax creditors of controlled companies 461,206 832,052

Differences to reconcile the accounting 
and tax equity of Celsia S.A. E.S.P. 1,435,693 407,482
Differences between the accounting 
income and liquid income 
of Celsia S.A. E.S.P. 169,875 171,318
Irregular earnings of the controlled 
companies -

28

Irregular loss of Celsia S.A. E.S.P. - (573)

8,556,067 8,413,436

(1)  The subsidies granted by Empresa de Energía del Pacífico 
S.A. E.S.P. to clients from 1995 to 1997, which have not 
been recognized by the Ministry of Mines and Energy.

(2)  These are the sales commitments in long-term contracts 
with clients of the non-regulated market of the wholesale 
market, contracted by Empresa de Energía del Pacífico S.A. 
E.S.P., expiring between 2014 and 2016.
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NOTE 25 Cost of Sales

The cost of sales for activities related to the provision of public 
services as at December 31 was comprised of the following:

2013 2012
Energy purchases on the Market 461,203 413,865  

Consumption of direct supplies, natural 
gas and gas transport (1) 384,508 216,338  

Property, plant and equipment depreci-
ation 104,950 94,601  
Real equivalent cost of energy 89,694 67,308  

Network use and connection 88,742 79,473  

Energy purchases from generators 64,533 114,479  

Operating and maintenance personnel 
services 64,175 58,660

Operation and maintenance 60,588 60,655  

Contributions and royalties 33,063 28,879  

Other costs for energy generation 32,823 25,556  

Insurance 28,523 24,900  

Other energy services 25,031 31,439  

Contracts for other services 16,778 16,430  

Taxes and rates 14,501 12,997  

Amortization of deferred charges and 
intangibles 13,182 15,651

General costs 11,449 4,498  

Security and Surveillance 9,923 8,037  

Retirement pensions 8,192 8,104  

Fees, commissions and services 7,098 10,276  

Plant administrative costs 7,071 7,351  

Leases 3,587 3,270  

Travel expenses 2,034 1,898  

Amortization of actuarial calculation 719 3,469  

Other         7,798 3,238

1,540,165  1,311,372

 

(1)   The increase is due to a greater consumption and trans-
port of gas because of a higher energy generation pro-
duced in 2013 by the thermal power plants, primarily Zona 
Franca Celsia S. A. E. S. P. This situation arose from the 
rainfall deficit that required more participation of type of 
generation to meet Colombia's needs.

NOTE 24 Revenue

Revenue from activities related to the delivery of public ser-
vices as at December 31 comprised:

2013 2012
Electricity sales on the market (1) 1,067,708 646,197

Electricity sales on the regulated market 392,631 397,437

Energy Sales in Contracts 236,050 245,896
Reliability premium 221,617 209,343

Network use and connection 197,408 194,337

Electricity sales on the non-regulated market 177,637 146,215

Natural gas and transport capacity sales (2) 52,655 152,912
Other Operating Services 35,410      31,335

2,381,116 2,023,672

(1)  The increase arose from the energy produced by the com-
panies in 2013, which was 6,170 GWh, increasing energy 
production by 1,131 GWh over the previous year, and it 
went from representing 8% of energy production in Colom-
bia in 2012 to 10% in 2013. This greater production mainly 
comes from Zona Franca Celsia S.A. E.S.P., as a result of 
the mentioned shortage in water levels that required great-
er participation of thermoelectric power generation to cov-
er the country's needs. Both Celsia S. A. E. S. P. and Zona 
Franca Celsia S. A E. S. P. generated more than their his-
torical levels. Empresa de Energía del Pacífico S. A. E. S. P. 
generated 3,190 GWh; this performance is similar to 2012. 
This generation was possible because the rainfall in the ar-
eas where this company's assets are located was over the 
average for Colombia. 

(2)  Regarding the sale of natural gas in 2013, the company 
remained active in the secondary market throughout the 
year, despite the fact that a few contracts for the firm supply 
of gas terminated at the end of 2012. In 2013, 8,961 GBTU 
were sold compared to 10,259 GBTU in 2012.
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(1) Professional fees cover the following:

 

2013 2012
Financial consulting 2,645 562 

Technical consulting 1,289 593 

Legal consulting 1,066 1,130 

Implementation of the integrated IT system 
SAP 636 540 

Tax auditing and oversight 633 560 

Environmental consulting 485 945 

Investment opportunity consulting 350 134 

Board of Directors 340 256 

Project design and study consulting 92 935 

Appraisals 86 245 

Tax consulting 77 46 

Accounting services 54 105 

Other fees 4,933 5,002 

12,686 11,053 

(2)  In 2013, the effects from the appraisals of property, plant 
and equipment.

NOTE 27 Non-operating Revenue

Non-operating revenue as at December 31 included:
 

2013 2012
Recovery of provision related to the legal 

proceedings with the DIAN (Note 19) 114,717 -
Insurance indemnity (1) 18,949 159 

Revenue from interests (2) 15,257 27,332 

Dividends 9,320 7,161 

Net profit from investments and their 
valuations (2) 8,223 15,339 

Other extraordinary income 5,998 3,164 

Revenue from the recovery of expenses 
and costs (3) 4,650 10,807 

Revenue from leasing 3,890 3,375 

Trust revenue (4) 3,130 856 

Revenue from adjustment of previous 
periods (5) 1,583 43,535 

Revenue from the use and sale of recycla-
ble materials 1,199 563 

Surcharges due to late payment 943 831 

NOTE 26 Administrative Operating Expenses

Administrative operating expenses as at December 31 included:

2013 2012
Personnel expenses 32,848 29,792 

Amortization of intangibles 20,056 22,568 

Fees (1) 12,686 11,053 

Taxes, contributions, and rates 8,255 8,237 

Actual or imputed contributions 6,176 5,910 

Property, plant and equipment depreciation 5,936 5,867 
Maintenance and repairs 5,789 7,282 

Communication and transportation 5,567 2,424 

Property, plant and equipment provision  (2) 4,322 880

Services 4,131 2,986 

Accounts receivable provision 3,262 4,799

Travel expenses 2,566 2,511 

Public services 2,061 1,861 

Publicity and advertising 1,766 1,418 

Security and Surveillance 1,581 1,452 

Administration of real estate 1,352 1,407 

Insurance 945 1,338 

Leases 901 749 

Association expenses 743 720 

Payroll contributions 644 785 

Janitorial and cafeteria services 595 688 

Printing and publications 446 1,307 

Commissions 416 351 

Industrial Security 392 233

Public relations 231 111 

Fuel and lubricants 223 226

Event planning 139 266 

Hardware and software services 114 241 

Cleaning supplies 88 106 

Inventory provision 5 -

Deceval 4 4 

Miscellaneous         594       2,240 

124,834 119,812
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NOTE 29 Non-Operating Expenses

Non-operating expenses as at December 31 included:

2013 2012
Equity tax 31,696 31,696 

Donations (1) 5,870 5,351

Loss from the sale and retirement of prop-
erty, plant and equipment (2) 4,358 24

Effect on the statement of income of 
the devaluation of property, plant and 
equipment of Zona Franca Celsia S. A. E. 
S. P. (3) 2,074 15,875 

Adjustments from previous periods 830 188

Assumed taxes 405 16 

Loss from retirement of intangibles and 
other non-current assets (4) - 3,613

Provision for contingencies (5)          - 15,046 

Miscellaneous   2,985    1,281

  48,218 73,090

(1)  In 2013, includes donations to the Fundación Celsia COP 
3,000 (2012 - COP 3,000), Fundación EPSA COP 2,270 
(2012 - COP 2,070), and Universidad del Valle COP 600.

(2)  In 2013, includes the recognition of the loss from the claim 
at the Alto Tuluá and the drop from the deterioration of the 
Río Piedras plant. 

(3)  Corresponds to the provision generated by recognizing 
property, plant and equipment depreciation. This implied 
an expense for the company when technical assessments 
were done on Zona Franca Celsia S.A. E.S.P., given that it 
did not have a share premium to absorb the decrease in 
equity generated by the depreciation.

(4)  In 2012, includes COP 3,056 for the net effect of the re-
tirement of assets and liabilities associated with the power 
purchase agreement Empresa de Energía del Pacífico S. A. 
E. S. P. signed with Termovalle S. C. A. E. S. P. that was ter-
minated August 23, 2012 (Note 13).

(5)  In 2012, this included COP 14,406 corresponding to the es-
timated legal provision for Empresa de Energía del Pacífico 
S.A. E.S.P.  

Recovery of provision for property, plant 
and equipment 904 198

Profit from the sale of property, plant and 
equipment 408 849 

Interest and yields from accounts receiv-
able 267 2,488 

Interest from user financing 204 198 

Miscellaneous      9,640       5,691

199,282 122,546

(1)  Indemnity paid by insurance companies for lost profits from 
a claim in on of the company's energy generation plants.

(2)  The reduction of revenue from interest and net profit for 
investment valuation is mainly due to the effect created in 
the financial market of the reduction of the Central Bank of 
Colombia's interest rate, when it went from 5% in 2012 to 
3.25% in 2013. This meant a lower compensation of the 
fixed income assets and call funds.

(3)  In 2012, included revenue of Empresa de Energía del Pacíf-
ico S. A. E. S. P. for the sale of rights of the Miel II plant to 
the Instituto de Promoción y Financiamiento de Caldas for 
COP 7,158.

(4)  The higher revenue is mainly due to the increase of the trust 
rights, going from COP 49,269 in 2012 to COP 146,930 in 
2013.

(5)  In 2012, it included the recovery of the provision of late 
payment interest for COP 43,472 as a result of the over-
turned ruling handed down in 2009 against Empresa de 
Energía del Pacífico S.A. E.S.P. (Note 19).

NOTE 28 Borrowing Costs

Financial expenses as at December 31 included:

2013 2012

Interest on borrowings (Note 15 and Note 16) 121,326 136,995
Tax on financial transactions 10,850 7,534

Commissions 1,045 3,050

Other expenses 11,529  6,796

  144,750 154,375
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The company did not carry out any of the following operations 
with its associates or shareholders, managers or legal represen-
tatives, directly or through its controlled companies:

1  Operations whose characteristics differ from those carried 
out with third parties that imply differences in market pric-
es for similar operations.

2 Loans without interests or compensation.

3 Services or consulting at no cost.

4  Transactions for other concepts, except for payments in-
herent to the direct hiring of members of the Board of Di-
rectors, legal representatives, and administrators.

Operations with Executives and Managers:
Only ordinary labor and statutory relations were maintained with 
these third parties, generating payments for salaries and fees.

Note 30 Operations with Associates
 
Operations with economic associates as at December 31 included:

2013 2012

Value % on 
assets

% on net 
profit Value % on assets % on net 

profit

Grupo Nutresa S. A.

Dividends paid 35,203 0.48% 31,719 0.46%

Revenue from leasing 1,039 0.28% 134 0.06%

Internacional Ejecutiva de Aviación S. A. S.

Accounts payable 1,499 0.02% - -

Expenses for services provided 4,279 1.14% - -

Cementos Argos S. A.

Accounts receivable 5 0.0% - -

Revenue for other services 89 0.02% - -

Expenses for other services 59 0.02% - -

Zona Franca Argos S.A.

Revenue from gas sales 60 0.02% - -

NOTE 31 Contingencies

During its operations, the company and its controlled entities 
are subject to various legal regulations inherent to public ser-
vice companies and environmental protection. In the opinion 
of the management and their legal advisors, no situations have 
been identified that indicate possible violations of these stan-
dards and that could have a significant impact on the financial 
statements, except for the matters provided for in the financial 
statements and disclosed in Note 19.

Subsidies
Empresa de Energía del Pacífico S.A. E.S.P., using the principle 
of prudence and in order for assets and interest not be overesti-
mated, recorded subsidies issued, after invoiced contributions, 
in their suspense accounts for 1995, 1996 and 1997. This is be-
cause it hoped to obtain positive recognition from the govern-
mental authorities.

Additionally, Empresa de Energía del Pacífico S.A. E.S.P. 
began a civil process against the nation in the Cundinamarca 
Administrative Court. This is filed under number 982614 of Oc-
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carried out via a Dutch auction on the Bolsa de Valores de 
Colombia S. A. 

   During the auction, Celsia received demand in the or-
der of COP 1,348,550,000,000, equal to 2.25 times the ini-
tial offer amount (COP 600,000 million). Thus Celsia exer-
cised the greenshoe option for ordinary bonds up to COP 
200,000 million placed, for the general public for a total 
sum of COP 800,000 million. 

   The ordinary bonds, which are on-demand and may be 
traded in the secondary market through the Bolsa de Va-
lores de Colombia S.A.

   All the funds received from the placement of ordinary 
bonds were used to pay off Celsia's debt, as part of the strat-
egy to optimize its capital structure. With the new struc-
ture, the average life of the debt changed from 5.5 years to 
11.20 years. 

   The success of the placement of the issuance confirms 
the confidence of the investing public in the company, 
which motivates us to continue working to generate sus-
tainable value for all our shareholders and investors. 

   This operation is the greatest bond placement of a cor-
porate issuer in the real sector, and was lead by, in its qual-
ity as a structuring agent and lead placement agent, Banca 
de Inversión Bancolombia S. A. (Financing Corporation), 
and Valores Bancolombia S. A. (Exchange Brokerage Firm), 
Corredores Asociados S. A. (Exchange Brokerage Firm) 
and BTG Pactual S. A. (Exchange Brokerage Firm) acted as 
placement agents.

The effects of these events are indicated in the financial state-
ments as at December 31, 2013.

In 2012:

•  The company completed construction of the Hidromon-
tañitas Power Plant.  The total amount to activate the plant 
was COP 121,966. 

•  On October 2, the Technical Rating Committee at Fitch 
Ratings de Colombia S.A. renewed the AAA and F1+ rating 
for the program to issue and place Empresa de Energía del 
Pacífico S.A. E.S.P. commercial papers and ordinary bonds.

•  The following was reported in 2012 with regard to the le-
gal proceeding against Empresa de Energía del Pacífico 
S.A. E.S.P. carried out through a class-action lawsuit by a 
few communities neighboring the Bajo Anchicayá Hydro-
electric Plant, in which a penalty has been charged for COP 
166,945, 80% against the Company and 20% against the 
CVC (Corporación Autónoma Regional del Valle del Cauca):

 -  In May 2012, it was reported that, through a decision 
handed down on January 25, 2012, the Constitutional 

tober 7, 1998, for subsidies corresponding to the deficit generat-
ed in 1995, 1996 and 1997.  The amount claimed is COP 26,645.  

Taxes
Empresa de Energía del Pacífico S.A. E.S.P. is currently involved 
in a proceeding in the Valle del Cauca Administrative Court to 
annul and re-establish the right against the resolutions that the 
municipality of Dagua used to settle the Company's apprais-
al report. The value of the process is estimated at COP 9,500 
million. Empresa de Energía del Pacífico S.A. E.S.P.'s attorneys 
believe that there is a high chance of success given that there 
has already been a favorable ruling on the matter, and that in a 
similar proceeding in February 2010, the administrative rulings 
given by the municipality were annulled. 

On July 15, 2013 the Cali Tax Department's Manage-
ment of the DIAN issued Special Requirement Number 
052382013000068 to Empresa de Energía del Pacífico S. A. E. 
S. P. This proposed the modification of the Income Tax and 
Corresponding Tax Return for the 2010 period. The Tax Ad-
ministration believes that the deduction for the purchase of 
real productive fixed assets is not appropriate, based on the 
requested lease signed by the company for the construction of 
the Cucuana hydroelectric plant; the value of the tax deduction 
rejected was COP 50,959. The company responded to the Spe-
cial Requirement arguing the basis for the deduction.

NOTE 32 Major Events

In 2013:

•  On October 2, the Technical Rating Committee at Fitch 
Ratings de Colombia S.A. renewed the AAA and F1+ rating 
for the program to issue and place Empresa de Energía del 
Pacífico S.A. E.S.P. commercial papers and ordinary bonds.

•  With the authorization of Celsia's Board of Directors, the 
Administrative Court of Antioquia approved a settlement 
agreement between the company and the DIAN on No-
vember of 2013, pursuant to Article 147 of Law 1607 / 2012 
(latest Tax Reform),  in response to the process of nullifi-
cation and restoration of rights proceedings in which the 
company Inversiones e Industria S.A. (absorbed in 2008) 
demanded the formal settlement of the revised official in-
come tax assessment for 2005. 

   Consequently, the Court declared said legal proceeding 
completed and ordered its filing. Therefore, the company 
proceeded to record the recovery of provisions in the sum 
of COP 114,717 million associated with said proceedings.

•  Celsia issued its first ordinary bonds on the local securities 
exchange for COP 800,000 million. The placement was 
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the Bajo Anchicayá Hydroelectric Plant dam. These 
tests must be carried out through notice and interven-
tion by the interested parties, in order to ensure the 
right to defense and contradiction. 

•  On August 23, 2012, the market was informed that the ener-
gy purchase contract (PPA) entered into between Empresa 
de Energía del Pacífico S.A. E.S.P. and Termovalle S.C.A. has 
been terminated.  

   As informed, termination of the agreement did not in-
fluence the financial stability of Empresa de Energía del 
Pacífico S.A. E.S. P., nor did it prevent its generation capac-
ity from complying with its obligations and commitments 
with the National Electrical Grid (SIN), given that it has 
sufficient generation resources to cover its contractual ob-
ligations without having to incur higher costs associated 
with purchasing fuel for assets that it does not own. 

   The effects of these events are indicated in the financial 
statements as at December 31, 2012.

Court suspended the payment order contained in the 
ruling in the first and second instance.

 -  On September 19, 2012, through Ruling T-274/2012, 
the Constitutional Court granted the writ requested by 
Empresa de Energía del Pacífico S.A. E.S.P. and revoked 
the corresponding ruling, given that it found that the 
defendant's rights to due process and access to the ad-
ministration of justice had been violated.

    Likewise, in the aforementioned ruling, the Con-
stitutional Court nullified the expert evidence ordered 
by the First Administrative Court of the Circuit of Bue-
naventura and the reports provided by the Valle de 
Cauca Local Government Secretariat of Agriculture 
and Fishing, which sustained the rulings related to said 
class-action lawsuit. 

    The Constitutional Court also ordered the Valle del 
Cauca Administrative Court to carry out necessary tests 
through an entity with recognized technical and scien-
tific record, in order to demonstrate the damage caused 
to the plaintiff group by the maintenance activities in 

NOTE 33 Subsequent Events

There were no subsequent events that implied significant changes in the company's position.

Additional Information

Relevant Information from the Financial Statements

Financial Information 2013 2012

Total assets excluding depreciations and provisions       8,841,741       8,247,289 

Total assets including appreciation       7,326,545       6,840,008 

Total assets excluding appreciation       5,186,512       4,898,649 

Total liabilities       2,416,063       2,466,596 

Short-term accounts receivable          305,748          273,375 

Current assets       1,228,178       1,055,536 

Property, plant and equipment excluding depreciations and provisions       4,811,263       4,629,760 

Property, plant and equipment, net       3,342,856       3,268,328 

Appreciation and depreciation, net       2,140,033       1,941,359 

Short-term borrowings (includes bonds) 45,452 140,768

Long-term borrowings (includes bonds) 1,740,707 1,575,577
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Financial Information 2013 2012

Current liabilities          407,194          442,731 

Equity       3,288,325       2,905,411 

Suspense accounts 8,556,067 8,413,436

Revenue       2,381,116       2,023,672 

Non-operating expenses 48,218            73,090 

Operating profit          716,117          592,488 

Profit before tax and financial expenses          854,211          667,533 

Net profit          373,645          230,760 

Financial expenses          144,750          154,375 

Shares

Nominal value (COP) 0.25 0.25

Shares in circulation 719,584,500 719,584,500

Average market price (COP) 5,624 4,721

Maximum market price (COP) 6,360 5,450

Minimum market price (COP) 4,835 3,860

Market closing price (COP) 5,680 5,340

Intrinsic value (COP) 4,569,76 4,037.62

Net profit per share (COP) 519.25 320.68

2013 Employment (Average) Number of 
employees

Comprehensive 
compensation per 

month (COP)

Salaries per month 
(COP)

Celsia S. A. E. S. P. 153 846,614,000 425,780,000

Zona Franca Celsia S. A. E. S. P. 79       280,807,000    233,417,000

Empresa de Energía del Pacífico S. A. E. S. P. 787      516,334,000   2,448,635,000

Compañía de Electricidad de Tuluá S.A. E.S.P. 59      10,818,000 116,850,000
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Financial Ratios

Liquidity 2013 2012
Working capital (in millions) 812,984 612,805

Current ratio (number of times)                3.00                2.38 

Quick ratio for accounts receivable (number of times)                2.25                1.77 

Ownership index 44.88% 42.48%

Indebtedness

Total 32.98% 36.06%

Short-term 16.85% 17.95%

Interest coverage ratio (number of times) 5.90 4.32

Financial indebtedness (includes bonds) 24.38% 25.09%

Leverage

Total 73.47% 84.90%

Short-term 12.38% 15.24%

Financial total (excludes bonds) 11.37% 38.05%

Returns

Operating profit margin 30.07% 29.28%

Net profit margin 15.69% 11.40%

Return on equity 11.36% 7.94%

Return on total assets 5.10% 3.37%

EBITDA 864,563 731,174

EBITDA Margin 36.31% 36.13%
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Ratio Formula Meaning

Liquidity

Working capital Current assets - Current liabilities Represents the company's safety margin to comply with its short-term obliga-
tions.

Current ratio (number 
of times)

Current assets / Current liabilities Indicates the company's ability to pay its short-term debts, by pledging its 
current assets.

Quick ratio for accounts 
receivable (number of 
times)

(Current assets - Current accounts 
receivable) / Current liabilities

The company's ability to cover short-term liabilities, without having to resort 
to collecting the portfolio.

Ownership index Shareholders' Equity / Total assets 
* 100

Indicates how much of the total assets belong to the shareholders.

Indebtedness 

Total Total liabilities / Total assets * 100 It reflects the degree of leverage in terms of creditors' share of the Compa-
ny's assets.

Short-term Current liabilities / Total liabilities 
* 100

Represents third parties' shareholding that is due in the short-term.

Interest coverage ratio 
(x)

Operating profit / Interest The company's ability to make contractual interest payments. Its result is 
interpreted as the number of times by which the operating profit is greater 
than the interest paid.

Financial debt Borrowings / Total assets * 100 Percentage representing short- and long-term borrowings compared to the 
company's assets. 

Leveraging

Total Total liabilities / Total shareholders' 
equity * 100

This measures the shareholders' level of equity pledged to the company's 
creditors.

Short-term Total current liabilities / Sharehold-
ers' equity * 100

This measures the shareholders' level of equity commitment to cover short-
term debts.

Total financial Liabilities with financial entities / 
Equity* 100

This measures the shareholders' level of equity commitment to cover borrow-
ings.

Returns

Operating profit margin Operating profit / Operating 
Revenue

The company's profitability in performance of its corporate purpose. This 
represents the operating profit generated by each COP of revenue. 

Net profit margin Net profit / Revenue * 100 For each COP of revenue, how many COP in profits were generated, regard-
less of whether or not that profit came from carrying out the company's 
corporate purpose. 

Return on equity Net profit / Shareholders' equity 
* 100

The percentage of net profit over the shareholders' equity. The return on the 
shareholder's investment.

Return on total assets Yield / Total assets * 100 From each COP invested in total assets, how much net profit does it gener-
ate, regardless of how it has been financed.

EBITDA Operating profit + depreciation + 
amortization + provisions

Represents the cash generated by the company's operation.

EBITDA Margin EBITDA / Revenue * 100 Represents the amount that is converted into cash from each COP of reve-
nue in order to cover tax payments, support investments, cover the debt-ser-
vice and share profits.





Individual Financial
Statements

Central Calima, Calima - El Darién
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Statutory Auditor's Report     

To the shareholders of            
Celsia S.A. E.S.P. 

I have audited CELSIA S.A. E.S.P.'s balance sheets as at Tuesday, December 31, 2013 and 2012 and the 
corresponding statement of income, statement of changes in equity, statement of changes in financial 
position and cash flow statement, as well as the summary of main accounting policies and other explanatory 
notes.

The Management is responsible for preparing and properly submitting these financial statements 
according to the generally accepted accounting principles in Colombia and accounting instructions and 
practices established by the Superintendence of Public Services. This responsibility includes designing, 
implementing and maintaining an adequate internal control system for preparing and submitting financial 
statements free of material errors due to fraud or carelessness; selecting and applying the appropriate 
accounting policies; and making reasonable accounting estimates in the circumstances.

My responsibility is to provide an opinion about these financial statements based on my audits. I obtained 
the necessary information to perform my duties and complete my work pursuant to the accounting 
standards generally accepted in Colombia. Said standards require the audit to be planned and executed 
to reasonably ensure that the financial statements are free of material errors. A financial statement audit 
includes examining a sampling of the evidence that supports the figures and disclosures of the financial 
statements. The auditing procedures selected depend on the auditor's professional judgment and include 
a risk assessment for material errors in the financial statements. As part of the risk assessment, the auditor 
considers the Company's internal controls for reasonably preparing and submitting financial statements 
so that he or she may design auditing procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. An audit 
also includes evaluating the accounting principles used and the significant accounting estimates made 
by Management, as well as evaluating the general presentation of the financial statements. My audits is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion.



199www.celsia.com

In my opinion, the aforementioned financial statements taken from the accounting books fairly present 
CELSIA S.A. E.S.P.'s financial position as at Tuesday, December 31, 2013 and 2012 in all major aspects: 
operating income, changes in equity, changes in financial position and cash flows in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles in Colombia and the accounting instructions and practices 
established by the Superintendence of Public Services, applied on a uniform basis.

Furthermore, based on the scope of my audits, I can report that the Company has performed its accounting 
according to legal regulations and accounting techniques. The operations recorded in the accounting books 
and the actions of the administrators are in compliance with the bylaws and the decisions of the General 
Shareholders' Meeting and the Board of Directors. Correspondence, account receipts, minute books, 
and the share ledger are duly completed and kept. The administrators' management report matches the 
basic financial statements and the Company is up to date with its contributions to the Comprehensive 
Social Security System. Mechanisms have been implemented to prevent and control money laundering in 
accordance with External Memorandum No. 60 from 2008 issued by the Financial Superintendence. My 
internal control evaluation, performed to determine the scope of my audit tests, revealed that the Company 
has been following proper internal control measures to preserve and safely keep its assets or those third 
party assets under its control. 

OLGA LILIANA CABRALES PINTO
Statutory Auditor
Professional License No. 92873-T
Assigned by Deloitte & Touche Ltda.

February 19, 2014
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Certification of the Legal Representative and Accountant of Celsia S. A. E.S.P.

February 19, 2014

To Celsia S.A. E.S.P. Shareholders

We, the undersigned Legal Representative and Accountant of Celsia S.A. E.S.P., certify that the following 
was verified before being made available to you and to third parties in the company's financial statements, 
as of December 31, 2013 and 2012:

1.  All assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2013 and 2012 are included in the company's financial state-
ments. All transactions included in these statements were made during the reporting periods.

2.  Assets represent likely future economic benefits (rights), and liabilities represent likely future economic 
losses (obligations) acquired or assumed by the Company as of December 31, 2013 and 2012.

3.  All of the company's economic activities in the reporting periods ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 
have been recorded in these financial statements.

4.  Revenue and expenditures incurred correspond to the reality of the company and have been classified 
based on current legal provisions.

5.  All elements have been included with their proper values according to the generally accepted account-
ing principles in Colombia, and instructions and practices established by the Superintendence of Resi-
dential Public Services.

6.  All economic activities that affect the company have been properly classified, described and disclosed in 
the financial statements.

7.  The financial statements and the management report do not contain flaws, inaccuracies or errors that 
obscure the true nature of the Company's assets, liabilities or operations.

Juan Guillermo Londoño Posada Jorge Arturo Tarquino Pérez
Representante legal Accountant
  Professional License No. 30956-T
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Celsia S. A. E. S. P.
Balance Sheet
As at Tuesday, December 31, 2013 and 2012
(Values expressed in millions of Colombian pesos)

Notes 2013 2012
Assets

Current assets
Cash 5 68,985 129,449
Temporary investments 6 311,236 238,997
Accounts receivable, net 7 73,925 60,680
Expenses paid in advance       4,540     3,903

Total current assets 458,686 433,029

Non-current assets
Accounts receivable, net 7 79,717 90,225
Inventories 8 18,284 17,511
Long-term investments, net 9 2,829,571 2,604,318
Property, plant and equipment, net 10 338,316 339,082
Deferred charges, net 11 2,574 11,148
Intangibles, net 12 50,285 53,533
Other assets 810 826
Appreciation and depreciation, net 13   373,130    406,576

Total non-current assets 3,692,687 3,523,219

Total assets 4,151,373 3,956,248

Liabilities and shareholder's equity
Current liabilities

Borrowings 14 790 107,156
Bonds 15 2,656 -
Accounts payable 16 48,933 54,320
Taxes, levies, and fees 17 7,203 6,992
Labor and comprehensive social security obligations 1,018 2,342
Estimated liabilities and allowances 18 2,271 -
Other liabilities          177         204

Total current liabilities     63,048 171,014

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 14 - 709,579
Bonds 15 800,000 -
Taxes, levies, and fees 17 - 6,288
Estimated liabilities and allowances 18               -             163,956

Total non-current liabilities   800,000 879,823

Total liabilities   863,048 1,050,837

Shareholder's equity (see attached statement) 19 3,288,325 2,905,411

Total liabilities and shareholder's equity 4,151,373 3,956,248

Suspense accounts 20 1,598,051 2,022,607

The accompanying notes 1 to 30 are an integral part of these financial statements

Juan Guillermo Londoño Posada Jorge Arturo Tarquino Pérez Olga Liliana Cabrales Pinto 
Legal Representative Accountant Statutory Auditor 
(See attached certification) License No. 30956-T License No. 92873-T 
 (See attached certification) Assigned by Deloitte & Touche Ltda. 
  (See attached report)
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Celsia S. A. E. S. P.
Statement of Income
At as December 31, 2013 and 2012 
(Values expressed in millions of Colombian pesos)

Notes 2013 2012
Revenue

Revenue from public services 21 388,726 366,394

Costs of sales 

Cost of sales from public services 22 (278,312) (214,289)

Gross profit 110,414 152,105

Administrative operating expenses 23  (53,280) (52,138)

Operating profit 57,134 99,967

Non-operating revenue and expenses

Revenue by equity method 9 247,996 193,441

Non-operating revenue 24 143,358 38,498

Borrowing costs 25 (68,750) (78,401)

Exchange rate difference, net 3,353 (2,507)

Non-operating expenses 26   (7,066) (20,238)

Profit before income tax provisions, income tax for equality (CREE) provisions and other 
tax provisions. 376,025 230,760

Income tax for equality (CREE) provision 17    (2,380)  -

Net profit of the year 373,645 230,760

Net profit per share (COP) 519.25 320.68

The accompanying notes 1 to 30 are an integral part of these financial statements

Juan Guillermo Londoño Posada Jorge Arturo Tarquino Pérez Olga Liliana Cabrales Pinto 
Legal Representative Accountant Statutory Auditor 
(See attached certification) License No. 30956-T License No. 92873-T 
 (See attached certification) Assigned by Deloitte & Touche Ltda. 
  (See attached report)
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Celsia S. A. E. S. P.
Statement of Changes in Shareholders' Equity
At as December 31, 2013 and 2012 
(Values expressed in millions of Colombian pesos)

Notes 2013 2012
Subscribed and paid-in capital

Balance at the start and end of the year 19        180        180

Issue premium
Balance at the start and end of the year 298,146 298,146

Appropriated retained earnings
Balance at the start of the year 1,932,054 1,843,925
Appropriations from the year's profits and losses approved by the General Sharehold-

ers' Meeting to carry to an occasional reserve set aside to maintain the equity 230,760    152,891

Dividends decreed in cash in the amount of COP 100 per year per share on 
719,584,500 shares, payable in four equal installments of COP 25 per share in 
April, July and October 2013, and January 2014 (71,959) -

Dividends decreed in cash at COP 90 per year per share on 719,584,500 shares, 
payable in four equal installments at COP 22.5 per share in April, July and October 
2012, and January 2013 - (64,762)

Balance at the end of the year 19 2,090,855 1,932,054

Unappropriated retained earnings
Balance at the start of the year 230,760 152,891

  Appropriations approved by the General Shareholders' Meeting to carry to retained 
earnings (230,760) (152,891)

Net profit of the year 373,645 230,760
Balance at the end of the year 373,645 230,760

Equity revaluation reserve
Balance at the start and end of the year 19 36,838 36,838

Equity method earnings
Balance at the start of the year 857 -
Net result from applying the equity method to the year 9 114,674 857
Balance at the end of the year 115,531 857

Revaluation Reserve
Balance at the start of the year 406,576 318,562
Changes during the year  (33,446) 88,014
Balance at the end of the year 13 373,130 406,576

Total shareholder's equity 3,288,325 2,905,411

The accompanying notes 1 to 30 are an integral part of these financial statements

Juan Guillermo Londoño Posada Jorge Arturo Tarquino Pérez Olga Liliana Cabrales Pinto 
Legal Representative Accountant Statutory Auditor 
(See attached certification) License No. 30956-T License No. 92873-T 
 (See attached certification) Assigned by Deloitte & Touche Ltda. 
  (See attached report)
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Celsia S. A. E. S. P.
Statement of Changes in Financial Position
At as December 31, 2013 and 2012 
(Values expressed in millions of Colombian pesos)

2013 2012
Financial resources (used for) provided by:
Net profit of the year 373,645 230,760
Plus (minus) operating fees (credits) that did not affect working capital:

Property, plant and equipment depreciation 13,969 12,231
Amortization of deferred charges 8,574 482
Amortization of acquired goodwill and other intangibles 3,248 3,248
Provisions for long-term investments 2,074 15,875
Loss from the sale and retirement of property, plant and equipment 1,467 -
Property, plant and equipment provision 999 880
Revenue by equity method (247,996) (193,441)
Recovery of the provision for the legal proceedings with the DIAN 
   (Note 18) (114,717) -

Net loss from sales of long-term investments - 573
Recovery of provision for property, plant and equipment (311) (198)

Total financial resources for the year's operation     40,952 70,410

Financial resources provided by other sources:
Funding raised by issuing bonds 800,000             -
Dividends received and applied against the controlled companies investments account 135,343 136,194
Reduction in non-current accounts payable 10,508 -
Reduction in other non-current assets 16 -
Reclassification of intangibles to property, plant and equipment - 8,700
Revenue from the sale of long-term investments - 237

Total financial resources provided by other sources  945,867 145,131

The financial resources were used in:
Payment of long-term borrowings (709,579)                -
Decreed dividends (71,959) (64,762)
Payment of income taxes derived from the reconciliation with the DIAN. (49,239) -
Property, plant and equipment acquired (15,358) (20,843)
Reclassification of taxes, levies and fees from long-term to short-term (6,288)     (6,288)
Acquisition of inventories (773) (565)
Reclassification of borrowings from long-term to short-term - (74,105)
Reclassification of intangibles to property, plant and equipment - (8,700)
Increase in non-current accounts payable - (3,818)
Increase in other non-current assets - (58)

Total financial resources used (853,196) (179,139)

Total increase in working capital  133,623 36,402

Changes in the working capital structure
Cash (60,464) 99,431
Temporary investments 72,239 (3,017)
Accounts receivable, net 13,245 (4,470)
Expenses paid in advance 637 2,668
Borrowings and bonds 103,710 (56,413)
Accounts payable and taxes, levies and fees 5,176 (39)
Labor and comprehensive social security obligations 1,324 (1,554)
Estimated liabilities and allowances (2,271) -
Other liabilities           27   (204)

Total increase in working capital  133,623 36,402

The accompanying notes 1 to 30 are an integral part of these financial statements

Juan Guillermo Londoño Posada Jorge Arturo Tarquino Pérez Olga Liliana Cabrales Pinto 
Legal Representative Accountant Statutory Auditor 
(See attached certification) License No. 30956-T License No. 92873-T 
 (See attached certification) Assigned by Deloitte & Touche Ltda. 
  (See attached report)
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Celsia S. A. E. S. P.
Cash Flow Statement
At as December 31, 2013 and 2012 
(Values expressed in millions of Colombian pesos)

2013 2012
Cash flow from operating activities  
Net profit of the year 373,645 230,760
Plus (minus) fees (credits) that did not affect cash movement:

Property, plant and equipment depreciation 13,969 12,231
Amortization of deferred charges 8,574 482
Amortization of acquired goodwill and other intangibles 3,248 3,248
Provisions for long-term investments 2,074 15,875
Loss from the sale and retirement of property, plant and equipment 1,467 -
Property, plant and equipment provision 999 880
Revenue by equity method (247,996) (193,441)
Recovery of the provision for the legal proceedings with the DIAN 
   (Note 18) (114,717) -

Net loss from sales of long-term investments - 573
Accounts receivable provision - 367
Recovery of provision for property, plant and equipment (311) (198)

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts payable (2,737) 285
Inventories - (565)
Expenses paid in advance (637) (2,668)
Accounts payable and taxes, levies and fees (11,464) (6,249)
Labor obligations (1,324) 1,554
Estimated liabilities and allowances 2,271 -
Other liabilities      (27)   204

Total cash flow from operations 27,034 63,338

Cash flow from investment activities:
Dividends received and applied against the controlled companies investments account 135,343 136,194
Reduction (increase) in other non-current assets 16        (58)
Payment of income taxes derived from the reconciliation with the DIAN (Note 18). (49,239) -
Property, plant and equipment acquired (15,358) (20,843)
Acquisition of inventories (773) -
Revenue from the sale of long-term investments - 237

Total cash flow set aside for investment activities 69,989 115,530

Cash flow from financing:
Funding raised by issuing bonds 800,000 -
Increased borrowings 100,084 34,853
Payment on borrowings (913,373) (52,545)
Decreed dividends (71,959) (64,762)

Total cash flow through financing: (85,248) (82,454)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 11,775 96,414
Cash and cash equivalents at the start of the year 368,446 272,032
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 380,221 368,446

Structure of cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year
Cash 68,985 129,449
Temporary investments 311,236 238,997

Total cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 380,221 368,446

The accompanying notes 1 to 30 are an integral part of these financial statements

Juan Guillermo Londoño Posada Jorge Arturo Tarquino Pérez Olga Liliana Cabrales Pinto 
Legal Representative Accountant Statutory Auditor 
(See attached certification) License No. 30956-T License No. 92873-T 
 (See attached certification) Assigned by Deloitte & Touche Ltda. 
  (See attached report)
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As at Tuesday, December 31, 2013 and 2012
(Values expressed in millions of COP and in USD, except the 
nominal value of shares which is expressed in COP)

NOTE 1 Entity and Corporate Purpose

Celsia S.A. E.S.P. (previously Compañía Colombiana de Inver-
siones S.A. E.S.P.) was incorporated by Public Deed No. 2912 / 
October 4, 2001 of the 20th Notary of Medellín, Department of 
Antioquia, registered in the Medellín Chamber of Commerce 
on October 8 of the same year, in Book 9, Folio 1360, Number 
9519, and created on account of the split of Compañía Colombi-
ana de Tabaco S.A. whose project was approved in the Extraor-
dinary Shareholders' Meeting of said company held on July 31, 
2001. The company's main place of business is Medellín, and it 
is established for an indefinite period.

Based on Public Deed No. 1126 / April 17, 2012 issued by the 
20th Notary of Medellín, registered in the Medellín Chamber 
of Commerce in Book 9 under Number 7123, Compañía Colom-
biana de Inversiones S.A. E.S.P. changed its business name to 
Celsia S.A. E.S.P. 

In 2006, the company began the process of reformulating 
its investment strategy, which in 2007 led to the identification 
of a new business focus: the electricity sector. To achieve this 
focus, the company purchased the following companies in Co-
lombia's electric energy generation sector. In December 2007, 
by means of a sale agreement, it purchased 100% of the compa-
nies Zona Franca Celsia S.A. E.S.P. (previously Colinversiones 
ZF S.A. E.S.P.) and SPV TF LTD. The latter was liquidated in 
2009. In 2008, by means of a swap carried out by Antioqueña 
de Inversiones S.A. and Inversiones e Industria S.A. (which 
were absorbed by the company through a merger in Novem-
ber 2008), it purchased Meriléctrica S.A. & Cía. S.C.A. E.S.P., 
Meriléctrica S.A. (absorbed through a merger on December 
28, 2009) and TLC International LDC (liquidated in 2009). In 
2008, it purchased Hidromontañitas S.A. E.S.P. and by means 
of a Takeover Bid (TOB), it purchased 98,82% of Generar S.A. 
E.S.P. Both were absorbed by the company in the merger of De-
cember 28, 2009.

On December 14, 2009, the company purchased 164,063,583 
shares, equivalent to 47.32% of Empresa de Energía del Pacífi-
co S.A. E.S.P. through its controlled company Colener S.A.S. by 
means of a TOB.

On April 30, 2010, again through its controlled company 
Colener S.A.S., the company purchased 9,326,267 shares, equiv-
alent to an additional 2.69% of Empresa de Energía del Pacífico 
S.A. E.S.P. making it the majority shareholder with 50.01%.

By means of Public Deed No. 4629 / December 28, 2009 

issued by the 20th Notary of Medellín, the company formalized 
the merger with Meriléctrica S.A. & Cia. S.C.A. E.S.P., Meriléc-
trica S.A., Generar S.A. E.S.P., Compañía Colombiana de En-
ergía S.A.S. and Hidromontañitas S.A. E.S.P. (absorbed compa-
nies). This merger was approved at an Extraordinary Meeting 
of company shareholders held on September 22, 2009.

In order to carry out the activities related to the power gen-
eration business directly, the company, with the approval of the 
General Shareholders' Meeting and by means of Public Deed 
No. 4630 / December 28, 2009 issued by the 20th Notary of 
Medellín, changed its corporate purpose and became a Public 
Service Company by adopting the legal and regulatory obliga-
tions applicable to the electricity sector in Colombia.

The company's main purpose is to provide public services 
of the generation and sale of electricity, pursuant to Law 142 
(general system for the provision of public services in Colom-
bia) and Law 143 (system for the activities of power generation, 
interconnection, transmission, distribution and sale) / 1994 
and the provisions that amend and/or add to them, as well as 
the provision of ancillary, complementary and related services 
to the same activities of public services, according to the legal 
and regulatory framework. It may also carry out activities that 
are connected, complementary and related to the generation, 
distribution and sale of electricity, natural gas and any other 
fuel; it can perform, promote, operate and build power gener-
ation projects and plants, take part in companies engaged in 
the transmission, distribution, generation or sale of electricity, 
natural gas or other fuel.

Generation consists of the production of energy using ther-
mal plants and hydroelectric plants connected to the National 
Electrical Grid (SIN for its acronym in Spanish).

Transactions between generators and resellers are carried 
out by means of bilateral contracts or the Energy Market.

Law 142 of 1994 defines general criteria and policies es-
tablished to guide residential public services in the country, as 
well as procedures and mechanisms for regulation, control and 
oversight.

Law 143 of 1994 ensures viability of the company focus 
and regulates electricity generation, transmission, distribution 
and sales. It creates a market environment with competition, 
strengthens the sector and creates guidelines for Government 
intervention.

Celsia S.A. E.S.P.
Notes to the Individual Financial Statements
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bution networks, 72 distribution substations and seven trans-
mission substations.

NOTE 2 Basis of Presentation of Financial 
Statements

Accounting Period
Pursuant to the statutory and legal provisions in Colombia, the 
company closes accounts each year on December 31.

Comparative Financial Statements
Celsia S.A. E.S.P. presents the comparative financial statements 
closing on Tuesday, December 31, 2013 with those of 2012. In 
2009, the company became a Public Service Company (ESP, 
for the Spanish original) and since then, it has observed the 
provisions contained in the General Accounting Plan for Public 
Service Companies. This means that the financial statements 
are comparable between accounting periods.

Consolidation of Financial Statements
The attached financial statements do not consolidate the as-
sets, liabilities, equity and results of the controlled companies. 
The investment in these companies is recorded by the equity 
method, as indicated below. These statements are presented 
to the General Shareholders' Meeting. They serve as the basis 
upon which profits and other allocations are distributed. How-
ever, due to legal requirements, the company must also submit 
consolidated financial statements to the General Shareholders' 
Meeting for approval.

In 2013 and 2012, Celsia S.A. E.S.P. merged with the com-
panies Zona Franca Celsia S.A. E.S.P. and Colener S.A.S. The 
latter has been a majority shareholder in Empresa de Energía 
del Pacífico S.A. E.S.P. since April 2010.

Adjustments for Inflation
Up to December 31, 2006, non-monetary assets and liabilities 
and equity were updated monetarily using general consumer 
price indexes (or adjustment percentages for the tax year), 
on a monthly basis, except for the profit and loss accounts 
and the asset revaluation reserve. The respective adjustments 
were entered in the monetary correction account of the state-
ment of income. 

The balances of non-monetary assets and liabilities and the 
equity of the public utility companies absorbed in the merger 
in 2009 include adjustments for inflation up to December 31, 
2005 because Resolution No. SSPD - 20051300033635 / De-
cember 28, 2005 of the Superintendence of Residential Public 
Services eliminated the application of adjustments for inflation 
for accounting purposes as of January 1, 2006.

Decree 1524 of 1994 delegates the presidential responsibil-
ity of creating general policy for administering and controlling 
the efficiency of residential public services to the regulatory 
commissions.

In Colombian the regulatory commissions are responsible 
for promoting competition among public service providers to 
ensure competitors provide economic operations, they do not 
abuse a dominant position and that they produce high quality 
services.

The Energy and Gas Regulatory Commission (CREG, for 
the Spanish original), the technical organization appointed by 
the Ministry of Mines and Energy (MME) regulates energy 
rates, Wholesale Energy Market (MEM, for the Spanish origi-
nal) operations and all things related with the provision of elec-
tric energy and gas services.

The Company can engage in managing, protecting and in-
creasing its equity by strengthening and promoting industri-
al and commercial activity, especially through investment in 
companies, regardless of their corporate purpose, either par-
ticipating as a founding partner in its incorporation, or making 
subsequent capital contributions. It may also provide advice on 
economic, administrative and financial subjects to every kind 
of company.

In order to carry out power generation activities, the com-
pany has the following generation plants: Meriléctrica, a 167 
MW simple cycle gas-run thermal plant located in the munici-
pality of Barrancabermeja (Santander); Río Piedras, a 19.9 MW 
hydroelectric run-of-river plant located in the municipality of 
Jericó (Antioquia); Hidromontañitas, a 19.9 MW hydroelectric 
run-of-river plant located in the municipality of Donmatías 
(Antioquia), which began operating in 2012. 

Two combined-cycle gas-fired power plants are operating 
through Zona Franca Celsia S.A. E.S.P., Special Permanent Free 
Trade Zone, in which the company owns nearly 100% of the 
shares: Flores I, a 160 MW plant, and Flores IV, a 450 MW plant. 
That latter launched commercial operations on August 12, 2011. 

Celsia holds 50.01% of Empresa de Energía del Pacífico S.A. 
E.S.P. through Colener S.A.S., which it wholly owns. In turn, the 
former holds 87.20% of Compañía de Electricidad de Tuluá S.A. 
E.S.P, CETSA. Empresa de Energía del Pacífico S.A. E.S.P. par-
ticipates in the different activities in the electricity supply chain 
including: generation, transmission, distribution and sales.

EPSA and CETSA operate fourteen hydroelectric power 
plants that generate 959.5 MW of power (Alto Anchicayá, Bajo 
Anchicayá, Salvajina, Calima, Hidroprado and nine smaller 
plants).  In addition, the hydroelectric plants of Bajo Tuluá (19.9 
MW) and Cucuana (55 MW) are under construction in Valle del 
Cauca and Tolima, respectively.

With regard to the distribution and sales activities, EPSA 
and CETSA serve 39 municipalities in Valle del Cauca and one 
in the Chocó, where they have 544,383 customers, including 
residential, official, commercial and industrial users. They also 
have 274 km of 220 kV transmission lines, 19,567 km of distri-
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NOTE 3 Principal Accounting Policies and 
Practices

The financial statements were prepared in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles in Colombia, which 
are prescribed by legal standards, in particularl Regulatory De-
cree 2649 / 1993 and the provisions of the Financial and Res-
idential Public Service Superintendences of Colombia. Below 
are the principal policies and practices adopted by the compa-
ny in accordance with the above:

Temporary investments
Investments represented in securities or documents for easy 
disposal, for which the company has a serious intent of exercis-
ing the economic right incorporated therein in the short term. 
These investments are entered at cost and later updated based 
on the agreed interest rate. The respective returns are entered 
as a higher or lower value of the investment, when capitalized, 
as credits or debits in the statement of income.

Long-Term Investments
Investments for which the company has the serious intent of 
holding to maturity or for at least three years if the term there-
of is greater or if they do not expire. 

These investments are entered and appraised prospective-
ly as follows:

a Investments in shares or capital shares (equity securities) 
in entities that are not controlled by the company are recorded 
at adjusted cost plus the value of the dividends received on the 
shares, adjusted to market value on a monthly basis. The result-
ing adjustment, whether positive or negative, is entered in the 
appreciation account by debiting or crediting the revaluation 
reserve in shareholder equity, as applicable. 

The market value of securities traded on the stock exchange 
is obtained from the price bulletin for investment valuation, 
published by the Colombian Securities Exchange. The market 
value of securities that are not traded on the stock exchange 
is determined based on the intrinsic value thereof, calculated 
based on the latest financial statements disclosed by the issuer 
of the title. 

  Investments in non-controlled companies in process of 
being dissolved for subsequent liquidation or with recur-
rent losses, are adjusted to market value on a monthly basis, 
in which case the lower value is entered in the statement of 
income, based on the principle of prudence.

  Investments guaranteeing repurchase agreement (Re-
pos) rights are entered separately in investments under the 
denomination of investment repo rights, and valued by ap-
plying the procedure described in the paragraph above.

Conversion of Foreign Currency 
Transactions made in foreign currency are recorded according 
to the applicable exchange rate in effect on the respective dates.  

At the closing of each accounting period, the balances re-
ceivable or payable and current investments in foreign curren-
cy are adjusted at the representative exchange rate certified 
by the Colombian Financial Superintendence. With regard to 
balances payable, only the exchange rate differences that are 
not attributable to asset acquisition costs are entered in the 
statement of income.

Similarly, transactions with forwards carried out to cover 
assets or liabilities in foreign currency are appraised and dis-
closed in the statement of income.

The exchange rate difference resulting from debts in for-
eign currency due to the purchase of inventory, property, plant 
or equipment are charged to said items if they are in the pro-
cess of import and/or construction, or to the statement of in-
come if the respective import has already been liquidated and 
the commissioning of the assets has concluded.

Relative Importance or Materiality
Economic activities are recognized and reported based on their 
relative importance. An economic activity is considered ma-
terial when knowledge or ignorance thereof, by virtue of the 
value or nature of the activity within the surrounding circum-
stances, significantly influences the economic decisions of the 
users of the information.

Relative importance for the preparation of the financial 
statements and for reporting purposes has been determined 
based on 5% of the total assets and the period's profits/losses.

Classification of Assets and Liabilities
Assets and liabilities are classified according to their purpose 
or their degree of completion, availability, enforceability and 
liquidation in terms of time and value. Current assets are the 
sums that will be collected or available within a period of no 
more than one year.  Current liabilities are the sums that will 
be enforceable or can be liquidated also within a period of no 
more than one year.

All other balances are reported in non-current assets or 
liabilities.

Classification of Revenue, Costs and Expenses
In preparing the comparative income statement for 2013 and 
2012, the company reported the operating revenue, costs and 
expenses corresponding to the activities related to the delivery 
of public services.

Cash Flow Statement
The cash flow statement was prepared using the indirect 
method. Cash and cash equivalents is the cash in hand and 
banks, savings deposits, funds and all high-liquidity negotiable 
investments.
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Property, plant, equipment and depreciation
Property, plant and equipment are entered in the books at cost 
and adjusted for inflation up to December 31, 2006. As relevant, 
they include financing costs and exchange rate differences for 
liabilities in foreign currency assumed for acquisition, until the 
conditions of use are in place.

As for projects under construction, all concepts directly 
related to construction and assembly, including social and en-
vironmental costs, will be susceptible to capitalization. In addi-
tion, interest costs and other costs related to the loans received 
and used to finance the construction and assembly can be capi-
talized as the higher value of the asset under construction, un-
til they begin to be used.

Sold and retired assets are deducted from the respective 
adjusted net cost. Differences between sale price and the ad-
justed net cost are recorded to the statement of income. The 
cost of additions or improvements that increase the efficiency 
or extend the life of the asset is capitalized in the account of 
the respective asset.

Depreciation is calculated based on the adjusted cost using 
the straight line method and based on the likely useful life of 
the assets at annual rates of:

Rate Years

Constructions and buildings 5% 20
Civil works associated with the hydroelec-
tric power plants 2% 50

Power plants and generation ducts 4% 25
Electronic equipment and machinery 
associated with the generation plants 4% 25

Networks, lines and cables 4% 25

Office equipment 10% 10

Furniture, appliances and dining room, 
medical and scientific equipment  10% 10

Transport and vehicles 20% 5

Communication and computer equipment 20% 5

The company does not estimate any residual values in account-
ing for its assets because they are not considered significant; 
therefore, they are depreciated in full. Maintenance and repair 
expenses are recorded to the statement of income. Costs for 
major maintenance are recorded to the statement of income 
when they are carried out.

b  Investments in controlled companies, in which more than 
50% of the capital stock is held directly or indirectly or a 
dominant influence is exercised, are entered by the equity 
method. 
  Under this method, investments are initially recorded 
at cost and are then adjusted as credits or debits recorded 
in the statement of income, as appropriate, to recognize the 
share of profits or losses in the controlled companies. The 
cash distribution of profits in these companies is recorded 
as a lower value of the investment.  
  Additionally, the proportional share in variations in 
other controlled company equity accounts is also recorded 
as a lower or higher value in the aforementioned invest-
ments, as opposed to fiscal year results with credit or debit 
to the equity method earnings account. 
  After recording through the equity method, if the 
intrinsic value of the investment is lower that the 
book value, a provision is recorded to the statement 
of income. Any intrinsic value above the book value of 
the investment, at the close of the fiscal year, is entered 
separately as asset appreciation, with debit to the equity 
account revaluation reserve.

Accounts Receivable and Provisions 
for Doubtful Accounts
 Accounts receivable are the resources that grant the power to 
require a third party to fulfill the obligation contained therein 
in cash, goods or services, as agreed between the parties.
This includes securities loaned to third parties and employees 
that are not negotiable on the market or are not intended for 
sale and are not valued at fair value and the balances of custom-
ers resulting from the sale of the company's services.

Accounts receivable are entered using the cost method, 
which, when applicable, is adjusted according to the unit of 
measurement or functional currency agreed for payment. At 
the closing of the period, the recovery thereof is evaluated and 
any loss in value is recognized.

Provisions are recognized for doubtful accounts in the 
amount of the difference between the value expected to be 
recovered for the accounts receivable and the book value at 
which they were entered.

Inventories 
Inventories are entered in the books at cost, which is deter-
mined based on the weighted average real cost method. Every 
year, whether the inventory is obsolete or not is evaluated and 
provisions are entered if necessary. This primarily corresponds 
to long-term replacement parts which are consumed over a 
time greater than one year.

Expenses paid in advance
Expenses paid in advance are mainly insurance premiums that 
are amortized during while the policy is in effect.
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Feasibility and project status are evaluated annually, con-
sidering its pertinence in the financial statements. 

Intangibles
Intangibles represent resources that imply a right or privilege 
over third party products, which can be used for economic ben-
efit over several future periods. Concepts such as goodwill and 
rights are classified in this category.

The cost of these assets consist of clearly identifiable ex-
penditures incurred. To recognize the contribution thereof to 
the generation of revenue, they are amortized systematically 
over their useful life.

The amount paid over the book value for the purchase of 
companies, which the company has or acquires control of is 
entered as goodwill acquired. The goodwill acquired must be 
amortized over the same period in which the investment is ex-
pected to be recovered, without in any case exceeding twenty 
(20) years.

Appreciation and Depreciation
The appreciation and depreciation of equity assets includes:

a  Surplus or default market or intrinsic value of long-term 
investments in uncontrolled companies at the end of the 
period based on net adjusted value.

b  Surplus of technical appraisals of property, plant and equip-
ment on the respective net adjusted costs.

Borrowings
Obligations assumed by the company with credit establish-
ments or other financial institutions in the country and abroad.

The value initially entered is the principal amount of the 
obligation, net of the costs incurred in the transaction. Borrow-
ing costs that do not increase capital are entered as accumulat-
ed expenses payable.

Overdrafts resulting from the transaction at the end of the 
accounting period are also included.

Investment Repurchase Agreements
Records the funds received by the company using its invest-
ments to guarantee repurchase agreements.   

Derivative instruments
For derivative transactions based on the exchange rate, the ef-
fects of comparison of the spot rate on the date of valuation and 
the forward rate deducted using generally accepted financial 
methodologies are recorded to the period's statement of income.

Accounts payable
These represent obligations assumed by the company from 
goods or services received.  Accounts payable are entered 
using the cost method, which, when applicable, is adjusted 

Asset Valuation Methods
Subject to technical standards, accepted valuation criteria in-
clude historic value or cost, current or replacement cost, net re-
alizable value or market value and present or discounted value.

a  Historic value or cost: The value that represents the origi-
nal amount obtained in cash or the equivalent thereof upon 
execution of an economic activity.

b  Current or replacement cost: The value that represents the 
amount in cash that would be consumed to replace an asset 
or required to settle an obligation at present.

c  Net realizable or market value: The value that represents 
the amount in cash that the asset is expected to be convert-
ed to or the liability settled during the ordinary course of 
business.

d  Present or discounted value: The value that represents the 
present value of the net cash inflows or outflows that an 
asset or liability would generate.
  

  The company has opted for property, plant and equipment 
to be valued by the net realizable value or market value 
method and the replacement cost, less the corresponding 
depreciation.
  Commercial appraisals are conducted to determine the 
net realizable or replacement value. These must be carried 
out at least once every three calendar years. To perform 
these appraisals, by legal regulation, an exception is made 
for those assets with an adjusted value of less than twenty 
(20) legal minimum monthly salaries.
  Appraisals are carried out by specialist firms that have 
no relation with the company, as it could lead to conflicts 
of interest. That means that there are no connections, re-
lations or parallel transactions between the appraiser and 
the companies that would obstruct or potentially obstruct a 
fair and balanced declaration adjusted to the reality of the 
subject of the appraisal.
  Based on the above, if the net adjusted cost of the prop-
erty, plant and equipment is greater than its net realizable 
value, a provision is recorded to the statement of income 
for the year; otherwise, a valuation is recorded to the reval-
uation reserve. 

Deferred Charges
All costs for project studies carried out in the development 
phase, and for which future benefits are expected to be ob-
tained are recorded as deferred charges.

When the construction of the project begins, charges are 
transferred to the projects under construction account.

Costs incurred during the project research phase are re-
corded as expenses.
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as fiscal accounts are used to enter differences between the ac-
counting figures and the figures for tax effects. 

Accounting Estimates
In preparing the financial statements according to general-
ly accepted accounting principles, certain estimates must be 
made by management that may affect the amounts of the as-
sets, liabilities, income and expenses reported during the pe-
riod, and for the entry of contingent assets and liabilities in 
suspense accounts. The result may differ from these estimates.

Should a change later occur in the estimates or suppositions 
due to variations in the circumstances that gave rise thereto, 
the effect of the change would be included in determining the 
net profit or loss of the accounting period in which the change 
occurred and future periods, if applicable.

Net Profit Per Share
The net profit per share is calculated by dividing the year's 
profit or loss by the weighted average cost of outstanding sub-
scribed shares during the same period.  

Recording Revenue, Costs and Expenses
Revenue is recognized in the period's statement of income 
using the accrual accounting system. Revenue is recognized 
when there has been an increase in future economic benefits 
related to an increase in assets or a decrease in liabilities, and 
the value can be measured in a reliable manner. Upon recog-
nizing revenue, all the costs and expenses associated therewith 
are recognized.

Revenue from the power generation activity is mainly from 
energy sales through bilateral contracts with the regulated 
and unregulated market, the energy market and the Reliabil-
ity Premium. CREG Resolution 071 / 2006 approved the cur-
rent methodology for the payment of the Reliability Premium 
to Wholesale Energy Market (MEM, for the Spanish original) 
generators. 

Revenue from the energy sales is recognized and recorded 
based on the generation of energy, which is sold on the Market 
and in long-term contracts. Revenue from gas sales is recog-
nized based on the nominations established in the gas resale 
contracts.

Costs and expenses are recognized in the period's state-
ment of income using the accrual accounting system. They are 
recognized when there has been a decrease in economic ben-
efits related to a decrease in assets or an increase in liabilities, 
and the value can be measured in a reliable manner.

Reclassification
Certain items in the 2012 financial statements have been 
reclassified for comparative purposes. Activity-based costing 
was used to present cost of sales in 2012. In 2013, costs were 
directly related with the account plan established by the 
Superintendence of Public Services for both years.

according to the measurement or functional currency agreed 
for payment.

Taxes, levies, and fees
The value of the general and mandatory amounts payable to 
the Colombian Government by the company, determined based 
on the private liquidations generated during the respective fis-
cal period. It includes, among others, income tax and related 
taxes, equity tax, and industry and commerce tax.

Income tax and the income tax for equality (CREE) for 
the period are determined based on the clearing of the re-
ported income taking into account the tax provisions in force. 
After cleaning, taxes payable are calculated based on liquid 
income estimates, taking into consideration the income tax 
for equality. Based on the legal provisions, the company is not 
required to calculate presumptive income to determine tax-
able liquid income.

The recognition of equity tax created by Emergency De-
cree No. 4825 / December 2010 was charged in full to the ac-
count of equity revaluation, in accordance with the provisions 
of Decree 514 of 2010.

Labor and comprehensive social security obligations
Labor obligations include personnel benefits to be paid by the 
company to employees as established under current legal regu-
lations and labor conventions. These obligations consist mainly 
of severance pay, interest on severance pay, vacation and ser-
vice bonuses.

During the period, the global estimates corresponding to 
these benefits are entered and their exact value is adjusted at 
the end of the period to determine the amount payable to each 
employee in accordance with the legal provisions.

Provision for Contingencies
Certain contingent situations may exist on the date of the fi-
nancial statements. These may result in a future loss when one 
or more of these events occur or cease to exist. If the evaluation 
of the contingency indicates a probable quantifiable loss, it is 
entered in the financial statements. When the evaluation indi-
cates that a potential for loss is not likely but the result there-
of is uncertain or probable, but the amount of the loss cannot 
be estimated, the nature of the contingency is recorded in the 
notes to the financial statements with the estimated range of 
the loss. Contingencies for which losses are estimated to be re-
mote are not disclosed.

Suspense accounts
Commitments pending fulfillment and contingent rights or 
responsibilities, such as collateral issued or securities received 
in custody or as collateral, are entered in suspense accounts. 
This also includes the memorandum accounts used for effects 
of internal control of assets, management information or the 
control of future financial positions. Suspense accounts known 
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The Company presented a IFRS implementation plan to 
the Board of Directors on February 19, 2013 and to the Super-
intendence of Residential Public Services on February 28, 2013.

It establishes that only for tax purposes will the remissions 
contained in the tax standards for accounting standards re-
main in force for the 4 years following the entry into effect of 
the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). Con-
sequently, during the stated time, the tax bases of the entries 
included in the tax declarations shall remain unmodified. Like-
wise, the requirements of accounting processes for the recogni-
tion of special tax situations shall lose validity from the date of 
application of the new regulatory accounting framework. 

NOTE 4 Monetary position in 

foreign currencies, net

Existing regulation allows the free trade of foreign currency 
through banks and other financial institutions at free exchange 
rates. Nevertheless, for the company, most transactions in for-
eign currency still require compliance with the legal provisions.  

Transactions and balances in foreign currency are con-
verted using the representative exchange rate certified by 
the Financial Superintendence of Colombia, which was used 
to prepare these financial statements as of December 31, 2013 
and 2012. The representative exchange rate as of this date, 
expressed in Colombian pesos was COP 1,926.83 (2012 - COP 
1,768.23) per USD.

Convergence of International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS)
In accordance with the provisions of Law 1314 / 2009 and Reg-
ulatory Decrees 2706 and 2784 / December 2012, the company 
is required to begin the process of convergence from the gen-
erally accepted accounting principles in Colombia to the In-
ternational Financial Reporting Standards - IFRS. In order to 
do so, the Technical Counsel for Public Accounting issued the 
Strategic Guidelines, classifying companies into three groups. 

In paragraph 48 of its Strategic Guidelines document, 
the Public Accounting Technical Committee has proposed 
that the accounting standards, financial information and data 
protection should be applied in different phases for the three 
groups of financial statement preparers. Group 1, Group 2 and 
Group 3.
Given that the company is in Group 1, it is required to be-
gin transition on January 1, 2014 in compliance with the pro-
visions established in Decree 2784 in the implementation 
schedule, which was prepared and approved by the manage-
ment organizations. In 2013 the Company finished organi-
zational preparations, and it finished adapting information 
systems to permit issuing the Opening Balance (Statement of 
Financial Position and Opening Balance) on January 1, 2014. 
It will issue its first comparative financial statements on De-
cember 31, 2015. Necessary systems changes were implement-
ed, so that  special books will be kept to differentiate between 
accounting in line with the IFRS standards, local standards 
and tax accounting standards, thus guaranteeing compliance 
with accounting norms in effect from 2014 forward.

The company has the following assets and liabilities in foreign currency, accounted for using their equivalent in millions of 

Colombian pesos, as at December 31:

 

2013 2012

Dollars
Equivalent 
in millions 

of COP
Dollars

Equivalent 
in millions 

of COP
Current Assets

   Cash in foreign currency (Note 5) 8,814 17 6,610 12

   Banks with funds in foreign currency (Note 5) 126,741 244 409,660 724

   Temporary investments (Note 6) 22,553,540 43,457 11,215,219 19,831

 22,689,095    43,718 11,631,489 20,567

Current Liabilities

Providers (Note 15) 3,147,727 6,054      270,216      478

3,147,727       6,054      270,216      478

Net monetary position, asset 19,547,368     37,664 11,361,273 20,089
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(1)  A 6 month term deposit in Bancolombia Panama in the 
amount of USD 10,080,208, which earns 1.75% EAR and 
matured on January 15, 2014.

(2)  Balance in tax return certificates issued by the Ministry of 
Finance and Public Credit in the amount of COP 1,912 and 
COP $3,069, maturing on October 17 and November 13, 
2014, respectively.

(3)  The investment fund managed in Colombia is comprised of:

2013 2012

Valores Bancolombia S.A. 
150,647 111,087

BTG Pactual S.A. (previously Bolsa y 
Renta S.A.) 61,376 91,331

Corredores Asociados S.A.
11,146 7,705

Correval S.A.
37,227 6,609

Ultrabursatiles S.A.
1,182 1,404

Fondo Capital Privado
1,076  889

Serfinco Corporativo
      144 141

262,798 219,166

  The average rate of return on these funds was 4.92% EAR 
(2012 - 7.92% EAR)

   In December 2012, the company issued ordinary 
bonds to pay off debt (Notes 14 and 15). Funds remain-
ing, after paying off the corresponding financial entities, 
were invested in fixed income financial instruments with 
AA+ credit ratings and in highly liquid mutual funds. COP 
12,225 was invested.

In 2013, COP 3,353 was recorded as net revenue from exchange 
differences (2012 COP 2,507 as net expense). 

The exchange difference revenue recorded in the financial 
statements was COP 5,760 (2012 - COP 1,167) and the recorded 
expenditure was COP 2,407 (2012 - COP 3,674). 

NOTE 5 Cash

As at December 31, cash consisted of:

 

2013 2012

Cash funds USD 8,814 (2012 - USD 
6,610) 10,505 18

Bank checking accounts USD 126,741 
(2012 - USD 409,660) 244 814

Bank savings accounts 58,236 128,617

68,985 129,449

The average rate of return on the savings accounts was 4.07% 
EAR. (2012 - -5.62% EAR).

For 2013 and 2012, there were no restrictions on cash that 
limited its use.

NOTE 6 Temporary Investments

As at December 31, temporary investments consisted of:

2013 2012

Certificates of Fixed-term Deposit (1) 19,423 -

Tax refund certificates (2) 4,981 -

Investment fund managed in Colom-
bia (3) 262,798 219,166

Investment fund managed abroad (4) 24,034 19,831

311,236 238,997
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(1) Corresponds to the portfolio for electricity generation sales 
and electricity sales in the amount of COP 28,512 (2012 - COP 
35,547) and gas resale services in the amount of COP 7,092 
(2012 - COP 7,523).

(2) Mainly includes advances and prepayments made to the 
following third parties:

2013 2012

Producción de Energía S.A.S. (a) 21,215 7,290

Alstom Brasil Ltda (b)  5,188 -

Energy energy providers (c) 1,027 951

Edificio Centro Santillana P.H. (d) - 786

Other advance payments (e) 3,005       76

30,435 9,103

 (a)  In 2012, the company signed the share purchase 
agreement entered into with Int. A Dos S.A.S., a subsidi-
ary of Integral S.A., to acquire 100% of the shares in the 
Producción de Energía S.A.S. E.S.P., the owner of the 
Porvenir II Hydroelectric Plant. In 2013, COP 13,925 in 
advance payments were made (2012 - COP 7,290) for 
the construction of Porvenir II.

    In 2013 amendments to the contract were signed in 
order to extend the term to complete the acquisition 
of the shares issued by the aforementioned company 
given that some of the conditions established for the 
transfer thereof have not been met. The last amend-
ment extends the term to complete the acquisition of 
shares issued through July 31, 2014.

 (b)  Advance payment made on the purchase of a generator 
for the Río Piedras Power Plant. Said generator is pend-
ing to be received by the company.

 (c)  Advance payment made to Equion Eergía Limited, Chev-
ron Petroleum Company, BP Santiago Oil Company and 
Spep Energy Netherlands BV for the purchase of ener-
gy, and in 2012 to Ecopetrol S.A. and Chevron Petro-
leum Company.

 (d)  Advance payment made to make improvements to the 
company's facilities in 2012.

(4)  The investment fund managed abroad with COP 24,034, 
equivalent to USD 12,473,332 (2012 - COP 19,831, equiv-
alent to USD 11,215,219), is comprised of:

2013 2012

Morgan Stanley
12,693 9,457

Centennial Absolute Return Series I
4,990 4,224

Goldman Sachs 
3,435 3,464

Centennial Global Macro
1,648 1,612

Centennial Absolute Return Series II
   1,268 1,074

 24,034 19,831

  The average rate of return was 8.55% EAR (2012 - 7.62% 
EAR).

 
None of these investments have restrictions limiting their use.

NOTE 7  Accounts receivable, net

As at December 31, the balance of accounts receivable consist-
ed of:

2013 2012

Clients (1) 35,604 43,070

Advances and prepayments (2) 30,435 9,103
Advance payments or tax refund 
balances (3) 5,163 6,014
Accounts receivable from economic 
associates (4) 80,827 91,230

Other accounts receivable (5)     1,877 1,752

153,906 151,169

Less provision for accounts receiv-
able      (264)      (264)

153,642 150,905

Less short-term accounts receivable, 
net (73,925) (60,680)

Long-term accounts receivable, net   79,717    90,225
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The list of long-term accounts receivable as at December 31 is 
as follows:

2013 2012

Economic associates 79,615 90,096

Employee loans       102      129

 79,717 90,225

As at December 31, the provision is established based on the 
doubtful accounts balance in the amount for COP 264 (2012 - 
COP 264).

Below are the provision transactions of the year:

2013 2012

Starting balance 264 401

Increase of the provision in the year 
(Note 22) - 367

Portfolio penalties
        - (504)

Ending balance   264   264

There are no levies or restrictions on the accounts receivable.

NOTE 8 Inventories

As at December 31, the inventories consisted of:

2013 2012

Materials and supplies 18,284 17,511

 (e)  Advance payments made for the acquisition of proper-
ties in Barranquilla in the amount of COP 2,202 and to 
providers for COP 800.

(3) The balance of advance payments and tax balances corre-
sponds to:

2013 2012

Income tax and income tax for equal-
ity (CREE) tax credit (Note 16). 3,567 3,016

Medellín Industry and Commerce 
tax credit 1,583 2,998

Advance payment of Medellín Indus-
try and Commerce Tax  13 -

5,163 6,014

(4)  Accounts receivable from the following economic associ-
ates:

2013 2012

Zona Franca Celsia S.A. E.S.P. (a) 80,827 90,109

Empresa de Energía del Pacífico S.A. 
E.S.P. -   1,121

  80,827 91,230

 (a)  There is an agreed interest of 8.06% with this third par-
ty. The 2012 balance includes COP 10,482 in interests 
and in 2013 accounts payable for services provided in 
the amount of $1,212.

(5)  Primarily includes dividends receivable in the amount of 
$878 (2012 - COP 794) and loans to employees for $134 
(2012 - 161).

  
The list of short-term accounts receivable is as follows:

2013 2012

Clients, net of provisions 35,340 42,806

Advances and prepayments 30,435 9,103

Advance payments or tax credit 
balances 5,163 6,014

Economic associates 1,212 1,134

Other accounts receivable   1,775   1,623

73,925 60,680
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NOTE 9 Long-Term Investments, Net

As at December 31, the net long-term investments consisted of:

2013

Valuation 
Method

Date of intrinsic 
value or market 

value

Adjusted 
cost Market value

Valuation 
(devaluation) 

(Note 13)

Provision 
(Note 25)

Dividends 
for the year

In controlled companies:

Colener S.A.S. Equity method December 1,843,451 1,843,451 - - 110,343

Zona Franca Celsia S. A.  E. S. P.  Equity method December 934,811    896,951             - 37,860   25,000

2,778,262 2,740,402             - 37,860 135,343

In uncontrolled companies:

Investments in Shares

Grupo de Inversiones Suramericana S. A. Market December 85,496 353,423 267,927 - 3,496

Tablemac S. A. Market December 3,462 675 (2,787) - 8

Concentra Inteligencia en Energía S .A. S. Intrinsic December 84 77 (7) - -

Electrificadora del Caribe S. A.  E. S. P. Intrinsic December             24         27            3            -          -

     89,066 354,202 265,136            -    3,504

Total long-term investments in shares 2,867,328 3,094,604 265,136 37,860 138,847

Shares in social clubs           103 61      (42)           -            -

Total 2,867,431 3,094,665 265,094 37,860 138,847

Less provisions (1)   (37,860)

Total long-term investments 2,829,571
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(1) Provision transactions were as follows:
 

2013 2012
Starting balance 35,786 19,911
Increase of the year (Note 25)   2,074 15,875
Ending balance 37,860 35,786

(2)  In 2012, 19,733,075 shares of Tablemac were sold for COP 
278, resulting in a loss of COP 573. 

2012

Valuation 
Method

Date of 
intrinsic 
value or 
market 
value

Adjusted 
cost

Market 
value

Valuation 
(devalua-

tion) (Note 
13)

Provision 
(Note 25)

Dividends 
for the year

In controlled companies:

Colener S.A.S. Equity method December 1,718,596 1,718,596 - - 136,194

Zona Franca Celsia S. A. E. S. P.  Equity method December 832,339    796,553             - 37,786             -

2,550,935 2,515,149             - 37,786 136,194

In uncontrolled companies:

Investments in Shares

Grupo de Inversiones Suramericana S. A. Market December 85,496 391,850 306,354 - 3,176

Tablemac S. A. (2) Market December 3,462 704 (2,758) - 14

Concentra Inteligencia en Energía S. A. S. Intrinsic December 84 74 (10) - -

   Electrificadora del Caribe S. A.  E. S. P. Intrinsic December             24             26            2           -             -

     89,066  392,654 303,588           -     3,190

Total long-term investments in shares 2,640,001 2,907,803 303,588 35,786 139,384

Shares in social clubs           103 61        (42)           -             -

Total 2,640,104 2,907,864 303,546 35,786 139,384

Less provisions (1)   (35,786)

Total long-term investments 2,604,318
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Information about the long-term investments
Additional information is presented below about long-term investments in shares as at December 31, 2013:

Economic Entity Economic Activity Type of Secu-
rity

Number of 
shares % share

Colener S.A.S. Investment in the electricity sector Common shares 78,410,460 100.00%

Zona Franca Celsia S. A. E. S. P. Energy generation Common shares 10,399,999,996 99.99%

Concentra Inteligencia en Energía S. A. S. Energy Common shares 84,000 6.25%

Grupo de Inversiones Suramericana S. A. Investment Common shares 10,311,822 2.19%

Tablemac S. A. Manufacturing Common shares 84,293,886 0.33%

Electrificadora del Caribe S. A. E. S. P. Energy Common shares 624,516 0.02%

Additional information is presented below about long-term investments in shares as at December 31, 2012:

Economic Entity Economic Activity Type of Secu-
rity

Number of 
shares % share

Colener S.A.S. Investment in the electricity sector Common shares 78,410,460 100.00%

Zona Franca Celsia S. A. E. S. P. Energy generation Common shares 10,399,999,996 99.99%

Concentra Inteligencia en Energía S. A. S. Energy Common shares 84,000 6.25%

Grupo de Inversiones Suramericana S. A. Investment Common shares 10,311,822 2.19%

Tablemac S. A. Manufacturing Common shares 84,293,886 0.33%

Electrificadora del Caribe S. A. E. S. P. Energy Common shares 624,516 0.02%

As a result of the application of the equity method, the following effects were recorded:

2013 2012

Results

Share 
premium, 
movement 
for the year

Accumu-
lated share 

premium 
Results

Share 
premium, 
movement 
for the year

Accu-
mulated 

share 
premium

Colener S.A.S. 120,524 114,674 115,531 121,071 857 857

Zona Franca Celsia S. A. E. S. P. 127,472             -             -   72,370      -      -

247,996 114,674 115,531 193,441 857 857

The assets, liabilities and equity of the controlled companies are as follows:

2013

Assets Liabilities Sharehold-
ers' equity Results

Colener S.A.S. 1,843,633 182 1,843,451 120,524

Zona Franca Celsia S. A.  E. S. P. 1,262,584 365,633 896,951 127,472
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2012

Assets Liabilities Shareholders' 
equity Results

Colener S.A.S. 1,718,989 393 1,718,596 121,071

Zona Franca Celsia S. A.  E. S. P. 1,176,761 380,208 796,553 72,370

The following is the breakdown of equity composition of the subordinate companies:

2013

Share 
capital

Share pre-
mium Reserves

Results for 
the reporting 

period

Equity 
revaluation

Revaluation 
reserve Total

Colener S.A.S. 78,410 1,489,780 39,206 120,524 - 115,531 1,843,451

Zona Franca Celsia S. A. E. S. P. 66,095 175,321 186,159 127,472 12,874 329,030 896,951

2012

Share 
capital

Share 
premium Reserves

Results for 
the report-
ing period

Equity 
revaluation

Revaluation 
reserve Total

Colener S.A.S. 78,410 1,489,780 28,478 121,071 - 857 1,718,596

Zona Franca Celsia S. A. E. S. P. 66,095 175,321 138,789 72,370 12,874 331,104 796,553

The controlled companies' corporate purpose is described below:

Colener S.A.S.
Colener S.A.S. was incorporated on October 7, 2009 by a private 
document registered in Book 9 under Number 14267. The com-
pany is established for an indefinite period of time. 

Its main corporate purpose is the execution of any com-
mercial activity allowed, including administrating, protecting 
and increasing its equity by strengthening and promoting the 
industrial and commercial activity, in particular through in-
vestment in companies or other legal entities.

On October 07, 2009, Colener S.A.S. was capitalized by the 
company in the amount of COP 1,568,190. The funds of the 
capitalization were given to Fideicomiso P.A. Colener II was 
established on December 14, 2009 to acquire ordinary shares 
of Empresa de Energía  del Pacífico S.A. E.S.P. (EPSA) through 
a Takeover Bid in the amount of 164,063,583, equivalent to 
47.32% of the shares in circulation. Price per share was COP 
9,164.84 for a total amount of COP 1,503,617. 

In December 2009, Fideicomiso P.A. Colener II was dis-
solved, and stocks in EPSA were directly transfered to Colener 
S.A.S. acquired an additional 9,326,267 shares in the Empresa 
de Energía del Pacífico S.A. E.S.P. (EPSA), equivalent to 2.69% 
of the shares in circulation. Price per share was COP 9,270.69 
for a total price of COP 86,461, making it the majority share-
holder in the company.

Zona Franca Celsia S. A. E. S. P.
Zona Franca Celsia S.A. E.S.P. was incorporated by Public Deed 
No. 15943 / December 27, 2002, by virtue of the merger between 
Flores II S.A., Flores III S.A. and Cía. S. C. A. E. S. P., Flores II S. 
A.& Cía. S. C. A. E. S. P., Flores III S. A. y Flores Holding Ltda. 
The company is established for an indefinite period of time. Its 
main place of business is the city of Barranquilla.

Based on Public Deed No. 1143 / April 17, 2012 issued by the 
Notary Twenty of Medellín, registered in the Medellín Chamber 
of Commerce, Colinversiones ZF S.A. E.S.P. changed its busi-
ness name to Zona Franca Celsia S.A. E.S.P. on April 20, 2012. 

Its main purpose consists of the generation and sale of electric-
ity pursuant to the terms of Laws 142, 143 / 1994 and 1004 / 2005.

Following a process that began in 2008, the National Direc-
torate of Taxes and Customs (DIAN) authorized Zona Franca 
Celsia S.A. E.S.P., whose plant is located in Barranquilla (Atlán-
tico) to operate as a Special Permanent Free Trade Zone. 

On January 25, 2011, the DIAN granted Zona Franca Celsia 
S.A. E.S.P. capacity as the sole industrial user of goods and ser-
vices of the Celsia Special Permanent Free Trade Zone (previ-
ously, Termoflores Special Permanent Free Trade Zone), which 
entitled it to the tax benefits offered by the Government for 15 
years after said privilege was granted, including liquidating in-
come tax at a rate of 15% rather than 33% and exemption from 
customs duties and VAT on the equipment brought in and sold 
to the Free Trade Zone.
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As at December 31, the appreciations and devaluations of investments are as follows: 

2013 2012

Appreciation Devaluation Appreciation Devaluation

Grupo de Inversiones Suramericana S. A. 267,927 - 306,354 -

Electrificadora del Caribe S. A. E. S. P. 3 - 2 -

Tablemac S. A. - (2,787) - (2,758)

Shares in social clubs - (42) - (42)

Concentra Inteligencia en Energía S. A. S. -                  (7)            -      (10)

      267,930 (2,836) 306,356 (2,810)

For 2012, 67% of the shares of Empresa de Energía del Pacífico S.A. E.S.P., belonging to Colener S.A.S., a company which is 100% 
owned by Celsia S.A. E.S.P., are pledged and delivered as a guarantee to support the company borrowings from Bancolombia S.A. 
(Note 14) as follows:

2012
Issuer Number of shares Guarantee value

Empresa de Energía del Pacífico S. A. E. S. P. 116,462,020 977,510

Except for that mentioned in the previous paragraph for 2012, long-term investments do not have restrictions or obligations that 
limit their execution or trading, as a result of backing company borrowings.

Shares in Zona Franca Celsia S.A. E.S.P. back borrowings with the Banca Multilateral.

NOTE 10 Property, Plant and Equipment, net

As at December 31, net property, plant and equipment consisted of:

2013

Adjusted 
cost

Accumulated 
depreciation Net cost Commercial 

value
Valuation 
(Note 13)

Land 20,405 - 20,405 34,835 14,430

Projects under construction 9,381 - 9,381 9,381 -

Machinery and equipment being installed 1,331 - 1,331 1,331 -

Constructions and buildings 135,299 (19,085) 116,214 164,689 48,475

Plants, pipelines and tunnels 243,507 (56,930) 186,577 231,143 44,566

Networks, lines and cables 3,328 (1,368) 1,960 2,454 494

Machinery and equipment 965 (559) 406 454 48

Medical and scientific equipment 67 (7) 60 60 -

Furniture, appliances and office equipment 3,663 (1,107) 2,556 2,571 15

Communication and computer equipment 2,575 (1,750) 825 833 8

Transportation equipment     1,405      (930) 475 475             -

421,926 (81,736) 340,190 448,226 108,036

Less provisions (1)   (1,874)

Total property, plant and equipment, net 338,316
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(1) Provisions were as follows:

2013 2012
Starting balance 1,186 504

Increase of the year (Note 23) 999 880

Recovery of provisions  (311) (198)

Ending balance  1,874 1,186

•  In 2013, the company acquired buildings and lands in the 
amount of COP 12,895 to be used in Zona Franca Celsia S.A. 
E.S.P. business activities. Additionally, in 2013 COP 2,463 
was invested in the penstock tunnel to complete construc-
tion on the Hidromontañitas Power Plant. Between Febru-
ary and October 2012, land was acquired for COP 3,788 in 
Santa Rosa (Bolívar) and buildings for COP 45 in Barran-
quilla.

•  In 2012, the company completed the construction of the 
Hidromontañitas Power Plant, investing COP 11,494 (2011 
- COP 30,428) during the year. As a result of completing 
construction, it transferred COP 40,432 of the machinery 
and equipment being installed, COP 72,834 of construction 
underway and COP 8,700 of intangibles (Note 12), to plants, 
pipelines and tunnels in the amount of COP 45,890 and to 
constructions and buildings in the amount of COP 76,076, 
for a total of COP 121,966. 

  

2012

Adjusted cost Accumulated 
depreciation Net cost Commercial 

value
Valuation (Note 

13)

Land 10,155 - 10,155 24,583 14,428

Projects under construction 12,813 - 12,813 12,813 -

Machinery and equipment being installed 1,160 - 1,160 1,160 -

Constructions and buildings 129,463 (16,334) 113,129 154,874 41,745

Plants, pipelines and tunnels 244,292 (47,802) 196,490 241,295 44,805

Networks, lines and cables 3,328 (1,252) 2,076 2,570 494

Machinery and equipment 949 (521) 428 1,986 1,558

Medical and scientific equipment 12 (3) 9 9 -

Furniture, appliances and office equipment 3,651 (778) 2,873 2,873 -

Communication and computer equipment 2,185 (1,344) 841 841 -

Transportation equipment     1,098      (804)         294        294             -

409,106 (68,838) 340,268 443,298 103,030

Less provisions (1)   (1,186)

Total property, plant and equipment, net 339,082

As at December 31, COP 13,969 (2012 - COP 12,231) were 
charged to the results of the period for depreciation in proper-
ty, plant and equipment.

The company appraised its operation assets in December 
2012 and its real estate assets in December 2013. The appraisal 
was done in line with with current legislation to be followed 
by independent specialists. Organización Noguera Camacho 
O.N.C. Ltda. appraised the electric power generation assets, 
and by Lonja de Propiedad Raíz de Barranquilla y Avalúos de 
Colombia Valorar S.A., appraised real estate assets that have no 
relationship or operations involving the company. The replace-
ment cost method was used to determine the cost of replacing 
said assets at new commercial value.

The property, plant and equipment do not have restrictions 
or levies that limit their realization or trading.

The company has sufficient insurance policies to protect 
its production assets, mainly covering material damage caused 
by fire, explosion, short circuit, natural disasters, terrorism and 
other risks. For this purpose, it has taken different insurance 
policies, including the following:
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Insured goods Risk insurance Insured value 
(*) Maturity

Assets of the Meriléctrica Power Plant associated with operations Material damage and lost profit USD 125,882 12/24/2014

Assets associated with operations of the Rio Piedras Power Plant Material damage and lost profit USD 55,646 12/24/2014

Assets associated with operations of the Hidromontañitas Power 
Plant Material damage and lost profit USD 63,837 12/24/2014

Assets not associated with operations (inventories, furniture and 
appliances) Material damage and lost profit COP 92,263 7/15/2014

(*) Expressed in thousands of USD or millions of COP. 

Goodwill is amortized over twenty years, using the straight-line 
method.

During the period, COP 3,248 (2012 - COP 3,248) were record-
ed to the statement of income for amortization of goodwill and 
other intangibles.

NOTE 13 Appreciation and Depreciation, Net

As at December 31, the net appreciation and depreciation con-
sisted of:

2013 2012
Appreciation of long-term investments 
(Note 9) 267,930 306,356
Depreciation of long-term investments 
(Note 9)  (2,836)   (2,810)

265.094 303,546
Appreciation of property, plant and equip-
ment (Note 10) 108,036 103,030

373,130 406,576

NOTE 14 Borrowings 

As December 31, the borrowings consisted of:

2013 2012
National Banks 110 802,124

Economic associates - 9,058

Interest payable - 4,852

Other entities 680        680

Commercial financing companies          -          21

790 816,735

Less Short-Term Borrowings  (790)  (107,156)

Long-term borrowings          - 709,579

NOTE 11 Deferred Charges, Net

As at December 31, the net deferred charges consisted of:

2013 2012
Organization and start-up expenses 28,306 28,306
Studies and projects 228 228

28,534 28,534

Less accumulated amortization (1) (25,960) (17,386)

2,574 11,148

(1)  Amortization for 2013 primarily includes pre-operation and 
start-up costs for the Meriléctrica Power Plant, based on its 
estimated useful life.

During the period COP 8,574 (2012 - COP 482) was recorded to 
the statement of income for amortization. 

NOTE 12  Intangibles, Net

As at December 31, the net intangibles consisted of:

2013 2012
Acquired goodwill (1) 64,960 64,960
Rights        13        13

64.973 64,973

Less accumulated amortization of goodwill (14,688) (11,440)

50,285 53,533

(1)  For 2013 and 2012, it corresponds to goodwill paid in the 
acquisition of the following companies:

Zona Franca Celsia S. A. E. S. P. 43,719

Generar S. A. E. S. P. 20,078

Hidromontañitas S. A. E. S. P. 1,050

Meriléctrica S. A.   113

64,960
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As at December 31, 2012, the breakdown of long-term borrow-
ings was as follows:

Entity Interest rate Balance
Year of 
matu-
rity- 

Banco de Bogotá S. A. CDT90 + 2.5% 
quarterly

36,667 2014

36,666 2015

Banco Davivienda S. A. CDT90 + 2.85% 
quarterly

44,667 2014

22,333 2015

Bancolombia S. A. CPI + 5.8% EAR 17,533 2014

25,131 2015

526,582
2016 

to 2020

709,579

In December 2012, an extension was made with Banco de Bo-
gotá S.A. for COP 18,333, with the aim to amend the terms.

In the period, COP 59,272 (2012 - COP 74,437) were record-
ed to the statement of income for interest on borrowings (Note 
25). In the year, the capital from borrowings was paid in the 
amount of COP COP 815,945 (2012 - 26,424). In 2013 and 2012, 
new borrowings were not taken out with financial entities.

The following is the breakdown of the guarantees for shares 
that back borrowings with Bancolombia S.A. as at December 31:

Issuer
Number of 

shares
Guarantee 

value

Empresa de Energía del Pacífico 
S. A. E. S. P. 116,462,020 977,510

Shares in Zona Franca Celsia S.A. E.S.P. back borrowings with 
the Banca Multilateral.

NOTE 15  Bonds 

As at December 31, bonds consisted of:

2013
2013 Ordinary Bond issuance 800,000

Interest on ordinary bonds payable    2,656

802,656

Less short-term portion  (2,656)

Long-Term Portion 800,000

As a result of a COP 800,000 ordinary bond placement on De-
cember 11, 2013, and pursuant to the company's Prospectus 
Information, the company proceeded to replace one hundred 
percent of the current financial liabilities with the commercial 
bank (Note 15).

Payments for capital were made as follows: Bancolombia 
COP 676,259 and Banco de Bogotá COP 110,000, for a total of 
COP 786,259. Payments for interest were made as follows: Ban-
colombia COP 1,359 and Banco de Bogotá COP 157, for a total 
of COP 1,516.

In addition to previously mentioned payments, in 2013 
borrowings were paid to the following entities: Banco Davivi-
enda for COP 111,667, Colener S.A.S. for COP 9,058, and other 
smaller amounts.

As at December 31, 2013, the breakdown of short-term bor-
rowings was as follows:
 

Entity Interest rate Balance
Other entities

Medellín Archdiocese 13.5% EAR 680

Bancolombia credit cards  110

790

As at December 31, 2012, the breakdown of short-term borrow-
ings was as follows:

Entity Interest rate Balance
Financial entities
   Banco Davivienda S. A. CDT90 + 2.85% 

quarterly
44,667

   Banco de Bogotá S. A. CD +2.5% quarterly 36,667
   Bancolombia S. A. CPI + 5.8% EAR 11,104
   Renting Colombia S. A. 5.15% EAR 21

92,459

Other entities
   Colener S. A. S. (1) 4.98 EAR 9,058
   Medellín Archdiocese 13.5% EAR 680

9,738

Interest payable 4,852
Bancolombia credit cards 107

4,959

107,156

(1)  A loan made by Colener S.A.S., which has an agreed interest 
rate of 4.98% EAR; COP 151 corresponding to the interest of 
this loan is included in the balance of interest payable. 
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Ordinary Bonds Term in Years Interest rate Value Year of Maturity
Series E - Sub-series E3  3  IBR + 2.17% NMV 83,620 2016

Series D - Sub-series D6  6  CPI+ 4.30% EAR 263,650 2019

Series D - Sub-series D12  12  CPI+ 5.00% EAR   240,650 2025

Series D - Sub-series D20  20  CPI+ 5.33% EAR 212,080 2033

  800,000  

The company issued its first ordinary bonds on the local securi-
ties exchange for COP 800.000. The placement was carried out 
via a Dutch auction on the Bolsa de Valores de Colombia S. A.

The ordinary bonds, which are on-demand and may be traded 
in the secondary market through the Bolsa de Valores de Co-
lombia S.A., were allotted as follows:

All the funds received from the placement of ordinary bonds 
were used to pay off debt, as part of the strategy to optimize 
the company's capital structure (Note 14). With the new struc-
ture, the average life of the debt changed from 5.5 years to 11.20 
years.

As at December 31, 2013, COP 2,656 was recorded to the 
statement of income for interest from ordinary bonds.

NOTE 16 Accounts Payable

Accounts payable as at December 31 included:

2013 2012
Providers

Energy purchases 9,249 24,868
Supply of gas and other, includes USD 
3,141,727 (2012 – USD 270,216) 13,614   5,171

22,863 30,039

Payables

Dividends payable 21,517 18,996
Fees 276 1,798
Services 1,931 1,171
Insurance 35 200
Creditors   1,112      880

24,871 23,045

Other

Tax withholding 1,010 856
Advances and prepayments 182          373
Industry and Commerce Tax (ICA) withholding          7          7

  1,199   1,236

48,933 54,320

NOTE 17  Taxes, Levies and Fees

As at December 31, taxes, levies and fees consisted of: 

2013 2012
Equity tax 6,288 12,576

Sales tax 820        505

Other municipal taxes - 158

Contributions 95      41

7,203  13,280

Minus short-term taxes, levies and fees (7,203) (6,992)

Long-term taxes, levies and fees (1)           - 6,288

(1) The balance of long-term taxes, levies and fees as at De-
cember 31, 2012, corresponds to two equity tax installments, 
each for COP 3,144 due in 2014.

Income tax and related taxes 
and income tax for equality-(CREE)
The tax provisions applicable to the company stipulate that:

1)  Below is a summary of some amendments to the Colombi-
an tax system for 2013 and after, introduced by Law 1607 of 
December 26, 2012:

  The income tax rate on the taxable income of legal entities 
was changed to 25% as of January 1, 2013. 

    The income tax for equality (CREE) was instituted as 
of January 1, 2013. This tax is calculated by taking total rev-
enue and subtracting non-revenue income, costs, deduc-
tions, tax-exempt revenue and irregular earnings, and tax-
ing the result at 8%.  For 2013, 2014 and 2015, the applicable 
rate shall be 9%. 

   As part of the clearing of the basis for the liquidation of 
the income tax for equality (CREE), the compensation of in-
come for the taxable period with tax losses or excesses of pre-
sumptive income from previous tax years is not permitted. 
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no case may be compensated with the liquid income of the 
taxpayer.

5)  The excesses of presumptive income on ordinary income, 
obtained from the 2007 tax year forward may be compen-
sated with the ordinary liquid income established within 
the five (5) following years, adjusted for tax purposes. The 
companies' losses shall not be transferable to the partners.  

6)  From 2004 forward, the income taxpayers that carry out 
transactions with economic associates or related parties 
abroad shall be required, for the purposes of income tax 
and related taxes, to establish their regular and irregular in-
come, their costs and deductions, their assets and liabilities, 
considering for the transactions, the prices and profit mar-
gins that would have been used in comparable transactions 
with or between those not economically associated.

7)  From 2012 forward, 175% of investments made in projects 
classified as research and technology development projects 
can be discounted from income tax and related taxes of the 
tax year, provided that said deduction is not greater than 
40% of the liquid income. This deduction does not include 
depreciation, amortization or deduction of the staff costs 
included in the investment and it does not generate taxed 
profit for partners or shareholders.

8)  Law 1607 / 2012 reduced the 33% tax on irregular earnings 
to 10% in effect as of 2013.

   Moreover, legal entities that declare Income Tax and 
Related Taxes of the payment of parafiscal contributions to 
the National Learning Service (SENA) and the Colombian 
Family Welfare Institute (ICBF), corresponding to workers 
who individually earn up to ten (10) legal minimum month-
ly salaries are exempt. This exception started from the mo-
ment the tax withholding system was implemented for the 
collection of the income tax for equality (CREE).

2)  Public service companies are excluded from the calculation 
of presumptive income. 

3)  From the 2007 reporting period forward, comprehensive 
adjustments for inflation for tax purposes were eliminated. 
Taxpayers can annually readjust the cost of the movable 
and immovable property classified as fixed assets. The ad-
justment percentage for the year is 2.40% (2012 - 3.04%) 
and it only affects equity tax.

4)  Tax losses incurred from 2003 to 2006 may be compensat-
ed with ordinary liquid income from the eight following 
years, without annually exceeding 25% of the value of the 
loss.  According to current tax provisions, from the 2007 
tax year, companies shall be able to compensate tax losses 
adjusted for tax purposes at any time and without preju-
dice to the presumptive income of the tax year. Tax losses 
originating from revenue that does not represent income 
or irregular earnings or from costs and deductions that are 
not directly related to the generation of taxable income, in 

 The reconciliation of profit before the income tax provision and the taxable liquid income is described below for the period ending 
on December 31: 

2013 2012

Profit before income tax provisions, income tax for equality (CREE) provisions and other tax provisions. 376,025 230,760

Plus tax income: tt

Dividends received from the subordinate companies and applied against the investment account 135,343 136,194

Plus non-deductible expenses:

Estimated liabilities and allowances 2,075 16,755

Other non-deductible expenses and taxes 6,655 6,169

Amortization of non-deductible acquired goodwill. 2,186 2,186

Non-deductible tax on financial transactions 2,287 1,027

Less:

Non-taxable revenue

 Untaxed dividends received from the subordinate companies and applied against the investment account (135,343) (136,194)
Untaxed revenue from dividends (3,504) (3,190)
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2013 2012
Other untaxed revenue

Revenue by equity method (247,996) (193,441)

Recovery of untaxed provisions (1) (114,717)

Other (351) (824)

Tax expenses

Excess industry and commerce tax paid (228) -

Transfer of net loss in the sale of fixed assets and investments to irregular earnings             9 573

Tax profit 22,441 60,015

Less tax losses to be amortized (22,441) (42,000)
Less surpluses of presumptive income over ordinary income to be compensated              - (18,015)

Liquid income             -             -

(1)  Payment of income taxes derived from the reconciliation of a legal proceeding with the DIAN (Note 18).

The irregular earnings as at December 31 are presented below:

2013 2012
Income from irregular earnings (1) 48 237

Tax costs from irregular earnings (1)   (57) (810)

Total irregular losses (9) (573)

Tax rate on irregular earnings  10%  33%

Tax provision on irregular earnings - -

Advance payment of income tax and related taxes        - (3,016)

Income tax and related taxes payable        - (3,016)

(1) For 2012, this corresponds to the income and cost of sale of Tablemac S.A. investments. 

As at December 31, 2013, the company determined the income tax for equality (CREE) as follows:

2013
Profit before income tax provisions, income tax for equality (CREE) provisions and other tax provisions. 376,025

Plus tax income:

Dividends received from the subordinate companies and applied against the investment account 135,343

Plus non-deductible expenses:

Estimated liabilities and allowances 2,075

Donations 3,000

Other non-deductible expenses and taxes 7,654

Amortization of non-deductible acquired goodwill. 2,186

Non-deductible tax on financial transactions 2,287

Less:
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2013
Non-taxable revenue

Untaxed dividends received from the subordinate companies and applied against the investment account (135,343)

Untaxed revenue from dividends (3,504)

Other untaxed revenue

Revenue by equity method (247,996)

Recovery of untaxed provisions (1) (114,717)

Other (343)

Tax expenses

Excess industry and commerce tax paid (228)

Base settlement of the income tax for equality (CREE)    26,439

Income tax for equality (CREE) rate 9%

Income tax for equality (CREE) provision 2,380

Less advance payments on income tax for equality (CREE) (2,693)

Tax credit for income tax for equality (CREE) payable 313

(1) Recovery of provisions derived from the reconciliation of the legal proceeding with the DIAN (Note 18).

The reconciliation between accounting and tax equity as at December 31 is presented below:
 

2013 2012
Accounting equity 3,288,325 2,905,411

Tax readjustments of real estate and investments 186,996 135,816

Non-tax liabilities - 163,955

Equity method of long-term investments (913,454) (687,127)

Accounting valuations (373,130) (406,576)

Property, plant and equipment tax provision 1,874 1,186

Accounting provisions for long-term investments 37,860 35,786

Other tax items not entered in the books 9,291 3,500

Accounts receivable tax provision               -             25

Liquid equity 2,237,762 2,151,976

Tax returns corresponding to 2009, 2010, 2011 and 2012 are subject to review and approval by the tax authorities. The management and its legal 
advisors believe that the declared sum as liabilities for taxes payable is sufficient to meet any liabilities that may be established for said years.
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Exercising caution, the company considered it necessary to 
provision the tax and late interest in 2011.

Law 1607 / 2012 (the latest Tax Reform) established that 
taxpayers in legal proceedings underway with DIAN can rec-
oncile the full amount of the sanction and late interests, paying 
the amount of the disputed tax. 

Considering the aforementioned and after analyzing the 
case, the company carried out actions to reconcile the nullifi-
cation and restoration of rights in process in the Administrative 
Court of Antioquia for the aforementioned suit, being required 
to pay the disputed tax, i.e. COP 49,239.

In November 2013, the Administrative Court of Antioquia 
approved the settlement agreement signed between Celsia and 
DIAN, pursuant to Article 147 of Law 1607 / 2012. Consequent-
ly, the Court declared said legal proceeding completed and or-
dered its filing. 

Afterward, the company proceeded to record the recov-
ery of the remaining provision balance of COP 114,717 after 
charging the tax paid to the provision., thus recognizing rev-
enue (Nota 24).

Note 19 Shareholder equity

Capital
For 2013 and 2012, the authorized equity of the Company was 
represented by 1,200,000,000 shares, with a nominal value of 
COP 0.25 per share. The Company's subscribed and paid capital 
amounted to COP 180, and there were 719,584,500 shares in 
circulation.

Reserves
Reserves as at December 31 consist of:

2013 2012

Legal Reserve 1,403 1,403

Equity maintenance reserve 1,889,267 1,730,466

Growth and expansion reserve 197,274 197,274

Fiscal reserve        2,911        2,911

2,090,855 1,932,054

Legal Reserve
The Company is legally required to set aside 10% of its net 
annual profit to the statutory reserve until the balance of this 
reserve, which cannot be distributed until the Company is liq-
uidated but which can be used to absorb or reduce losses, is 
equal to at least 50% of the subscribed capital. The Company 
can allocate any excess funds for other purposes as authorized 
by the General Shareholders' Meeting. 

As at December 31, the company has the following tax losses 
to be amortized:

Period 2013 2012
2005 - 541
2006 170 339
2009 7,615 29,105
2010 16,552 16,552

24,337 46,537
Tax adjustments for the liquid loss 8,718   8,090

Tax loss to be amortized without time 
limit 33,055 54,627

Equity tax
For 2011, Law 1430/2010 established the rate of 4.8% for liquid 
equity greater than COP 5,000. Through Emergency Decree 
4825 of December 2010, a new tax bracket required taxpayers 
to pay this tax. It established a rate of 1% for liquid equity be-
tween COP 1,000 and COP 2,000, and of 1.4% for liquid equity 
between COP 2,000 and COP 3.000. Additionally, a surcharge 
of 25% was established over this tax. The tax was created on 
January 1, 2011 and must be paid in eight equal installments for 
the following four years, in two annual installments. The tax 
value, including the surcharge, was COP 25,153.

According to the provisions contained in Decree 514 of 
2010, in 2011, the company adopted recording the entire tax 
charged to the account of equity revaluation as an accounting 
practice. The amount paid for this tax in 2013 was COP 6,288 
(2012 - COP 6,288) and the balance remaining to be paid is COP 
6,288.

NOTE 18 Estimated Liabilities and Provisions

The estimated liabilities and provisions as at December 31, 
2012 and 2011 represent a provision for fiscal contingencies re-
lated to a tax issue being discussed with Inversiones e Industria 
S.A. (a company that was merged in 2008) with the National 
Directorate of Taxes and Customs (DIAN). Inversiones e Indu-
stria S.A. was notified in June 2008 of a revised official assess-
ment through which the income tax and penalty for inaccuracy 
were settled. 

The company, making use of its right to a defense, de-
manded the official liquidation of the 2005 income tax revi-
sion issued by DIAN, in which the maximum value of the tax 
was set at COP 49,239 and the sanction for inaccuracy at COP 
78,783. The dispute arose from how the fiscal cost of Coltbaco 
S.A. shares held by the company Inversiones e Industria S. A. 
were determined, under Article 76 of the Tax Statute that were 
transfered in 2005. 
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the equity tax could be recorded against the equity revaluation 
account without affecting the results of the fiscal year.  

Decree 514 / 2010 allows taxpayers to charge the enforce-
able installments of the equity tax subject of Law 1370 / 2009 
either in full or on an annual basis against the equity revalua-
tion account. In 2011, the company recorded the entire sum of 
the equity tax against the equity revaluation account. The tax 
value, including the surcharge, was COP 25,153.

Equity revaluation
Inflation adjustments for the balances of equity accounts es-
tablished prior to December 31, 2006 are charged against the 
equity accounts, except for the revaluation reserve. Pursuant 
to current regulations, this balance may not be distributed as 
a profit until the Company is liquidated or this revaluation is 
capitalized; this capitalization is a source of income that is not 
taxable nor is it classified as irregular earnings for shareholders.
Pursuant to the terms of Law 1111 of 2006, up to 2010 inclusive, 

NOTE 20 Suspense Accounts

The suspense accounts as at December 31 included:

2013 2012

Contingent rights

Goods delivered

Livestock - 15

Other contingent rights

Other contingent rights 3,266 3,266

Collateral issued (Note 14) - 977,510

Tax debts

Tax losses to be amortized (Note 16) 32,057 58,272

Control debts

Fully depreciated assets 1,642 1,642

Contingent liabilities

Contractual guarantees

Other contractual guarantees (1) 256,619 316,892

Claims and litigations

Civil (2) 10,486 86,783

Tax creditors

Differences between the accounting and tax equity (Note 16) 937,608 407,482

Differences between the accounting income and the net income (Note 16) 356,373 171,318

Irregular losses (Note 16)             -        (573)

1,598,051 2,022,607
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Contingent liabilities
(1) Includes:
 •  Contractual commitments for the purchase of natural 

gas supply and transport for COP 7,140 (2012 - COP 
63,594).

 •  Guarantee of COP 197,754 (2012 - COP 253,298) for 
loans disbursed by the International Finance Corpora-
tion (IFC), Corporación Andina de Fomento (CAF) and 
the Deutsche Investitions-Und-Entwicklugsgesellsd 
MBH (DEG) to Zona Franca Celsia S.A. E.S.P., where Cel-
sia S.A E. S.P. backs borrowings taken out through the 
Project Funds and Share Retention. The loan acquired 
by Zona Franca Celsia S.A. E.S.P. for construction of the 
Flores IV project. The initial value was USD 150 million, 
and the loan term is 11.5 years. Payments of USD 48 
million have been made and the balance is currently 
USD 102 million. 

(2) Corresponds to:
 •  A class-action lawsuit against Generar S.A. E.S.P. (a 

company that was absorbed in 2009), which is current-
ly being deliberated by the Fifth Civil Court of the Circuit 
of Medellín. The plaintiffs are seeking indemnification 
for alleged material and non-material damages sus-
tained as a result of the construction and operation of 
the Río Piedras Power Plant. The amount of the dam-
ages sought is estimated to be COP 8,000 (2012: COP 
8,000).

 •  Regular Process underway in the Third Civil Medellín 
Circuit court, filed by Inversiones Posada Angel S.A.S. 
against Generar S.A. E.S.P. (a company absorbed by 
Celsia S.A. E.S.P.), whose object is to claim compensa-
tion for damage resulting from the capitalization of re-
valuation of Generate's equity, resulting in a lower value 
of the stock, which is estimated at COP 2,486. 

NOTE 21 Revenue

Revenue from activities related to the delivery of public services as at December 31 comprised:

2013 2012

Electricity sales in contracts (1)
143,662 107,852

Electricity sales on the market (2)
100,020 57,700

Natural gas and transport capacity sales (3)
85,456 148,346

Reliability premium
38,537 34,606

Other income from providing public services (4)
21,051   17,890

388,726 366,394

(1)  Increased revenue in 2013 is the result of increased vol-
ume in energy sales. In 2013, 1,028 GWh was sold through 
long-term bilateral contracts, 246 GWh more than in 2012. 
The weighted average of energy sales on the spot market in 
2013 was COP 137.82/kWh, an increase over the average 
price of COP 134.73/kWh in 2012.

(2)  In 2013, the Meriléctrica Power Plant dispatched a signifi-
cant amount of backup power, permitting exports to Vene-
zuela, and generating 71% more energy than last year (202 
GWh in 2013 versus 118 GWh in 2012.

(3)  Less natural gas was sold in 2013, as some firm supply 
contracts were terminated. In 2013, 7,607 GBTU were sold 
compared to 10,259 GBTU in 2012.

(4) This line item includes COP 19,804 (2012 - COP 17,538) 
worth of income from technical support services provided to 
Empresa de Energía del Pacífico S.A. E.S.P.
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NOTE 22 Cost of Sales

The cost of sales for activities related to the provision of public services as at December 31 was comprised of the following:

2013 2012
Energy purchases        124,932           86,462
Cost of direct supplies, natural gas and gas transport 110,025 100,171
Depreciation          12,518           10,805 
Amortization of deferred charges   8,574                483 
CERE            6,785   3,478
Other costs for energy generation           3,450 2,236
Personnel services            2,946             3,134 
Maintenance            2,513             1,525 
Contributions and royalties            2,372             2,016 
Insurance            1,652             1,620 
General costs            1,358             1,268 
Contracts for other services               832                775 
Materials and other production costs               160                  19 
Taxes                 62                114 
Fees                 58                127 
Leases                 36                  17 
Other                 39                  39 

278,312 214,289

NOTE 23 Administrative Operating Expenses

Administrative operating expenses as at December 31 included:

2013 2012
Personnel expenses 17,007 15,894
Fees (1) 7,975 6,606
Communication and transportation 4,090 1,095
Taxes, contributions, and fees (2) 3,438 3,813
Amortization of intangibles 3,248 3,248
Services (3) 2,805 2,181
Actual or imputed contributions 2,690 2,360
Travel expenses 2,031 1,952
Depreciation 1,451 1,426
Administration of goods 1,352 1,407
Publicity and advertising 1,118 562
Property, plant and equipment provision 999 880
Maintenance and repair (4) 783 3,999
Insurance 558 907



232 Celsia \ Comprehensive Report\ 
2013

INDIVIDUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

2013 2012
Association expenses 523 529
Public services 451 424
Payroll contributions 420 417
Commissions 415 351
Leases 399 222
Surveillance and security 325 363
Printing and publications 210 1,059
Public relations 231 110
Event planning 133 266
Hardware and software services 104 217
Janitorial and cafeteria services 76 208
Cleaning supplies 62 69
Fuel and lubricants 47 50
Studies and projects 35 346
Supplies and stationery 30 103
Miscellaneous supplies and materials 3 171
Accounts receivable provision - 367
Miscellaneous      271      536

53,280 52,138

(1) Professional fees cover the following:

2013 2012
Financial consulting 2,497 526
Technical consulting 1,287 593
Legal consulting 991 810
IT consulting for implementing the integrated SAP system 635 523
Tax auditing and oversight 416 223
Environmental consulting 412 936
Human resources consulting 406 953
Investment opportunity consulting 350 134
Board of Directors 340 256
Accounting services 54 105
Design and study consulting 50 935
Other fees    537    612

7,975 6,606
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(2) Taxes, contributions and fees included the following:

2013 2012
Industry and commerce tax 1,615 2,542
Contributions 772 787
Property tax 557 387
Registrations 366 5
Other taxes    128 92

3,438 3,813

(3) Services refer to the following:

2013 2012
Software licenses 1,201 866
Technical support 939 623
Third-party services 219 346
Internet services    446 346

2,805 2,181

(4) In 2012, this includes improvements to the Company's buildings.

NOTE 24 Non-operating Revenue

Non-operating revenue as at December 31 included:

2013 2012
Recovery of provision related to the legal proceedings with the DIAN (Note 18) 114,717 198
Net profits by valuation and negotiable investments (1) 7,866 14,279
Interest and yields from accounts receivable 6,507 4,215
Revenue from interests (2) 6,027 12,194
Revenue from leasing 3,621 2,679
Revenue from dividends (3) 3,504 3,190
Revenue from the recovery of expenses and costs 686 315
Recovery of other provisions 62 -
Other revenue from financing 26 504
Reimbursement from insurance policies - 74
Miscellaneous        342            850

143,358 38,498

(1)  The variation is caused by the decrease of portfolio investments in 2013, and lower yields, which was in line with market con-
ditions, with significant devaluations in fixed and variable income.

(2)  The variation is caused by the reduced average balance held in the savings accounts in 2013 of COP 88,281 (2012 - COP 
116,018) and the lower rate of 4.07% EAR (2012 - 5.62% EAR).
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(3)  Dividends received from the following third parties:

2013 2012
Grupo de Inversiones Suramericana S. A. 3,496 3,176
Tablemac S. A.        8 14

3,504 3,190

NOTE 25 Borrowing Costs

Borrowing costs as at December 31 included:

2013 2012
Interest on borrowings (Note 14) 59,272 74,437

Tax on financial movements 4,574 1,369

Other interests (1) 2,769 -

Investment valuation costs 1,401 400

Commissions 574 2,163

Other borrowing costs     160      32

68,750 78,401

(1) Includes interests in the amount of COP 2,656 from ordinary bonds issued in December 2013 (Note 15).

NOTE 26 Non-Operating Expenses

Non-operating expenses as at December 31 included:

2013 2012
Provision for protecting investments (1) 2,074 15,875

Donations (2) 3,000 3,000

Loss from the sale and retirement of property, plant and equipment (3) 1,467 -

Assumed taxes 298 15

Loss from sales of long-term investments - 573

Commissions - 53

Adjustments from previous periods - 2

Miscellaneous    227 720

7,066 20,238

(1)  In 2013 and 2012, the Zona Franca Celsia S.A. E.S.P. provision was created because of the decrease in equity of the subsidiary 
due to the updated valuation of its generation assets.

(2)  Corresponds to the donation made to Fundación Celsia, approved at the General Shareholders' Meeting.

(3) Includes write off of the Río Piedras  generator due to impairment
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NOTE 27 Operations with Economic Associates

Operations with economic associates as at December 31 included:

2013 2012

COP % on 
assets

% on net 
profit COP % on 

assets
% on net 

profit

With associates

Empresa de Energía del Pacífico S. A. E. S. P.

Accounts receivable from sales - - 1,121 0.0%

Accounts payable 123 0.0% - -

Revenue from technical assistance services 19,804 17,538

Cost of energy and gas purchases (7,076) (2,070)

Total net effect on results 12,728 3.41% 15,468 6.70%

Compañía de Electricidad de Tuluá S. A. E. S. P.

Accounts receivable from sales - - 771 0.0%

Accounts payable 1 0.0% - -

Revenue from energy sales   - 4,047

Total net effect on results   - - 4,047 1.75%

Zona Franca Celsia S. A. E. S. P.

Accounts receivable 79,615 1.92% 79,627 2.01%

Interest receivable - - 10,482 0.2%

Accounts receivable from sales 2,790 0.07% 5,859 0.1%

Other accounts receivable 1,212 0.03% - -

Accounts payable 702 0.02% 2,307 0.0%

Dividends received 25,000 0.60% - -

Revenue from gas sales 48,255 9,068

Revenue from interests       6,417 4,210

Revenue from energy sales 173 855

Other revenue 1,157 10

Cost of gas purchases (11,037) (9,246)

Cost of energy purchases           -      (2)

Total net effect on results 44,965 12.03% 4,895 2.16%
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2013 2012

COP % on 
assets

% on net 
profit COP % on 

assets
% on net 

profit

Colener S.A.S.

Accounts payable - - 9,209 0.2%

Dividends received 110,344 2.66% 136,194 3.44%

Revenue from interests 84 -

Interest expense        (77) (452)

Total net effect on results            7 0.0 (452) 0.1%

Internacional Ejecutiva de Aviación S.A.S.

Accounts payable 1,499 0.04% - -

Services provided 4,279 -

Total net effect on results 4,279 1.14% -            -

Cementos Argos S.A.

Accounts receivable 5 0.0% - -

Revenue from leasing 89 -

Total net effect on results         89 0.02%          - -

With shareholders

Grupo Nutresa S.A.

Dividends paid 35,203 0.85% 31,719 0.88%

Revenue from leasing 1,039           134

Total net effect on results 1,039 0.28%   134 0.06%

The company did not carry out any of the following operations with its associates, shareholders, managers or legal representatives, 
directly or through its associated companies:

1.  Operations whose characteristics differ from those carried out with third parties that imply differences in market prices for 
similar operations.

2. Loans without interests or compensation.
3. Services or consultancies at no cost.
4.  Transactions for other concepts, except for payments inherent to the direct hiring of members of the Board of Directors, legal 

representatives, and administrators.

Operations with executives and managers
Only ordinary labor and statutory relations were maintained with these third parties, generating payments for salaries and fees.
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was carried out via a Dutch auction on the Bolsa de Valores 
de Colombia S. A. 

   During the auction, Celsia received demand in the or-
der of COP 1,348,550,000,000, equal to 2.25 times the ini-
tial offer amount (COP 600,000 million). Thus Celsia exer-
cised the greenshoe option for ordinary bonds up to COP 
200,000 million placed, for the general public for a total 
sum of COP 800,000 million. 

   The ordinary bonds, which are on-demand and may be 
traded in the secondary market through the Bolsa de Va-
lores de Colombia S.A.

       All the funds received from the placement of ordinary 
bonds were used to pay off Celsia's debt, as part of the strat-
egy to optimize its capital structure. With the new struc-
ture, the average life of the debt changed from 5.5 years to 
11.20 years. 

   This operation is the greatest bond placement of a cor-
porate issuer in the real sector, and was lead by, in its qual-
ity as a structuring agent and lead placement agent, Banca 
de Inversión Bancolombia S. A. (Financing Corporation), 
and Valores Bancolombia S. A. (Exchange Brokerage Firm), 
Corredores Asociados S. A. (Exchange Brokerage Firm) 
and BTG Pactual S. A. (Exchange Brokerage Firm) acted as 
placement agents.

In 2012:

•  Construction was completed on the Hidromontañitas Pow-
er Plant. The total investment amount needed to activate 
the plant was COP 121,966.

NOTE 28 Contingencies

During its operations, the company is subject to various legal 
regulations inherent to environmental protection and public 
utilities companies. In the opinion of the company's manage-
ment and its legal advisors, no situations have been identified 
that indicate possible violations of these standards and that 
could have a significant impact on the financial statements, ex-
cept for the matters provided for in the financial statements 
and disclosed in Note 17.

NOTE 29  Major Events

In 2013:

•  With the authorization of Celsia's Board of Directors, the 
Administrative Court of Antioquia approved a settlement 
agreement between the company and the DIAN on Novem-
ber of 2013, pursuant to Article 147 of Law 1607 / 2012 (lat-
est Tax Reform), in response to the process of nullification 
and restoration of rights proceedings in which the compa-
ny Inversiones e Industria S.A. (absorbed in 2008) demand-
ed the formal settlement of the revised official income tax 
assessment for 2005. 

   Consequently, the Court declared said legal proceeding 
completed and ordered its filing. Therefore, the company 
proceeded to record the recovery of provisions in the sum 
of COP 114,717 million associated with said proceedings.

•  The company issued its first ordinary bonds on the local se-
curities exchange for COP 800,000 million. The placement 

NOTE 30 Subsequent Events

There were no subsequent events that implied significant changes in the company's position.
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Additional Information

Relevant Information from the Financial Statements

Financial Information 2013 2012
Total assets excluding depreciations and provisions 4,273,107 4,062,322
Total assets including appreciation 4,151,373 3,956,248
Total assets excluding appreciation 3,778,243 3,549,672
Total liabilities 863,048 1,050,837
Short-term accounts receivable 73,925 60,680
Current assets 458,686 433,029
Property, plant and equipment excluding depreciations and provisions 421,926 409,106
Property, plant and equipment, net 338,316 339,082
Appreciation 373,130 406,576
Short-term borrowings 3,446 107,156
Long-term borrowings (in 2013 includes ordinary bonds) 800,000 709,579
Current liabilities 63,048 171,014
Shareholders' equity 3,288,325 2,905,411
Suspense accounts 1,598,051 2,022,607
Revenue 388,726 366,394
Non-operating expenses 7,066 20,238
Operating profit 57,134 99,967
Profit before taxes and borrowing costs 444,775 309,161
Net profit 373,645 230,760
Borrowing costs 68,750 78,401

Shares

Nominal value (COP) 0.25 0.25
Shares in circulation 719,584,500 719,584,500
Average market price (COP) 5,624 4,721
Maximum market price (COP) 6,360 5,450
Minimum market price (COP) 4,835 3,860
Market closing price (COP) 5,680 5,340
Intrinsic value (COP) 4,569.76 4,037.62
Net profit per share (COP) 519.25 320.68

Employment (Average)

Number of employees 153 150
Comprehensive compensation per month (COP) 846,614,000 709,906,603
Salaries per month (COP) 425,780,000 387,769,327

Compensation for executives

Salaries and other labor payments made to legal representatives 2,683 3,278
Board of Directors compensation 340 256
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Financial Indicators 2013 2012
Liquidity

Working capital (in millions) 395,638 262,015
Current ratio (number of times) 7.28 2.53
Quick ratio for accounts receivable (number of times) 6.10 2.18
Ownership index 79% 73%

Indebtedness

Total 20.79% 26.56%
Short-term 7.31% 16.27%
Interest coverage ratio (number of times) 0.92 1.34
Financial indebtedness (includes ordinary bonds) 19.35% 20.64%
Leverage

Total 26.25% 36.17%
Short-term 1.92% 5.89%
Financial total (includes ordinary bonds) 24.41% 27.77%

Returns

Operating profit margin 14.70% 27.28%
Net profit margin 96.12% 62.98%
Return on equity 11.36% 7.94%
Return on total assets 9.00% 5.83%
EBITDA 83,925 115,929
EBITDA Margin 21.59% 31.64%
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Ratio Formula Meaning

Liquidity

Working capital Current assets - Current liabilities Represents the company's safety margin to comply with its short-term obliga-
tions.

Current ratio (number 
of times)

Current assets / Current liabilities Indicates the company's ability to pay its short-term debts, by pledging its 
current assets.

Quick ratio for accounts 
receivable (number of 
times)

(Current assets - Current accounts 
receivable) / Current liabilities

The company's ability to cover short-term liabilities, without having to resort 
to collecting the portfolio.

Ownership index Shareholders' Equity / Total assets 
* 100

Indicates how much of the total assets belong to the shareholders.

Indebtedness 

Total Total liabilities / Total assets * 100 It reflects the degree of leverage in terms of creditors' share of the Compa-
ny's assets.

Short-term Current liabilities / Total liabilities 
* 100

Represents third parties' shareholding that is due in the short-term.

Interest coverage ratio 
(x)

Operating profit / Interest The company's ability to make contractual interest payments. Its result is 
interpreted as the number of times by which the operating profit is greater 
than the interest paid.

Financial debt Borrowings / Total assets * 100 Percentage representing short- and long-term borrowings compared to the 
company's assets. 

Leverage

Total Total liabilities / Total shareholders' 
equity * 100

This measures the shareholders' level of equity pledged to the company's 
creditors.

Short-term Total current liabilities / Sharehold-
ers' equity * 100

This measures the shareholders' level of equity commitment to cover short-
term debts.

Total financial Liabilities with financial entities / 
Equity * 100

This measures the shareholders' level of equity commitment to cover borrow-
ings.

Returns

Operating profit margin Operating profit / Revenue The company's profitability in performance of its corporate purpose. This 
represents the operating profit generated by each COP of revenue. 

Net profit margin Net profit / Revenue * 100 For each COP of revenue, how many COP in profits were generated, regard-
less of whether or not that profit came from carrying out the company's 
corporate purpose. 

Return on equity Net profit / Shareholders' equity 
* 100

The percentage of net profit over the shareholders' equity. The return on the 
shareholder's investment.

Return on total assets Yield / Total assets * 100 From each COP invested in total assets, how much net profit does it gener-
ate, regardless of how it has been financed.

EBITDA Operating profit + depreciation + 
amortization + provisions

Represents the cash generated by the company's operation.

EBITDA Margin EBITDA / Revenue * 100 Represents the amount that is converted into cash from each COP of reve-
nue in order to cover tax payments, support investments, cover the debt-ser-
vice and share profits.
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Indicator name Location / page United Nations Global Compact

Strategy and analysis
G4-1 Statement about the relevance of sustainability to the 
organization and the organization’s strategy for addressing 
sustainability

Letter from the CEO / pages 6 and 7 
Management Report by the Board of Directors and the CEO / 
pages 14 to 28

G4-2 Description of key impacts, risks, and opportunities
Table of risks / pages 10 and 68 to 72 
Table of impacts / pages 55 and 56 
Table of stakeholders / pages 57 to 59

Organizational Profile

G4-3 Name of the organization Celsia S.A. E.S.P.

G4-4 Primary brands, products, and services Our business model / pages 10 and 11 
How we create value / pages 37 to 39

G4-5 Location of the organization’s headquarters
The organization's headquarters is in Medellín, Antioquia, 
Colombia. 
Carrera 43A No. 1A sur 143. Floor 5.

G4-6 Report the names of countries where either the organiza-
tion has significant operations or that are specifically relevant 
to the sustainability topics

The organization operates in Colombia

G4-7 Report the nature of ownership and legal form Sociedad Anónima, Public Service Company.

G4-8 Report the markets served (including geographic 
breakdown, sectors served, and types of customers and 
beneficiaries)

Our business model / pages 10 and 11 
How we create value / pages 37 to 39

G4-9 Scale of the organization Relevant data / pages 8 to 10

Number of employees Human Resources / page 85

Number of operations Our business model / pages 10 and 11 
How we create value / pages 37 to 39

Consolidated Revenue Sales / page 50 
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income / page 149

Capitalization Value per share / page 9
Statement of Changes in Shareholders' Equity / page 161

Number of products or services offered Our business model / pages 10 and 11 
How we create value / pages 37 to 39

G4-10 Number of employees by employment contract and 
gender Human Resources / pages 85 Principle 6

G4-11 Percentage of employees covered by collective bargain-
ing agreements Human Resources / page 86 Principle 3

G4-12 Describe the Company's Supply Chain Availability of energy resources / pages 76 to 83 
Supplier Management / pages 107 and 108

G4-13 Report any significant change during the reporting 
period regarding size, structure, ownership or supply chain

We modified the supply chain's structure in 2013 by changing 
the replacement part warehouses. They were originally 
under the Purchases department but we moved them to the 
Operations department, thus better integrating operating and 
maintenance responsibilities.

G4-14 Report how the Organization supports a precautionary 
approach

Risk Management / pages 68 to 72 
Socio-environmental Management / 113 and 114 Principle 7

G4-15 Make a list of the cards, principles or other external 
economic, environmental or social initiatives About the report / page 5

G4-16 List memberships of associations Regulation / page 143

Material Aspects and Boundaries

G4-17 List entities included in the Organization's consolidated 
financial statements

Celsia S.A. E.S.P.  
Zona Franca Celsia S.A. E.S.P. 
Empresa de Energía del Pacífico S.A. E.S.P. 
Compañía de Electricidad de Tuluá S.A. E.S.P. 

G4-18 Explain the process to defining the report and aspect 
boundaries Materiality Analysis / page 53

G4-19 List the material aspects Materiality Analysis / pages 54 and 55

G4-20 Report the boundary for each material aspect Materiality Analysis / page 55

G4-21 Report the boundary for each material aspect outside of 
the Organization Materiality Analysis / page 55

G4-22 Report the effect of restatements of information in 
previous reports and the reasons therefore

The clarifications of restatements of information are defined in 
the indicators in the report

GRI Core
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Indicator name Location / page United Nations Global Compact

G4-23 Report significant changes from previous reports in the 
scope and aspect boundaries

The organization decided to create a report following GRI G4 
guidelines starting in 2013.
The previous report was prepared following GRI 3.1 guidelines

Stakeholder Engagement

G4-24 List the stakeholders engaged by the organization Materiality Analysis / page 57

G4-25 Report the basis for the selection of stakeholders Materiality Analysis / page 56

G4-26 Report the organization's approach to stakeholder 
engagement Materiality Analysis / pages 54 and 59

G4-27 Report which key topics or concerns have been raised 
through stakeholder engagement Materiality Analysis / pages 58 and 59

Report Profile

G4-28 Reporting period for report About the report / page 5

G4-29 Date of the most recent report January 1 to December 31, 2012

G4-30 Reporting cycle Annual

G4-31 Provide the contact point to resolve questions About the report / page 5

G4-32 Report which option of the guide the organization 
selected About the report / page 5

G4-33 Report the organization's current policy and practices 
with regard to the external assurance of the report

The report has been verified by the Internal Auditing depart-
ment of Celsia S.A. E.S.P.   
The report has not been verified by an external party

G4-34 Report the governance structure of the organization Our governance framework / pages 30 and 31

Ethics and Integrity
G4-56 Describe the organization’s values, principles, stan-
dards and norms Corporate Governance, Ethics and Transparency / page 62 Principle 10
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Material 
aspect Indicator name Location / page Omissions GRI 

aspects
United Nations 
Global Compact

Cl
im

at
e 

Ch
an
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an
d 

Em
is

si
on

s 
M

an
ag

em
en

t

Management Approach Climate Change and Management of Emissions 
/ page 129

Emissions Principles 7, 8 and 9

G4-EN19: Reduction of greenhouse gas 
emissions 

Climate Change and Management of Emissions / 
pages 130 and 132

G4-EN20: Emissions of substances that 
deplete the ozone 

Climate Change and Management of Emissions 
/ page 130

G4-EN21:  NOX, SOX and other significant air 
emissions 

Climate Change and Management of Emissions 
/ page 131

Ec
on

om
ic

 P
er

fo
rm

an
ce

Management Approach Economic Performance / page 73

Economic 
Perfor-
mance

G4-EC1: Direct economic value generated 
and distributed Economic Performance / page 75

G4-EC3: Coverage of the Organization's 
defined benefit plan obligations 

Colombia has a comprehensive social security 
system. There are two pension systems: private 
individual savings and the State's social security 
average premium plan. Employees select the 
system they wish to use. The general pension 
ages are 57 for women and 62 for men after 
having made 1,250 weeks of payments or contri-
butions. Employers contribute 12% and workers 
4% for a total of 16% of the Base Revenue for 
Contributions. When disability pensions are 
related to a work-related accident or illness it is 
covered by the ARL (acronym for the Spanish orig-
inal)-Work Risk Manager chosen by employers. 
Employers are solely responsible for contributions 
and the percentage of which varies with the 
risk level of each job. ARLs also cover medical 
benefits necessary for worker recovery and the 
eventual pension transfer to beneficiaries en the 
event of work-related deaths.

G4-EC4: Economic assistance 
from the government 

Celsia did not receive any economic 
assistance from the government in 
the reporting period. 
The financial assistance received 
from the government in the reporting period 
for the Organization was COP 1,275,400,893 
for EPSA and COP 5,010,603,570 for Celsia.  
The financial assistance is related to the deduc-
tion for investments in technology research and 
development. 
The following governmental entities have holdings 
in EPSA: Municipal of Morales (Department 
of Cauca): 0.94%; Central de Inversiones S.A.: 
0.916%; Ministry of Finance and Public Credit: 
0.35%. 
Compañía de Electricidad de Tuluá S.A. E.S.P. 
holds a share of: Instituto de Financiamiento Pro-
moción y Desarrollo de Tuluá, Infituluá: 7.875%; 
Municipality of Tuluá: 1.969%.

Av
ai

la
bi

lit
y 

of
 E

ne
rg

y 
R

es
ou

rc
es

Management Approach Availability of Energy Resources / page 76

Water Principles 7, 8 and 9

G4-EN8: Total water withdrawal by source Availability of Energy Resources / page 80

G4-EN9: Water sources significantly affected 
by 
water withdrawal 

Availability of Energy Resources / page 81

G4-EN10: Total percentage and volume of 
water recycled and reused Availability of Energy Resources / page 80

GRI Specific
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Material 
aspect Indicator name Location / page Omissions GRI 

aspects
United Nations 
Global Compact

Ec
o-

ef
fic

ie
nc

y

Management Approach Eco-efficiency / page 134

Energy Principles 7, 8 and 9

G4-EN3: Energy consumption within the 
organization Eco-efficiency / pages 134 and 135

G4-EN5: Energy Intensity Eco-efficiency / pages 135 and 136

G4-EN6: Reduction of Energy Consumption 

Eco-efficiency / page 136 
The energy savings estimate was calculated 
based on the prior year's billion against intermit-
tent solar power energy generation. 

G4-EN7: Reductions in the Energy Require-
ments of Products and Services Climate Change / page 129

G4-EN22: Total Water Discharge by Quality 
and Destination Eco-efficiency / page 138 

G4-EN23: Total Weight of Waste by Type and 
Disposal Method Eco-efficiency / pages 139 and 140

G4-EN24: Total Number and Volume of 
Significant Spills 

The Organization did not have any significant 
spills in 2013 (0) 
The Organization follows good maintenance prac-
tices, decreasing the risk of spills and also has all 
the security measures necessary to handle the 
contingencies thereof (containment dikes, spill 
kits), as well as emergency plans evaluated by 
environmental authorities. Furthermore the Orga-
nization's preventative approach to environmen-
tal management has ensured there have been no 
significant spills.

G4-EN25: Weight of Transported, Imported, 
Exported or Treated Waste Deemed Hazard-
ous Under the Terms of the Basel Convention 
2, Annex I, II, III and VIII and Percentage of 
Waste Transported Internationally 

Eco-efficiency / pages 138 and 139

G4-EN26: Identity, Size, Protected Status, 
and Biodiversity of Value of Water Bodies 
and Related Habitats Significantly Affected 
by the Organization's Discharges of Water 
and Runoff

Eco-efficiency / page 138

Cl
ie

nt
 M

an
ag

em
en

t

Management Approach Client Management / page 99

Health
and Security 
of Custom-
ers 
Product 
Labeling
and Ser-
vices 
Customer 
Privacy

G4-PR1: Percentage of significant product 
and service categories for which health 
and safety impacts have been assessed for 
improvements

There were no health or safety risks
to customers from products
or services (0%)
Client Management / page 102

G4-PR2:  Number of incidents of non-com-
pliance with regulations and voluntary codes 
related to the health and safety impacts of 
products and services during their life, broken 
down by type of outcome 

There is no record of outcomes due to non-com-
pliance with regulations or voluntary codes that 
are the Company's responsibility that would have 
affected the health of anyone while providing 
energy services.

G4-PR5:  Results of the customer satisfaction 
surveys Client Management / page 101

G4-PR8: Number of grievances for the 
violation of customer privacy and customer 
data leaks 

No complaints or grievances of wholesale energy 
customers were received (0) 
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Material 
aspect Indicator name Location / page Omissions GRI 

aspects
United Nations 
Global Compact

H
um

an
 R

es
ou

rc
es

Management Approach Human Resources / page 84

Market 
Presence 
Employment 
Employee 
Manage-
ment 
Relations 
Training and 
education 
Opportunity 
Diversity 
and Equality 
Equal pay 
for Women 
and Men

G4-EC6: Proportion of senior management 
from the local community at significant 
locations of operations 

Human Resources / page 88 
Local: departments of the areas of influence.

G4-LA1: Total number and average rate of 
hires and employee turnover by minority, sex 
and region 

Human Resources / pages 91, 92 and 93 
Operations are only run in Colombia. 

Excludes return 
to work rates by 
minority group and 
religion

Principle 6G4-LA2:  Benefits provided to full-time 
employees not offered to temporary or 
part-time employee by significant locations 
of operation

Human Resources / page 84 
Operations are only run in Colombia. 

G4-LA3: Return to work and retention after 
maternity or paternity leave by sex Human Resources / page 93 Excludes return to 

work rates by sex
GA-LA4: Minimum notice periods regarding 
organizational changes including whether 
these are specified in collective agreements

The Organization meets the minimum advance 
notice periods required by Colombian law and the 
collective agreements.

Principles 3, 6

G4-LA9: Average hours of training per year 
per employee by gender and employee 
category 

 Human Resources / page 89  

Principle 6

G4-LA10: Programs for skill management 
and continuing education that support the 
employability of employees and assist them 
manage the end of their professional careers 

Human Resources / pages 87 and 88

G4-LA11:  Percentage of employees receiving 
regular performance and professional 
development reviews by sex and professional 
category 

The percentage of employees who receive regular 
performance and professional development 
reviews for 2013 is zero (0%)

G4-LA12: Composition of governance bodies 
and breakdown of staff by employee category, 
sex, age group, minority group and other 
diversity indicators 

None of the members of the Organization's 
governance bodies
belongs to a minority group.
Human Resources / page 85

G4-LA13: Ratio of base salary between 
men and women by significant locations of 
operations 

Human Resources / page 87 
Operations are only run in Colombia. 

G4-LA16: Number of labor practices griev-
ances presented, addressed and resolved 
through formal grievance mechanisms 

Human Resources / page 98
Celsia did not receive any grievances about labor 
practices in 2013 (0)
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Management Approach Supplier Management / page 107

Procure-
ment 
Practices 
Environ-
mental 
evaluation 
of suppliers 
Labor 
practices 
evaluation 
of suppliers

Principles 7, 8 and 9

G4-EC9: Proportion of spending on local sup-
pliers at significant locations operations 

Supplier Management / pages 109 and 110 
Operations are only run in Colombia. 

G4-EN32: Percentage of new suppliers 
screened using environmental criteria 

Supplier Management/ page 110 
All the new suppliers identified were evaluated. 

G4-EN33: Significant actual and potential 
environmental impacts in the supply chain 
and actions therefore 

Supplier Management / page 110

G4-HR10: Percentage of new suppliers 
screened using human rights criteria 

Supplier Management/ page 110 
All the new suppliers identified were evaluated. 

Principles 1, 2G4-HR11: Significant negative actual and 
potential human rights impacts in the supply 
chain and measures adopted 

Supplier Management / page 111

Su
pp

lie
r M

an
ag

em
en

t G4-LA14: Percentage of new suppliers 
screened using labor practices criteria 

Supplier Management/ page 110 
All the new suppliers identified were evaluated. 

Evaluation
of human 
rights of 
suppliers 
Evaluation 
of
of the social 
repercus-
sions of 
suppliers

Principles 4, 5 and 6G4-LA15: Significant actual and potential 
labor practices impacts in the supply chain 
and actions therefore 

Supplier Management / pages 110 and 111

G4-SO9: Percentage of new suppliers 
screened using social repercussions criteria 

Supplier Management/ page 110 
All the new suppliers identified were evaluated. 

G4-SO10: Significant actual and potential 
social impacts in the supply chain and mea-
sures adopted 

Supplier Management / page 110

Risk 
Man-
age-
ment

Management Approach Risk Management / page 68
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Material 
aspect Indicator name Location / page Omissions GRI 

aspects
United Nations 
Global Compact
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Management Approach Socio-environmental Management / page 113
General 
(environ-
mental) 
Indirect 
Economic 
Conse-
quences 
Local Com-
munities 
Public Policy

G4-EC7: Development and impact infrastruc-
ture investments and types of services 

Socio-environmental Management / pages 122 
to 124

G4-EC8: Significant indirect economic 
impacts and their scope 

Socio-environmental Management / pages 122 
to 124

G4-EN31: Breakdown of environmental 
protection expenses and investments Socio-environmental Management / page 117 Principles 7, 8 and 9

G4-SO1:  Percentage of operations where 
development programs, evaluations of 
impacts and local community engagement 
have been implemented 

Development programs, evaluations of impacts 
and local community engagement have been 
implemented in all of the areas of influence.
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Management Approach Corporate Governance, Ethics and Integrity / 
page 60

Governance 
Ethics and 
Integrity 
Anti-corrup-
tion 
Environ-
mental 
Grievance 
Mechanisms 
Human 
Rights 
Grievance 
Mechanisms 
Social 
Impact 
Grievance 
Mechanisms 
Labor 
Practices 
Grievance 
Mechanisms

G4-35 Report the process by which the 
highest body delegates authority  Governance framework / page 34

G4-36 Report whether the Organization has 
senior management positions responsible for 
economic, environmental or social matters

Governance framework / pages 34 and 35

G4-38 Report the composition of the highest 
governance body and its committees Governance framework / page 30 to 35

G4-39 Report whether the Chair of the high-
est body is also an executive officer

The Chair of the Board of Directors 
is not an executive of the Organization.
Governance framework / page 32

G4-40 Report the nomination and selection 
process of the highest body and its com-
mittees

Governance framework / page 34

G4-41 Report the highest body's processes 
that prevent and manage possible conflicts 
of interest

Governance framework / page 34 
Corporate Governance, Ethics and Transparency 
/ page 65

G4-43 Report measures taken to develop 
and improve the highest body's collective 
knowledge of economic, social and environ-
mental topics

Corporate Governance, Ethics and Integrity / 
page 61

G4-44 Report the evaluation processes for 
the highest body's performance related to 
governance

Corporate Governance, Ethics and Integrity / 
page 61 
After the evaluation of the Board of Directors, 
an action plan was defined that includes the 
following measures:
1. Delegate, the greater part of the supervision 
of the Company's operation aspects to open 
spaces for high-level discussions and debates in 
meetings.
2. Focus the 2014 meeting agenda on relevant 
matters, such as mergers and acquisitions, and 
the understanding and trends of customers and 
consumers.
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aspect Indicator name Location / page Omissions GRI 

aspects
United Nations 
Global Compact
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G4-46 Report the highest governance body's 
role in reviewing the efficiency of the Organi-
zation's risk management processes

Our governance framework - 
Governance framework / page 35 
Risk Management / page 68

Governance 
Ethics and 
Integrity 
Anti-corrup-
tion 
Environ-
mental 
Grievance 
Mechanisms 
Human 
Rights 
Grievance 
Mechanisms 
Social 
Impact 
Grievance 
Mechanisms 
Labor 
Practices 
Grievance 
Mechanisms

G4-47 Report frequency of the highest 
governance body's reviews impacts, risks and 
opportunities

Our governance framework - Governance Frame-
work / page 35 
The Board of Directors' Audit Committee meets 4 
times a year (every three months). 

G4-48 Report the highest committee or 
position that reviews and approves the 
sustainability report

About the report / page 5

G4-49 Report the process for communicating 
critical concerns to the highest body

When a critical concern must be addressed to the 
Board of Directors, it is included in the agenda 
and the information needed by the members to 
address the review of important concerns is sent 
prior to the meeting. 
Our governance framework - Board of Directors 
/ page 

G4-50 Report the nature and number of 
critical concerns communicated to the 
highest body

Our governance framework - Board of Directors 
/ page 36

G4-51 Report the remuneration policies for 
the highest governance body and senior 
management

Our governance framework - Governance frame-
work / page 34

G4-52 Report the processes for determining 
remuneration

Our governance framework - Governance frame-
work / page 34

G4-53 Report how stakeholders' views are 
sought and considered regarding remuner-
ation

Our governance framework - Governance frame-
work / page 34

G4-57 Report the internal and external 
mechanisms for seeking advice on ethical 
and lawful behavior

Corporate Governance, Ethics and Integrity / 
page 66 Principle 10

G4-58 Report the internal and external 
mechanisms for reporting unethical or 
unlawful behavior and matters related to the 
Organization's integrity

Corporate Governance, Ethics and Integrity / 
page 66

G4-EN34: Number of environmental griev-
ances presented, addressed and resolved 
through formal grievance mechanisms 

There were no environmental grievances pre-
sented, addressed or resolved in the reporting 
period (0) 
Socio-environmental Management / page 128

Principles 7, 8 and 9

G4-HR12:  Number of human rights griev-
ances presented, addressed and resolved 
through formal grievance mechanisms 

There were no human rights grievances 
presented, addressed or resolved during the 
reporting period (0) 

Principles 1 and 2

G4-SO3: Number and percentage of opera-
tions assessed for risks related to corruption 
and significant risks identified 

Corporate Governance, Ethics and Integrity / 
page 65

Principle 10

G4-SO4: Communication and training on 
anti-corruption policies and procedures 

No sales partner has been informed about 
the Organization's anti-corruption policies and 
procedures. 
Operations are only run in Colombia.  
Corporate Governance, Ethics and Integrity / 
pages 63 and 64

G4-SO5: Confirmed cases of corruption and 
measures adopted 

There were no confirmed cases of corruption in 
2013. 
The actions taken related to work accidents, 
compliance of policies and procedures, and 
relations with suppliers, is the Human Resources 
Department's evaluation of the Organization's 
impacts and implicated employees have been 
reprimanded.  
 
Corporate Governance, Ethics and Integrity / 
page 63

G4-SO11: Number of social impact griev-
ances presented, addressed and resolved 
through formal grievance mechanisms 

There were no social impact grievances 
presented, addressed or resolved during the 
reporting period
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Material 
aspect Indicator name Location / page Omissions GRI 

aspects
United Nations 
Global Compact

Se
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EU1 Installed capacity by primary energy 
source and regulatory regime Our business - generation / page 41

EU2 Net energy output by primary energy 
source and regulatory regime Our business - generation / page 42

EU3 Number of commercial, institutional, 
industrial and residential customers Our business - sales / page 51

EU4 Length of above and underground trans-
mission and distribution lines by regulatory 
regime

Our business - transmission and distribution / 
page 46

EU Planned capacity against projected elec-
tricity demand over the long-term by energy 
source and regulatory regime

Our business - generation / page 45

EU12 Transmission and distribution losses as 
a percentage of total energy

Our business - transmission and distribution / 
page 49

EU28 Power outage frequency Our business - transmission and distribution / 
page 47

EU Average power outage duration Our business - transmission and distribution / 
page 47

EU30 Average plant availability factor by 
energy source and regulation regime Our business - generation / page 41

Innova-
tion Management Approach Innovation / page 103 None

R
eg

ul
at

io
n

Management Approach Regulation / page 141
Regulatory 
compliance 
(environ-
ment) 
Regulatory 
compliance 
(society)

G4-EN29: Monetary value of significant fines 
and number of non-monetary sanctions for 
non-compliance with environmental laws and 
regulations 

Regulation / page 143 Principles 7, 8 and 9

G4-SO8: Monetary value of significant fines 
and number of non-monetary sanctions for 
non-compliance with laws and regulations 

Regulation / page 143

Material aspect Location and/or comment Location / page GRI aspects

None G4-LA6
Human Resources / pages 95, 97, 98 
Days are calendar days, and days lost are counted from the day of the 
accident.

This is not a material indicator

None G4-SO7 For the reporting period, there were no legal actions for monopoly 
practices or anti-competitive behavior. This is not a material indicator

GRI Specific
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